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This book hss been revised—as to its facts, but not its
opinions-—by General Smuts. Ie is based on his papers,
official and private; his writings, published and unpub-
lished; letters to and from him; the material collected and
cherished over torty-seven years by Mrs Smuts, for whose
help the deecpest gratitude is here expressed. Nothing
has been withheld, nothing even inspected before being
offcred; no conditions have been made, no exceptions.

The book is further based on knowledge common to
South Alricans; on facts and sources available to anyone
in the world, and noted (if they have been published) at
the end of each of the two volumes that make up the
bock. It 1s based on talk with. General Smuts’ supporters
and oppenenss, equally puzzled by something outside pre-
cedent; on talk wich his family; on a personal experience
cxtcnding over fourteen Vears: onan admiration increasing
with this experience which, from fear of excess, may be
sometimes ur justly subdued; on his casual and unguarded
conversation; and on questions deliberately asked him,
never evaded and scrupulously answered.

It would scem as if more than appears in this Life of him
might have b:en made of such opportunities. Yet his very
refusal to protect himself has a licdle restrained a pen he
would not control.

The book Ias also, to its great advantage, been revised—
again as to facts, but not opinions—by the Hon. J. H.
Hoﬁncyr. Minister of the lnterior, Public Health and
Education in the Union Government.

S.G. M.
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Chapter I
BOERS AND BRITONS

I

n May of 1899 Milner and Kruger met in conference at

Bloemfontein. It was a question of averting war. They

discussed chiefly franchise for the Uitlanders—the for-
eigners-—in the Transvaal: whether the Uitlanders were to
have the vote after five or seven years in the Transvaal,
whether the vote did or did not mean putting the power in
the hands of the Uitlanders.

In the middle of the debate a telegram was handed to
Milner, and he smiled and showed it to his staff, and they
smiled too in the faces of the perturbed and puzzled Boers.
The telegram said chat Flying Fox had won the Derby.

The discussions went on. Kruger made protests and offers,
and Milner told him he was not prepared to bargain. And,
at the end of his strength and hope, Kruger said: ‘It is not
the franchise—it is my counery that you want. ...

In Tolstoi’s Death of Ivan Ilyitch, Ivan is lying in bed
thinking of what the doctors have told him about his ill-
ness. He hus a displaced spleen, a chronic catarrh, or per=
haps, really, it is his pylorus.

For « moment Ivan Ilyitch has no pain and he lies in the
dark considering the intcresting matter of his pylorus. In
another rcom his wife and daughter are amusing their
guests. Suddenly the old terrible pain comes back. The py-
lorus! he thinks mechanically, but a moment later he knows.
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BOERS AND BRITONS

It is not a bit of bowel the doctors are talking about. It is his
life, his death. . ..

2

Smuts was at this conference with Kruger: He was now
twenty-nine, a Transvaaler only three years, and therefore
a second-class burgher; too young by law for the post he
held, which was that of State Attorney—Arttorney-General
—for the Republic; with Kruger now in Bloemfontein as
an official adviser.

He advised a further struggling for peace. The final nego-
tiations for peace were in his hands. Kruger was done with
hope in Bloemfontein. The old man, as Smuts says, knew
better. When he protested ‘It is not the franchise—it is my
country that you want’, he saw Milner was out for war and
nothing else. ‘Milner had got himself’, says Smuts, ‘into a
moral coil where he felt war had to be. Chamberlain want-
ed the Transvaal but he did not want war. Milner wanted
the Transvaal—he wanted South Africa rounded up as Brit-
ish—and he was prepared to pay the cost. He was hard and
narrow and he treated me with disdain. I distrusted him,
and he distrusted me. Fifteen years after the Boer War we
were sitting together in the British War Cabinet.”

Fifteen years after the Boer War Milner was writing to
Smuts: ‘My dear Smuts (I think we might mutually drop
prefixes)’; his letter had to do with the air defences of
London which Smuts was organising against Germanys; it
ended: “Yours ever, Milner.’

‘By that time’, says Smuts, ‘he was a different man. He
had returned from South Africa full of the pride of achieve-
ment, to receive a vote of censure from the Liberals and to
be sent for ten years into the political wilderness. There he
had learnt what it is to be subject to fate. When we met in
the War Cabinet his narrow imperialism was gone. We

2



BOERS AND BRITONS

found we could be friends. He helped me at the Peace Con-
ference to get Dominion status for South Africa. We want-
cd the same chings. It was a matter with him, as with me, of
trying to help the world. He was at roota good man. ..’

Smuts himself was destined after that conference at
Bloemfonrein to become a Boer General and make peace
with England; to become a British General and make peace
with Germany; to work for the Union of South Africa and
the fusion of those who had been enemies; to help bring
freedom to Ireland; to define the British Commonwealth;
to plan wirh Wilson the League of Nations and to found a
system of philosophy—he called it Holism—whose prin-
ciple is the principle of all his dreams and life: coming
together; making whole; the co-operation of effort; the
union of states; the fusion of peoples; the commonwealth
of Britons; the League of Nations—the reconciliation, in his
own words, of ‘matter and spirit, the temporal and the
eternal, the finite with the infinite, the particular with the
universal'—-creation with God.

He was born a British subject on a farm in the Cape of
Good Hope on 24th May, 1870, and given the names of
Jan Christizan.

3

The new South Africa also was born in 1870. It was
ushered into the world by the diamonds of Kimberley.

The old South Africa had begun in the middle of the
seventeenth century. The Dutch had settled then in the
Cape. Before them the Portuguese had come and gone and
the Bridsh had come and gone. The Dutch had stayed.
Fallen in love with loneliness, they gave up, for a continent
of savages, rhe little close things of Holland-—the checker-
board floors and the checkerboard fields. A gencration later,
Frenchmen, for their freedom of faith, followed.

3



BOERS AND BRITONS

The two peoples mingled. People from other countries,
the little groups that came, mingled with them. Their de-
scendants founded their language on the language of Hol-
land and called themselves Boers—bouwers—farmers. Their
land, that had once been the Cape of Storms, was now the
Cape of Good Hope. They fought the savages to make
themselves secure on the south-western edge of the con-
tinent.

Then the English, who had planted the flag of King
James there nearly two hundred years before, returned and
took the Cape as part of a bargain arising from the Napol-
eonic wars. They threatened, in their very existence, the
loneliness and freedom-of the older scttlers. They inflicted
on them their odious laws and language. They brought mis-
sionaries who did not agree that the natives were sub-
human. They returncd to the natives the territory, even the
Boers’ own stock, recovered in war. When the Boers
trekked away they pursued and enveloped them. At last
they deprived them even of the liberty to own slaves.
Ruin! Qutrage! Better the wild unknown than the terrible
British. The Boers took their waggons and women, their
chattels and children, and set off on the greatest of all treks,
the trck of the Voortrekkers—those who went before.

The Voortrekkers journeyed north and east. They left
their broken waggons and animals on the passes of the
Mountains of the Dragons. On a river they called Blood
River they fought a battle against Dingaan the Zulu, and
the day on which they fought is a sacred day to their de-
scendants. They left behind a town whose name, Weenen,
means Weeping. They came to what seemed to them the
source of the Nile, and in witness there remains the town of
Nylstroom—the stream of the Nile. They drank, as they
said, of the bitter waters of Marah, and their journey is
marked by places called Elim and Hebron, Bethel, Bethle-
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BOERS AND BRITONS

hem and Bethesda. The English pursued them and they
fought the English. But at last, having tried to get away
even from one another for the sake of more and still more
loneliness and liberty, they decided to be content. The little
republics they had made in order to get away from one
another disappeared. There remained one republic along
the Orange River, which was called the Orange Free State,
and another along the Vaal River, which was the Transvaal,
or, more grandly, the South African Republic.

A handful of people were happy.

They had, each man, a piece of land not always as large
as an English county.

They read their Bibles and nothing else.

They saw no strangers and heard no news.

They smoked their pipes and drank their coffee.

They had great familics.

Their cattle fed on the veld.

The bit of work there was the Kaffirs did, who also had
once been happy in Africa, but were never to be happy
again,

A generation passed and it was 1870. In lands of older
civilisation men had compelled the carth until it had borne
so many children, they were so tight pressed, they scraped
the skins off one another. But they did not know of South
Africa. South Africa remained hidden from them, its trea-
sure sccret, its earth barren—for all but the few already
there, a2 meaningless continent.

These happy few gloried in their desolation and cherished
their case. They had no wealth and wanted none. They
were kind to the stranger provided he did not stay. They
could face hardship as long as it was not overwork. Already
two and a half centuries ago the earliest settlers had created
their tradition by formally resolving that ‘it would be more
advantageous to employ slaves than to work’. But ‘having
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BOERS AND BRITONS

imported slaves,” wrote one of the two dissentients from
the resolution, ‘every common or ordinary European be-
comes a gentleman and prefers to be served rather than to
serve. . . . The majority of farmers in this country are not
farmers in the real sense of the word, but plantation owners,
and very often consider it a shame to work with their own
hands. ...

Eighteen-seventy and the diamonds of Kimberley made
an end of this dream world. A new world appeared in
South Africa of competition, strife and the ferment of
growth. From the ends of the earth men came to make sud-
den fortunes. They made them-—the men that came made
the fortunes, not those already there, who read their Bibles
and knew nothing, almost cared nothing for fortune-mak-
ing. Rightly? Who knows? ‘T think’, says Oliver Wendell
Holmes, ‘there is less self~assertion in diamonds than in
dogmas.’ It was actually in considering how the natives were
being civilised by the diamond mines of Kimberley that
Anthony Trollope was ‘tempted to say that nothing much
is done by religion and very little by philanthropy, but
love of money works very fast. ...’

Well, rightly or wrongly, sooner or later, South Africa
had to take her place in the world as a bearer and nourisher
of mankind; virginity had to be sacrificed for motherhood.

4
In the year in which Smuts was born and the diamonds
of Kimberley revealed South Africa to the world, Loben-
gula, the last of the great Zulus, succeeded his father, and
his destroyer, Cecil John Rhodes, landed in Natal. In that
year too England claimed possession of the diamond ficlds.
Before Smuts could read or write, England had further,
with eight civil servants and twenty-five policemen, taken
a distraught and bankrupt Transvaal . . . for which action
6



BOERS AND BRITONS

she was presently so soundly punished by the embittered
Boers on a mountain called Majuba that (unwitting, alas,
how soon gold was to be discovered there) she had let them
have their miserable country again,

This was in 1881, the year Rhodes entered the Cape
Parliament.



Chapter II
SMUTS WANTS A FRIEND

I

t was at the age of twelve Smuts learnt to read and write.

Anyone who docs not know South Africa might infer

from this that he was the child of distressed and back-
ward parents. Sometimes, in a public speech, when the oc-
casion seems appropriate, he says he knows what poverty
means—he was once a poor boy himself. He often says in
conversation: ‘T am a poor man, I shall die a poor man.’
And he actually has the feeling then that he is poor, and also
he rather likes this idea of being poor—indifferent to the
world’s goods—a hermit on a2 mountain top and so on. He
adds that he wishes he were one of those alluvial gold diggers
in the mountains in the Notthern Transvaal. To live on a
mountain, and look for its plants, and just scratch out an
occasional pennyweight of gold—no more than enough to
live on! A philosopher’s life! He forgets, however, that
what he wishes no less decply is to match wits with the
world’s great politicians and scientists, run departments of
state, lead armies, harangue nations, and influence, in the
most active way, the fate of humanity. His energy is ter-
rific. Every now and then he says: ‘Presently [ am going to
become an elder statesman.” Or ‘One of these days I'shall go,
like the old Indians, into the Forest.” But not even for a
day can he stop working and striving. So much for his
mountains and forests.

8



SMUTS WANTS A FRIEND

As for his actual poverty—yes, he was a poor boy—or,
rather, he was hard pressed as a young man. But, as every-
one knows, chere are different kinds of poverty: the poverty
of starvatior. and also the poverty of not being able to buy a
greenish saint by El Greco. Smuts’ poverty lies between the
two. He had a struggle to get through Cambridge. He is
always, owing to the time he was out of office and had to
keep a largc family on his Parliamentary salary of £700 a
year, overdrawn at the bank. But he has three good un-
mortgaged working farms, and two others which bring in
nothing. For that matter, even the good farms are barely
more than = delight and hope to him. Whatever comes out
of them goes back again. Still, there they are. And also pedi-
gree bulls, pedigrec cows, diamond shares which have
areatly declined, five thousand books—most of them im-
portant—and the various other little possessions such a
man gathers in sixty-odd years.

As, however, Smuts does not compute his assets or bal-
ance them financially against any present need; as business
bores him; as he seldom knows theamount of his overdraft
and isalwas disagrecablysurprised when his bank manager

carefully tells him, he fccls himself to be a poor man.

Yet, if his poverty isn’t an El Greco poverty, it is also not
a bread poverty. Nor were his parents really poor. He com-
plains about his father’s family, that it was so undistinguish-
ed, there wasn’t even a really poor man or a criminal in it.
Nor a brilbant man. They were simply decent, solid people,
predikants and farmers, almost as purely Dutch (unlike
those that had French, German or English mixed with their
Dutch) as when they left Holland two centuries ago. And
perhaps that is why Smuts looks—not like a South African
Boer—but like a blond figure in a Rembrandt group. He
says when he saw the Frans Hals collection in Haarlem he
could not help thinking he resembled Hals” men.

9



SMUTS WANTS A FRIEND

There are still Smutses in Holland, and one of them re-
cently sent Smuts his family crest, asking if therc was any
connection between them. It turned out to be Smuts’ own
crest.

Not that he overvalues the matter of a crest. He some-
times wonders, he says, where all this good blood comes
from that South Africa boasts about. “‘Who brought it
here? Our ancestors? Take it from me, they werc humble
people, despite their good qualities. What were my own
folk, I wonder, who landed in South Africa those two cen-
turies ago with their crest? Kicked out of Holland, for all I
know.’

He finds his mother’s family mote interesting. They were
called de Vries and had French blood. His mother, who was
very religious, had gone to school in Cape Town, and had
there learned to spcak French and play the piano. Perhaps
not much. Enough, however, to give him pride in this
achievement of eighty years ago.

And how extraordinary the achievement really was may
be judged from the very fact that Smuts himself did not
learn to read and write till he was twelve.

The reason was partly that he had been since birth a
feeble child—not expected to live long. But also, as the
eldest son was getting an education that would fit him to
be a predikant, one did not trouble unduly about the educa-
tion of this sccond son, who showed, morcover, an apti-
tude for farming. Whatever he picked up would do. Eight
children were born in the family, some of whom died, and,
after Smuts’ mother died, his father married again and therce
were two more.

Smuts’ father, whose name was Jacobus Abraham, even-
tually sat for his district of Malmesbury in the Cape Legis-
lature. He seems to have been a rather shrewd but not very
imaginative man; these were the days too when members

10



SMUTS WANTS A FRIEND

of Parliament were capable of opposing the extermination
of locusts because they were sent by the Lord; and it is
therefore not surprising that he came to legislate for his
country but did not trouble about his son’s education.

While the eldest son went to school, the second one ran
about the farm, trailing, as children do on a farm, after the
Hottentots while they minded the pigs or sheep or cattle,
and gravely listening to their stories and precepts. Nomin-
ally he was being a bit of a herd himself, and earning an odd
beast or two for his work. English was not spoken on the
tarm, nor did Smuts’ own children learn English until chey
went to school.

The Malmesbury diserict is in the rich western province
of the Cape which has the Atantic on one side; and the
farm looked towards great ranges that made the need of
mountains scrong in hitn.

This was his life unul he was twelve, and then his eldest
brother died of typhoid and it fell to Jan to take over the
business of the family education.

He is not quite sure how it happened that his name was
changed from Jan Christiaan, in the Dutch way, to Jan
Christian, in the English way. His carlier papers bear the
names of Jan Christiaan, the later have Jan Christian. But
in any case it does not much matter how he spells his second
name, for his intimates—the very few there are—call him
Jan or Jannie, and his family calls him Ou’ Baas, which
means Old Master, and from his boyhood he has always
signed his nme J. C. Smuts, as Rhodes, from his boyhood,
signed his name C. J. Rhodes.

2

He stayed at the school in Riebeek West for four years.
He was still pale and weedy, and so he remained until the
Boer War rade a robust man of him. He had very fair

I



SMUTS WANTS A FRIEND

hair, and light blue eyes, direct, clear and stern. His eyes
have stayed stern—rods that seem to go threugh things to
the beyond. And this, in fact, is what they do. Smuts sees,
not what his eyes traverse, but what lies on the far side. It
is his virtue, and also his failing. . . .

In those days in Riebeek West his mind was so fresh and
empty, he says, that he could memorise a book by merely
reading it. He lost this faculty about the time he left for
Cambridge with a brain stuffed full of classics, science, poe-
try and philosophy. But he still could do astonishing things
in the five years he spent at the Victoria College in Stellen-
bosch between his Riebeck and his Cambridge days.

Stellenbosch is a little pretty old town, near Cape Town,
whose heart is this college. In Smuts’ day most of its pro-
fessors were Scottish. But thirty years later it changed itself
into the University of Stellenbosch, it changed also its na-
tional character, and, together with many other institutions
and people in South Africa, it hated Smuts for what it con-
sidered his traitorous friendship with the English.

To the Victoria College Smuts went for the purpose of
matriculating. He was also very religious and he thought
he might become a minister of the Dutch Reformed
Church. His people wished it too.

Before leaving for Stellenbosch he wrote the following
letter in a neat little hand altogether unlike his peculiar
writing of to-day:

Klipfontein,
June 12, 1886.
Mr. C. Murray,
Professor, Stellenbosch.

Dear Sir,
Allow me the pleasure of your reading and an-
swering these few lines. I intend coming to Stellenbosch in

12



SMUTS WANTS A FRIEND

July next, ard, having heard that you take an exceptionally
great interest in the youth, I trust you will favour me by
keeping your eyc upon me and helping me with your kind-
ly advice. Morcover, as I shall be a perfect stranger there,
and, as vou know, such a place, where a large puerile ele-
ment exists, affords fair scope for moral, and, what is more
important, religious temptation, which, if yielded to, will
eclipse alike the expectadons of my parents and the inten-
tions of muyself, a real friend will prove a lasting blessing
for me. For of what use will 2 mind, enlarged and refined
in all pessible ways, be to me, if my religion be a deserted
pilot, and morality a wreck?

To avoid temptation and to make the proper use of my
precious time, 1 purposely refuse entering a public board-
ing department, as that of Mr. de Kock, but shall board
privately (most likely at Mr. W. Ackermann’s) which will,
in addition, accord with my retired and reserved nature.

I shall further be mnuch obliged to you for information
on the following important poines:

First, having passed the School Honours Examination in
April last, am I to enter the Public School or the College?
Second, in case I am qualified for the Junior Matriculation
class, am L exempted or not from a special admission exam-
ination into the College, having passcd the aforesaid Exam-
ination in

(1) Latin

(21 English

(3) Dutch

(2) Geometry

(s) Arithmetic and Algebra
(6) Natural Philosophy.

Third, the time when the College or Public School, that is,
the one I am to enter, commences the next quarter. Fourth,
13



SMUTS WANTS A FRIEND

what are the school fees to be paid. Fifth, how are the re-
quisite text-books etc. supplied, by the committee, the
students themselves or voluntarily?

Sincerely assuring you of my decp gratitude if I may
have you for a friend, and also, if informed on these points,

I have the honour, dear Sir, of calling myself your obed-
lent servant

J. C. Smuts.
Address:
Ricbeek West
via Hermon Station.

It is not really a bad thing to want to be good, and this
letter, so solemn, brave and mnocent, must be as touching
as any ever written by a boy looking towards his manhood.
He is at a village school and only four years ago he left the
farm. Yet he writes the letter and not a watching, warding
parent. He has heard of the temptations of the great world
(European population of Stellenbosch two thousand) and
he asks a man he doesn’t know to guard him from evil. ‘A
real friend’, he confidingly suggests, ‘will be a lasting bless-
ing to me.” The metaphorical style that has never left him
already shows itself. ‘Of what use will a mind, enlarged and
refined in all possible ways, be to me if my religion be a
deserted pilot, and morality a wreck?’ The isolation he has
always craved is declared. By boarding privately he will
not only escape the temptations of Stellenbosch, but such
an arrangement ‘will, in addition, be in accord with my re-
tired and reserved nature’. He asks finally some practical
questions about examinations, fees and school books, be-
cause, as it happens, he is selling the cattle he acquired as a
child to pay for his education. The' professor says he kept
this letter because he has never had another like it.

14



Chapter IT1
EHE SAYS HE HAS NO TASTE

I

muts arrived in Stellenbosch and found a difficuley

about this matriculation concerning which he wanted

to know. Greek was an indispensable subject, and he
had no Gre:k. The year passed, with now and then an effort
made to find a Greek tutor, the last term approached and
still he had not been taught Greek.

There was a weck’s holiday before that last term, and
what Smuts did then was to get himself a Greek grammar
and go away with it to.a farm. In addition to the Greek
grammar he took a volume of Shelley.

Shelley was his first poet, and he spent Sunday reading
him. On Monday he took up his Greek grammar. It in-
terested him. He read it violently for six days, and then he
knew it by heart, the whole book, declensions, conjuga-
tions, irregular verbs and all. He read through too before
the examination a volume of Greek Attic prose on which
his class had been since the beginning of the year—telling
no one either about that or'about the grammar, because he
had the romantic notion of surprising cverybody. To this
day—he is still so romantic—~-it pleases him to surprise peo-
ple. He did indeed surprisc his professor (that same Murray
to whom he had written) when he presented himself for
examination. He headed the list.

During the Boer War, out on the veld, harassing the

15



HE SAYS HE HAS NO TASTE

British troops for the food, uniforms and ammunition
which could only be got from the enemy, Smuts carried in
his saddle-bag a Greek Testament and Kant's Critique of
Pure Reason.

2

The way Smuts had come upon Shelley was this:

One of the professors had asked him how he occupied
his spare time, for clearly he did not need all of it for his
class work. He was in the Volunteers, answered Smuts, and,
for the rest, he climbed mountains or walked about the
veld, rcading. He had no frienids. He was not interested in
any sport. On Sundays he went to Bible class. He also on
Sundays taughe a group of young coloured men.

‘Isn’t there anything else you would like to do?’ the pro-
fessor asked him.

Smuts couldn’t say. The only excitements at Stellen-
bosch were the occasional burning down of the old Dutch
houses because of their thatched roofs. Stellenbosch hadn’t
turned out so wildly gay as he had dreaded.

‘Have you ever thought of reading poetry?’

“What poetry, sir?’

‘Shelley, for instance. Why not read Shelley? You might
begin with “Prometheus Unbound”.

He began with ‘Prometheus Unbound’. He recited Shel-
ley to the veld. He became, after Shelley, a Godwin revolu-
tionary.

3
The love Smuts has for Shelley, for Keats, for Whitman,
for Miltonand Goetheand Schillerand Shakespeareand the
Bible is not founded on any urgent desire towards beauty.
Smuts has little acsthetic feeling, He admits it. ‘T have no

taste,” he says, ‘and I have no sense of humour.’
16



HE SAYS HE HAS NO TASTE

This i> a charming and original confession, but it does
him an injustice. Taste is a poignant sense of the appropriate,
and so is humour, and Smuts does understand the appro-
priate. He rherefore must have—and he has—both taste and
humour. Grotesque storics are told concerning one or two
of Smuts’ diplomatic adventures in the Great War. Here is
cne: He had been sent to negodatc a separate peace with
Austria. Be failed, Briand told Colonel Repington, be-
cause, asking for a ‘yes’ or ‘no’ to a string of questions and
not gerting; the answer he wanted, he gave a military salute
and went home.

Withoutknowing a word of the facts, anybody acquaint-
cd with Smuts—indeed, with Boers at all—could deny that.
No Boer has a take-it-or-leave-it atdtude—as Milner, to
his great it ritation, found; as Kitchener, more comprehend-
ingly, also found. The Boer likes to dcal.

Even the backveld Boer is not as any other peasant—shy
and surly. He has a pride whose origin is less the dignity of
the soil than the indignity of the Kaffir. Because the Boer is
lord over halt'a continent of blacks he feels himself an aris-
tocrat anc. his manners are courtly. Because, at the same
time, he is unfamiliar with city ways, he avoids committing
himself. S5 far is he from being bluff that, despite his candid
eyes, it is his truest instinct to sidle round a thing rather than
approach it directly. Even when the Boer means ‘yes’, he
says ‘ja—nee’, which should mean ‘yes—no’—dubiety. . ..

It sometimes amuses Smuts to call himself *a simple Bocr
—a wild man from the veld’ because he knows how far
from simple he is, and his standard of civilisation. He is not
a typical Boer, though he has some Boer characteristics.
He is that rarity among Boers, a man of Europe. He has a
European outlook. Boers generally have not. It would be
surprising; if they had.

For sinze their ancestors left Europe three hundred years
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have passed. During a great part of that time Ewrope was
for all but a few of them inaccessible both in body and
mind. They became detached from Europe. They became
less European than the Americans. It is accurate for the
Boers to call themselves, and all with whom they are affil-
iated, Afrikaners. They arc Afrikaners not only by birth,
but so strongly in spirit that they instinctively see South
Africa as something apart from the world and complete in
itself. In these times they can hardly avoid various relation-
ships with Europe, but they suffer those relationships against
their innate cravings. That tendency towards isolation is not
vet eliminated from them which caused their ancestors to
trek, though it is lessening.

Smuts, unlike his fellow Bocrs, sees everything (ic is his
temperament and philosophy) as part of everything else.
Yet, in certain respects, he is a Boer too. If he pines for the
thought of Europe, he also craves the veld. He would
rather, like any Bocr (and like Rhodes), ‘deal’ than thrust.
He loves dealing. There is a point at which he can speak
brutally. When diplomacy has failed, he is prepared to be
ruthless. But he gives diplomacy an extremely good chance
first. Persuasion, not force, is the ideal of his life, Plato, and
not Nictzsche. He is instinctively a diplomat and that is the
sort of tastc he has—a diplomat’s taste.

That is also the sort of humour he has—a diplomat’s
humour. He gets the loveliest, most delicate enjoyment out
of those diplomatic adventures which are the sale of life to
him. Years later, as a word recalls to his memory some deal
which at the time made his heart turn handsprings bchind
his serious mien, long after the event, a something runs over
his face as he tastes again that bit of fun he had, and the lines
of Prospero are wiped out and there on his face stands Puck.

This is his humour. But a sense of ordinary fun, no, that
he hasn’t. The things from which other people get enjoy-
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ment don’t amuse him now and they never did. He doesn’t
drink or smoke or play cards. Dancing, hunting, racing,
shows, games, girls as girls--he has abhorred them (‘But
you can’t say I haven’t had a man’s life’) from his youth.
If he must have exercise he will climb a mountain. As
a boy he joined the Volunteers. One has only, on some
appropriate occasion, to hear Smuts making a public speech
in praise of pleasure to realisc how difficult it is for him
even to begin to understand how anybody can get pleasure
from pleasure. The exhibition he makes then is woeful. He
can’t think what there is to say in favour of ¢his grotesque
thing, pleasure, and he deceives no one into believing his
desperate words. The worst of it is-that he never, as he says,
knows while he is making a speech whether it is a good
speech or a bad speech, whether a certain sentence is an epi-
gram cr a cliché. Afterwards he picces together, from the
things people say, some realisation of what he has done.
Speaking gives him no sense of exultation, but, on the con-
trary, he has sometimes sat down conscious to the point of
nausea that his words have belittled his meaning.

As Smuts has a sense of humour but no sense of fun, so
he has raste but no sensual appreciation. He does not under-
stand pictures or music or sculpture or architecture. Wher-
ever he is he does not care what he cats or how he lives. Un-
less the furnicure in his “edroom, which is fifteen fect by
eleven, were made of boxes, it could not be simpler. He
could take a large cupboard from any of the other ten bed-
rooms in the house and conveniently hang his clothes there.
It suits him to have half his clothes hang behind a curtain,
where they get the moth. He likes to be uncomfortable.
The bed on the narrow verandah where he sleeps is hard,
and beside it stands (to hold a lamp, abook and a cup of tea),
not any sort of table, but a wooden kitchen chair. When
he thiuks it too luxurious for him to lie down on his hard
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bed, then he sits on a hard bench which runs alongside the
bed. He makes his own bed....

If it cannot be said that Smuts exactly prefers an ugly to a
beautiful woman, it remains that he does not care whether
a woman is beautiful or not. He is, at heart, a puritan and
shy about sex—nothing of a pagan—a man with a scnse of
sin, a sense of religion, an impulse towards mysticism. For
no physical reason could Smuts ever cancel the words:
‘How sad and bad and mad it was’ with ‘But then how it
was sweet.’

Yet it is not for any Calvinistic reason or because he has
inhibitions that he does not look at a woman’s beauty. If,
indeed, a beautiful woman happens to be what he calls a
good woman (by which he means a foursquare, depend-
able woman) and also a bit of a highbrow, he is prepared to
consider her as amiably as if she were a plain one with the
same qualities. The point is that he simply doesn’t notice a
woman’s beauty. His very talk of the spiritual beauty that
shines through commonplace flesh proves it.

There was a time when he used to sing—German lieder
and suchlike, but it abashes him now to remember that
time. ‘Oh, no, I don’t understand music’, he says quickly.
The truth is he sang German lieder for the same reason that
he read, with a friend, German literature—because he was
going through a Germanic phase of highbrow sentimen-
tality. To-day he is moved by simple mclodies, but he has
never heard Bach, he has heard practically none of the great
classic masters, he does not even know the name of any
modern composer.

Painting means to him the subject of the picture. He has
dutifully been through some galleries, but as art they have
no meaning for him. ‘Could one be moved towards music
and pictures through science?’ he asks. “What about the
music of thought?’ He defines culture as a spirit risen from
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the arts without knowing them—an atmosphere, an atti-
tude, a fincness of temper and mind.

The passion he has for nature—for the mountains and
deserts and nights of Africa—comes under a different head.
It is a passion born of the passion of the land, which is a
brooding, passionate land. He would not feel it for the
ficlds of England or France or Holland. He feels it for the
opal hills of Palestine, because of the Bible, and because
Palestine, he says, looks like South Africa in heaven.

This desire towards nature is an urge also philosophical
and scient:fic. It makes him think: What is Man! and it
makes him want to find out what man ever was and what
he will become.

If one mentioned to Smurs a primrose by the river’s
brim, he vould remcmber that it was Wordsworth who
specially wrote about primroses; and he would think of its
botanical rame and class; and he would recall that prim-
roses became Disracli’s emblem (did Disraeli truly like
primroses--that Oricnal?); and he would brood over the
fact that to the carthbound character in Wordsworth'’s
poem a primmrose was a yellow primrose and it was nothing
more—nothing philosophical or celestial. He himself will
never see a yellow primrose simply for what it is: some-
thing yellow (stll, not very yellow) and beautiful (if one
has that sort of minor taste).

His love for poetry, for all great literature, comes under
yet another head.

4
The reason he abandoned himself to Shelley was that
Shelley had the rights-of-man, soul-of-man, meaning-of-
life attitude. Smurs did not, in his student days, call the
Bible poetry. He read the Bible because he was religious.
And he read the Old Testament racher than the New, partdly
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for the stories, partly because these old Jews, he says, satis-
fied his religious eravings, but instinctively because it is in
Smuts to be a man rather than a youth, and, as Heine says:
“The Greeks were only beautiful youths, but the Jews were
always men, strong unyielding men.” . . . Afterwards he
had a period of doubt arising from his Shelley. Then he had
a New Testament period. Now he is back to the Old Testa-
ment. ‘The older I get,” he says, ‘the more of an Hebraist’
(as he puts it) ‘T become. They knew God, those old Jews.
They understood the needs of the soul. There is no litera-
ture like the.great psalms. Then comes Isaiah. I put the
Bible above Shakespeare, who has, to me, the deficiency of
being without religion. Shakespeare considered everything
except religion. He was a true child of the Renaissance, the
greatest of the humanists.” . ..

He reads Milton, Goethe, Schiller, Whitman, Keats in the
same spirit as he reads the Bible, Shakespeare and Shelley:
for what they teach. If he descends from the highest it is to
quote something like Clough’s “Say not the struggle nought
availeth.’

Towards the middle of 1934 there was an article in The
TimesLiterary Supplement about Emily Bronté, saying that
Charlotte had revised some of Emily’s poems—chiefly the
punctuation, and giving ‘No coward soul is mine’ as Emily
wrote it.

And therc was Smuts, in the midst of a serious political
business that was driving him from platform to platform
over thousands of miles of country, due in a few minutes
to go off to a party meeting, there he was cutting out this
article on Emily Bront& because it was important to him to
have the poem cxactly as Emily wrote it. ‘No, I do not
agree that a comma doesn’t matter, and the poem did very
well all these years as it was. A thing like this belongs to the
search for truth—the meaning beyond. It is the soul. You
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alter a word and you alter the emotional figure—you alter
the shape of the torso of the soul. . . .

“That is why I am glad I can rcad the New Testament in
Greek. Thos: people were grappling with something be-
yond their understanding, trying to express the unattain-
able truth. Translate their words, change a shade of their
meaning, and you throw them out of the straight line of
their quest and what they were just about to touch is lost.
I would not alter my “Holism” to please anyone. I know it
is full of repetition and that I am not always as simple and
clear as 1 would like to be, and many things could be better
put than I am able to put them. I do not admire my own
stvle. But I try to express my own ideas, and if that is the
way I have of expressing chem, then my words, such as
they are, must stand.’

This is an attitude perilously near the artist atcicude, con-
cerning which Olive Schreiner once wrote to him: ‘The
idea that an artist should for money sct pen to paper and
prostitute their intuitions by writing to order at all, is an
accusation, in my cyes far worse cven than murder. It is a
moral and spiritual murder of'one’s soul which one would
commit.’

However, there is this about murdering one’s soul. To
murder a verson means to kll] him finally, and also one
hangs for it. To murder one’s soul is not only less selfish
than to murder a fellow being, but there is always the
great satisfaction that it can be brought to life again.

Here is one advantage, at least, of the spiritual over the
physical. A man goes on living who is murdered in another’s
heart, but a grain of powder ends him. A woman remains
unravished who is lusted after with the eyes, but her casual
possession may start ten generations. The spiritual can be
endlessly wiped out, endlessly resurrected. On the other
hand, the physical has its own noble superiority over the
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spiritual: there is the simple, tragic, splendid diffetence be-
tween something happening and something not happening.

This letter from Olive Schreiner was written when she
was forty-five and he twenty-cight.

Somewhere or other, far back in his youth, Smuts must
have got this artist conception of one’s work—perhaps from
her. And when anything gets into Smuts’ head it stays
there: he is only not rigid and finitc because more things
and more things keep getting into him. He has a mind as
questing and eager in his sixties as he had when, at sixtcen,
he wrote to the professor that he could not waste his ‘pre-
cious time’. He has not looked young for thirty years, but
his mind is urgently young.

.

He says now that perhaps he could have got to under-
stand music and pictures and other such matters if he had
ever met artistic people. But he hardly has in all his life.

And this is true, that he could have got to understand.
The love of any art is not an affair of spontaneous genera-
tion. No impulse, original or inherited, suddenly makes a
million people at any particular time love a certain form of
dress or painting or architecture or religion. If there is one
thing a human being does not know by the grace of God, it
is what he likes. First there has to be instruction and ex-
ample, then follows imitation, then pretence, then sclf-de-
ception—the pose becomes a principle—one knows what
one likes. Genuine feeling has grown from artificial stimu-
lation, like the Japanese pearl in the oyster. Nature did not
put the core there, but the substance around it is of the stuff
of pearls.

Smuts, in particular, with his eager, desirous spirit, could
have learnt to love beauty. As it is, he has gone nearly all to
intellece—Dbut an intellect mystic and emotional.
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6

On the othier hand, that business of Emily Bronté and his
attitude towards his own writing do declare that words—
as words—are important to him. And they are—but not as
art, not for their sound or rhyme or rhythm or place or
look. He wrote at Cambridge a book of seventy thousand
words on a poet (it was never published), and he says there
that certain of this poct’s lines arc beautiful and express var-
ious strikiny ideas, but it never occurs to him to consider
the words f-om the point of view of the artifice that creates
emotion. What Smuts looks for in the words of a poem is
the thought they express. And that, essentially, is what he
should look for. Poctry is the shortest, swiftest, exactest line
between apprehension and expression—as one might say,
in Smuts’ manner, the winging of an arrow so true that it
picrces the heart.

The content, therefore, of 2 word or an idea Smuts can
most delicately appreciate, and so in literature he has
sound tastz, But as he does not at all know the language of
musicians or painters, what they say has no more than a
vague emotional meaning for him.



Chaptcr v
HE DISCOVERS SHELLEY

I

I the time Smuts was at Stellenbosch he was read-
ing and writing—never anything easy and gay, but
always the ah-life! ah~fate! type of thing. To this
day he does not read novels or plays or any sort of light,
imaginative stuff. Sometimes he makes a note: ‘Must read
D. H. Lawrence’ or some other talked-of writer. But he
cannot bring himself to begin. It amazes him to hear that
Mr. Baldwin rcads detective stories—what pleasure, he
wonders, can a man like Mr, Baldwin possibly get from
rcading detective stories? He himself (though he knows
The Dynasts) has not read even the fate-fiction of Thomas
Hardy.

He tried a long time ago to read Meredith because
Meredith was the man who, as a publisher’s reader, com-
mented on that seventy-thousand-word book of his about
the poet. But he found Meredith, he says, too artificial
and complicated. Mr. Shaw’s English he thinks greater
than his thinking. He judges him, however, on very litte
evidence.

He once met Mr. Shaw. It was in January of 1932 at a
small lunch party in Cape Town. They did not establish
community. Every now and then an alert look would come
over Smuts’ face and it would seem as if he were going to
say something brightly significant. But he never did say
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something brightly significant becausc Mr. Shaw was most
of the time explaining why every schoolgirl of sixteen ought
to read Lady Chatterley’s Lover—a subject on which Smuts
had no conversation.

The rest of the talk concerned the gold standard. Mr.
Shaw thouglt that for a country to leave the gold standard
was no better than for an individual to go bankrupt. And
as Smuts had for the last few months been charging about
the country vehemently urging South Africa to follow
England off 30ld, this subject too fell stonily to earth. . ..

There is one thing Smuts likes about Mr. Shaw’s fore-
runner, Samuel Butler. It is Butler’s criticism of Darwin.
The feeling Smuts has aboue Darwin is that he shut a door
which should have been lefe open. For the rest, he finds But-
ler repellent-—a genius, he says, but inhuman.

He has read Mr. Wells' prophetic books, but he thinks
them too pessimistic. He does not even know that Bennett
describes him—not altogether happily—in Lord Raingo.
He had some slight association with Bennett when Bennett
was doing war work and he himself was in the War Cabi-
net. The impression he had was that Bennett was rather in-
competent. He has read Julian Huxley, but not Aldous
Huxley. Urail quite recently he connected the name of
Somerset Maugham with an official of that surname in
Delagoa Bay, but, having been persuaded to read his short
stories, was enchanted by their truth, precision and swift-
ness. “When I go into the Forest,” they induced him to say,
‘I shall teact: myself to rcad novels.”

Yet Smuts reads all the time. He reads every important
new book that concerns world affairs, science and philo-
sophy. There are, in his library, five hundred and fifty
books on philosophy; over a hundred on economics; over
four hundred on social and national affairs; nearly five hun-
dred on travel; one hundred and seventy on botany; over
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one hundred on other sciences; two hundred and sixty on
the Great War, the Peace and the League; seven hundred
and fifty on law; seventy on weltpolitik; thirty on educa-
tion; fifty of poetry; one hundred and fifty biographies and
memoirs and over fifteen hundred other books, including
the novels and South African books Mrs. Smuts collects.
There are twenty-five or thirty long shelves of debates and
pamphlets, and a number of black tin trunks—large and
small—of papers. Not counting the books that swarm in
every room and passage in the house, he has about five
thousand bound books. Many people have greater libraries
than this—inherited libraries, collectors’ libraries. The
point about Smuts’s library is that every book means some-
thing to him, and, except for those Mrs. Smuts collects and
people foist on him, he knows what each contains and
where exactly it is.

Many of his books were given him-—notably the bio-
graphies and memoirs of the men with whom he worked
in the Great War-—but still he spends, as he says, more than
a poor man should on books. He sits by himself, when the
day’s work is done, reading in his library. Or, when he
wants to get still further away from everything, on the
bench on the little verandah outside his bedroom. At night
he reads on his hard bed. And if he wakes at midnight or
s0, he reads again—gencrally some book on philosophy.
‘Is the Holy Ghost any other than an Intellectual Fountain?’
Well, he thinks it is. But he would agree with Blake ‘that
to labour in Knowledge is to build up Jerusalem, and to De-
spise Knowledge is to Despise Jerusalem and her builders’.

2

At Stellenbosch it was not only the English poets he
read, but he learnt also German and read the German poets
and then philosophy and philosophy and philosophy.
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And, when he wrote, it was sometimes verse, but oftencr
it was essays on subjects like the Cosmic Religion, Free-
dom, Truth, Politics and so on. At nineteen he wrote an
essay he called ‘Homo Sum’ which deale with slavery, spiri-
tual and economic as well as physical. He was full of his
new learning.

“The dackness of the Middle Ages’, he wrote, ‘was iden-
tically the same thing as slavery. Slaves to the will of the
Pontiff, men were equally enslaved by the dictum of
Aristotle.” 'The Person, he wrote further, seeing suddenly a
vision of what was to be, throughout life, a philosophic—
indeed, a scientific—principle with him, the Person, he de-~
clared, was the highest manifestation of truth. The pro-
foundest truth was man’s individualicy. ‘Science has
struggled to work out laws, but the history of Humanity
will prove that Personality is above Law.” . . . “We do not
believe in Pantheistic Oneness if that means the disappear-
ance of the Individual into the All, and the resolving of that
All into Nothingness. We believe in a Unity where all
individuals are filled with the one reality—indivisible
Truth.’

That was one kind of thing he wrote. There was another
kind, not less characteristic: “Who,” he demanded, ‘having
felt the heart-beat of the motherland call unto his heart,
could fail to tespond to the need for rivalling the heroic
deeds of Old Europe, perchance in nobler realms? . .. If
South Africa is to be great indeed and not merely inflated
with the wind of Johannesburg, its greamess will have to
depend on its moral civilisation, on the sincerity of its sons
for that which is cn high, no matter by what road they
mean to travel in their upward course.’

He was full in those days of the predestined greatness of
South Africa. He saw South Africa as comparable with
Elizabethan England —awakening and looking beyond her
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own little affairs to a bigger world. And to this ertect, when
Rhodes visited the Victoria College in 1888, he spoke. He
was one of the junior men, but the principal asked him to
respond to Rhodes” own speech. And Rhodes, in those
days the champion of the Dutch, was so impressed with the
boy that he marked him down for possible use in a future
that was to hold a brotherhood of English and Dutch.

He was now, Rhodes, in the force of his life. Eighteen-
eighty-eight was one of those significant years which he
marked by making a will. He made, in 1888, his third will.
For this was the year in which he brought to success his
schemes for amalgamating all the diamond mines in Kim-
berley. Last year he had formed his powerful Goldfields
Company on the Rand. The trust deeds of both com-
panies provided that their surplus funds might be used for
purposes far indeed removed from the mere getting of dia-
monds and gold. As Barato, his defeated and absorbed
rival in Kimberley, remarked, some people had a fancy for
this and some for that, and Rhodes’ fancy was to make an
Empire. The diamond business was barely through when
Rhodes’ men were going north to get a mining concession
from Lobengula over all his dominions. Next year Rhodes
had his charter from the Imperial Government over all
those dominions. The following year he planted the British
flag in Mashonaland, and became Prime Minister of the
Cape. Eighteen-ninety~-one saw him, laden with triumphant
sheaves, at the apex of his life.

This was the year in which Smuts, having done other
things in Stellenbosch than read poetry and philosophy and
preach to coloured boys and speculate on man’s destiny,
took his degree with honours in both literature and science
and was awarded a scholarship for Cambridge. He decided
to read law, gave his coloured boys each a present of a
Bible, and left for Cambridge with a vision of Rhodes as
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the hero of the British Empire and the successor of Raleigh;
with South Africa (it may be seen from his reply to Rhodes)
as the Elizabethan England of the day. He was himself a
Briton of Dutch descent. In his young mind lay the seed of
Rhodes’ north and a United States, not only of South
Africa, but of Africa.

There came a time when Smuts had to hate Rhodes so
much that he was turned violently from England herself,
because Rhodes to him was England. Yet Rhodes’
‘thoughts’ (us Rhodes himself called his inspirations) of a
United Africa remained with Smuts, like all the other ideals
of his life, for ever. Twenty, thirty and forty years hence he
was to be taunted by his.own people as a reincarnation of
the devil Rhodes. ‘Hear him! Rhodes Redivivus with the
Large View! . . . Our Nation torn asunder . . . Brothers’
blood . . . Broken heares . . . The same Megalomania . . .
Table Bay to Mediterrancan. . . ./

Already, m 1801, when Smuts sct sail for England, a
Rhodes marn, there was that brewing between Rhodes and
Kruger which made Smuts, its the end, a Krager man, From
the very firs- time Kruger and Rhodes had met in the early
‘eighties over the question of the ownership of Bechuana-
land, Kruge: had distrusted Rhodes. “That young man’, he
had said then, ‘is going to cause me trouble.’

Well, he could work against Rhodes. But what could he
do against nature? The year after Kruger and Rhodes first
met gold was found on the Witwatersrand. Johannesburg
dates from the year 1886. As the adventurers of the world
had come to Kimbetley, they came now to Johannesburg.
They came in their tens of thousands. They came from
Kimberley. The millionaires of Kimberley came. Rhodes
came. There were soon (Kruger said) four times as many of
these foreigners, these Uitlanders, as of Boers. Kruger could
not bear the sight of Johannesburg full of these foreigners.
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Pretoria, his capital, was only thirty-five miles from johan-
nesburg, it was his official duty to visit every town in his
Republic at least once a year, but his most priceless posses-
sion, the destined Atlas of all southern Africa, he saw only
thrice in nine years. He echoed the words of his rival for the
Presidency: “This gold’, he said, ‘will cause our country to
be soaked in blood.” And when Rhodes protested to him
about his hostile treatment of the Uitlanders, he answered
coldly: ‘T am here to protect my burghers as well as the
Rand people. I know what I have to do and I will do what
I think righe.’

Rhodes could deal with everyone clse, but he could not
deal with Kruger. He might winningly call himself, for the
part he had in the gold of the Transvaal, one of Kruger’s
young burghers—Kruger was not moved. “The old devil,’
said Rhodes in the end; ‘I meant to work with him, but'm
not going on my knees to him.’



Chapter \Y/

HE GOES TO CAMBRIDGE

T

I or the last forty years the story has gone about that

Rhodes subsidised Smuts’ education and set him up

in life. Smuts saw Rhodes on that day in Stellen-
bosch, and rwice after his return from Cambridge on a
public platform. He never spoke to Rhodes. He did once
speak on his behalf. He went to Cambridge on this scholar-
ship that was guaranteed at not less than /100 a year and
that in Smuts’ time, owing to a bank failure, amounted to
precisely this £ 100, and not the usual £200, a year. To sup-
plement the inadequate sum Smuts made certain financial
arrangements. He persuaded a friend who was a Dutch
Reformed Minister and a Professor of Theology to lend
him the money to take out a life insurance policy. Against
the sccurity of this policy the friend would then lend him
other money.

Smuts borrowed his first £ 50 in February of 1892, and
another £ 50in October. He hated borrowing. He brooded
over the fact that, although he was excelling in his examin-
ations, the smallest possible sum should be allowed him
from the scholarship fund. At last, scruggling, resentful,
confident and proud, he wrote a letter to the Registrar of
the Univetsity of the Cape of Good Hope, to which this
was the reply:
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“We are pleased to hear of your successful examinations,
and trust the future may be as the past has been.

‘It is certainly unfortunate that the incvitable reduction in
the value of the Ebden Scholarship has somewhat crippled
you. I think that under the circumstances the Council should
be disposed to do something more for you. But—let me
speak plainly—the probability of its doing so would in my
opinion be greatly diminished if your letter to me were
submitted to the Council. You speak of being “entitled”
to some consideration and of being “unfairly treated”.
Ishould strqngly advise you to refrain from the use of such
language. Itis in my judgment unbecoming that you should
calculate the income from the Ebden Trust Fund—your
calculation by the way is not correct—and assume that
whatever the fund yields 1s due to the holder of the scholar-
ship. You are entitled to “not less than 100 a year” ....1
will not, if I can help it, shew your letter to any member of
the Council: it could only produce an unfavourable impres~
sion, and would doubdless greatly interfere with your pros-
pect of obtaining further assistance. I strongly advise you to
withdraw your letter. . .

He withdrew his letter. [t was not until July 28th, 1804,
that ‘an additional grant of [100 was voted to Mr. J. C.
Smuts, Ebden Scholar, in consideration of his distinguished
success as a student at the University of Cambridge’.

In the meantime his friend Professor Marais went
on advancing him money against his life insurance
policy, and also paying the premiums on the policy. The
only security the professor had in doing this depended on
Smuts’ death. Otherwise, policy or no policy, he had to
trust him.

The final account between them, as the professor ‘thought
it best, in case of unforeseen accident’ to restate, stood, in
August 1806, as follows:
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1892
23 February Lso 10 o
1 October 10 18 ¢
1803
1 October 50 8 o
Life Policy 1018 ¢
1804
I June 50 § 0
Life Policy 10 18 9
1895
24 August 100 0 ©

“Suppose’. added the professor, ‘you let me have an ac-
knowledgment for the whole amount plus interest at § %,
I could then return any acknowledgment I have for the
original amounts lent. What do you think?’

Smuts brzcketed the figures of the statement and wrote
against themr: *August 19, 1896, Acknowledgment to Prof.
Marais of loan to be repaid @ 6 %, from Scpt 1st.

[t will be seen that the profcssor on the one hand, did
not demand interest at the compound rate from the time of
the first loan, but on the sum of all the loans together a year
after the last loan. And that Smuts, on the other hand, in-
creased the rate of interest from five to six per cent.

The difficalty Smuts had in getting money, his despera-
tion, may be judged from the fact that to this day the
professot’s help is spoken of with graticude in the Smuts
family. For some time, indecd, after his marriage Smuts
was still paying off his debt, and it was the professor him-
self who married him to his wifc.

Smuts had met her in his student days at Stellenbosch.
Her name was Sibella Margarctha Krige, she was six
months younger than himself; she belonged to a family de-
scended from the Voortrekkers, and her great-great-grand-
father had been the best-known doctor in Cape Town in
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the seventeen-fifties. The family had political affuiations, its
sons became professional men and combined an adherence
to sport with a leaning towards affairs of the intellect. A
brother followed Smuts as Ebden Scholar; the son of an-
other brother became a Rhodes Scholar; brothers and
brothers-in-law rose high in the Government service. Her
father was farming in the district.

Smuts conducted a courtship that was of a piece with his
general life at Stellenbosch. He taught his girl Greek, they
both learnt German, they both learnt botany, they read
poetry togcther, she still knows a translation he made in
1806 of Schiller’s Das Ideal und das Leben, and it was she
who copiced out his scventy-thousand-word book for pre-
sentation to a publisher.

2

This book was a study in the evolution of Personality,
and it grew from the theories of Personality Smuts had
formed at the age of nineteen. In it lay the idea that thirty-
threc years later was to appear before the world as the phil-
osophy Smuts calls Holisin. In it lay also the sced of the
theory known as psycho-analysis. ‘Reading your book
Holism® (wrote Alfred Adler in 1931, that one who bases
himself to~day on the theory of Power) ‘I could sec clearly
described what had been the key of our science of Individual
Psychology. Besides of the great value of your contribu-
tion in other directions, I recognised the view in regard to
what we have called “unity” and “coherence”. I feel very
glad to recommend your book to all my students and fol-
lowers as the best preparation for the science of Individual
Psychology.” He wrote again a few months later: ‘Dr. Er-
win Krausz, Vienna, has translated great part of your work
and is enchanted like T had been.’

The translation was not published in Austria because
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Austrian publishers could not afford to issue a book on phil-
osophy; nor in Germany because the sponsors were Jews.

The little book that was its begetter was also not pub-
lished. Who knew that someone called Jan Christian Smuts
—s0 obviously immature and unprofessional—was des-
tined to become a great man in the eyes of the world, or
that in a book concerning Walt Whitman lay hidden the
conception that was to make Freud famous? In 1895
Breuer and Freud’s Studien siber Hysterie was published, and
in 1900 Fread’s Traumdentung.

Thesc were the earliest books connected with psycho-
analysis, though, as one sees from reading Freud’s Life, not
the earliest thoughts. Smuts’ book on Walt Whitman was
begun at Cambridge in 1804 and finished at the beginning
of 1895. He submitted it then to the publishers Chapman
& Hall, whom he knew as che publishers of Olive Schrei-
ner’s Story of an African Farm, and their reader, George
Meredith, through whose hands also Olive Schreiner’s
book had gone, reported on it as follows:

“This writer is a thinker and can give his meaning clearly.
Had his thetne been Goethe, whom he justly appreciates,
the book would have seized on our public. Perhaps his ex-
position of Whitman may commend it to Americans. Here
the Whitman cult has passed for a time. He has, however,
foundation in the enduring; the book is worth perusal and
will reward reflection, though as it is not opportune, it is
unlikely for the present to win many readers. Whitrman
causes hirm to attribute too much frequency to the quoted
matter. But mainly the view of Whitman’s teaching is
sound.’

Smuts never saw Meredith’s letter until a facsimile ap-
peared in the Fortnightly Review of August 1909, but Chap-
man & Hall wrote to him (the date is May 16¢h, 1895) in
similar terms:
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‘Dear Sir,—Your book is full of thought cleatly and well
expressed, but at the present moment Walt Whitman is so
little considered in this country that I fear” and so on. The
letter ended: ‘Allow me to cxpress my admiration for the
way you have handled a difficult subject and the sound and
safe teaching which your work contains.’

Of these two sentences Smuts made use the day after he
received the letter. He wrote from the Common Room of
the Middle Temple to a second firm of publishers—Long-
mans Green: ‘A gentleman of great culture *(surely he had
the right to«all a publisher a gentleman of great culture?)
‘and personally quite unknown to me, who has seen the
MS. writes me “‘your work is full of thought clearly and
well expressed. . .. Allow me to express my admiration for
the way you have handled a difficalt subject and the sound
and safe teaching which your work contains.” .. .’

He described his bookas “an attempt to apply the method
of Evolution synthetically to the Study of Man’ (Certainly
George Meredith did not discover this) . . . and the large
sale of Kidd’s Social Evolution . . . ‘makes me hope that my
book will sell too. I anticipate a good circulation in Amer-
ica.

Alas, neither the opinion of the gentleman of great cul-
ture concerning the book’s sound and safe teaching, nor
the curious comparison of what seemed to be a literary
study with Kidd’s successful Social Evolution, tempted
Longmans Green. They too sent back Walt Whitman.

In the meantime Smuts had returned to South Africa to
practise as a barrister, and his next letter concerning Walt
Whitman was sent from Cape Town.

It was sent—publishers having failed him—to the Nine-
teenth Century. ‘My original intention,” he wrote to the editor
of the Nineteenth Century, ‘which I have not yet abandoned,
was to publish it in book form. But Walt Whitman seemed
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to me so little considered by the British public as to make it
inadvisable to do so. I now wish to submit the MS. to your
kind attention for the purpose of serial publication in your
Review. If you are willing to insert the whole in a series of
articles in the Nineteenth Century, or even if you are only
w1lhng to insert the last two chapters, which I consider the
most interesting generally, I shall be very much obliged. I
am willing to make such changes as you may deem advis-
able for the purpose of a scrial publication.’

The Ninereenth Century too returned Walt Whitman, and
the next time Smuts looked at it was forty years later. ‘I
have’, he then wrote in a letter, ‘read some of the chapters
again, and rot without amazement. It is full of puerility,
but it has remarkable stuff, as coming from a youngster at
twenty-four. Indeed in some respects it is better than Hol-
ism and Evolution written thirty years later.’

Well, there it ends. ‘The lictle book will never’, as Smuts
says, ‘be published now, even if someone wanted to publish
it. Walt Whitman is a boy’s book. I am too far away from
those days. Everything is different: ¢he whole world is dif-
ferent and I am different too.”

Yet that, at least, a few of its thoughts may sce daylighe
(if only for rhat germ concerning whose development in
Holism Adler was ‘enchanted’, and because he who wrote
it became the man Smuts), here is che philosophy of Walt
Whitman. Since also they will never appear in any other
place, let Smuts’ own words, as far as possible, describe
those thoughts.



Chapter Vi
HE ANALYSES WHITMAN

I

hould, the underlying theory of this booklet prove

correct,” writes Smuts in the preface to Walt Whit-

man: a Study in the Evolution of Personality, ‘and
some of the principal features of Whitman’s mental de-
velopment found to be capable of a general application, it
seems to me that very important conscquences will follow,
which will probably throw a new light on some of the
darkest problems of life and thought.’

Smuts was now, as a contemporary describes him, a
youth with ‘a pale face and white hair, conspicuous in the
University Library on hot afternoons when all the under-
graduate world was at play’. He had no sense of fun, he had
no money, he was crippled, as he wrote to the Registrar of
the Cape University—crippled for lack of it and borrowing
on his life insurance policy: His childhood had been passed
on a Cape farm, his boyhood in a village, his young man-
hood in a larger village, and one has to know African farms
and villages to realisc how far they are from the ways of
England. Since a Boer has natural poise, it seems likely that
Smuts, with all his strangeness and shyness, maintained him-
self with an outward cquability. But he has to this day an
extremely strong Western Province accent, and forty years
ago it was surely terrific. He must, for his accent alone (good
as it sounds in South African cars), have seemed a foreigner.
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He must have fel a foreigner. He never speaks of the col-
leges of Cambridge or its river as he speaks—always—of
the mountains of Africa, its skies and its veld. Had he friends
at Cambridge? He had no intimates, he says, nor was he in-
fluenced by anything there except books. He remained, as
ever, contentedly lonely.

It is the romantic tradition that great men are solitary in
their habit. Yet one has only to see Smuts stalking along
to-day, his cyes on the ground, forgetting talk, just present
enough to stiffen the shoulders that want to stoop—one has
only to know how complete he really is without people, to
accept the fact that he must, indeed, have been as far from
the life of Cambridge as from the life at Stellenbosch.

He discovered human beings, he says, during the Bocr
War. The impression in South Africa is that he has never
discovered them.

He is not ignorant of this impression. All the time he was
associated with General Botha it was said that Botha was
the warm, magnetic personality, and Smuts the cold and
powerful brain. Every newspaper said it. It was said in Eng-
land. His associates said it, and say it still.

Yet why, he wonders (for he ts sensitive to opinion even
thoughitinfluences himnotatall), whyshould itbe said,why
should he be called aloof ? Is he not accessible and amiable?

He is accessible and amiable and also courtly. He has
beautiful manners. At the same time he has the sort of per-
sonality that makes people diffident with him—big people
as well as Lictle pcople, his family no less than scrangers—
that even creates enemies. Perhaps it is the instinctive feel-
ing that he will always put a cause above a person—that he
can do without persons. This is rather humbling. Then, as
Mr. Shaw says, “Their fellows hate mental giants, and would
like to destroy them, not only enviously, because the juxta-
position of a superior wounds their vanity, but quite hum-
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bly and honestly, because it frightens them.” Again, he is
complex and unaccountable: he himself is ‘puzzled by his
complexity—he remains, he says, unassembled; and behind
his vivacity his mind broods over problems and next moves
and future moves as over a dozen simultaneous chess-
boards, and one feels this multiple preoccupation. Finally,
there are those lonely first years on the farm that developed
in him the ‘reserved and retired nature’ he wrote about at
sixteen. He has this nature to-day.

He had it also at Cambridge. Certainly he never con-
fided to anypne ‘this theory which, if it proved correct . . .
would probably throw a new light on some of the darkest
problems of life and thought’. As, thirty years later, he
wrote his Holism encompassed by a 'sense of defeat which
not one of his associates realised or realises to this day; so,
even more solitarilyin his youth at Cambridge—but not less
confidently, without reference to anyone, without fear
(even the fear of making himself ridiculous), he sat down to
dispute with Plato, Aristotle, Bacon, Hegel and Darwin.
What, behind this apparent analysis of a poet, was his argu-~
ment with them and his simple plan? Nothing less than to
question and explain the principle of life itsclf.

2

He begins nervily by saying that the Idea of Plato, the
Form of Bacon, the Idée of Hegel and the similar theories
of their followers, all represent ‘a certain conception which,
though usually said to correspond to nothing existing, has
yet an apparently indestructible vitality that invests it with
profound significance’. He submits that these philosophies
never discovered the actual conception on which they
‘staked their philosophical reputation’, and he offers to
demonstrate that ‘the thing corresponding to the Concep-
tion does really exist in one case, and has been extended by

42



HE ANALYSES WHITMAN

analogy to other cases. The Conception is a sclf-intuition, the
reflection in the mind of Personality.”

“These profound spirits’, looking for some co-ordinating
principle, saw (says Smuts) in their consciousness the reflec-
tion of the self. ‘But they also saw in that reflection the very
nature and essence of the Personality. If this assumption is
correct we sce that there is in the Personality a character-
istic activity--distinct in each individual —of the immanent
life, the untestrained and natural development of which
will realise the full promise and potency of that life. . . .
This Form of Personality resembles closely .the idea of
Fate. It is an immanent Fate operating in every individual
which can be thwarted but never fundamentally altered by
circumstances.’

Does Smuss mean by this ‘Personality’ not only what is
customarily implied by the term, but also something like
Spinoza’s Determinism, Schopenhauver’s Will and the Elan
Vital Bergscn was to celebrate cight or ten years after
Walt Whitman was finally set aside for ever? Is it his idea
that Plato, Bucon, Hegel might have seen in it (and did not)
the meaning of the Universe? Is there something from
Eastern philasophy in his suggestion that Personality is
Fate? He confesses in Walt Whitman that his reading of
philosophy is limited. His business at Cambridge was actu-
ally law, and his success in it, according to the Encyclo-
peedia Britannica, was unprecedented. How much, really, of
the philosopliy that appears in the course of Smuts’ analysis
of Walt Whitman is original and how much derived?
Could Smuts himself tell? It is possible that, despite his
limited reading, he may yet have got from without, and
not from wirhin, his inspiration. But it is enough that, as a
clue to modern thought, his quest and instinct for the essen-
tial, his arguments and conclusions, are so impressive as to
suggest something one mighe call genius.
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In Walt Whitman he has the idea of testing, as if it were
an experiment in biology, ‘the actual working out of this
conception in one particular case.’

The idea is interesting, but to a man of Smuts’ tempera-
ment not very appropriate. One may judge from the fact
of Smuts’ distaste for novels that he is not concerned with
any but the abstract side of human personality. Smuts is no
Proust.

3

He chooses as ‘his particular case’ Walt Whitman. Why
Walt Whitman? Because. ‘biological phenomena’, he
explains, ‘are generaﬂy best studied in the most perfect and
fully developed specimens. ... . Goethe appeared to me as an
ideal personality for a subject. But the Goethe literature has
grown to such “incompassable’ dimensions that its accurate
study must be the work of a laborious lifetime. On the
other hand, Whitman’s work is confined within narrow
limits comparatively.” . . .

Yet as Smuts had not to choose merely between Goethe
and Walt Whitman, why, again, Walt Whitman? He had
his reasons. He was mad about poetry: he thought in terms
of pocts. The embryo statesman in him was excited about
America: Whitman signified to him America.

The limits of Whitman were, as he says, narrow. This
simplified his effort. A further simplification was the fact
that a poet and his work are as nearly as possible the same
thing. If one thinks of it, Smuts’ fundamental motive in
choosing Whitman as his specimen was the instinctive de-
sire of the craftsman to isolate his problem and thus identify
it, not with the immediate, but cthe universal. Whitman
was isolated by his craft, his ‘narrow limits’ and his scene.

He had also, of course, strongly developed, the what-is-
lite attitude which has never ceased to excite Smuts, and
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which, for a consideration of what life indecd might be,
was quite essential,
Hence Whitman. . ..

4
It may be said that Smuts examines Whitman for proof
of his theory and not at all as a poet.

In:  Iaman acme of things accomplished
And I am an encloser of things to be.
My feet strike an apex: of the apices of the stairs.
On cvery step bunches of ages, and larger bunches
between cach step,
All duly travelled, and still I mount and mount.

Rise after rise botw the phantoms behind me,

Afar down I see the huge first Nothing, T knew T
was even there,

Twaited unseen and always, and slept through the
lethargic wmist,

Ana took my time, and took no hurt from the
foetid carbon—

in these verses Smuts sees an anticipation of Spencer and
Darwin—he calls them ‘a matchless account of human
evolution’.

In: [ wiil not make poems with reference to parts,

But I will make poems, songs, thoughts with
reference to Ensemble,

Aund Twill not sing with reference to a day, but
with reference to all days,

And Twill not make a poem nor the least part
of a poem but has reference to the Soul,

Because having looked at the objects of the Uni-
verse, I find there is no one nor any particle
of one but has reference to the soul—

45



HE ANALYSES WHITMAN

here he finds that conception of the Whole which he was
later to develop as Holism. “The idea of the Whole: it has
perhaps not yet exercised any great historical influence in
the shaping of thought and belief; but I venture to think
that it will probably become one of the mightiest intellec-
tual and spiritual forces of the future.’

He searches Whitman for proof of his theory. He dis-
cusses him from the emotional, spiritual, realistic, recep-
tive, domestic and social aspects. He traces in Leaves of
Grass the development of his Personality through his im-
pulse towazds anarchy, progress, comradeship, democracy
and equality—the equality not only of people high and low,
good and evil—but actually the equality of good and evil
themselves. “Whitman's advocacy of equality’, he says,
‘compels him to accord to those ideas that society ostra-
cises an equal status with those she favours; he is obliged to
treat outcast ideas with the same tolcrant generosity as out-
cast persons.’ . .. And the Right, the Good (he asks—not
uniquely), ‘does it exist, is it a reality at all in itself? Is it not
rather a broken fragment of the Whole—of the Person-
ality? . .." ‘And if God’, he later adds, ‘is conceived as the
Life of the Whole, including the material and biological
universe; including, moreover, humanity and the human
Personality—that Life must necessarily involve the element
of Personality—extended to and harmonised with the en-
tire Universe of existence’—it must therefore include also
Evil or wrong, which are part of the whole and ‘thus lifted
above ethical distinctions’. ...

It will be seen how already, at twenty-four, he is secking
everywhere that Whole which, in Holism, he conceives
not merely as one of the mightiest intellectual and spiritual
forces, but as the fundamental physical force—indeed, an
active principle after the manner, one might say, of gravi-
tation. . ..

46



HE ANALYSES WHITMAN

He ends his examination of Whitman by suggesting that
if he has proved Whitman's ideas, through this study of his
Personality, to be the same as Plato’s, Bacon’s and Hegel’s,
then ‘a conclusion of the greatest importance to the under-
lying theory of this book follows’. That conclusion, he says,
and so much *or the poetry of Whitman’s poetry, could be
cven better stated in algebraic symbols.

5

But then, of course, the theme of the book (although
Meredith did not see it) is no more Whitman than the
student’s frog is the science of anacomy. Whitman is merely
the theme’s vehicle and ‘a vehicle often so sticky that the
theme has to zet out and push it.

Nor does the theme even end, as the sub-title suggests,
at a consideration of a man’s Personality. A man’s Person-
alicy typifies to Smuts the Personality in every form of life.
“What is the most fundamental and characteristic property
of all life—bcth in plants and animals? It seems to be the
process of developing, growing or evolving from within,
from itself, and of reorganising all the nutritive material to
itsown inner requirements, The process by which life main-
tains and developsitself” (he says,adopting a philosophical
conception of biology both older and newer than the ideas
of those 'nineties in which he was living) ‘is not merely
mechanical, is not merely chemical. Behind the assimila-
tive chemistry of any form of life lies that mysterious force
which determines the nature of the chemical and mechan-
ical processes on which life is nourished.”

That ‘mysterious force” is the whole-making principle to
which Smuts ultimately gave the name of Holism. And
from its universal presence he draws in Walt Whitman two
conclusions:

(1) ‘Every individual form of life is a unity, a centre of
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activity dominated by one fundamental property. It is
this ultimate internal unity that shapes the innumer-
able products of life into an orderly and harmonious
whole.’

(2) Tn every individual form of life this fundamental pro-
perty operates according to its own laws and forms.’

From this unity he separates nothing—nothing whatso-
cver. He enunciates here indeed what Adler, in its develop-
ment of Holism, recognised as ‘the view in regard to what
we (psycho-analysts) call “unity” and “coherence”’. ‘On
looking into the current text-books on that subject,” writes
Smuts, T find that psychologists first divide the mental or
psychic phenomena of human life into the unconscious and
the conscious. The unconscious phenomena they set aside
as not properly within the scope of their subject. The con-
scious mental phenomena are then divided into intellect,
feeling or emotion, and volition, and these are then separ-
ately anatomised in their historical development in the
growing individual, . ..

‘My own reading—which I frankly admit to be very
limited—has never yet brought mc to any treatise which
shews, or tries to shew, how the mind develops and acts as a
whole.

“We do not get at the whole by a careful study and sum-
ming up of its parts, since the whole is greater than the sum
of its parts. The true life in each individual is that unity
which underlics all its manifold manifestations. . . . How far
has the application of the evolutionary conception of psy-
chology been synthetic?

‘In order to arrive at the starting point for this synthetic
application, we must first cease to cut up the mind into in-
tellect, feeling and volition. We must also cease to divide
its phenomena into the conscious and the unconscious.
Thus we arrive at undifferentiated and unanalysed mental
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life. What do we gain by ignoring these distinctions?
Among others, we gain this: that now, for the first time,
we shall be able to study the influence of the unconscious
part in our mental life along with that of the conscious part.
This unconscious part—the vast region of mental twilight
in which the primordial forces of our cosmic nature disport
themselves without the interference of the will or the pry-
ing of the coniciousness—is undoubtedly a very important
part of an inncr life. . . . By studying mental life as a whole
—including both the conscious and the unconscious factors
in it—we shall soon get beyond the range of the pure
psychologist.’

Smuts states here, in shore (if these few sentences hacked
from their context do him justice), the theory of psycho-
analysis. Not its application, of coursc, to ills of the body:
Breuer and Freud lead there. Nor, for the first time, the
theory of the Unconscious: not only Freud, but, long ago,
Leibnitz, Schopenhauer, Mainlacnder and particularly Hart-
mann, had thought about the Unconscious. What Freud
appreciated and the earlier philosophers did not appreciate
was the active principle in the Unconscious: that the Un-
conscious is more than the merely not conscious—it is a
region which has its own laws and history. And what
Smuts appreciated before Freud, and expressed in Walt
Whitman as clearly as it has yet been expressed, was the
unity of the Unconscious with the Conscious. ‘Tt is this ulti-
mate internal unity that shapes the innumerable products of
life into an orderly and harmonious whole.” While the
strange, remote youth from an African farm seemed to have
no occupation at Cambridge other than to come first in
law examinations, in the very year in which he took and
headed both parts of the Law Tripos, he was writing a phil-
osophical work whose theme was that in ‘the vast region of
mental twilight in which the primordial forces of our cos-
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mic nature disport themselves without the interference of
the will or the prying of the consciousness’ lay the clue and
complement to our whole inner life.

He even knew as instinctively as Freud that in Schiller (he
used to translate Schiller) lay the root of psycho-analysis.
And it entered his mind to look at a man’s unconscious in
explanation of his being. He studied Whitman as a bio-
logical specimen.

Perhaps (apart even from his indifference to the human
side of Personality) it would have been wiser if Smuts had
not chosen+precisely Whitman for his hero, since Whitman
was so out of fashion that nobody looked much beyond his
name in considering the lictle book.

And yet, was it, after all, quite unfortunate? Who knows
where the publication of that book might have led Smuts
—t0 what lonely caverns? He might not have been a leader
in the Boer War and the Boer Peace, nor united South
Africa, nor sat in the British War Cabinet, nor joined with
Woodrow Wilson to establish the League of Nations. Pro-
fessor Gilbert Murray might not have written to him on the
eleventh day of the eleventh month of 1918: ‘T am writing
in this hour of solemn and most awful emotion, to tell you
of the profound gratitude that I and some millions of other
Englishmen owe to you. . . . You have not only brought
in the help of your political genius; you have forgiven your
own wrongs and those of your nation, and thercby given
us a lesson which I trust we shall never forget.” . . . The
theory which, if it were proved correct, ‘would probably
throw a new light on some of the darkest problems of life
and thought’ remained hidden under the cloak of Whitman
for thirty-three years. And it cannot be said that when it did
finally step from its vestures (Freud had become famous in
the meantime, Bergson had become famous, Professor
Whitehead and Alexander and Lloyd Morgan had fol-

50



HE ANALYSES WHITMAN

lowed), it cannot be said that even when Holism appeared it
exactly petrified a startled world.

Smuts settled down to the law for which he had gone to
Cambridge. Having won the George Long Prize in 1893,
and headed both parts of the Law Tripos in 1804, he took
the bar examinations in London, headed the lists in legal
history and constitutional law, and was awarded a [s0
prize by the Council of Legal Education.

He read for a while in chambers in London and returned
to South Africa in the middle of 1895. He was admitted to
the Cape Bar. His home became Cape Town.



Chapter VII
HE PRAISES RHODES

I

Imost the firse thing Smuts did in South Africa

haunted him with derision for years. Perhaps, cven,

it gave his life a different turn. Four months before

the Jameson Raid, actually while Rhodes was doing God

knows what in England, Bechuanaland, Rhodesia, Cape

Town, Kimberley and Johannesburg, Smuts—keen, green,

adoring and deluded—went to speak on Rhodes’ behalf at
Kimberley.

This is how it happened.

It may be remembered that in 1888 Rhodes addressed
the Victoria College at Stellenbosch, and Smuts, eighteen
years old, was asked to reply. Smuts made then a speech so
much in tune with Rhodes” own ‘Thoughts’ that Rhodes
immediately set him down in his mind as one of his future
young me.

Rhodes was at that time the close associate of J. H. Hof-
meyr, the Dutch leader in the Cape. They appeared to be
working—indeed, they were—in a common cause of a
brotherhood of Dutch and English. When Rhodes re-
turned to Cape Town from Stellenbosch he asked Hof-
meyr to keep an eye on the young man Smuts. The young
man Smuts, full of his Cambridge honours, had not long
taken chambers in Cape Town when Hofmeyr sent for
him.
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2

Imagine him sitting there in his chambers, reviewing a
book on Plate, and getting a message from Jan Hofmeyr!
He was full of that demoniac energy which to this day in-
habits him, and, straight from an orgy of work in England,
he sat facing the nothingness of a barrister’s beginnings. His
book~—-his little immature book in which lay hid so much
significance—had been returned to him by two publishers.
‘Allow me to express my admiration for the way you have
handled a difficult subject, and for the safe and sound teach-~
ing your work: contains.” He had now sent it off to the
Nineteenth Century, knowing better than to quote again
this commendation of the wnknown gentleman of great
culture; hoping for the publication of merely the last two
chapters; offering to make such changes as might be neces-
sary for serial publication; feeling in his heart that nothing
would happen--and feeling it prophetically.

He sat in his chambers in Cape Town, the challenger of
Plato and Bacon, waiting for briefs and writing for the Cape
Town papers. All the time he was in Cape Town he wrote
for the papers. He wrote leaders, letters, articles, reviews.
He had ideas or. everything that concerned Man and the
State. The stuff poured from him. It was not well written. It
did not suffer fromunder-emphasis. Metaphors had a fascin-
ation forhim which to this dayhe has not overcome. The ex-
uberance, the rhetoric, however, rose from a galloping mind
that could not stop to pick its course. For the longer pieces
he got a guinea. For the occasionalnotes from three-and-six.

Rhodes, said Hofmeyr, had work forabright fellow todo.

3
One has to transport oneself back to the South Africa of
1895 to understand what it meant for a young man to re-
ceive a message from Hofmeyr, a mission from Rhodes.
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Hofmeyr was not mercly the leader of that Dutch party
which called itself the Bond. He was the law of that party.
Its members voted as he told them. Ministries were formed
to his plans. He was a sickly man, and only once, for a short
while, held office himself; but for thirty years, in the suavest
manner, he autocratically directed his party.

Rhodes, by 1895, had advanced even from that position
he had held when Smuts left for Cambridge in 1891. He
was still managing director of de Beers, the Consolidated
Goldfields and the Chartered Company. He was still Prime
Minister of the Cape. But he had now added Matabeleland
to his own dominions in the north, he had acquired several
native territories for the Cape, he had persuaded England to
proclaim a Protectorate over Uganda because Uganda was
on his path to Egypt. He had worked out a solution of the
native problem which to this day remains Smuts’ own sol-
ution. Charterland had been given his name: it had become
Rhodesia, and he himself the very apotheosis of English~
men and the very symbol of Empire.

How was Smuts to know that Rhodes was a man full of
fear, desperately hurrying because death was on him, be-
cause how many years had he left to get the work of his
life done? “To think’, says Smuts to-day, ‘what that man
did in ten years. And what I have done in all my life time?’
He does not realise how often he secems to be measuring
himself against Rhodes.

In 1895 Rhodes was only forty-two, but he had to hurry.
And there in the Transvaal sat that old Kruger, a stumbling-
block to all his plans, refusing to go, refusing to die—a wily,
reactionary, great old man whose era was gone, whom his
own advancing folk might have dismissed—if Rhodes had
waited even another year, if Rhodes had not been demented
by the thought of Time.

But all Smuts saw of Rhodes was a man getting purpler
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and heavier and more and more powerful. What did he
know of that perturbation which, even while he sat palely
reviewing Plato, was making Rhodes do anything—any-
thing—as long as it was quick. What did Hofmeyr himself
know?

Rhodes’ present position was that he could not let any-
one doubt or delay him, and particularly in Kimberley.
Guns were tc be sent from Kimberley to Johannesburg
against an attack on the Transvaal Government. They were
going to be sent, like Ali Baba’s thieves, in oil drums. A
good deal of cther secret work was being done jn Kimber-
ley. And in Kimberley, at this moment, the Cronwrlght
Schreiners must needs take it into their heads to attack
Rhodes’ native policy, and also what they called the mono-
polist control of South Africa—to cast doubts on the char-
acter of Rhodes himself.

The Cronwright Schreiners were Olive Schreiner and
her husband, who had taken her name. Olive Schreiner,
who had once liked Rhodes, now hated him, She was living
at Kimberley with her husband because she had asthma.
They were saying unpleasant things about Rhodes, and
Rhodes wanted them stopped.

All Hofmeyr knew of the whole business was that the
Schreiners were annoying Rhodes. That was enough for
him. He was Rhodes ally. He recalled to Rhodes’ mind
the boy whose speaking had so astonished him at Stellen~
bosch seven years ago. Thar boy was now back from Cam-
bridge—Dutch, Rhodes man, extraordinary career, trained
advocate, zood speaker, political interests, eating his head
off waiting for work—could one not use such a person?
Send him to Kimberley, properly primed, to defend
Rhodes’ policy? .

The de Beers Consolidated Diamond Mines Political
and Debating Society duly invited Rhodes’ newest young
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man to Kimberley. He went. He was primed mdeed. He
had nicely swallowed everything. He saw himself, done
with a world of ghosts, beginning a life among men-—a
public life under Rhodes. He defended Rhodes: from his
politics in the Cape to his ventures in Charterland; from his
ideals for a white South Africa to his plans for a black
South Africa. He must have felt that he had done well in-
deed when Olive Schreiner’s brother, a conspicuous poli-
tician who later became Prime Minister of the Cape, wrote
to congratulate him, saying how refreshing it was ‘to find
so strong a grasp and so clear an expression of truths . . . in
the face of the drenching drizzle always falling from the
ancient doctrinaire water pots. . .. I think you will have
every success in your career, both professional and political.’

But Olive Schreiner’s husband, in his harmful Life of her,
is less laudatory. He deseribes the meeting. He does not re-
callin ‘the pallid, slight, delicate-looking man, with astrong
Dutch accent’ of whom he writes what Rhodes had the
imagination to see in Smuts when he was eighteen; nor yet
that

. . . the new=abashed nightingale
Stinteth at first ere she beginneth sing;

nor even that Smuts became their friend and three years
later was in the position to offer him employment in the
Transvaal Government service. He describes him with con-
temptuous patronage and adds: “The leaders of the De
Beers Political Organisation sat on the platform, its own
chairman, of course, presiding; the hall was not half filled;
the chairman went to sleep, and Mr. Smuts went on . . .
His text was the admirable alliance between “Capital” (Dc
Beers) and “Labour” (the Afrikander Bond)! It was so
amusing that we decided it was not worth replying to.’
Four months later Jameson raided the Transvaal, Rhodes
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was found to be in the business up to the neck, and certainly
Olive Schreiner’s husband had the first laugh.

Never was such a revelation. Suddenly he who, in Hof~
meyr’s words, had held himself ‘a young king, the equal of
the Almighty’, was everybody’s pariah. ‘If Rhodes is be~
hind it,” said Hofmeyr, ‘then he isno more a friend of mine.’
The coma of death was on Rhodes before Hofmeyr for-
gave him, cabling from Naples: ‘God be with you.” The
Dutch whom Rhodes had won repudiated him for ever.
The men he had most respected said: ‘Mr. Rhodes is un-~
worthy of the trust of the country.” People who had for-
given him his corruption, the Matabele war, even his great-
ness, repudiated him.

[n all the country there was no one who felt so deeply
betrayed as Smuts—betrayed, fooled, soiled, shamed. There
he had stood on a platform in Kimberley, stood and de-
fended—what had he not defended?

It was a year before Smurs could bring himself to speak
again in public.

In the meantime he pouted out in print denunciations of
all those things he had defended in Kimbetley. He wrote of
Rhodes’ ‘demonstrative cynicism’, ‘South Africa’s indig-
nant disgust at the policy of Chartered jingoism’, the mis-
fortune, the menace of ‘the mammoth monopolics char-
acteristic of our country. ..." ‘In former days’, he confessed,
‘I was a temperate admirer of Mr. Rhodes because he
seemed to be the visible and tangible political link between
the two white races in this country. . . . Little did [ dream
that the day would so soon come when Mr. Rhodes would
be the great racial scumbling-block in South Africa and the
very sound of his name would conjure up the worst pas-
sions of both races.” . . . ‘(The English) have set the veld on
fire. We lift our voices in warning to England so that she
may know that the Afrikander Boer still stands where he
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stood in 1881. If England sends Rhodes back to us, the re-
sponsibility will be hers. The blood be on England’s own
head.’

Yet he could not despise Rhodes. He saw him as at least
the fallen Son of the Morning. ‘He had that amplitude of
mind which throws a glamour round itself and draws men
and undermines their independence in spite of themselves.
He alone, of all remarkable men of his generation, could
have put the copestone to the arch of South African unity.
. . . He spurned the ethical code. . . . The man that defies
morality defies mankind, and in that struggle with man-
kind not even the greatest genius can save him.’

In another mood he saw him (Smuts’ perceptions were
always grounded in his reading) with Greek eyes. ‘An old
Greek who could have watched the career of the sickly lad
that came to South Africa before the great diamond era with
little but brains to back hiny, and who could have watched
him ascend, one by one, the rungs of Fame’s ladder—till he
rose to giddy altitudes where his mighcy figure stood as the
apotheosis of the Imperial idea—~would have become filled
with melancholy and thought of Polycrates’ Ring. . . .
“Call no man happy till his final day.”’

A man had no need to be an old Greek to sorrow over
Rhodes’ fate. Smuts could think of nothing else.

4

He could think of nothing else, write of nothing else, ex-
cept Rhodes. But he could not think or write him out of
his life: Rhodes was in him. He remained in him.

He spurned not only Rhodes himself, but everything
connected with Rhodes. He left his life in the Cape. He
abandoned his British nationality. Only recently he had
written, ‘the true explanation (of why Britain is hated) is

not British pharisaism but British success. It is the success
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with which Britain is pursuing the policy of colonial ex-
pansion and the comparative failure of the attempts of other
people in the same direction which lies at the root of this
international dislike of Great Britain.” He became now a
second-class burgher in Kruger’s Republic and fought and
hated the Brirish as a Boer of Boers. . . .

Bur Rhodes’ thoughts remained fibres of his mind. He
might despise the ‘glamour that deceived men and under-
mined their independence in spite of themselves'—he never
threw off thar glamour.

For, after all, he and Rhodes were kin. That desire to-
wards an unnameable Bigness had sent them both, in their
boyhood, towards dreams of a religious life—that same de-
sire towards Bigness was, despite all their other differences,
an essential ccmmunity. The offensive newspaper not un-
justly called Smuts Rhodes Redivivus. In the final count
Smuts wanted what Rhodes wanted: in the words of
Rhodes at twenty-four: “The foundation of so great a power
as to hereafter render wars impossible.’

When Smuts was sixty he went to Oxford as Rhodes
Memorial Lecturer.



Chaprer VIII
KRUGER AND MILNER

I

he Jameson Raid took place forty years ago. Since

then the greatest war in history has been fought.

Any day may see a war greater even than that. The
civilisation of a thousand years is falling beneath us and we
cannot stop it. Something has gone wrong with the
machine. We are crashing through space; the end is coming;
let it come.

Yet people still seem concerned about that old Jameson
Raid. Were the Boers to blame? Were the British? Was
Chamberlain in it? Did Harcourt suddenly stop the trial
because the Prince of Wales was in it? In ten years’ time
a document will be published that relates the story of the
intimate participants, and then it will be argued if the
document is right or wrong, and then again if the Boers
or the British or Chamberlain were to blame or the
Prince of Wales in it, and then good-bye (it may be
hoped) to the Jameson Raid. Here is a letter about that
document which Sir Graham Bower, the High Commis-
sioner’s secretary during the Raid period, sent to Smuts in
1931:

‘In 1905 I wrote to the Colonial Office a complete history
of the Jameson Raid so far as it was known to me. . . . I
wanted to let the Liberal Government know that we had
behaved abominably. T have sent a box of papers to South
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Africa to be kepe till January 1st, 1946, which will be fifty
years after the event. I want you to take this long account,
read it, scal it up, and deposit it with the Trustees of the
South African Public Library not to be opened till January
1046.

‘T would have preferred that you should have read those
papers and then questioned me about anything that mighe
still remain obscure, and for that reason L asked you to give
me two days, but as that seems impossible, I ask you to give
me as much rime as you can. If you could come here on
Monday, you could read the papers on Tuesday.

‘But if that could not be managed I hope you will send
me a questionnaire asking for information on any points
that need clearing up after reading che papers.

T may say thac all the various stories and explanations
that have been published bear no resemblance to the truth,
and that the truth was rightly suppressed ac the time, for
had it been made public a South African and a European
war would have been inevitable.

“You stand for the reconciliation of the two white races.
So do I—so I always did. So did Rhodes until he was led
into wrong courses by men' who betrayed him.

‘It is a complicated story. And I believe I am the only
man in the world who can tell it. [ am over cighty-three
years of age, in bad health, and I can only look a very short
time ahead. I trust, however, that the short time between
this and next weck may be granted me.” . . .

Well, Smurs does not think, on the evidence, that ‘a
South African or a European war would have been inevit-
able’. The Raid altered the course of Smuts” own life—but
as to European Powers going to war about it . . he smiles.
He did, at the time, with all his nation, think that ‘the
Jameson Raid was the real declaration of war in the Anglo-
Boer conflict, which dated from the 315t December, 1895,
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and not the 11th October, 1899.” But he is not so vehement
about the Raid to-day.

In fact, the Raid was no more outrageous, except for its
trappings, than the taking of the Transvaal in 1877 by Shep-
stone and his eight civil servants and twenty-five police-
men. The idea in the Raid, no less than in the Shepstone
annexation, was that a distracted Transvaal should hand
itself over to British direction. Jameson’s job was to bring
this sense of distraction to a head. The plan failed because it
was entrusted to men who behaved like schoolboys let loose
in a romantic dream of conspiracy and derring-do.

What outraged the Boers—and particularly at the Cape
—was the fact that Rhodes was the Englishman they su-
premely trusted, and here, in the Raid, he suddenly emerged
as a conspirator against them. They did not sce that Rhodes
was not anti-Boer, but merely and-Kruger. Rhodes be-
came to the Boers, not the enemy of a government, but
the enemy of a nation. Smuts felt himself betrayed both in
pride and blood.

Yet the Raid may cven have retarded the Boer War, for,
in making both Britons and Boers suspicious of one an-
other, they made them also cautious. The Raid was not the
cause of the Boer War any more than the Treaty of Ver-
sailles was the cause of the excesses of Hitler Germany. The
excesses of Hitler Germany were caused by what caused
the Treaty of Versailles.

Nations, like individuals—since they are composed, after
all, of individuals—act as they act not merely because of
circumstances, but chiefly because of themselves. “Person-
ality’, as Smuts said in his litdde Whitman (and others be-
fore him) ‘is an immanent fate operating in every indi-
vidual which can be thwarted, but ncver fundamentally
altered, by circumstances.” The Boer War was caused, not
by the Raid, but by what also caused the Raid. The pain is
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the symptom of the illness and not its generator. The root
of the illness itself may lic generations back.

The truth is that the temper of Britons and Boers in those
days was such—their conflicting ideals were such—that
they had to come to grips. The Boers (the Boerslike Kruger,
not the Boers like Smuts, of whom there have never been
many) wanted titne and the world to stand still. Why could
they not always sit ruminating in isolation while the silly
world did as it chose? Were they interfering with that
world? Then why should it interfere with them?

But the English wanted, as their phrase is, to-get 2 move
on, It maddened them to sce life unwinding itself off the
reel of time as though it were a slow-motion picture. Their
pride also, their English pride, their spirit of the all-con-
quering Britons who to this day have never known sub-
Jjection—could not bear the accidental power of this little
backveld nation sitting stolidly-—where? Of all places—
without looking for it, without discovering it, without re-
cognising it, without using or even wanting it—on top of
the very means of the whole world’s hopes for getting a
move on.

The Boers might as securely have sat smoking their in-
numerable pipes on a barrel of gunpowder.

On the day gold was found in such fantastic quantities
on the Ridge of the White Waters, on that day was the
Boer War begun.

And yet not only for the gold itself. Not only because of
British pride and British acquisitiveness. Britain was not
safe in South Africa while the Boers had the Transvaal,
while this gold magic lay in the hands of a nation so small
and helpless (as it seemned beforc the Boer War) that any
great power might come and take it and so finally disrupt
the whole country. There was Germany questing in South
Africa since the 1880’s; cstablished already in colonies in
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South Africa; shut out from Bechuanaland only through
Rhodes; sending that telegram of sympathy to Kruger after
the Raid which was more than the irresponsible expression
of the Kaiser as an individual: the manifestation, indeed, of
Germany’s policy. Germany was waiting for a chance to
leap at England. It was not without reason the Boers were
stimulated by Germany and came to hope for her interven-
tion in the event of war. Germany did mean to help the
Boers. She meant, in fact, not only to help the Boers and so
get them under German dominion and create a German
Empire in South Africa, but also to break England hersclf.
The idea was that if England became involved in a war in
South Africa, Germany, with France and Russia, would
attack England. In the end France decided that she feared
Germany more than England and refused to come in. The
plan was therefore abandoned and that is why the Boers,
relying on Germany’s assistance, believing in Germany’s
sympathy, but not knowing what lay behind it, were left
to fight the Boer War by themselves.

Smuts sometimes says- that the Great War was begun
when Germany learnt to appreciate the meaning of the
British fleet during the Boer War and decided to build a
fleet herself.

The preparations for the birth of the Great War were
then begun. The Great War was begotten, however, when
Bismarck, against his previous convictions, decided that
Germany must expand beyond Europe. It was begotten
when, in the 1880’s, the Germans came to South Africa.

2

It has already been explained how Kruger hated the sight
and thought of the adventurers who now came rushing to
Johannesburg. The Constitution of the Republic laid it
down that ‘the territory is open to every foreigner who
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obeys the laws of the Republic’. Before 1882 foreigners had
been eligible for full citizenship who had lived in the Re-
public a year and owned property in it. Then when so
many of them came Kruger tried to hinder, if not their
numbers and wealth, at least their political power,
and so now he made a law requiring five years for the
franchise.

But still their numbers grew, and, with their numbers,
Kruger’s hate. ‘People of the Lord, you old people of the
country—you foreigners, you newcomers, even you thieves
and murderers,” he once opened a public address; and after
1890 he became deliberately provocative not only in word
but in deed. The Uitlanders were given a second-class Par-
liament, peculiar to themselves, for which they could vote
after two years and legislate after another two years. After
fourteen years altogether they graduated into the first class.
They were then full burghers and equal to boys of sixteen
who had been born in the Transvaal.

Smuts himself, born British in the Cape, could only be a
second-class burgher when he arrived in Johannesburg in
1896. He was still a second-class burgher when two years
later he became State Attorney (that is, Attorney-General)
for the Republic. And he was a second-class burgher when
he became a commandant of the Boer forces. Only after
taking rank as a general was he specially promoted to first-
class burghership.

Well, naturally, in these circumstances, he thought his
position rather amusing than anything else. But the Uit-
landers didn’t think it so funny to be relegated to a pariah
Parliament, Liable, further, to the veto of the real Parlia-
ment. Nor did the Boers, for their part, think it so funny
that the Uitlanders wanted to be, not only first-class burgh-
ers, but simultancously British subjects.

The whole situation was extremely ridiculous and it was
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also extremely serious. Long before the Raid it was both
ridiculous and serious. And when Milner (Sir Alfred then,
Lord Milner afterwards) was sent out to the Cape in March
of 1897 as Governor of the Cape and High Commissioner
for South Africa, and realised with his sensitive, haughty
mind how the seriousness was exacerbated by its accom-
panying ridiculousness—well, then, the situation became
not merely serious and ridiculous, but dangerous.

If there was a man who could not bear the sight of Eng-
lishmen looking like fools, it was Milner. When, in 1899, he
sent his famous telegram saying that ‘the spectacle of
thousands of British subjects kept permanently in the posi-
tion of helots, constantly chafing under undoubted griev-
ances and calling vainly to Her Majesty’s Government for
redress, does steadily undermine the influence and reputa-
tion of Great Britain and the respect for the British Govern-
ment within the Queen’s dominions'—when he expressed
himself in this fashion it was in a rage of genuine emotion.
It was nothing to him that the Uitlanders were so swollen
with prosperity and exhilaration (men who had most of
them been nothing and had nothing before they came to
the Rand) that their constant attitude was a throwing back
of their heads and a clapping of their wings and a crowing
to high heaven of their glory. He ignored the fact that while
the Uitlanders so vaunted themselves in Johannesburg the
Boers, whose slaves they were supposed to be, did not even
live in Johannesburg, could hardly hear their own tongue
in Johannesburg, only came to town, humble and over-
whelmed, to serve the needs of the Uitlanders. He had no
picture in his mind of the Boers journeying from their
farms by ox-waggon—travelling ten miles a day, sleeping
under the hoods of their waggons by night, bewildered by
the excited, exciting town, gaining nothing from the Rand
except the small rewards from the helots—or rather from
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the suppliers of the suppliers of the helots—for the poor pro-
duce of their primitvely cultivated land.

Nor did he choose to consider that the Uitlanders were
already the subjects, and proposed to remain the subjects, of
the greatest power of the day, and that it would never have
entered an Englishman’s head to claim in America or France
or even a South American republic the right to be both a
British subjecr and a citizen of the republic he chose to live
in just until he had made all the money he wanted. He did
not regard the Transvaal as a republic at all, in that sense.
He had it in his mind that an Englishman was entitled to the
freedom of all South Africa. And when he spoke of the Uit-
landers as helots, he could not think of their haughtiness or
wealth, he could only think of the impertinence of the
Boers in granring the English (Boers granting English!) on
certain conditions, and while they waited for fourteen
years, second-class citizenship. Second class! That was the
term that stuck in Milner’s throat. When he said helots he
passionately reant helots. He was a man above any vulgar
considerations of wealch and show. British patriotism was
exalted in hini to the point of holiness. To be British seemed
to him a man’s noblest destiny. And he could not bear to
sce Englishmen put in any respect, in any place, in any cir-
cumstances, right or wrong, below the people of another
nation, in this case the people of a nation of no standing
whatever, as he felt, in the world.

He had been sent out to South Africa to continue the
policy interrupted by the Raid—Rhodes’ policy, Chamber-
lain’s policy-—of making a whole thing of South Africa:
making it safe for South Africans and safe for England—
safe against Germany and great against the future. No more
than Rhodes could he afford to let the ideals of a biblical
patriarch hinder the march of the civilisation he stood for.
And it was his plan, as it had been Rhodes’ plan, to use the
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Uitlander agitation to fulfil this policy. Now suddenly he
found himself caught up in the Uitlanders’ own passion.
He knew he had to use them, but he was prepared also to
let them use him.

3
What right had these ‘thousands of British subjects kept
permanently in the position of helots” . . . to call on Her

Majesty’s Government for ‘redress’? What right had Brit-
ain to make demands at all on the Boers?

No righr whatever concerning this matter of franchise.
She had the right, under a convention signed in 1884, to
complain if certain privileges there granted her subjects
were withheld; the right of any state to intervene when her
subjects are wronged within any other state; the right of the
dominant power in South Africa to prevent any action
that, generally speaking, might lead to the disturbance of
South African peace. These rights had nothing to do with
the franchise. Kruger quite justly said: “This is my country;
these are my laws. Those who do not like my laws can
leave my country.” It would naturally have been more
agrecable to the Uitlanders to have access to the Head Par-
liament—the First Raad—and to rule the Transvaal poli-
tically as well as financially. It would have been more agree-
able and the country might have been better ruled.

The country was not well ruled. Sir William Butler, who
for a time replaced Milner as Governor of the Cape and
High Commissioner for South Africa, thought the Rand
superior in the elements of orderly government to the Cali-
fornian and Australian goldfields. But, compared with
European governments, it was not. Kruger was a great and
wise man in his way, but his way was the way of a biblical
patriarch with a pastoral tribe. He could read no more than
the Bible, and what was going on in the modern world had
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to be read to him or told to him. It was said that in the
whole of the First Raad there was only one man educated
according to the standards of Europe.

Ovwer such a Raad Kruger could rule. What of the young-
er, educated Boers now ready to take their places? As they
respected Kruyzer for his great qualitics, so they resented his
patriarchal power. As he respected them for what they had
and he hadn’t he resented their resentment. He knew, in-
deed, that sooner or later he would have to call them in, he
was nerving kimself to do so, but he understood well that
they would then undo him and all he stood for and passion-
ately wished to retain. Not the least reason why Smuts so
soon got his chance in the Transvaal was that Kruger saw
here, in one of these educated, inevitable young Boers he
feared, a human being who had sympathy with him.

4

This was how Kruger discovered Smuts:

There was rrouble between the courts and the Raad con-
cerning the Raad’s habit of varying the laws of the country
by mere resolution (Dutch word, besluit). To begin with,
the courts had submitted to this habit. They had then de-
cided to withstand it. Finally, in spite of Kruger’s warnings,
the Chief Justice, rejecting the Raad’s power to interfere
with existing laws by besluit, had given judgment against
the Government in a mining case which eventually involved
the Government in the loss of over a third of a million
pounds.

The judgment drove Kruger to fury. He immediately
rushed through the Raad another besluit demanding from
the judges thir acquiescence in all resolutions of the Raad,
and not only denying them the right to test, in the Ameri-
can way, all purported legislative acts by reference to the
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Constitution, but making them liable to instant dismissal if
they did so.

The judges took arms against the Government. Wealthy
Uitlanders guaranteed them, in the event of their dismissal,
against immediate want. The High Court was adjourned
and legal business was stopped. The Chief Justice of the
Cape journeyed up to make peace. The judges agreed not
to exercise their testing right until a measure was introduced
safeguarding their independence. Kruger promised to in-
troduce such a measure during the session. Argument arose
about whether session meant the special session in progress
or the following ordinary session. The measure was not in-
troduced during the special session. The Chief Justice
clinched matters by exercising the testing right, and was
summarily dismissed.

Smuts, almost alone among legal men, interpreted ‘ses-
sion’ as Kruger interpreted it. Nor did he regret the dismis~
sal of the Chief Justice. The Chief Justice had once stood for
the Presidency; he was involved all the dme in politics.
Smuts held that a Chief Justice had no business to con-
cern himself with politics, and that, whether he was now
rightly or wrongly dismissed, it was quite time he was
dismissed.

If Smuts’ attitude did not commend him to his fellow
barristers, it commended him to Kruger.

5
So this is how things were in the Raad and the courts.
But the Uidanders had other, more intimate grievances.
They hated the arrogance of the raw young country police-
men, shoving people aside as they walked three abreast
down the street. They complained about the inefficiency
of essential services—water, light, sanitation. They resented
the fact that, though they provided nearly all the money for
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education, Dutch was, and had the right to be, the only
medium of instruction in government schools.

Then there were the monopolies. A dynamite monopoly
raised the cost of mining. A railway monopoly raised not
only the cost of mining, but of living generally. A liquor
monopoly debauched the natives. There were monopolies
in iron, bricks, paper, wool, and even things like sugar and
jam. Kruger believed, he said, in monopolies. He said they
stimulated industry. . . . Then there was the business of
‘presents’. ‘Presents’ (as they were called) had often to be
given to expedite the ordinary routine work of officials.

It has been asked whether Kruger himself was corrupt.
Smuts denies it. Most responsible people deny it. Smuts, in-
deed, exalts Kruger. Tknew him well,” he wrote in a letter
after his death in 1904, ‘and the relations between us were
like those of father and son. .. . He typified the Boer char-
acter both in 1ts higher and larger aspects and was no doubt
the greatest man—both morally and intellectually—which
the Boer race has so far produced. In his iron will and
tenacity, his “never say die” attitude towards Fate, his mys-
tic faith in another world, he represented what is best in all
of us. The race that produced such a man can never go
down, and, with God’s help, it never will.”

But he was surrounded, Smuts admits, by corrupt people,
and he did certainly give important posts to his kinsmen.
“The old Boer virtues’, said Bryce in 1899, ‘were giving
way under new temptations. The Volksraad (as is believed
in South Africa) became corrupt, though, of course, there
have always been pure and upright men among its mem-
bers. The civil service was not above suspicion. Rich men
and powerful corporations surrounded those who had con-
cessions to give or the means of influencing legislation
whether directly or indirectly. The very inexperience of the
Boer ranchman who came up as a member of the Volks-

71



KRUGER AND MILNER

raad made him an easy prey.”. .. “What has the wealth of
Johannesburg done for us?’ cried State Secretary Reitz—
once President of the Orange Free State—when the Boer
War was over. ‘The money has only injured the noble
character of our people. This is common knowledge. . . .
‘The money obtained there was o our detriment. It would
tend to our advantage to be rid of Johannesburg. . .

If, however, it was the Boers who were the takers, it was
the Uitlanders who were the tempters. If, in addition to the
First Raad, and the Uitlanders’ Second Raad, there was
what they ironically called the Third Raad, that Third
Ruaad was the Raad of the representatives of those tempters.

It has been asked how, if Kruger were not corrupt, he
could have become so wealthy. To begin with, he had a
salary as President which towards the end was (7,000 a
year, and he also had a hospitality allowance. Then he lived
in the most modest way in his little house opposite the
Dopper Church (extremely Calvinistic), where he some-
times preached: people with an income of [1,000 a year
would not live in such a house to-day. Then he was elected
President four times—the third time against the appeal of
his opponent, who claimed that the returns had been falsi-
fied. Then, like all the Boers who had anything at all, he
owned farms. He sold his Geduld estate alone for £ 120,000
and that was sold again for half a million, and is now worth
many millions, because its gold mines are among the richest
in the country. . ..

Certainly the Uitlanders had their chagrins. But that did
not entitle them legally to the privileges they demanded.
When the helots called vainly, in Milner’s sad words, upon
Her Majesty’s Government for redress, that was just exactly
what they were entitled to do: to call vainly.

Yet by the time Smuts came to Johannesburg the funda-
mental futility of their calling mattered as it had not done
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even five years before. Five years before deep-level mining
had not been dreamt of. The Uitlanders had thought they
would just take out the gold on the surface and go away.

But when in the early 'nineties it was found that there was
gold deep in each mine-—gold enough to give it a life of
thirty, forty, fifty years—gold a mile down—perhaps two
miles down, gold everywhere, then people were not so
sure that they would quickly go away. And by this time
too they had become fascinated by the place. It was not only
that, as a pro-Boer said, ‘every luxury of life, every extra-
vagance of behaviour, every form of private vice flourished
unchecked; every man and woman said and did what
seemed good in his eyes’. It was not only that every person
—from the Cornish minet to the owner of his mine—had
the same gambler’s hope and fever—everybody in every-
thing—everybody somebody. It was not even the good
humour, the generosity, the tolerance that existed between
one individual and another. Tt was the luring spirit of
Johannesburg itsclf, which was six thousand feet high and
had the most exhilarating climate in the world, and was
good for all green things and for children, and was all hills
and distances-—dumps and slamps, heights and hopes. No
wonder people were excited in Johannesburg. The very air
was an exciteraent.

Now the Uitlanders were determined neither to remain
Uitlanders ner to be treated as such. Their grievances
might not legally entitle them to the intervention of their
motherland. Their lives, belicfs, possessions and opportuni-
ties might not be at stake. But they were branded as second-
class citizens (foutteen years to wait for first-class burgher-
ship!). To this humiliation they would not submit. They
linked themselves into unions and leagues to combat their
disabilities. They called themselves Reformers. The failure
of the Raid, sc far from quietening them, infuriated them
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into greater urgency. They complained that England had
allowed both that defeat, and, even more humiliatingly, the
defeat of Majuba in 1881, to stay unavenged, and that she
had broken her pledges both to them and to the natives
(suddenly they were concerned about the natives!) and thus
lowered the pride of Britain in South Africa. And all this,
they said, ‘for a people who had always ill-treated the Kaf-
firs, who had misgoverned their own Republic into bank-
ruptcy and chaos, who had always been the encmies of
Britain, who were’, as Bryce interpreted the Ultlanders,
‘incapable of appreciating magnanimity and would con-
strue forbearance as cowardice.’

The Uitlanders said as much on platforms and in the
newspapers, at street corners and in bars. They displayed
in windows insulting caricatures of the President. They
openly preached the destruction of the ‘corrupt oligarchy
at Pretoria’. No sooner was Milner in South Africa than
they began ‘conditioning’ him. The Reformers, the Uit-
lander Council, inoculated Milner with their virus. As he
was more sincere, more disinterested, purer than they, the
virus affected him seriously. Soon he could see nothing any-
where but the humiliation of England.

Certainly when Milner said helots he meant helots.

This was the atmosphere in Johannesburg when Smuts
arrived to make his home there.



Chapter IX

SMUTS: SECOND-CLASS BURGHER:
STATE ATTORNEY

I

e arrived in March of 1896 to spy out the hopes he

had 'n the north, returned to Cape Town to

make arrangements for going away, and in Sep-
tember was admitted to practise at the Transvaal Bar.

To begin with, he continued his newspaper work
and he also held evening classes in law, bur, within six
months, he felr himself in a position to marry, and he went
to Stellenbosch: for Sibella Krige and brought her to Johan-
nesburg.

The friends they had, says Mrs. Smuts, were not among
the people who made Johannesburg gay. They were, gener-
ally speaking, those other young Dutch folk who had left
the Cape for the Transvaal after the Jameson Raid. Nor had
she the time, she says, to be very gay. Within a year there
were twin girls, born too soon and dead in a month, and
within another year a boy, who died while Smuts was on
campaign. They lived at the top of the street called Twist
Street, and afterwards in that suburb, well considered then,
but to-day the home of many coloured people, called
Doornfontein.

Smuts himself was rapidly advancing. He did not need
for long to conrinue his journalism and night classes in law.
In February of 1897 his law pupils at a formal dinner, and
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with speech-making, marked the close of his lectures in law
and jurisprudence.

A year later he was briefed to defend Von Veltheim, the
spectacular criminal who shot Barney Barnato’s nephew,
WoolfJoel—that Joel who had assisted Barnato in the nego-
tiations with Rhodes over the diamond fields. But Smuts
never appeared in the case, for just then Kruger offered him
the post of State Attorney. He was not legally eligible for
the post: he was two years under the statutory age of thircy.
But everything—his youth, his recent arrival in the country,
his second-class burghership, his political inexperience—
all these disabilities were swept aside by Kruger’s determin-
ation to have this one brilliant young Boer who, he felt,
had sympathy for him. There was, indeed, talk of his be-
coming State Secretary—the highest office, after that of
Kruger himself; in the land: equal, really, to a Premiership.
But here his youth and second-class burghership were too
much even for Kruger to get over, and F. W. Reitz, an ex-
President of the Frec State (and father of Smuts’s follower
through life, the author of Commando and Trekking On), be-
came State Secretary. Smuts was pazetted State Attorney
just as soon as he was twenty-cight, and immediately a kind
of man was revealed in the public life of the Transvaal like
nothing known there before, and like nothing known in
South Africa or Greater Britain since.

2

A photograph taken of Smuts at this period shows him
for the last time as clean shaven, with tighe lips, short, square
chin, and hungry, angry eyes.
¥ Those hungry, angry eyes were the man. Smuts’ per-
manent attitude towards life until the age of nearly fifty
was one of ‘Stand and deliver!” At the age of nearly fifty
he spent six months in Paris during the peace negotiations
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after the Great War, and those six months, he says, for ever
changed him. ‘The misery after the Boer War was nothing
to it,” he says. ‘It was a break in one’s own life, but not
in the whole world. Paris showed me the crack in life
itself. It broke me. It changed me. [ am a softer man than
I used to be. Whether for better or for worse, I don’t
know. I was hard as a young man—hard and confident
and successful ’

His public life opened characteristically. He dismissed
the head of th: detective force and took control of the de-
tective force himself. He was new to the whole business of
administration, indeed to public life at all. He had been no-
thing but a student. He was prepared, within a few months
of taking high office; to double his work in it. So he had
been prepared a few years back to take both parts of his
Law Tripos at once and, in addition, to write a book on a
poet that was a book of philosophy. So he was prepared to
command military forces; to hold, in the Union Cabinet,
four Portfolios together; to sit, during the Great War, in the
War Cabinet, and preside over important war committees,
and organise the Royal Air Force and the air defences of
London, and settle strikes, and inspect the war situation in
France, and plan campaigns in Palestine and elsewhere, and
attempt to make a separate peace with Austria and Hungary,
and work out a scheme for a League of Nations. So he was
preparcd later to advise the King what to do about Ireland,
and to setde [reland’s status and Dominion status generally.
So he was prepared to offer the world a new system of phil-
osophy, to preside over the centenary meeting of the Brit-
ish Association for the Advancement of Science, and to open
that mecting: with an address on the meaning of life from
the point of view not merely of philosophy but of every
aspect of science.

It is very hard really to think of anything Smuts has not
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been prepared to do in his life. Why not? he asks; it is all—
from science to soldiering—only a matter of thinking.

The detective business was symptomatic of his ruthless
self-confidence. It was odd, he found, that while a few little
men, dealing illicitly in liquor and gold, were sometimes
caught, the bosses were not. How did the big men keep
outside the law? Why, under the existing chief, were they
o safe?

Other State Attorneys had asked those questions before
him. One had resigned. All had been helpless. ‘A system of
bribery or blackmail . . ", wrote J. A. Hobson in 1900, ‘was
practised by the Johannesburg police in dealing with the
illicit bars and disordezly houses, resembling that which the
Tammany police established in New York, and that which
even now prevails in some patts of the West End of Lon-
don.” The contemptuous chief certainly had not feared this
pale and haggard youth—he looked a youth. But Smuts
charged him with no dereliction of duty, he attempted to
prove nothing against him, he created no difficulties. He
asked the chief to resign on account of his arrogance, and
the chief, looking into the cold, direct eyes, resigned.

‘I do not know how to explain,” he afterwards said in be-
wilderment. ‘T am described by the State Attorney, Mr.
Smuts, in a communication to the Government as a . . .
“particularly smart man, singularly unsuccessful in getting
at criminals!™”’

A member of the Raad moved then ‘that the Detective
Force of the Republic be put under the direct personal con-
trol of the State Attorney’.

The activity of the Third Raad at this point may be
imagined.

Kruger himself was not wholeheartedly behind Smuts.
“The President wants to do his best,” Sir Percy Fitzpatrick
reports Smuts as saying to him, ‘but you have to remember
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that there are a number of people who are hangers-on and
who have personal interests to serve of which he knows no-
thing, and there are times when they make it difficult to
carry out what we all know ought to be done.”

The motion, however, was carried. For a year, for less
than a year, a new stern administration prevailed in the law
services of the Republic. And then there was war and the
Republic ended.

In the very month (November 1898) in which the de-
tective forces were put under Smuts’ direct control he en-
couraged Kruger to take his strongest action yet against the
Uitlanders. There was a debate in the Raad on the liability
of all white men to seryve on commando. To serve on com-
mando was the final test of burghership to Kruger. Now in
the Raad it was declared that not only did the Uitlanders
refuse to serve, they refused even to contribute to the war
funds. ‘They refused?” said Smuts in effect to the Raad.
‘Let us see. Let us pass a law compelling Uitlanders, who
will not fight, to pay.” ... The law was passed. “There is a
certain bland independence about Mr. Smuts’ argument’,
said the historic Cape Times, ‘which would amount to in-
solence if it were not merely amusing.’

Milner, in England now, talking with Chamberlain,
thought that bland independence—not amusing.

Sir William Butler, on the other hand, the acting Gover-
nor and High Commissioner during Milner’s absence in
England, thought Milner’s actions—not amusing. He en-
quired what Milner was doing there in England and the
reply, he says, struck him as ‘strange . . . ambiguous, if not
unreal’.

He recalled then that alrcady, eighteen months ago, his
opinion had been asked about a new military station in
Natal to which cavalry, artillery and infantry reinforce~
ments were to be sent from India and England. He guessed

79



SECOND-CLASS BURGHER: STATE ATTORNEY

(wrongly) that Rhodes was behind the whole business: ‘the
will of one man, acting, through a number of subordinate
agencies . . . to bring the Government ship into stormy
weather by embittering the relations between races, and
taking advantage of every passing incident to produce,
maintain and increase unrest, suspicion and discontent.’

A few days after writing these words he saw Rhodes.
‘Our eyes met for an instant. . . . The expression of his face
struck me as one of peculiar mental pain.’

That expression was also one of peculiar physical pain.
Rhodes was suffering and he was dying. As for the Trans-
vaal: ‘T made a mistake there,” he said with a sincerity it is
hard to question. ‘And that is enough for me. . . . I keep
aloof from the whole Transvaal crisis, so that no one will
be able to say, if things go wrong, “'Rhodes is in it again.”
... If I were dead to-morrow the same thing would go on.’

The truth was that Butler hated Rhodes, the Raiders, the
Uitanders, Chamberlain and Milner with one grand en-
veloping emotion. He was taking Milner’s place as Gov-
ernor and High Commuissioner. It fell to him, presently,
as commander-in-chief of the British forces in South
Africa, to organise for war. He was utterly against Milner’s
policy, he was utterly against war, he was uttetly for the
Boers. This was, in fact, the one amusing thing about the
whole situation—‘comical’, Butler himself called it. The
British commander-in~chief, as Milner wrote in a letter,

‘Lenvy you only,” Butler said to Milner, when Milner re-

turned to South Africa from England, ‘Tenvy you only the
books in your library.’

8o



Chaptcr X

THE UITLANDERS APPEAL TO HER
MAJESTY

I

J hen Milner, having arranged this and that with
Chamberlain, returned from England in Feb-

ruary 1899, he found Johannesburg in a fer-
ment about scmething which quite overshadowed Smuts’
legislation concerning the war funds. A man called Edgar,
insulted by a neighbour, had knocked him senseless; an
alarum of murder had arisen; four policemen had followed
Edgar to his room, and the forermost of them, in self~de-
fence (as the policemen said), had shot Edgar dead.

The matter came to court. The policeman was arrested
on a charge of manslaughter and released on sureties of
£200. Smuts immediately ordered the re-arrest of the
policeman on a charge of murder. The public prosecutor
who had first released the policeman reduced the charge to
one of manslaughter as before. The judge was a man of
twenty-four whose judgeship had been given him—against
even Kruger’s wishes—as ‘a son of the soil’. The police-
man’s name happened to be Jones, but he was, for all that,
preponderantly Dutch (the Dutch Joneses pronounce their
name Yo-ness). The jury acquitted the policeman and the
Jjudge approved their verdict.

The Uitlanders did not. The Edgar case was cried up
and down the Reef as final evidence of their wretched con-
dition. This was not a mere matter of wickedness against
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Cape Boys (half-castes) and British Indians. It was not even
a matter of conscienceless legislation. It had to do with the
body of a Briton.

A petition, historically important because it was the first
appeal for intervention, was sent to the British Govern-
ment through Butler, and, on his advice, rejected. A new
petition, signed by neatly twenty-two thousand Uitlanders,
awaited Milner on his return from England.

Twenty-three thousand Uitlanders signed a counter-
petition in favour of the Government.

2

This is what the petition of the Uitlanders said:

“The condition of Your Majesty’s subjects in this state
has become well-nigh intolerable. The acknowledged and
admitted grievances, of which your Majesty’s subjects
complained prior to 1895, not only are not redressed, but
exist to-day in an aggravated form. They are still deprived
of all political rights, they are denied any voice in the gov-
ernment of the country, they are taxed far above the re-
quirements of the country, the revenue of which is mis-
applicd and devoted to objects which kecp alive a continu-
ous and well-founded feeling of irritation without in any
way advancing the interests of the State. Maladministra-
tion and peculation of public moneys go hand in hand with-
out any vigorous measures being adopted to put a stop to
the scandal. The education of the Uitlander children is made
subject to impossible conditions. The police afford no ade-
quate protection to the lives and properties of the inhabi-
tants of Johannesburg; they are rather a source of danger to
the peace and safety of the Uitlander population.’

In short, the petitioners begged Her Majesty as once, in
similar terms and literary style, they had begged Jameson,
to come to their assistance.
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What was Her Majesty to do? While Milner was writing:
‘I gricvances are removed, agitation, and especially in a
busy community like Johannesburg, which only wants to
make money in peace, will cease of itsclf —there, in the
Colonial Office, lay Butler’s cable: ‘It is casy enough to see
that the present agitation is a prepared business. . . . The ob-
jectssoughtare, first, political and financial effectin London;
second, to make government in Johannesburg impossible;
third, to cast discredit upon the ministry now in office here.’

Well, was Milner’s opinion to be accepted, or Butler’s?

For the time being, neither. England had not merely the
Uitlanders to think aboue when she thought about the
Transvaal, and she was not going to be harried and hurried
into a war. If the Boers remembered the possibility of
continental interference, so did she.

The Uicdanders, the Uitlander Council, the South Afri~
can League, concentrated on Milner.

3
If ever there was a being unfitted to this atmosphere of
doubrt, intrigue, bitterness and recrimination, it was Milner.
He was a man not only of reputation, buc of sensitive mind
and delicate taste—a scholar and a solitary. He was a man
who wanted to come near his fellow men and couldn’,
who poured his heart out in letters and diaries because he
couldn’t. He was now all the time negotiating with the
Boers, and he saw in them only shiftiness, and they saw in
him only wickedness. If Rhodes had not been ruined by
the Raid, he could have got at the Bocrs for Milner—he
always had been able to get at the Boers. He thought himself
that the troubles might be solved if only he and Kruger
could meet. But he knew in the same breath that such a
solution was impossible—he and Kruger couldn’t meet.

‘We are not broad enough,” he sighed.
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Yet, if not Rhodes, there was Smuts: a British subject by
birth, recently from Cambridge, temporarily against Eng-
land, yet full of English thought, in touch with Kruger—
no less than Rhodes a dealer by disposition. Why could
not Milner establish community with Smuts?

The truth is that he wanted to, but could not. He be-
lieved, as he cabled to Chamberlain, that Smuts was genu-
ine. ‘I am inclined to think’, he wrote, ‘that Smuts at any
rate has made up his mind that mere promises and sham
concessions are no good any longer, and that it is policy to
give something substantial.” . . . ‘I rather wish’, he wrote
again, ‘I could get hold of Smuts just now. I still believe 1
could do something ‘with him. Is there any possibility of
his coming down “to tell me what he thinks of my style of
correspondence” or for any other reason?’. Even while
Smuts was resenting Milner’s contemptuous treatment of
him at the Bloemfontein Conference, Milner was making a
note about ‘Kruger’s brilliant State Attorney’.

He wanted (he puts it with that awkward attempt at
breeziness which is a very revelation of shyness), he did
want to get to Smuts, but he could not declare himself. And
if he could not get to Smuts, how was he ever to get to any
other Boer?

He never did. The months passed and Milner grew more
and more suspicious, aloof, bitter, hostile. He came to a
stage where the Boers seemed to him the enemies of all he
was and stood for. He came to the next stage where he had
to link himself with those who were the enemies of the en-~
emies of all he was and stood for. He came to the final stage
where a bad end was better than no end to this business
that was beating on his taut and jarring nerves.

At this stage he remained. He encased his perturbation in
a manner of ice.

84



Chapter XI
WHC MADE THE BOER WAR?

I

In the month war broke out between England and the
Boer Republics Chamberlain said in the House of Com-
mons: ‘| hoped for peace. I strove for peace . . ." but

there were few who accepted his words. On the Continent

and also in South Africa the Boer War was held to be Cham-

berlain’s war. It was called ‘Chamberlain’s war’.

The evidence that has lately come forward supports
Chamberlain. It shows that the war was just one man’s war:
Milner’s: It was this one man’s passion that turned history.
Milner believed in England. That people who could pos-
sibly call themselves English should reject the boon seemed
to him offensive to the point of perversity. His reception of
an assurance from some Cape Boers that they were loyal is
historic: ‘Of course you are loyal. It would be monstrous
if you were not.” He believed what he believed until he
swayed non-believers. He believed that for England’s pride
and South Africa’s future, in reason’s name, whatever the
sorrow, forget the risk—for principle’s sake and not for lack
of principle, the: Transvaal and all South Africa had to go to
England. He felt about the Transvaal like an artist planning
a glorious city and an obstinate ancient in a defective, old-
fashioned, cherished house stands in the way. What he said
was that the inhabitants of the house were in danger be-
causc of its bad construction. But his deeper thought was
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that he could allow no individual, right or wrong, to hinder
his dream.

Well, the Boers to-day control more of South Africa
than they would but for the Boer War, and many of them
therefore think that the Lord has, after all, despite what
seemed immediate neglect, helped them to vengeance.
There are Englishmen, on the other hand, who say that if
England had not given the Bocrs responsible government
after the Boer War, the Boers would not to-day have this
vengeance for which they bless the Lord. These English-
men attribute the position, not to Eternal justice, but to
Liberal softness. They say thatevery time England has been
liberal to a conquered people she has lost by it. . . .

It may be, of course, that national generosity is often
compelled and that therefore neither praise nor blame
attaches to its manifestation. It may be, on the other hand,
that governments, like individuals, must do what is right,
and damn, as Milner said, the consequences. The difficulty
is to know what is right. Is it not one of the tragedies of the
passing years how often the idealists prove to be wrong and
the reactionaries right? How the very idealists in their turn
come to say ‘idealism is this, but experience is that’, and
themselves go in that direction which will duly lead to the
reactionary camp they once despised?

Smuts says that if Campbell-Bannerman had not given
the Boers responsible government so soon after the Boer
War there would never have been peace in South Africa,
and when the Great War came the Boers would have taken
their opportunity for revenge, and a terrible posidon would
then have arisen for England. He admits, however, that
the amity he had hoped might come in five years has not
come in thirty, and there are Englishmen in South Africa
who think they can meet the question of what would have
happened in 1914 if the Boers had been less liberally treated,
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and they say that the Boers have in effect won the Boer
War to-day, and that Milner was right when he deprecated
England’s idea that ‘you had only to give away your friends
to please your enemies to make the latter love you’, and
that Milner’s policy was never given a chance.

< Milner’s policy indeed went far beyond the grievances of
the Uitlanders. Had the grievances of the Uitlanders been
his only consideration, he need not have pressed forward so
urgently. Kruger was an old man—seventy-four. He had
come near to losing office before the Raid, and though
the Raid hac ensured him an enormous majority at
his next election, it was, in fact, as much as he could do
now to control the reformers among his own people.
He was going downlull again. Any year was his last as
President, and a more liberal rule would have followed
him-—within « few years Smuts himself might have been
President.

2 Chamberlain saw this. He warned Milner that Kruger’s
rule must, before many vyears, come to an end; that to
attack the Transvaal would cause racial trouble in the Cape,
that England was alrcady ina falsc position through the
Raid; that ‘a war with the Transvaal, unless upon the ut-
most and clearest provocation, would be extremely un-
popular in England’; that it was better to ‘endure a great
deal rather than provoke a conflict’; that ‘our greatest in-
terest in South Africa is peace and that all our policy must
be directed to this object’. Not only Chamberlain, but
practically the whole Britdsh Cabinet thought so. Milner
did not agree. His pride would not let him agree. “We have
put our foot down and we must keep it there. . . ." ‘Tt is no
use being conciliatory if people think you are only concilia-
tory because vyou are afraid. . . ." “They will collapse if we
don’t weaken, or rather, if we go on steadily turning the
screw. ... ‘The big expedition which would be so costly is
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necessary to get Kruger on his knees with or without fight-
ing. ...

< The story of 1898 and 1899 is one of Milner’s turning the
screw not only on Kruger but on Chamberlain (and the re-
luctant British Cabinet and the puzzled British people, who
really never knew what the war was about), and in the end
he had his way and he brought them to war.

" Milner wanted, not comfort in the Transvaal, but the
Transvaal. How could any reform satisfy him? Imagine the
old man in the old interfering house telling the grand town-
planner that he would run it ever so sweetly if only he were
left alone. Left alone—to do what? To spoil a grand con-
ception! How could Milner in his heart be satisfied with a
more liberal régime in the Transvaal? What a nuisance in-
deed he would have found a docile President eagerly offer-
ing reforms! How it would have irritated him to see an
Uitlander population quite contented under the Boers (un-
der the Boers!), to have had to cable about ‘fleshpots’ in-
stead of ‘helots’.

“There is no ultimate way out of the political troubles of
South Africa’, he told Chamberlain, ‘except reform in the
Transvaal or war. And at present the chances of reform in
the Transvaal are worse than ever. . . .I should be inclined
to work up to a crisis.”

- He could not even bear to wait for the crisis, he found it
too hard ‘in view of the aggressive and insolent temper of the
Transvaal to pass the time without a quarrel and yet with-
out too conspicuously eating humble pie’. If he was turning
the screw on Kruger and Chamberlain, he was no less tor-
turing himself. The vitriol he was ‘afraid to put . . . into
public despatches’ he allowed to corrode his own soul. He
brooded over ‘our impotence’. He dreamt of The Day. ‘I
always assume that the time will come and must come,
otherwise life would be unbearable.” His long cable to
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Chamberlain about the shame to England of ‘the spectacle
of thousands of British subjects kept permanently in the
position of helots and the Boer intrigues for a republic em-
bracing all South Africa’ declared his proper convictions.
His exhortarion that “the right of Great Britain to intervene
to secure farr treatment of the Uitlanders is fully equal to
her supreme interest in securing it’ logically followed. How
many people are there in the world with a genuine belief?
What is there more powerful? Even an absurd genuine be-
liefis powerful. The whole British Cabinet, from Salisbury
downward, succumbed to the helot cable and warned
Kruger that they could not ‘permanently ignore the excep-
tional and arbitrary treatinent to which their fellow coun-
trymen and others are exposed’.

‘If only’, says Smuts, ‘Chamberlain had visited South
Africa in 1808 instead of in 1903, and been able to depend
on his own eyes instcad of Milner’s, there might never have
been a war in South Africa. He had no idea what sort of
people the Boers were. When he came to South Africa after
the war he was surprised, I could see he was surprised. He
found we were not monsters (“They arc armed to the teeth
and their heart is black,” wrote Milner to Chamberlain),
not monsters, but gentlemen—ruined gentletnen—who did
not whine but accepted our fate with dignity. We were at
our best in those days. I am sure Chamberlain preferred us
to the Uitlanders.’

2

- The way Milner turned the screw on the Boers was to
make increasing demands on them—chiefly about the
tranchise and the dynamite monopoly, and his passion was
a third-degree light in the eyes that compelled Chamber-
lain’s acquiescence.
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There were times when dynamite seemed actually more
important than franchise. Not even ‘a liberal measure of
franchise’, Milner told Hofmeyr in the middle of 1899,
‘would get us into smooth waters unless the dynamite
scandals could be got rid of.” ‘The questions he put to
Kruger at the Bloemfontein Conference’, says Butler, ‘re-
sembled the queries of an advocate in the interests of a rival
dynamite syndicate.” Right into the war the talk went on
about dynamite. And why? What significance had this one
industry that it could play a leading part in the fate of the
British Empire?

Its meaning to the mining houses was obvious. It cost
them £600,000 a year more to buy dynamite from a mono-
poly in the Transvaal than to import it from England. Its
meaning to Kruger was this—that to keep the monopoly
under his eye and in his gift, to have dynamite made in the
Transvaal, not only protected a South African industry,
but gave him an essential hold over the mines and prevented
also that essential hold passing to England.

And as for Milner (dragging after him Chamberlain)?
Well, dynamite was as good a way of applying the screw
as any other, and it was apparcnt by 1899 that they could
do so at their will. Europe would not interferc. Kruger’s
policy was ruining gold shares and Kruger’s emissary had
Jjust returned from a most depressing pilgrimage overseas.
“The South African Republic’, wrote Milner, *has now not
only England but all the great financial interests on the Con-
tinent against it.” . ..

He spoke accordingly about a Boer ‘climb-down’. A
diplomatic offensive, backed by a strong show of material
force, would, he said, ensure that climb-down. ‘It is twenty
to one. And if no climb-down, better fight now than in five
or ten years when the Transvaal is stronger and more
hostile.’
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“The Boers and their sympathisers’, he assured Chamber-
lain, ‘have never been in such a funk for years.’

3

One might call it funk. The younger men like Smuts
(first passion past) were telling Kruger to yield something
and yet something more and something more again if he
did not wisa to yield everything. “We ourselves,” says
Smuts, ‘the people who thought as T did, were always
negotiating, always cxplormg, sometimes with Kruger’s
knowledge and sometimes without, trying to find a way of
peace. We had to struggle not only against Milner but also
against our own war party.’

From the Cape came similar advice to caution. Merriman,
the Balfour of Cape politics, begged Kruger to ‘concede
some coloursble measure of reform, not so much in the in-
terests of outsiders as in those of his own state. ..." “Thisisa
time’, wired Hofmeyr, ‘tor putting oil on stormy waters
and not on fire. Do not delay. .. .* ‘I understand’, he wired
later, ‘who would rejoice if dynamite and other reforms
remained unsettled. Do not let us play the game of our
opponents.’

Kruger replied to all the advice that whatever he yielded
he would, in the end, have to yield everything; and he pre-
ferred therefore, as always, to resist advancing fate.

He now, zs Milner said, defied Her Majesty’s Govern-
ment by declaring that the South African Republic’s ‘right
to self~government was not derived from either the Con-
vention of 1881 or that of 1884, but simple and solely fol-
lows from the inherent right of the Republic as a sovereign
international state’. He had Uitlanders arrested for a con-
spiracy to raise a force against the Republic. He instructed
his burghers not to leave the Republic. He appealed to the
Cape and Free State to help him avert war. The Cape and
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Free State suggested as a means of doing so a conference at
Bloemfontein between Milner and Kruger. A conference
fell in with Chamberlain’s own ideas. And on May
20th, Kruger, with Smuts and two others, journeyed to
Bloemfontein and there began those negotiations which
ended when Kruger pleaded, all hope abandoned: ‘It is not
the franchise, it is my country that you want,’



Chaptcr XII
‘FLYING FOX WON THE DERBY’

I

ilner had asked Chamberlain what line he should

take at the Bloemfontein Conference, and Cham-

berlain had suggested franchise after five years
and an increase from two to five members in the Raad
from the mining areas. The mateer of franchise apart, he
left him a free hand, but franchise, he said, was the funda-
mental essenrial reform.

Milner therefore came to Bloemfontein prepared to dis-
cuss just one thing: the franchise. Not what he was pre-
pared to give. Only what he was prepared to take.

Kruger carne prepared to discuss 2 hundred things: things
Milner knew abour, things he did not know about. The
Bloemfontein Conference was his last opportunity to de-
clare all his complaints, hopes and demands, to exchange
thoughts, to explore and to offer. He came, in short, to
deal, to do the one thing Milner found thoroughly repul-
sive—to bargain, to make, as Milner called it, a ‘Kaffir bar-
gain’.

Behind everything each felt it did not really signify what
the other said. Milner wanted to hear the conclusion of the
whole matter—he wanted the Transvaal, and Kruger knew
it.

So they met. This was the atmosphere at the Bloemfon-
tein Conference, these the protagonists: a proud, nerve-
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ridden, impatient, bitterly set man; and an aged man, des-
perate, overborne, and struggling against a temper no less
bitterly set.

They did not live in the same millennium of thought.
They spoke the same language neither figuratively nor
literally. A member of the Orange Free State executive in-
terpreted who made no pretence of being impartial.

The conversations hacked their way through tangles of
suspicions towards a misty nothingness. Milner spoke about
franchise and Kruger spoke about other things. Except for
one whole afternoon devoted to dynamite, Milner con-
tinued to speak about franchise and Kruger continued to
speak about other things.

Milner demanded an immediate and reasonable fran-
chise, and Kruger’s counter-offer struck him as ‘plausible
but deceptive’. Milner said Kruger's form of oath left the
Uiclanders, while they waited for burghership, without
any nationality, and Kruger said these Ultlanders didn’t
want burghership and to fight for the Republic, they
didn’t want the franchise at all: the franchise was only ‘a
pretext to egg on people with Her Majesty’.

Milner pointed out that twenty-two thousand Uitlanders
had signed a petition against Krugetr's Government. Kruger
suddenly produced a petition signed by twenty-three thou-
sand Uitlanders—with twenty-three thousand afhdavits—
in favour of his Government.

They came to the serious matter of war preparations.
British troops, said Kruger, were arriving at the Cape and
being mobilised in Natal. Milner denied it. On the contrary,
it was the burghers, he said, who were arming. ‘It is my
country that you want,” Kruger broke down; ‘it is our in-
dependence you are taking away—our independence, our
independence’ he reiterated until Milner, taut with strain,
sharply stopped him: ‘Don’t let us talk about independence
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every minute. I assure the President that I don’t want to
take away hi¢ independence.’

They were, as ever, on the matter of franchise, and
Kruger, still trying to make some bargain, was claiming
Swaziland and an indemnity for the Jameson Raid, when a
telegram was brought to Milner that lightened the atmo-
sphere. He srailed and handed the message to his staff and
thev smiled t0o. What could give men, at so troubled a
moment, this spontancous happiness? The simple news that
Flying Fox had won the Derby.

The third day of the talks arrived: the franchise, arbitra-
tion, Swaziland, the Raid—again Kruger’s claims and
grievances—levers fora.deal. Would the President never
understand, said Milnet, that he was prepared now to dis-
cuss just one juestion, that on this question—the franchise
—he had laid down his terms, that these terms were take-it-
or-leave-it terms, and that he was not, positively was not,
bargaining?

Behind the scenes Smuts was urging concessions on
Kruger. Telegrams came from the Cape urging conces-
sions. In the afternoon, a surprise for Milner—a complete
Reform Bill, drafted by Smutsi-its chief point franchise
after seven instead of fourteen years. ‘T think’, wrote Hof-
meyr from the Cape, ‘I think Kruger displayed an unex-
pectedly liberal spirit at the Bloemfontein Conference. I
am sure he would have done a great deal more if he had
been encouraged by the other side.

He was nor encouraged by the other side. Milner looked
at the Reform Bill compelled from Kruger by his young
men—at the document handed to him that Kruger himself
could not read—and said coldly that if it were not con-
siderably improved he must break off negotiations. He
would take nothing less, he meant, than his demands. Yield
more, yield more, Smuts begged Kruger that night. And
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next morning Kruger yielded more. He sprang forward as
something accidentally omitted an idea about new elec-
toral divisions which only yesterday Milner had proposed
and he himself had rejected.

He waslosing grip. He had forgotten. The talk trickled on
a while longer, but passion was gathering in Kruger behind
his mechanical words. It was the end. Even in the act of
bargaining, even while never ceasing to bargain, he de-
clared abruptly that he would yield nothing more: ‘Tunder-
stand from His Excellency’s arguments that if I do not give
the whole management of my land and government to
strangers, there is nothing to be done. ... am not ready
to hand over my country to strangers.’

Milner’s retort was to announce the conference ‘absol-
utely at an end’.

If England had had, at the Bloemfontein Conference,
said John Morley, ‘an able negotiator, a man accustomed to
bargain and give and take, he would have given President
Kruger plenty of time to smoke his long china pipe and
war might have been avoided’.

Kruger himself said that there was little essential differ-
ence between what Milner demanded and he offered. Mil-
ner demanded: five-year franchise, increased representa-
tion, alteration in the naturalisation oath. He offered:
naturalisation after two years and then a five-year franchise,
increased representation, a naturalisation oath similar to
that in the Orange Free State.

The truth, of course, is that Milner did not want to avoid
war. How could he rebuild without first pulling down?

A few hours after the conference he got a message from
Chamberlain urging delay, and he wrote then regretting
the premature ending of the conference. ‘Perhaps extreme
fatigue had something to do with it.” Nevertheless he com-
forted Chamberlain. Though the beginnings of war were
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unpleasant, he wrote, the result here was not doubtful ‘or
the ultimate difficulty, when once we have cleansed the
Augean stable, at all serious. ... We are in the presence of
an opportunity that may newgr recur.’

From Rhodesia, London and the High Commissioner’s
office, Butler, the commander-in-chief, began to get
letters and telegrams about war.

-

2

The messagres Butler got from Rhodesia, from London,
from Milner, had to do, in the first instance, with a certain
plan. In the sccond week of June, a document dated before
the Bloemfontein Conference and sponsored by the im-
perial officer in the Chartered Company’s service, was sent
to Butler through Milner’s secretary. A week later a letter
arrived from London echoing it. Then Milner himself came
into the picture. The Rhodesian document, the London
letter, Milner, all had the same great idca. And what was
this great idea? Nothing less than to repeat, in the event of
war (and, perhaps, Budler feared, failing war), the Jameson
Raid as part of a scheme Milner had to encircle the Trans-
vaal. Quite a small body of raiders, duly armed by Britain,
were to descend from Rhodesia upon a Transvaal already
ringed about by British troops, surprise Pretoria—and so an
end.

Butler had put the original communication aside ‘as a
thing too silly for official language to deal with calmly’.
He told Milner now that, as he had no instructions from
the Secretary of State for War, he would do nothing with-
out the High Commissioner’s orders in writing. He did not
wish, he said, to hear afterwards that by his action and fool-
ish disregard of facts he had precipitated a conflict before
England was prepared for it, perhaps brought on a war
when the home authorities desired peace.
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Milner scornfully reassured him. ‘It can never be said, Sir
William Butler, that you precipitated a conflict with the
Boers.” ‘T understand your meaning’, Butler replied. He
added: “There can be no further usc in my continuing the
interview.

Milner felt that he agreed with him. He would rather, he
felt, hand over the High Commissionership to Butler than
‘knuckle down’ to him. His whole life was, in these days,
a process of refusing to knuckle down to people. If there
was one thing needed to enforce Milner’s determination to
bear England’s honour proudly on his thin, lonely shoul-
ders, it was the fact that his commander-in-chief was shame-
lessly, with a maddening politeness, ‘nothing to get hold
of’—‘no interference even’-—on the other side.

He had to comfort himself with the thought that ‘loyal
British South Africa has risen from its long degradation and
stands behind me to a man’, and with the conviction of his
own crucified righteousness. He was prepared to suffer, he
said, attacks and howls. “England may give us away—pro-
bably will—not from cowardice but from simple ignor-
ance of the situation and the easy-going belief that you have
only to be kind and patient and magnanimous and give
away your friends to please your enemies to make the latter
love you.” There was only one issue now, he replied to Lord
Sclborne’s message that the idea of war was ‘very distaste-
ful to most people’: ‘Is British paramountcy to be indicated
or let slide?” He had (if the terms of Emily Bront&’s mysti-
cism may be used) with his inward essence . .. measured the
gulf, stooped and dared the final bound, he was at the point
where exaltation is just—just—to be resolved, when sud-
denly the check, the agony of interruption. . . .

Chamberlain, brought, after two years, to the very brink
of war, had lit on an opportunity to escape. One morning
in July The Times printed a report from its Pretoria corre-
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spondent that the Volksraad was about to pass a seven-year
retrospective franchise ‘without vexatious restrictions’, and
five Raad seats; and Chamberlain cabled Milner his con-
gratulations on a great victory. ‘No one’, he breathed with
relief, ‘would dream of fighting over two years in the quali-
fication period.” He suggested, as 2 way of winding up the
affair, a Joint Commission of Inquiry into the franchise as a
whole and a personal conference between Milner and
Kruger to settle the remaining issues.

Could one imagine it? After all the talk and trouble, waiv-
ing the ‘irreducible minimum’ of five years, ignoring the
possibility of snares and obstacles, abandoning the Uit-
landers, he was prepared to throw away this opportunity
that might never again recur and keep the peace.

Milner felt it to be a betrayal not only of himself but of
England. He implored Chamberlain—the word is his own
—he implored Chamberlain not to forsake him.

3
As a matter of fact, the time, in general, was almost past
for conferences. If Milner had worked himself up to daring
the final bound, so had he to that state worked up many of
the Boers. There were Boers who remembered Majuba
and who were quite prepared to take the English on again.
The Bloemfontein Conference was hardly over when the
Dutch Reformed Synod in the Cape sent a petition to the
Queen pleading that the difference between Kruger’s and
Milner’s proposals ‘could not justify the terrors of war’. But
simultancously the two republics began to order arms from
Germany. During July and August, even while peace-
makers from the Cape were warning Kruger against hop-
ing for help trom them, cartridges came to the Transvaal
not only through Portuguese territory but through the
Cape itself. Boer generals, famous leaders in Kaffir wars,
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with no idea of European machines or methods, supported
Kruger in resisting further concessions and persuaded him
to war. Transvaal burghers asked Free State burghers if they
were coming in with them. Kruger's State Secretary, F. W.
Reitz, ordered his son Deneys up from Bloemfontein to
Pretoria, for war with England, he said, seemed inevitable.
‘Already’, writes Deneys Reitz, ‘the Transvaal capital was
an armed camp. Batteries of artillery paraded the streets,
commandos from the country districts rode through town
almost daily, bound for the Natal border, and the crack
of rifles echoed from the surrounding hills where hundreds
of men were having target practice. Crowded trains left
for the coast with refugees flying from the coming storm,
and business was at a standstill.

‘Looking back, I think that war was inevitable. I have no
doubt the British Government had made up its mind to
force the issue and was the chief culprit, but the Trans-
vaalers were also spoiling for a fight and from what I saw in
Pretoria during the few weeks that preceded the ultimatum,
I feel sure that the Boers would in any case have insisted on
a rupture.’



Chapter XIII
SMUTS TRIES TO PREVENT WAR

I
f there was one man who was not, in Colonel Reitz’
words, spoiling for a fight, and had no desire for a rup-
ture, it was Smuts. They said of Smuts in those days—
the Dutch said it-—that if something were still needed finally
to ensure the coming of war it was Smuts’ overcagerness
for peace.

He was in 1899 what he has remained throughout life, a
natural negotiator, a believer in conference, a Plato man, a
peace-at-any-price man. All his principles (‘though I won-
der’, he says, ‘what instinct made me join the Stellenbosch
volunteers’) werc against war. He had never had a chance to
prove if he possessed the thing called courage. He could not
imagine killing. He was—he thought he was—he seemed
to be—a student and not a man of action. He realised the
Boers’ littleness and their faint hopes against England.

He determined now (he was just twenty-nine) to try
himself to stop the coming of war. People who understand
these things say his effort was the most significant one in all
the years of negotiation. He decided to approach the British
agent at Pretoria, Conyngham Greene.

2

'They met early in July, two days after Milner had written
in his diary: ‘It looks very like Armageddon to-day’, a day
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before Butler sent in his resignation. Their convetsations
were informal and Smuts asked Greene why Chamberlain
was so insistent about the suzerainty. If only, he said,
Chamberlain would give up England’s claim to suzerainty,
all other difficulties could be settled: franchise, language, re-
presentation, perhaps even the right to vote for President
and Commandant-General. It would not surprise him, he
said, to see, in the course of years, an Englishman President
of the South African Republic.

They met several times again and then significandy to-
wards the middle of August, when Smuts came to ask
Greenc if Milner would be satisfied with the Bloemfontein
terms. Greene, speaking for himself, thought not, but Smuts
asked him, why not? How had the position of the Uit-
landers changed since the Bloemfontein Conference that
the terms suggested then were no longer good enough?
And if they were no longer good enough what did it sug-
gest but that England was deliberately provoking a war?

He returned to the attack next evening, for a friend had
told him that Greene was, after all, wavering towards an
impulse to discuss the Bloemfontein terms. He suggested to
Greene now that if only England were not so insistent on
the suzerainty, the Boers would readily, for their part, make
concessions. He went on: Could not England be satisfied
to call herself the paramount Power in South Africa as she
had done before ever there was this talk about suzerainty
and as, considering her great interests, she fairly might con-
tinuc to do? What now did she want with this suzerainty
—historically and legally baseless, grievous to the Boers,
and, if he might say so, pure nonsense?

Greene and Smuts had discussions then about suzerainty,
franchise, representation, arbitration, language and all the
other points of difference. There were, eventually, serious
disputes between Greene and Smuts as to what exactly had
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happened at these meetings. Each said he had immediately
afterwards made notes, and each proved that the other was
wrong. But Greene, Smuts admits, was quite sincerely and
innocently working for peace. He had no idea that he was
not supposed to make peace.

Certainly Milner did not expect Greene to take it on him—
self to make peace. ‘Nothing but confusion can arlse he
said, ‘from this irregular method of negotiation, > and he
warned Greene against committing himsclf, and Chamber-
lain against holding England committed.

The letter in which Greene describes to Milner how he
came eventually to transmit his compromise with Smuts
of ‘a five~yeat franchise, cight new scats for the Goldfields,
a simple franchise law and other advantages’ (as he shortly
puts it) in return for the withdrawal of the demand of Her
Majesty’s Government for a Joint Inquiry, and for certain
other assurances in the matter of suzerainty, non-interfer-
ence in the internal affairs of the Republic, and arbitration
~—the apologetic tone of the letter clearly attests Greene’s
embarrassment at finding himself in the false role of peace-
maker. ‘Tt was the first time’, he explains his weakness, ‘in
my whole exoerience of diplomatic work here that the
Government of the South African Republic had ever
approached Her Majesty’s Government. Up tillnow our dip-
lomatic intercourse had consisted of an interminable inter-
change of recriminating correspondence. . .. Greene may
have felt this stiff-neckedness to be morally the attitude of
the Boers. But it is not literally accurate that Greene’s inter-
course with Smuts, at any rate, had hitherto been merely by
‘recriminating correspondence’. The official records show
otherwise.

It seems realiy as if Greene had succumbed to that hyp-
notically reasonable manner of Smuts’ which, to this day,
persuades people to act as he thinks right, and even some-~
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times against their own interests. That manner does not at
all resemble the revivalist or Fithrer manner. The unthink-
ing can withstand it. It does not influence the vulgar. A
certain quality, a certain standard of mind and emotion, is
needed in the person who yields to Smuts. ‘I felt’, pursues
the embarrassmgly virtuous Greene, ‘that so long as I was
here in a diplomatic capacity, as Her Majesty’s agent, it
could only be the earnest desire of Her Majesty’s Govern-~
ment that I should leave no stone unturned to fairly con-
sider any advance, howcver unpromising, on the part of the
Government of the South African Republic, and neglect no
opportunity of endeavouring to arrive at a peaceful solu-
tion of the difficulty.’

3

The arrangement between Greene and Smuts was that
if both the Transvaal Executive and the British Cabinet
approved of Smuts’ proposals they were to be submitted
formally. The Transvaal Execative approved next day, and
Greene drafted a telegram to his Government which Smuts
initialled. He sent also another telegram setting out their
various conversations and the ntimerous suggestions he had
himself made to Smuts.

It has been said that Chamberlain read the two telegrams
as successive sheets of a single message and that his satis-
faction with the idea of receiving a formal proposal on the
lines of Smuts’ proposal was based on this mistake. As,
however, the first telegram ends with the words: ‘A second
explanatory telegram follows this’, and the second telegram
reads like nothing but an explanatory telegram, and Cham-
berlain did not even receive it at the same time and place as
the first telegram, it is hard to understand how he could
have replied to the two telegrams as if they were part of
the same offer. It seemns more likely that when Milner got
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Chamberlain’s reply telling him to be as conciliatory as
Greene and saying, ‘If proposals made through British
agent are duly authorised they evidently constitute an
immense concession and even a considerable advance on
your Bloemfontein proposals’—it certainly seems strongly
probable that Milner instructed Chamberlain to be rather
less pleased and acquiescent than he was showing himself.

Whatever the cause, the result of their conflicting im-
pulses was the following response from Milner, which
Greene showed Smuts: 'If the South African Republic
Government should reply to the invitation to a Joint In-
quiry puc forward by Her Majesty’s Government by for-
mally making the proposals described in your telegram,
such a course would not be regarded by Her Majesty’s
Government as a refusal of their offer, but they would be
prepared to consider the reply of the South African Re-
public Government on its merits.”

Smuts read Milner’s telegram. He read it, he says in his
official note, repeatedly, but he could not understand it.
‘Consider reply on its merits.” * Not as refusal of offer. .
Offer of whar? Of a Joint Inquiry? Burt his proposals, said
Smuts to Greene, were specxﬁcally conditional on Het
Majesty’s Government ot pressing their demand for a Joint
Inquiry. It was the preliminary clause to the whole offer.
What in that confused sentence from Milner was meant by
the suggestion: that the proposals had nothing to do with
the Joint Inquiry?

Greene was not very clear himself, but he told Smuts the
Republic ought at once, and in the very terms of Smuts’
own proposal (so that there need be no vexatious doubts),
to submit an offer to the British Government. He was sure
it would be favourably considered, a settlement made and
the crisis ended.

Subsequently Milner told Greene ‘not to cxpress his
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opinion on the details of the proposals nor to see the note
in draft form’. He had the not unjustified impression that
Greene was giving a good deal of too spontaneous advice.
Smuts, however, could not tell that Greene’s advice to him
now was niot an inspired lead (he went so far even as to say
that the Boer proposals ‘were induced by suggestions given
by the British agent’) and on August 19th the Republic
submitted to Milner, in terms closely following Smuts’
original offer, their formal proposals.

They suggested as an ‘alternative proposal’ to the Joint
Inquiry: a five~year retrospective franchise as proposed by
Milner at Bloemfontein; a recommendation to the Volks-
raad of not less than a quarter of the seats in the First Volks-
raad, and if necessary in the Second Volksraad; the right
of new burghers to vote equally with the old for President
and Commandant-General; their readiness to consider the
‘friendly suggestions’ from the British agent concerning
franchise. . . .

These were the first four paragraphs. The fifth paragraph
ran: ‘In putting forward the above proposals the Govern-
ment assumes that Her Majesty’s Government will agree
that the present intervention shall not form a precedent . . .
that Her Majesty’s Government will not further insist on
the assertion of the suzcrainty . . . that arbitration (from
which foreign elements other than the Orange Free State
are to be excluded) will be conceded as soon as the fran-
chise scheme becomes law.’

4
Everything, perhaps, led to the Boer War. The first
nugget of gold in the Transvaal. The arrival in South Africa
of Dutch, French, Germans, Britons. The ancestors who
transmitted to the emigrants their conflicting tendencies.
The ancestors of these ancestors. . . . As an immediate mat-
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ter, however, there was a single word in the Boer offer of
August 19th, 1899, which influenced history. . . .

It was said. when the French and English came to terms
in February 1935, in London, over the safety of Europe,
that M. Laval spent an hour considering the word ‘but’.
The Boers spent the day of August 20th, 1899, considering
the word ‘assames’. It was the word Smuts had used in his
original proposals, which, no less than the formal proposals,
were the considered terms of the Boer Executive. It was
probably Smuts’ word. It may have been Reitz’ word. It
was certainly not the word of Kruger, who had too little
English to know such a word. It could hardly have been
used without consideration, It may have been used in tact-
fulness, in evasiveness, to avoid peretnptoriness, as a man-
ceuvre, an evocation, a lure, a half~way word between
aspiration and insistence. It may have embodied a hope or
an expectatior:.

Greene wrote to Milner that ‘the assurances asked by the
Government of the South African Republic on the ques-
tion of suzerainty and non-interference did not amount,
as explained to me by the State Attorncy, to more than
concessions to Boer susceptibilities, they were to be “as-
sumed” by the Transvaal as corollaries to their own pro-
posals but did not, in the original offer, take the form of a
definite bargain’. The second sentence, however, is the
agent’s own interpretation of the first, and Smuts’ personal
account of it interprets with a difference his allusions to
Boer susceptibilities.

The question that exercised the Boers on the Sunday
which followed August the 19th was whether the word
‘assumes’ could possibly be said to mean ‘taken for granted’.
They wanted it taken for granted that they would not give
so much to get nothing at all. They decided, before the day
was out, to use a firmer term than the word ‘assumes’.
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On Monday the 21st they presented Greene ("The Presi-
dent said that he thought one or two points might have
been stated more clearly’, wrote Smuts) with a variation in
their fifth paragraph. ‘In continuation of my despatch of the
roth instant,” wired Reitz, the State Secretary, ‘and with re-
ference to the communication to you of the State Attorney
this momming, 1 wish to forward to you the following in
explanation thereof, with the request that the same may be
telegraphed to His Excellency, the High Commissioner for
South Africa, as forming part of the proposals of this Gov-
ernment embodicd in the above-mentioned despatch: “The
proposals of the Government regarding questions of fran~
chise and representation contaitied in that despatch must be
regarded as expressly conditional on Her Majesty’s Govern-~
ment consenting to the points set forth in Paragraph s of
the despatch, viz. (a) In future not to interfcre in internal
affairs of the South African Republic; (b) not to insist fur-
ther on its assertion of existence of suzerainty; (¢) to agree
to arbitration.”’

It has been suggested that something happened between
the Saturday and the Monday to stiffen the Boers; that they
may have received some favourable news concerning the
prospect of European intervention.

No such spectacular thing happened. They spent that
Sunday discussing the implications of the word ‘assume’.
“We decided’, says Smuts, ‘that we could not go on any
longer with this uncertainty. We were determined to make
it clear, once and for all, that unless England abandoned her
claims to interfere with us, no agreement had any value.
There was, to begin with, the Joint Inquiry, which Milner
would not give up. The Joint Inquiry meant an immediate
interference with our internal affairs. There was the suzer-
ainty. The suzerainty meant a permanent interference with
all our affairs—any sort of interference at any time could
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be worked dirzctly or indirectly through the suzerainty. As
long as England had the suzerainty we were not inde-
pendent. We felt we wanted it absolutely clear that our
concessions were contingent on England’s giving up her
claims to interfere with us. Our first consideration had to
be our independence.’

5

Their offer was not yet accepted—the intervening Sun-
day had to do with the delay—when they changed the in-
definite term ‘assumes’ to the definite term ‘expressly con-
ditional’. And when Chamberlain, having received their
offer, pointed out a number of other discrepancies between
the formal proposals and Smuts’ original suggestions (as
described in Greene’s explanatory telegram), Smuts an-
swered shortlv that ‘the terms of a settlement embodied in
the final note of the 19th August from this Government
were very carefully considered, and I do not believe that
there is the slightest chance of their being amplified or
altered. Your decision will therefore have to be arrived at
on the terms as they stand.’

The negotiations dribbled on ' (‘dribbled” is Chamber-
lain’s word for the despairing concessions the Boers did
make despite their sudden haughty stand) for nearly an-
other two months, but they had really no chance of settle-
ment. They never had had. Milner was right there, and so
was Kruger. They were the only realists. It was as if a man
needed to have a number of operations, including one that
was almost certainly fatal, and the doctors assured him they
could satisfactorily perform the lesser operations. When all
the talk, on one side or the other, about franchise, represen-
tation, dynamite, corruption, language, injustice, pride and
honour was done, there stood the only real issue: suzer-
ainty.
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Here, in brief, is the story of the next two months:

Chamberlain accepted the Boers’ concessions and rejected
their demands.

The Uitlanders begged for speedy relief and began to de-
part. Milner told Chamberlain about the loss and suffering
of the Uitlanders, and Chamberlain said, ‘the loss and suf-
fering by war would be greater stll’.

Salisbury made a reference to the Sibylline books, and
Hofmeyr, also making a reference to the Sibylline books,
wrote to Smuts: “You gave too much and you asked too
much.’

The Boers, deciding then to give less and ask less, re-
verted to their seven-~year franchise, and inquired waver-
ingly about the Joint Inquiry.

Milner said: ‘I would not be an Englishman in the Trans-
vaal—not for a million—to live all my life under the heel
of such a crew.’

The British, on September 8th, drafted troops from Eng-
land and India to South Africa; and sent the Boers a de-
spatch which began (so that the clauses following were to
the Boers of no interest), ‘Her Majesty’s Government have
absolutely repudiated’ the claim of the Transvaal to be a
sovereign international state, ‘and they are thereforc un-
able to consider any proposal which is made conditional on
an acceptance by Her Majesty’s Government of these news.’

Rhodes said: ‘Kruger will at a final push give anything.
Nothing will make Kruger fire a shot.’

Kruger said: ‘It is no longer possible to comply with the
far-reaching and insolent demands of the British Govern-
ment.’ And he classed as mutineers three members of the
Raad who were for peace, and rejected the British offer.

The editor of the Daily News suggested Kruger should
be sent an interim despatch giving him another chance, and
on September 22nd Chamberlain took his advice and here
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is the last clause in the interim despatch that gave Kruger
another chancs: (so that the clauses preceding were to the
Boers of no interest):

“The refusal of the Government of the South African
Republic to enterrain the offer (of September 8th) coming
as it does at the end of ncarly four months of protracted
negotiations, themsclves the climax of an agitation extend-
ing over a period of more than five years, makes it useless
to further pursue a discussion on the lines hitherto followed,
and Her Maje:ty’s Government are now compelled to con-
sider the situarion afresh and to formulate their own pro-
posals for a final settlement of the issues which have been
created in South Africa by the policy constantly followed
for many years by the Government of the South African
Republic.’

Fifty-seven members of both Houses of the Cape Parlia-
ment prayed rhe Queen not to use ‘force or compulsion’
against the Republic, and fifty-three members of both
Houses of the Cape Parliament ‘strongly deprecated’ the
plea of the fifty-seven.

Kruger quoted to the Raad verse 7 of Psalm 118 : “The
Lord taketh my part with them that help me: therefore shall
1 see my desire upon them that hate me.” But he also seized
the railways and closed down the mines, stopped the export
of gold, commandeered fiftcen pounds from every citizen
in the Transvaal, and asked the Free State to mobilise her
burghers.

The Cape asked the Free State not to mobilise her bur-
ghers.

The Free State mobilised her burghers—British by birth
as well as Dutch.

On October 7th the army reservists were called out by
Rovyal Proclamation. On October 8th the Indian troops
reached Durban.
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On October oth Kruger issued his ultimatum, which
demanded:

That British troops should be instantly withdrawn from
the Republic’s borders.

That reinforcements brought to South Africa since June
15t should be withdrawn in a reasonable time.

That troops now on the high seas should not be landed.

An answer was called for before five o’clock next day.
The Boers were already on that day celebrating Kruger's
birthday in the field.

“They’ve done it!” said Chamberlain.

Mr. Greene handed in the British reply and asked for his
passports.

War began officially on October 11th. -



Chapter XIV
‘A CENTURY OF WRONG’

I

he war was not yet begun when there was issued
I from the Review of Reviews office, with a preface by
W. T. Stead, the English version of a book in
pamphlet form called A Century of Wrong. The original
was in the Dutch of Holland—the official language of the
South African Republic—and its title was Een Eeuw van
Onrecht. No name accompanies the Dutch version, but
the English version is ‘issucd by State Secretary Reitz as
the official exposition of the case of the Boer against the
Briton’.

Some time passed before the news got round that Smuts
was chiefly responsible for Een Eenw van Onrecht, and it
is still not generally known that Mrs. Smuts translated it
into English.

The book was of that passionate kind which moves peo-
ple when passion is all about, but which does not read so
well when time, reason and expediency have subdued pas-
sion.

Four years after the Boer War, Campbell-Bannerman
gave the Transvaal responsible government, and England
trusted the Boers in the most moving way, and Smuts’ feel-
ings towards England became again what they had been in
the days when Rhodes noticed him at Stellenbosch, and he
regretted then his share in A Century of Wrong. But there it
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was (although he never admitted its authorship), perpetu-
ally to plague him and perpetually to be used against him.
He does not speak of it to-day. He seldom speaks of the
things that truly disturb him.

2

When first Smuts accepted England’s hand after the war
many of his people followed him who found presently that
they could not maintain an attitude of amity. These—and
their number grew until it included men who had not
fought in the Boer War and men who had never been Re-
publicans and men who just wanted something: they knew
not what—all these, who formed gradually the greater part
of the Boer nation, turnied on Smuts and it was one of their
greatest delights to taunt him with A Century of Wrong and
to use against himself his own bitterness against England.
To this day Boers exist who think of Smuts as a traitor be-
cause, having in the post-war settlement been trusted by
England, he persists in justifying his trust. They cannot
accept it that he is, as he says, ‘a proper Boer, one of them-
selves. I love them from my heart,” and he knows they can-
not, since love them he may, but a ‘proper’ Boer he never
has been and never will be, just as Alexander Hamilton,
the greatest of Americans, never was and never could be a
‘proper’ American.

There was in particular a cartoonist called Boonzaier who
got a generation of fun and use out of A Century of Wrong.
He drew for the Dutch papers (it was one of his constant
themes and is to-day) a shifty-looking individual cringing
before a gross Semite. The shifty-looking individual was
Smuts and the gross Semite was one Hoggenheimer (de-
rived from a character in a musical comedy that came to
the Cape early in the century) and the idea was that Smuts
had sold himself to Hoggenheimer, who personified the
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gold mines. When Hoggenheimer was not in the picture
Smuts was an animal (as Chamberlain in the drawings of
F. C. Gould), or he was a down-and-out, or he was just do-
ing something shameful, wicked or ridiculous. Often the
pictures showed a monkey chained to a pole. The monkey
was called Adonis, which is a common name among the
Cape coloured people, and he represented South Africa,
and the chain represented the British connection and the
pole was Britain. And the freedom Smuts talked about that
South Africa had within the British Empire was typified by
the freedom the monkey had to run, chained, up and down
the pole. It was a witty, if not an accurate, conception, and
now and then the drawings in general were amusing. But
mostly they were offensive, and if they had any superficial
truth they could make a vicious pitfall of a hidden false~
hood. And nearly always in the cartoons that showed
Smuts betraying the Dutch to the English there lay about
somewhere in the picture—very conspicuously—this book
Een Eeuw vat Onrecht—A Century of Wrong.

3

A Century of Wrong is full of those metaphors, classical
allusions and bouts of eloquence that were more character-
istic of Smuts in his youth than they are to-day.

It sets out the injustice and cruelty of the British from the
beginning of the nineteenth century to its end: what the
British did to the Boers in the Cape, Natal, Orange Free
State and Transvaal.

In the Cape, it says, the missionaries supported the natives
against them, they were ruined by the emancipation of
slaves. They trekked away from England and England pur-
sued cthem.

In Natal their women threatencd-——sooner than submit to
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British slavery-—to walk barefoot over the Drakensbergen
to freedom or death, and England pursued them.

In the Transvaal there were Shepstone’s annexation,
capitalism, jingoism, Rhodes, Jameson and suzerainty. As
ever, England pursued them.

‘In this awful turning point in the history of South Africa,
on the eve of the conflict which threatens to exterminate
our people, it behoves us to speak the truth in what may be,
perchance, our last message to the world.”

‘Up to the present our people have remained silent; we
have been spat upon by the enemy, slandered, harried and
treated with every possible mark of disdain and contempt.
But our people, with a dignity which reminds the world of
a greater and more painful example of suffering, have borne
in silence the taunts and derision of their opponents.’

‘Our people have been represented by influential states-
men and on hundreds of platforms in England as incom-
petent, uncivilised, dishonourable, untrustworthy, etc., etc.,
so that not only the British public, but nearly the whole
world, began to believe that we stood on the same level as
the wild beasts. In the face of these taunts and this provoca-
tion our people still remained silent.”

‘Our people remained silent’ (comes unfortunately the
explanation) ‘partly out of stupidity, partly out of'a feeling
of despairing helplessness, and partly because, being a pas-
toral people, they read no newspapers and were thus una-
ware of the way in which the feeling of the whole world
was being prejudiced against them by the efforts of malig-
nant hate.’

‘As the wounded antelope awaits the coming of the lion,
the jackal and the vulture, so do our poor people all over
South Africa contemplate the approach of the foe.’

‘Every sea in the world is being furrowed by the
ships which are conveying British troops from every
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corner of the globe in order to smash this little handful of
people. ...

But they would not, vows the book, this little handful of
people would not, be smashed. They would do to England
what little Greece had done to Xerxes. They would with-
stand Chamberlain as their forefathers had withstood
Richelicu, Alva and Louis XIV.

That justice would be done which (as Smuts had already
shown in the case of Rhodes) ‘proceeds according to Eter-
nal Laws, unimoved by human pride and ambition, and per-
mits the tyrant, in his boundless self-esteem, to climb higher
and higher a1d to gain greater honour and might until he
arrives at the appointed height and then falls down into the
infinite deptts.’

And ‘It is crdained’, prophesies the book, ‘that we, insig-
nificant as we are, should be the first among the people to
begin the struggle against the new world tyranny of Capi-
talism.’

The peroration duly comes, in the words of Kruger in
the year of Majuba: ‘Then shall it be from the Zambesi
to Simon’s B1y, Africa for the Africander.’



Chapter XV
LIFE’S GREATEST SATISFACTION

I
It is strange to think that while Smuts was preparing this

wild document, vehement with a sense of wrong, he

was also arguing in his reasonable and convincing way
with the British agent and cven disturbing his Dutch
friends because he was so set.on peace.

Which is the essential Smuts? The Smuts emotional to
the point of mysticism who hides himself from the world,
or the negotiator whose ‘slimness’ the world has sometimes
distrusted?

There is this about Smuts: he can be a number of chings
to 2 number of men and never yicld the passionate core
within himself. He is inclined in politics to be an oppor-
tunist-—that is, he follows, in the dicdonary definition” what
is presently expedient’—a system which has been the tri-
umph of British government. But e has maintained his
greater ideals in a manner beyond belief to anyone who has
not followed the whole course of his life. In addition to
the idealist and the negotiator, there was now to be re-
vealed a new Smuts: a man of war and action.

2

In the year 1917, a month after joining the War Cabinet,
Smuts received a letter from F. S. Oliver, whom he knew
as the biographer of Alexander Hamilton and the author of
Ordeal by Battle. This is part of the letter:
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‘Dear Smuts,

‘Wl you forgive me if T drop the impediment of
the title? By rights, perhaps, I should leave the step to you;
for you are among the great ones and I am only a grub. On
the other hand, I took my degree at Cambridge a year or
two before you did, and so I presume on that. . . .

‘I wish my lot had been cast to work with you or under
you. [ almost wish it might have been—failing the other—
that I might have worked against you; for there is a satisfac-
tion in feelirg something solid when one strikes and not
merely air-balloons. . ..

‘Intellect is a queer tricky thing. Shrewd knowledge of
the facts of li%e is apt to-be a misleading thing' Imagination
is a joy to its possessor, but ninety-nine times out of a hun-~
dred is a vair. thing. Faith, on the other hand, is too often
a millstone, rendering its holder immobile and drowning
him in self-consciousness. But if you happen on a blend of
all four you get something worth having.

‘I wonder-~if you had to say what thing in your career
you took the most “boyish” satisfaction in—howyouwould
statc it? . . . When one is on a platform I imagine one takes
on to some extent the fecling of one’s audience, and is apt
to rate highest the things which appeal to most. But if you
were examining your own heart without the bother of an
audience? ...’

The most ‘boyish’ satisfaction. Well, he would say—he
has said it without reference to Oliver’s letter—that time he
spent during the Boer War, harassing, with his few hun-
dred men, the British in the Cape. (‘I prefer the active to
the passive qualities.”) This was his greatest, most constant
and purposeful delight: to battle against hunger, cold, rain,
men and death. In the Boer War, he says, he knew for the
first time comradeship, leadership and the joy of bodily life;
he discovered he could be resourceful not only in the field
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of thought but also (though he considers it the same thing)
in the field of action. He had coolly ventured his youth-
ful inexperienced wits against Plato, Bacon and Hegel.
He found he could venture them not less confidently
against the leaders of the British forces. He had, on top of
all, nothing but his wits to depend on, and Smuts is hap-
piest when he can make play with his wits. It is the excite-
ment to him that great sport is to other men. It gives him
that ecstasy.

He found also—at first it amazed him and then he took it
for granted—that he had no bodily fear. How could he
have anticipated that, a man inexperienced in danger? He
was not the sort to study the look in his own fearless eyes.
Men who fought with him say his attitude went beyond
recklessness—it was rather a sort of nescience: considera-
tion of tragic result was simply not a part of him. They
were for ever having to warn him and to draw him away
from dangerous exposed positions.

In his long career he has often had his life menaced (not
only as a soldier but also as a public man) and people, both
official and friendly, have begged him to take care. He has
always received with pleasant indifference both threats and
cautions. ‘Oh, nothing will happen’, he says in his casual
way. ‘Nothing ever has.’

He was equally surprised to find that he was not shocked
by the sight of death in battle. ‘T used to wonder’, he says,
‘how I could face such death. . .. I was not affected. No, I
was utterly callous. It amazed me. I could not understand
myself. But then I saw the other men were callous too. And
they were callous in the Great War. The normal men were
callous. The men who were affected by the dead and
wounded were the neurotics.

‘Afterwards when I read something, or saw something,
or was moved by something—something quite different,
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you understand—not at all to do with war—I remembered
those bodies, I felt them then.’

Was he really as callous as he imagined? He certainly
came out of the war a different man in body from the nar-
row-chested haggard youth (an inch or two under six feet)
who went into it. His own parents did not recognise him.
Even the contour of his face was changed. Flesh covered
the once protuberant bones. A yellow beard grew from the
short square chin and up the cheeks—a narrow white point
of it remains. His weight was risen to twelve and a half
stone and, to his satisfaction, has stayed at that.

His body therefore seems to bear out what he says con-
cerning his spirit. And perhaps, in general, he did find what
Oliver would have called his most ‘boyish’ satisfaction in
that guerrilla fighting during the Boer War; in the physical
discovery of himself and the new source of confidence it
must have brought him.

But Smuts is a man very divided within (as he admits)
and there must have been other moods which he has for-
gotten. Here, fcr instance, is an obvious contradiction of his
belief that he was indifferent to the sight of death in battle.

‘Going over the field after the English retired,” he writes
of Spion Kop, ‘one saw truly appalling sights. One poor
Tommie had his head blown clear off his body. The face
lay upwards about a dozen paces away as if it belonged to
another body buried with the head above the ground.
There was another man sitting with his back against a rock
in the act of binding a wound below the knee. He had a
bandage in one hand and was winding it around the injured
part when shot dead through the heart. He remained in
that position until buried. Another man, whose name
(marked on his clothes) was found to be Petrie, an aristo-
cratic-looking soldier, lay stretched dead, face upwards, his
hands full of grass which he had grasped in the death strug-

121



LIFE’'S GREATEST SATISFACTION

gle. I could not help feeling a wish, as I gazed on these men,
of being able to place these three brave Englishmen in Mr.
Joseph Chamberlain’s bedroom, so that he might see them
when retiring to bed some night during the continuance of
the conflict which he has promoted. It might bring home to
him some idea of the horrors which are associated with
this unnatural war between Christian people.’

It seems not unlikely that, whatever may be Smuts’ re-
collecton ofhis callous feelings thirty years ago, there were
times when he himself saw not merely fallen Boers but
those brave Englishmen he wished might haunt Chamber-
lain (always Chamberlain). He has a reputation for hard-
ness. But is this hardness a vertical or a horizontal occur-
rence? Is it that streaks of hardness strike right through him
to the bottom, or that he has protective layers of hardness
covering, but not inescapably, his essential softness? His de-
votion to young children is well known. It is even exces-
sive. But that is not in point. It proves nothing. Devotion
to children is an agreeable manifestation which may have
sources unconnected with softness of heart. Smuts says it is
a defect in him that he cannot yield or reveal himself, that
he is fundamentally reticent wich people. He calls himself
a repressed man, though why he should be he cannot say.
It may be easier for such a man to yield or reveal himself to
children than to mature people. It may be the wistful de-
sire towards youth—just youth—that people get as their
own youth goes. One never sees men in their twentics or
thirties yearning towards children as they do in their fifties
or sixties.

It is more significant that it could happen to Smuts to
walk, tortured, about the streets of Pretoria looking for
a beggar whom he had refused to help. It is his custom
to help beggars. It is his custom to help friends (though,
sometimes, with cynicism: ‘Are those people just visiting
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or do they want something?” he asks Mrs. Smuts). Smuts
knows the world to-day, and the wisdom—the necessity—
of not always caring. But his instinct is towards sentimen-
tality, and there still exists in him the shy boy who, at six-
teen, wrote to 2 stranger that he wanted a friend and to
avoid wickedness.



Chapter XVI

BOER DREAM

I

o one in the world thought the Boers had any
hope against the British except the Boers, and
Smuts says to-day they had reasons for their hope.

It was not only on the Lord they relied (though they did
rely on the Lord)—they considered history, they had their
plans.

Many remembered, to begin with, Majuba. What had
happened once could happen again. They compared them-
selves also with the Americans of the seventeen-seventies.
In what way were the Americans better situated for a war
against England than the Boers? They were not better situ-
ated at all. Where the Boers were a united nation with a
century of fighting behind them, well armed with muni-
tions brought in since the Raid, the Americans were in
chaos politically and nationally, they had no money, their
army consisted of untrained men, small in number, badly
armed, under inexperienced officers. Nor was the England
of their day less formidable than the England of 1899.

Yet, for the same reasons that the Boers might hope to
beat England, the Americans had beaten England: their
country too was distant from the reinforcements of Eng-
land, their land hard to over-run, their plight interesting to
envious Europe.

“When the war began’, said Botha in 1902, ‘we had
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about sixty thousand burghers, and we further relied upon
help from the Cape Colony. We expected that the Colony
would not allow her railways to be used to convey troops
to fight against us, We also hoped that the powers would
interfere. . . . We had provisions in abundance, our com-
mandos could be supported for weeks in the same place.’

.- Why then, taking all these things together, should that
not happen which had happened in America and the Boers
be left to do as they liked in South Africa? .

They had, ir. addition, tactical plans peculiar to their own
circumstances. They proposed, says Smuts, to carry on the
war in the British colonies—the Cape and Natal. There,
with the mountain ranges to fall back upon for defence,
they would attack, and the Boers of the Cape would be
stimulated to join them, and every British soldier in the
Orange Free State and Transvaal would be drawn away
in pursuit of them, and their own territories they would
preserve inviolate as a base. (There were some who dreamt,
at the beginning, of taking Durban, and, at the end, of tak-
ing Cape Town.)

In the Transvaal they would do this: they would strike at
the very root of evil, the whole origin of the war—the gold
mines.

2

It was the opinion of the Boers that the war was a mine-
owners war, a link with the Jameson Raid. What the mine-
owners really wanted, the Boers believed, was to get hold
of the Transvaal, destroy its obdurate Government, and
torm their own Republic. The mine-owners had no desire
to bring the Traasvaal under the British flag: they had said
so at the time of the Raid (that they wanted not change but
reform); and made trouble with Rhodes because he insisted
on the British flag; and even sent envoys to Cape Town to
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tell him that if they had to rise under the British flag they
would just as soon not rise at all.

Well, the war was being made for the mine-owners, be-
cause of the power of their money, and with it. (So the
Boers believed.) And if the mine-owners did not want the
war to go on they could make it stop. What, therefore,
was the obvious thing to do? What would frighten the
mine-owners more than anything and compel them to
make peace on the Boers’ own terms? A threat, clearly, to
destroy the mines. The mine-owners cared nothing for
British prestige. They cared only for money. If the Boers
threatened the mines, the mine-owners would use all their
influence to compel the British Government to end the
war. . . .

Yet neither did the Boers threaten to destroy the mines,
nor did they destroy them without threatening. It was not
that they valued the mines in themselves. For what, as
Reitz himself came to say, the State Secretary—a man edu~-
cated in England and a writer of books—what had the
wealth of Johannesburg ever done for the Boers? It would
tend to their advantage to be rid of Johannesburg. . . . It
was not for fear of personal deprivation they did nothing
about the mines, it was merely that they lacked the spirit
of destruction. They gave themselves other reasons for not
doing it. But that was the real reason.

Seven months, for instance, after the beginning of the
war—after all the earlier successes of the Boers had been
turned to naught, and the British had relieved Kimberley
and Ladysmith and beaten them in battle and refused their
offer of peace and relieved Mafeking and, despite the arrival
of Kruger himself, taken Bloemfontein and annexed the
Free State—even while Roberts’ troops were marching
through the Transvaal and the Boers were preparing to
abandon Johannesburg, they held a meeting about blowing
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up the mines. Surely the time had now come to blow up
the mines. . . . And yet the time had precisely not come!
They could not destroy property still in their own posses-
sion and while their forces were retreating. It would seem
an act of wanton revenge. When that same Judge Koch
who had presided over the Edgar trial took it on himself to
do a bit of private blowing up, Botha himself had him
arrested.

A few days later the British took the Rand and were on
their way to Pretoria.

3

Both Boers aad British had a sentimental feeling about
Pretoria. It was the capital. It signified something—many
believed the final thing—in the war. The Republic must
fall, the Bridish thought, when Pretoria fell. They would
fight for Pretoria, the Boers thought, all their forces would
be rushed up to ﬁg,ht for Pretoria, and there—appropri-
ately—-they would smash the British and send them, in
Smuts’ words, ‘reeling back to the coast’.

Towards the raiddle of 1900, when the Boers were flecing
before the British advance through the Transvaal, thou-
sands of them, says Smuts, remained with the retreating
commandos, stimulated by the one hope of taking part in
the great stand at Pretoria.

They did not know that their leaders had already de-
cided to abandon the capital with no more than a show of
resistance. Their hope, the leaders realised, was not the
fortified towns but the uncharted veld.

One morning. towards the end of May, the rumour got
about that the British were on their way to Pretoria and
would be there shat night. The retreating Boers, who ex-
pected to make a decisive stand at their capital, were stll
beyond Johannesburg, nor could any news be got of them.
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Late in the afternoon the President, the State Secretary and
other leading officials removed themselves, and thus their
seat of government, to a mountain village called Machada-
dorp, on the way to Portuguese territory. There, in the rail-
way carriages they had come in, they conducted, as Kruger
describes, the affairs of the country: issuing decrees and re-
quisitions, provisos for furlough, orders for the reorgani-
sation of the army and measures to frustrate the enemy—
dreaming still of Washington and Valley Forge and their
similar hopes.

Then Kruger, because the cold of Machadadorp affected
his eyes, descended to a village in the valley below, though
the Government remained in Machadadorp until the Brit-
ish annexed the Transvaal. After that it travelled to another
village still nearer Portuguese territory and thence Kruger
issued his final proclamation: “Whereas, in the month of
October, 1899, an unjust war was forced upon the people
of the South African Republic and the Orange Free State
by Great Britain. . . ." Whereas he was informed that a pro-
clamation dated September 1st, 1900, announced (while
the Boer forces were still in the field and therefore contrary
to international law) that the South African Republic was
conquered and annexed. . . .

‘Now I, Stephanus Johannes Paulus Kruger, State Presi-
dent of the South African Republic . . . do hereby pro-
claim in the name of the independent people of this Repub-
lic that the aforesaid annexation is not recognised, but is by
these presents declared null and void. . . .

“The people of the South African Republic is and re-
mains a free and independent people and refuses to submit
to British rule.’

With these words he left South Africa. Because he was
too old to accompany his forces in the field, he was given
six months’ furlough to promote, as he says, the Boer cause
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in Europe. ‘His Honour’s invaluable services can still be
profitably employed in the intcrests of the land and peo-
ple....

The Government of the country that refused to admit
itself annexed moved again. . . .

4

When Kruger, with his cxecutive, left Pretoria, Schalk
Burger, the Acting President, and Smuts, the State Attor-
ney, stayed tehind to keep order in face of the coming
attack.

It was Smuts’ determination not to yield the town with-
out a blow. He commandeered therefore cvery available
burgher, and, witch four or five hundred men, went to in-
tercept the British advance. He went in the direction of
Trene, where now he lives on a farm he bought nine years
later, at the time of union.

The British were not there. The rumour had been a false
one. He returned to Pretoria and presenty Schalk Burger
went away with his family and Smuts was left alone in
charge.

He could not prevent—he did not wish to—the looting
of Government stores in broad daylight. There was no pur-
pose in hoarding them for the invaders. However, when
a few days lazer the retreating Boers arrived—those who
had come to make their final stand in Pretoria—there was
nothing for them to eat. The fight too was out of them by
this time, and their leaders held meetings in the telegraph
office to communicate to the President the despair of the
nation.

From his administrative offices in the railway train at
Machadadorp, Kruger consulted with Steyn, the President
of the Free State, a fugitive even as himself. Steyn said if
the Transvaalcrs were prepared to lie down the moment
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the British reached their borders, the Free Staters were not.
It was the Transvaal’s war and the Free State, having no
trouble at all with Britain, had entered it merely to help
their kin. Now the Transvaal might do as it liked, the Frec
State was fighting to the end.

‘Who’, wrote Smuts at the time, ‘shall say that he was
wrong? His answer meant two years more of war, the utter
destruction of both Republics, losses in life and treasure
compared with which the appalling losses of the preceding
cight months were to dwindle into utter insignificance.
But it meant also that every Boer who was to survive that
death struggle, every child to be born in South Africa, was
to have a prouder self-respect, and a more ercct carriage be-
fore the nations of the world.’

Roberts’ forces attacked Pretotia on the 4th of June.
While, for a few hours, his four or five hundred burghers
held them off, Smuts sent away the munitions from the
fort, and then set about collecting the Government’s money.

The Government’s money was lying in a bank. It con-
sisted of half a million pounds” worth of bar gold and four
hundred pounds in cash. There was also an accessible sum
of twenty-five thousand pounds (actually war funds) stand-
ing to the personal credit of the Commandant-General.

Smuts began his quest for the Government money—he
tested his position—by peaccfully asking the directors of
the bank for the four hundred pounds. The directors would
not yield it. Smuts, seeing then how he stood, brought
along fifty policemen, and under the threat of force com-
pelled the directors to hand over the half-million of gold.

He next took the twenty-five thousand pounds to an-
other bank, asking whether, in view of the Government’s
departure from Pretoria, the bank would pay out the arrear
salaries of the Government officials. The bank declined to
undertake the task, and the officials themselves were at the
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moment busy considering how they could prevent the
Stare Attorney making off with the Government money.
That money, the half-million of gold, Smuts brought dur-
ing the afternoon to the station, and even while the shells
were bursting overhead loaded it on to a special train and
sent it off.

It kept the Boers going for another two years against an
outlay of two hundred million pounds sterling, as Smuts
remarks with pride, from the British Trcasury. And, after
it had done its work in the war, it continued, he says, ‘to
spook in the minds of great British statesmen’ as millions of
pounds lving hidden somewherc on the veld or in Europc
ready to be wsed against Britain in future campaigns.

This half-million of gold that Smurs rushed out of Pre-
toria under British fire, and that for two years fed and
clothed the Boer forces, is the origin of the stories about the
Kruger millicns.

Smuts went to the mountains of the Magaliesberg.



Chapter XVII
BOER. DESPAIR

1

here came now over the Boers, says Smuts, a spread-

ing spirit of surrender. Earlicr in the year they had

vainly asked various European powers to intervene.
They had hoped particularly for the help of Germany. If
there had been no formal agreements between themselves
and Germany, there had been tacit encouragements, sighi-
ficant amiabilities—the Kaiser’s telegram to Kruger depre-
cating the Raid. How were they to know that the Kaiser
had actually worked out a military plan for Roberts, telling
him he was wrong to go on with the Natal campaign and
he ought instcad to attack the Boers in the Free State? To-
day the Free State was annexed and its President a fugitive.
Pretoria, hardly defended, had fallen. The capital of the
Transvaal moved with the train that carried President and
administration. There was bad news from the Cape, and
the Cape Boers had not risen in a body to help their north-
ern brethren. There was bad news from the Eastern Trans-
vaal. The campaign in the Western Transvaal had ended in
defeat and occupation. To the Boers who had wanted peace
after the fall of Bloemfontein were now added their com-
rades who had sdffened themsclves to that final effort at
Pretoria which was never demanded of them, and, to all of
these, the anguished population in the occupied areas. There
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seemed nothing to hope for. The war and their independ-
ence could not be otherwise than lost.

Steyn and de Wet in the Free State, Botha in the Eastern
Transvaal, Smuts and de la Rey in the Western Transvaal,
determined tc rally their broken people.

There was a meeting at a place called Cypherfontein at
which the mines again figured.

This time rhe Boers had feelings about destroying the
mines that dirfered from those which had moved them to
decorum a fe'ww months ago. They were embittered by the
devastation of their countryside and the sufferings of their
families, they were desperate and reckless. From the point
of view too ¢f morality in war the situation was changed.
For now the British held the Rand, and to attack an enemy’s
possession was a permissible act of war.

This was their plan (says Smuts): They would lure the
enemy into the outside districts, and then a Boer force of
twelve or fifteen thousand would suddenly and unexpect-
cdly be concentrated along the whole Rand by Botha, de
Wet and de I« Rey and they would destroy with dynamite
all the mines and mining property. They would then go,
Botha into Natal, and de Wet and de la Rey into the Cape,
there to harass the British and arouse the Boers.

“When I reflect’, wrote Smuts a few years later, ‘what
[ was a year luter enabled to do with my handful of men in
Cape Colony after the situation had changed much for the
worse, I have no hesitation in saying that our plans, if car-
ried out, would have meant a speedy conclusion of the war.’

They were not carried out. However well they were

laid, they could not be.

2

Botha collected over five thousand men in the Eastern
Transvaal, Smuts and de la Rey went into the Western
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Transvaal (the same de la Rey who captured the British
General Methuen, and whose accidental death on the eve
of the Boer rebellion in 1914 was so strange that many
would not belicve it was accidental). They exhorted the
population—de la Rey saying he would set up his own
Republic rather than surrender. They collected comman-
dos. They drove the encmy from their posts of occupation.

. Attached to de la Rey (a very religious man) was one
van Rensburg, a prophet. The prophet prophesied as he
was still prophcsymg—sull inspiring de la Rey and the peo-
ple—in 1914. He had visions resembling Pharaoh’s dream
of the lean and fat kine—he saw red and black bulls. He
prophesied the downfall of the British.

Westwards too came de Wet and then north over the
Magaliesbergen. He came, making little attacks where he
dared, twistedly retreating, evading the forces of five
famous British generals, perfecting a type of warfare that
was to keep the British engaged for fifteen months after
Roberts, thinking the war over, sailed for Europe and left
Kitchener, his chief-of=staff, in command.

This system of deliberate flight, says Smuts, was one of
the Boers’ most potent weapons. After the elusive Boer
commandos came the English mounted infantry on their
burdened horses with their long convoys and their heavy
guns. The Boers rode lightly forward and rested while the
English lumbered after them in exhausting pursuit. “We
were always fresh and ready for work, and the English were
always tired——their horses done for, fit only to be sent to
remount camps or be shot.”

Soon the entire west, as Smuts says, was clear of the
enemy, his martial law and his proclamations, and the re-
lieved people were weeping in an ecstasy of gratitude and
renewed hope. It gave him a new understanding of happi-
ness, he says, to see them so uplifted by their deliverance.
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But their happiness did not last long. Next month the
Bridsh drove back Botha and de Wet. In September Kruger
fled to Lourengo Marques. In October he sailed for Europe
in a Dutch warship. A formight later the British annexed
the Transvazl.

It was, of all people, Rhodes—-ill and eighteen months
from his death—-who, at this moment, chose to maintain
that the Dutch were not beaten. “No, they are as vigorous
and unconquered to-day as they ever have been. The coun-
try is still as inuch theirs as yours, and you will have to live
and work with them hereafter as in the past. Let there be no
vaunting words, no vulgar triumph.” The Dutch were not
so sure that they werc still as vigorous and unconquered as
they ever had been. Botha, Smuts, de la Rey and de Wet
and others had isolated successes, but the plans that were to
have culminated in the destruction of the gold mines were
here ended, and so passed, in Smuts’ words, their last chance
of victory.

Things had gone too far. Plans that might have succceded
six months or a year ago were now beyond accomplish-
ment. Smuts remained with the consolation of knowing
that ‘notwithstanding our failures we did not proceed aim-
lessly. . . . We had a great plan before our minds which
promised success. . . . It was mainly the immense disparity
of power and resources that prevented us from carrying
out our plan.’

Yet this ‘disparity of power and resources’” was actually
part of the Boers™ failure, and not mercely the cause of it
from without They themselves were largely responsible
for the disparity. They were great marksmen, tireless horse-
men and as courageous as even Chamberlain came to say.
The firse threc months of fighting that the British public
thought would make an end of the whole Boer business
went overwhelmingly to the bearded rustics who had not
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even uniforms. There was a week in December of 1899 that
came to be called in England Black Weck. Within five days
the Boers had the victories of Stormberg, Magersfontein
and Colenso. Distinguished British generals surrendered to
them. They encircled Kimberley, Ladysmith and Mafeking
... And it all came to nothing. The Boers had trusted their
fate, when war began, to commanders of historic fame
whose reputations, made in Kaffir wars, could not be main-
tained in a war against Europeans. The Boers should have
gone, as soon as war commenced, to the Cape Colony and
there aroused the Cape Boers and attacked the British.
They lay instead about towns they could not attack be-
cause they lacked the guns, nor take because they had no
bayonets. They lay about these towns until even the senti-
mental purpose they had in besieging them was lost. Plans
were not co-ordinated. Victories were not followed up.
Time, substance and chances were alike wasted while the
British brought in their guns and men by the hundred thou-
sand; learnt to understand the Boers and their ways of war;
learnt to copy some of their ways-—the dull garb which the
Bocrs used out of necessity, theidea of trenches; while they
invented methods of their own. .

These methods, Botha said, were contrary to the inter-
national laws of warfare. But the Boers’ chances were gone
before these days. Their cause was fundamentally lost dur-
ing the period of Joubert’s victorics, before he died and
Botha replaced him. By the time Smuts came to play a
leading part the Boers were fighting because they could not
bring themselves to do anything else. Their only hope was
that something might yet happen to their advantage if they
struggled long enough. The point is that the great plans
which, as Smuts thought, might have speedily finished the
war were delayed until they could not be carried out.
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3

When Botha spoke of the methods that were contrary
to the international laws of warfare he meant the sending of
women and children to concentration camps while home-
steads were gutted, horses rounded up, cattle, sheep and
grain seized, standing crops burnt down. The policy was
initiated by R oberts and continued by Kitchener, for they
believed the war could never otherwise be made to stop in
a country where every farmer was a soldicr and every farm-
house a barracks, and men, hungry and without arms, could
stealacross the veld to find in theirhomesrefuge and renewal.

Thete was indeed some military justification for these
methods Bothu denounced, and yet so far from sooner end-
ing the war they had the effect of prolonging it. They mad-
dened the Boers into prolonging it. Campbell-Bannerman
had asked, fifteen months after the war began, why it could
not be announced ‘that if they would lay down their arms,
leaders and burghers alike, if they would return to their
homes and resume their old life, they would enjoy their
property with their families, and that their kinsfolk who
had been sent tc exile as prisoners would be restored on the
same terms’. Such a proclamation, he thought, might ‘lift
the cloud of despair from off them and let the dawn of a
new hope soften their feelings to their conquerors’.

His advice was not taken. Milner, reaching England on
Smuts’ thirty-first birthday, the birthday too of the old
Queen who was now dead, was on that day received by the
King, madec a Privy Councillor and a G.C.B. and raised to
the peerage under the title of Baron Milner of St. James's
and Cape Town. And what Milner said the day after re-
ceiving his honcurs was: ‘I do not know whether I feel
more inclined to laugh or cry when I have to listen for the
hundredth time to these dear delusions, this Utopian dog-
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matising, that it only requires a little more time, a little
more tact, a little more meckness, a little more of all those
gentle virtues of which [ know I am so conspicuously de-
void, in order to conciliate—to conciliate what? Panoplied
hatred, insensate ambitions, invincible ignorance” He
begged the people of England not to let themselves be
bored into abandoning the work that had already cost thou~
sands of men and millions of money.

The work went on. The burnings continued. Twenty
thousand women and children died in the concentration
camps. Least of all did Campbell-Bannerman blame the
soldiers for these things. “We know the British soldier, we
know he is the most warm-hearted, the most tender-
hearted, the most soft-hearred creature.” He attacked the
‘methods of barbarism’ but he meant, he said, the whole
policy that involved ‘destroying the homes of women and
children’, and not the spirit of the soldiers; and men like Mr.
Lloyd George supported him.

If there was thus a party in England which was out to win
the war at all costs, if to the bewildered British public the
war seemed a righteous crusade, there was also a party
which was prepared to be stoned in its denunciation of what
the war involved. When Botha came to visit England as
first Prime Minister of the Union that Campbell-Banner-~
man had made possible, he said it was the three words
‘methods of barbarism’—from an English leader, supported
by his party—that gave the Boers the heart to make peace;
and there was never a visitor to England so cheered by
British crowds as this Botha who a few yeats ago had com-
manded an army against them.

4
At the end of 1900 Mrs. Smuts (the boy following the
twins having died) was sent to Maritzburg, where there was
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now one of the concentration camps Campbell-Bannerman
denounced and the Boers still remember. For, in the inex-
perience of those suddenly called upon to direct the camps,
in the confusion of those who were sent there: the bewil-
dered transfer from veld to camp, the crowding, the strange
new ways of life, the infections the veld-dwellers them~
selves did not know how to combat, thousands of the
women and children became ill and died. And the monu-~
ment in Bloem: fontein which is erected to these dead women
and children i¢ a monument no less to national bitterness.

It is frequen-ly said that Mrs. Smues herself was detained
in the concentration camp at Maritzburg and that her chil-
dren died therc.

This is not true. Mrs. Smuts lived in a house and her chil-
dren, born under the Republican flag, died in the Trans-
vaal. Her six living children were born under the British
flag, yet also, except the youngest, under the old Transvaal
flag, for Mrs. Sinuts, at their coming, had the old Transvaal
flag unfurled over her bed.

The younges, a gitl, was born during the Boer rebel-
lion of 1914 which Smuts and Louis Botha themselves went
out to crush. Ard she was called by the names destined for
a son, Louis de la Rey.



Chapter XVIII
GUERRILLA

I

n March 1901, following conversations between Botha

and Kitchener at a place called Middelburg (Transvaal),

Britain offered the Boers—in return for complete sur-
render—an amnesty to belligerents, a possible loan for the
renewal of farms, the right of children to be taught at
Government schools in their home language, the right of
the former Republics to keep their natives disfranchised.
Also military administration was to be replaced at the ear-
liest opportunity by Crown Colony government.

The offer was refused without explanation (though it was
understood that the treatment of the Cape rebels was the
chief stumbling-block), but in May 1901, at a farmhouse in
the Eastern Transvaal, there met a council of war to re-
consider the matter. Members of the wandering Govern-
ment were present and also Botha and Smuts and other
soldiers. Earlier in the year Smuts had attacked and taken
the Modderfontein ridge and held it against the English.
But, generally speaking, there was little to show on the credit
side. The story was one of surrender, demoralisation and
loss of hope. Homes were being burnt down; men in the
field had faith neither in their leaders nor in their fugitive
Government; the foreign powers were, more certainly
than ever now, not intervening. When Kruger approached
Germany for help, he was threatened with arrest should he
cross the frontier.
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These were things Smuts could never forgive. He could
forgive the ecremy England that had the greamess to trust
those who hated her. He could not forgive the soft-speakers
whose words, meaning nothing, had betrayed them. ‘For
us’, he said, when the Boers were facing their end as a na-
tion, ‘for us the foreign situation is and remains that we en-~
joy much sym pathy, for which we are, of course, heartily
thankful: that is all we get. . .. Europe will sympathise
with us ¢ill the last Boer hero lies in his last resting place,
till the last Bocr woman has gone to her grave with a
broken heart, till our entire nation shall have been sacri-
ficed.” When the Great War broke out he reminded Boer
soldiers of the humiliation of Kruger at the hands of Ger-
many. When the Great War was over he spoke of the days
‘when we were battling for our existence and not a single
nation put out 2 hand to help us’. . . .

The outcome of the conference was a letter to Steyn
saying that the time had arrived for surrender. The outcome
of the letter to Steyn was a reply from him of contemp,
wrath and an irjunction to go on.

From Kruger too, when the British allowed Smuts, for
the Boers, to communicate with him, came instructions to
go on. Kruger still saw hope in the situation in the Cape
and the fcelmgs »>f the Buropean peoples. He said they were

‘to continue the struggle tll the last means of resistance
were exhausted’.

They went on. They continued the struggle. They had
no longer the men or material to fight pitched battles such
as Botha had fimally attempted in the Eastern Transvaal
with his five theusand men. The British forces, too, were
overwhelming, and, morc ruinous than anything, Kitchener
had instituted his blockhouse system. It was, in these days,
another kind of var. It was the kind of war that made de
Wet famous, thar Smuts was about to practise in the Cape,
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and that inspired such admiring awe in the English when,
during the Great War, Colonel Lawrence practised it in
Arabia. It was a manner of fighting that could only be pur-
sued with small, agile bodies of men in a big, wild country—
a gnat-like affair of harrying an enemy, buzzing away and
coming back to harry him in another place. It was an affair
of raids—often brilliant and dangerous—on convoys and
garrisoned posts, of attacks on isolated bodies, of wrecking
trains, bridges and telegraph wires, of endlessly disturbing
and distracting. While even a few men were left it could
go on. The guerrilla warriors always had this advantage
over the regular armies: they had only to harass, never to
hold. They could do their bit of destruction and get away.
Against the original guerrilla warriors—the Spaniards—
untrained, ill-equipped, Napoleon had to send four hun-
dred thousand men. When in wirn the Spaniards went
against Cuba, thirty or forty thousand Cubans maintained
themselves against two hundred and thirty thousand Span-
iards. During the Great War Smuts himself, in German
East Africa, had a hundred and fourteen thousand troops,
black and white, againse the Germans’ twenty thousand.
At the end of the Bocr War, when the Boers had only
cighteen thousand men of their original sixty thousand,
and the British had three or four hundred thousand men,
and Smuts said there was no reason—no military reason—
why the war should cease, it was still possible to continue
this guerrilla warfare.

The rules of such warfare, according to the Hague de-
cision, are that guerrilla bands, no less than armies, must
have a responsible leader, obey the laws of war, carry arms
openly and wear distinctive badges.

It is to be doubted if the Boers knew of the Hague de-
cision. But, of course, every Bocr leader was a responsible
leader. As for the laws of war, they followed them, the
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Boers believed, better than the English. They were de-
lighted to carry arms openly. The trouble was that they did
not always have arms. In the last year of the war they de-
pended on their prisoners for weapons, they trailed Eng-
lish columns for abandoned cartridges. At the end of the
war, when the Boers came to surrender their rifles, it was
found that thew nearly all had the Lec-Metfords of the Eng-
lish and not the Mausers they had started with, because they
could not get cartridges for the Mausers.

As to distinc:ive badges, the one distinctive piece of attire
the Boers had, the slouch hat, the English adopted, and the
Boers themselves wore the uniforms of their captured.
“We gave then. our rags,” says Smuts, ‘our torn clothes and
our unwearable boats, took their uniforms and boots in-
stcad and scnt them back again. What clse could we do
with prisonerst We couldn’t kecp them. But we nceded
their clothes.’

Few of the Buoers, as the war progressed, had any clothes
except those made by their own women, of wool spun on
spinning wheels contrived from sewing machines or fruit
peclers, or sheeoskin jackets or the uniforns and boots of
British soldiers. Deneys Reitz tells, in Commando, how, his
boots having rotted, he climbed & mountain barcfooted
and so injurcd lus feet that for a formight he could not walk.
Then an old man, going twenty miles ‘to fetch a piece of
leather of which he knew’, made him a pair of raw-hide
sandals. It was winter. His entire wardrobe, he says, now
consisted of those sandals and a blanket, for his clothes were
fallen from his body. De la Rey accordingly gave him some
clothes of his own.

Later Colonel Reitz speaks of the grain-sack he wore
against the cold the natives always do that). It froze to his
body like a coat of mail. So did the others of his commando
wear grain-sacks.
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Presently his wardrobe consisted of a ragged coat, trou~
sers full of holes, those raw-hide sandals—patched and re-
patched—no shirt or other underwear. ‘It was mid-
winter, with ice in every pool and we went in tattered
clothing and slept under threadbare blankets at night.”

They slept in twos, says Smuts, and shared those tattered
blankets and got some warmth from one another. For years
after the war men came to Smuts saying they had shared
blankets with him in the Boer War, and wanting something
because of it. ‘After a time I began to wonder ifI really had
shared blankets with so many different people.’

When the rains came they used the blankets as cloaks,
riding on their horses like that with their blankets billowing
around them.

How were men, in such circumstances, not to wear the
only clothes they could get? The English complained that
they could not tell friend from foe and so were often sur-
prised and overwhelmed. Kitchener issued a proclamation
making Boer wearers of British uniforms liable to death,
and a few were shot. But how could one shoot an entire
army? Deneys Reitz speaks of ‘wearing Lord Vivian's
khaki tunic with the regimental badge and buttons and the
Seventeenth Lancers skull and cross-bones on my hat, not
alittle proud of my well-earned trophies, and never dream-
ing that I was under sentence of death’. In fact, out of con-
sideration for their necessity, Bocrs captured in British uni-
forms were almost invariably pardoned. Although each
side accused the other of incredible wickednesses, the
fighters were generally kind and tolcrant to one another.

2

It was said of Smuts himself by one of his prisoners that

‘no Bayard ever behaved better to an enemy’. Smuts, in

later, easier years, used to tell how once, charging straight
144



GUERRILLA

down upon the men in a mealic field, he found himself
confronting a boy of seventeen with the face (says Smuts)
of an angel. 'The boy fired and wounded Smuts, and then,
overwhelmed by terror, threw away his gun and said:
‘For God’s suke, sir, think of my mother,” and Smuts let
him go.

There is a story, perhaps more interesting, told nineteen
years later by Smuts’ chief opponent in the Cape, Colonel
French, afterwards Field-Marshal Lord French. On Christ-
mas Day of 1900, says French, a young Boer officer came
to him under a flag of truce, asking on behalf of Comman-
dant Beyers that they might bury their dead. French agreed.
As, however, there were important movements on hand,
he regretted rhat he ecould not let the officer return to his
own camp until next day, when, having made him com-
fortable during the night, he gave him a small box of cigars
and a bottle of whisky as a Christmas present to Beyers.
A few days later two cavalrymen taken prisoner by the
Boers marched back to their own camp, with horses, arms
and equipmer:t complete, and they had a note from Beyers
to French thanking him for the Christmas box and saying
that, as he had unhappily no cigars or whisky to give in re-
turn, would he accept the liberation of these men as a
Christmas gitt? The interesting part of the story is this:
that when French, after the war, rold Smuts about Beyers’
courtliness, Simuts replied coldly that Beyers had made an
improper use of property which belonged, not to himself,
but to his couatry.

It is also interesting to consider what happened eventu-
ally to Smuts and Beyers. Smuts became to the British Em-
pire what the ‘world knows. Beyers, Commandant-General
of the Union forces in 1914, resigned in order to join the
Germans and the Boer rebels against the English and the
Union’s forces, and, pursued by Botha, was drowned in
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trying to cross a swollen river on his way to German South-
West Africa. ...

It was after Steyn and Kruger had insisted on a continu-
ance of the war that Smuts collected a body of three hun-
dred and sixty young men and set out for the Cape to op-
posc the forces under this same French who had made the
graceful exchange with Beyers, to rouse the Cape Boers to
rebellion, to relieve the pressure in the north and to test
the possibilities of a larger raid later on. Towards the end of
Smuts’ campaign in the Cape he was opposing about fifty
thousand British and Cape soldiers, and he had added to his
original three or four hundred men three thousand rebels.

What was the difference between rebelling in 1901 and
rebelling in 1914, between the rebels Smuts raised and the
rebels he crushed? “We had made peace with England, and
England trusted us’, says Smuts in some moods. In other
moods he says: ‘Rebellion is rebellion. It is justified by suc-
cess or it is immoral.” Again he adds: “Was not the rebel-
lion of 1914 quite understandable? We understood it, and
treated the rebels with leniency.”

He was now going forth on those adventures which, as
he declares to-day, gave him the greatest happiness of his
life. He was thirty-one, broadened and strengthened and
yellow-bearded and never again to resemble outwardly
the angry-looking, hungry-looking youth who passed out
with the nineteenth century. His brother-in-law rode with
him.

He held the rank of general and commanded the Boer
forces in the Cape, lately under Botha and de Wet. And
not long ago, in the Republic that was no more, he had be-
come at last a first-class burgher.
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I

he Vaal River divides the Transvaal from the
Orange Free State. The Orange River divides the
Orange Free State from the Cape. To get to the
Cape, Smuts had to cross first the Vaal and then the Orange.

His force was in two parts. He had about two hundred
and fifty men under that Commandant van Deventer who,
as General Sir Jacobus van Deventer, assisted him in 1916
against the Germans in Fast Africa. He accompanied them
across the Vaal into the Free State, and then, with a body-
guard of twelve and four attendant natives, returned to
fetch the hundred men who were waiting for him on the
Transvaal side of the Vaal.,

To reach these men he had to cross a river called the
Mooi. It was the end of July, the depth of the winter, and
the Mooi River should have been low—in parts even dry
—but it was not. The drifts were barely passable on horse-
back. Smuts and his men had to draw their legs up as they
sat on their herses. His boots were full of the icy water. .

They approached akraal ofnatives Smuts knew. One old
native warned a Smuts man that strange Kaffirs were about
whom it would be well to distrust, but the man thought
the warning unimportant and failed to pass it on. They oft-
saddled to slecp among some thorn bushes in the neigh-

bourhood of the kraal.
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Smuts slept apart from the rest, but his natives and horses
were with the other natives and horses. He took off his icy
boots. He had no socks. He wrapped his head in a towel to
keep out the cold, rested his head on his saddle, covered
himself with his khaki blanket, and fell asleep. That must
have been at ten o’clock. He was so tired that, frozen as he
was, he knew nothing until, some hours later, he was
awakened by shouting, firing and flashes of light. About
two hundred English soldiers, guided by those natives of
whom the old native had been suspicious, were around
their camp. By the time Smuts was awake, three of his
men had been killed, four wounded and the rest were gone.
His native was killed. His horses were dead or gone. He
threw his khaki blanket over his saddle, mingled-—khaki-
clad himself—with the rushing Tommies and escaped.

He slunk through the bushes along the roadside and
heard suddenly a shout of ‘Hands up!” He turned to see, in
the darkness, a man guarding a prisoner, but he knew the
challenging voice. It belonged to his brother-in-law.

They walked in the dark, one on cach side of the silent
prisoner. Nothing, his brother-in-law told him, would in~
duce the ‘khaki’ to speak. He could get no information out
of him. ‘You try,” he said to Smuts. ‘Perhaps he’ll answer
you.

Smuts tried. He stared at him in the darkness. It was some
time before he recognised in the silent ‘khaki’ a member of
his own commando, shocked out of speech. Half-an-hour
later still another slinking man, covering the three of them
with a revolver, shouted ‘Hands up!” and again it was a
Boer.

So now they were four, and one of the men tore his
towel in two for Smuts to wrap round his feet and they
went on over the veld through the night.

The thorns and stones cut through the pieces of towel on
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Smuts’ feet and when, after six miles, they came to a de-
serted hut, he said he was stopping here—he could go no
farther. His men stayed with him. Next day they got some
horses, and found his saddle, still covered with the khaki
blanket, unseen and untouched—in the saddle-bags impor-
tant papers. They helped him on to a horse. It was wecks
before he could walk or mount a horse unaided. Boer
women they met dressed his feet. . . .

Smuts and his men crossed the Vaal and joined the hun-
dred waiting men. A day or two later, at dawn, they had
Just cooked their breakfast in a great pot when they were
attacked by a force of Australians, and it was afternoon be-
fore they sat down around their pot, still standing there
with its cold contents on the cold ashes.

Yet even now they could not get away. Now a new dif-
ficulty. From all around the neighbourhood Boer women
and children with their posscssions on waggons were fleeing
to the small body of a hundred men for protection. To es-
cape the English, Smuts had to eross the Vaal in the dark-
ness of night, and take the women and children and their
cumbrous possessions. In the darkness of night again he had
to cross back to some other safer place. There he left the
women and children before he continued on his mission
through the Free Statc.

He began his ride on the first of August. It was nearly
the end of August before he joined his advance force under
van Deventer in that corner where Basutoland, the Cape
and the Frec State meet. At this point they had arranged to
cross the Orange River together into the Cape.

Throughout the month of August, wherever he rode in
the Free State, as in a nightmare of being hunted or haunted,
blocking every path to the Cape, British soldiers had
sprung at Smuts. “We escaped from one to the other’, he
says, ‘as throuzh the teeth of a machine. The teeth closed on

r49



COMMANDANT-GENERAL SMUTS

us and we squeezed through, some of us lost, to the next
teeth and the next teeth. Columns of British. We could not
move without meeting columns of British. We rode as far
as Bloemfontein. We thought we had got away from
them. We were almost at Basutoland when, returning from
their drive, they caught us on their way back. We fled to-
wards Bloemfontein again. It was over three weeks before
we got above the teeth, and, in all that time, throughout
the breadch of the Free State, we met only one Boer com-
mando, and that was eighteen or nineteen men under
Hertzog.’

This was Smuts’ first significant mecting with James
Barry Munnik Hertzog since their college days together at
Stellenbosch. In the years to come, after all scemed set for
peace in South Africa, they were destined to be, for twenty
years, political enemies; and, in their old age, when all
seemned lost, to make friends again—Smuts offering the
other cheek, and General Hertzog not smiting it. Now they
were both lawyers (Hertzog: Leyden and Bloemfontcin)
and commandants; and what General Hertzog told Smuts
was that, if he hurried, there was just a chance of crossing
the Orange River before the British got at him again.
Smuts took that chance.

He did not realise even now that he had been entangled
in the most extensive scheme of operations of the whole
war—a drive initiated by Kitchener in the second week in
July, compared with which every other effort of the war
was insignificant. And August, in addition, was the month
in which Kitchener formally threatened any Boer leader
who did not surrender with permanent banishment from
South Africa.

Of the three hundred and sixty men who had ridden out
with Smuts from the Western Transvaal a month ago, two
hundred and fifty remained.
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They were now fifteen miles from the Orange River and
ncar Basutoland, facing the south-east of the Cape Colony,
looking towards that mountain mass which darkens the
map of the scuthern end of Africa as it follows the curve
of the coast from east to west. The mountains they would
have to cross were the Stormbergen. Afterwards they came
to the Zuurbergen and then the Sneeuwbergen, and then
the Zwartberzen.

And it was at this place, fifteen miles from the Orange
River, that Deneys Reitz (as he tells in Commando) saw,
riding over the shoulder of a distant hill, the body of horse~
men that was Smuts’ commando.

Reitz was with ten others, and-all but onc of the com-
pany were under twenty. They were on their way to the
Cape to join a rebel raider they had heard of. A few days
ago they hac been with Hertzog’s commando, trying in
vain to persuade some of his men to accompany them. The
men said they had been to the Cape before—they had found
the conditions intolerable—once, they said, was enough—
they were not going again.

Reitz and his companions were thinking now that if they
wanted to get across the river before the summer rains it
would be well to hurry.

2

The end of Augustis the end of the South African winter.
Above the thirty-second parallel it does not rain in winter
and the veld is stubble and sand, and the strong cold winds
blow the loose sand high and sharp in the air. The cold
winds bring the rains. There is an expectant hush which is
spring, and summer comes.

The sumrrer rains of the north—in the years when they
do not fail--are very fierce and they are heralded by great
thunder and big lightning that sometimes kills the natives.
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The dwindled rivers that, the winter through, have not
had the life to crawl, rise up suddenly, full and raging, and
rend everything before them. Even as one walks across the
empty bed of a river, a wall of water, laden with mud and
twigs and dead fish, may rush down in overwhelming
flood—such a river drowned Beyers when he was trying
to get to the Germans in 1914. People, horses, cattle,
waggons, motor cars are often trapped and submerged on
their way over an innocent-seeming river bed. The waters
spread sometimes over the banks, marooning people in
sudden islands, and in recent years aeroplanes have brought
them food.

Reitz and his companions stood watching the approach-
ing horsemen. They knew them for Boers from their for-
mation and their way of riding (the Boers ride with a long
stirrup and sit slack in their saddles and they love a trippling
horse). They were astonished to sec at the head of the horse-
men ‘Mr. Smuts, the Transvaal State Attorney, now a
general’.

They offered to join his commando. They all rode to-
wards the Orange River. Most of them had two horses.

3

They arrived in sight of the river late in the afternoon,
and found it alive with the British troops Kitchener had in-
structed to keep the enemy well north of the Orange. Every
footpath that led down the cliffs to the river was guarded,
and patrols covered the ground between.

They returned to the hills and lay there the night.

Next day they spent scouting. Towards evening a party
of fifty young Free State Boers came up, saying there were
more British approaching from the rear, and if they did not
wish to be trapped they had to get across the river that
night. The young Free Staters offered to accompany Smuts’
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cxpedition into the Cape (though ultimately they proposed
to return), aad one of them knew a drift in the river that
could be cressed. He guided them, during the night, for
eight hours cver the rocky ground, and then they came to
a precipitous path that led to the drift. The river at this
spot—thirtee1 miles above where the British stood on
guard—was 10t broad, but it was very strong and the
horses had trc uble to keep their footing. It was morning be-
fore they were in the Cape, and as soon as they set foot on
Cape soil they were attacked by some Basutos under a
British officer and lost six men and thirty horses.

They travelled south-west. Four British columns devoted
themselves to chasing thetn.

4

The rains began. The men wrapped themselves in their
blankets and rode on. Sometimes, as they rode across a
mountain, they saw a British column riding through the
valley below, but they had no fear of these distant columns
hampered with their gun carriages. They could always get
away from them.

A few d.lys after crossing the Orange River they came
to a cutting in a mountain. The cutting was called Moor-
denaar’s Poort, which means Murderer’s Gap, and, as it
was late in the aftemoon, they were about to camp for the
night when a native told them that English troops were not
far away.

Stnuts said he would go to sce for himself. That was what
he always did: he cxplored the unknown personally—de-
spite the remonstrances of his men, he accompanied his
scouts where there was difficulty or danger.

The danger he never considered. The face that, without
him, the expedirion must fail-—must indced suddenly end
—he also chose o ignore. He was prepared to do what he
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expected his men to do—more essentially he doubted if
they could do it as well as he could do it. Smuts has the
capacity for great self-control, but it is not hard to see that
he hates slowness and fumbling. He often says it is a great
art to know how to delegate one’s work to other people.
And it is certainly with relief that he lets his farm manager
run his farm, and Mrs. Smuts pay his bills and make up his
income-tax accoutnits. Ways and means of living do not in-
terest him. But no one else may touch hisbooks, and, gener-
ally speaking, he would rather do any sort of significant
thing himself than test the capacity of somebody else to do
it, All the tme he was Prime Minister he was, in effect, the
Government, hardly remembering, hardly hearing, hardly
wanting, his colleagues. If there was a revolution in Johan-
nesburg he had himself to dash up from Cape Town to stop
1t.

There is an idea that it must be a serence thing for Smuts
to contemplate the world’s doings from afar—to make pro-
nouncements from South African platforms which the
cables will duly carry oversea—or every year or two to fly
prophetically to England. It may bc a romantic, impressive
thing, but it certainly is nota thing that quietens his nerves.
“To be there!” he thinks. “To be in it! To be doing it! ...’

Here, in raiding the Cape Colony, over the mountains,
in the rain, he marched record marches, and all the tme he
had to find clothes and provisions in this manner or that
for his troops, and fodder for his horses. And he was relent-
lessly followed by one or more British columns, and he was
fighting and directing, and his main business, after all, was
the getting of recruits. But if there was scouting on hand,
he had to be there.

Now at Moordenaar’s Poort he rode off with three com-
panions to see if the native’s story about the English was
true. It was an unfortunate expedition. He came back hours
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later, towards night, alone on foot. His three companions
had been killed, and their horses and his horse too under
him, and he Lad escaped down a dry watercourse.

They continued on their way. The weather grew steadily
worse—colder, more windy, more stormy. They rode, as
Smuts says, in water, they slept in water. They could not
get dry fuel. They could not get grass for their horses. The
hungry, sick, exhausted animals died.

They scldom stopped riding until long after dark. They
slept side by side in the mud under such shelter as they could
find and shared their blankets.

In the village where they had expected to meet another
rebel leader they met instead an English column. And that
night (so black a night that one could not see the man im-
mediately in front) they did not sleep at all. With the rain
driving in their faces, and a wind numbing them with cold,
they went on foot lcading their horscs because the horses
had not the strength to carry them—and then they lost their
way, and feeling they could not go on any longer, remained
standing together in the mud, like sheep in the corner of a
kraal, waiting for the day.

They rode that day through the shelling of the English,
nor dared to rest many hours when night came. It was a
week since they had crossed the Orange River and they had
not yet had a night’s sleep, they were exhausted through
hunger and exposure, they had lost many of their horses,
their ammunirion was all but gone.

Now, having accompanied them over drift and moun-
tain pass, their Free State comrades had to leave them, and
next day, by Smuts’ command, still leading their horses in
order to save them on the mountains, skirting the English
lying in every valley and across every road, travelling cease-
lessly for twenty-four hours, Smuts commando arrived at
the Stormbergen and mounted to the top. They found Brit-
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ish troops on the other side, and from all directions now
they met the fire of machine guns. They replied with such
ammunition as they had left. A gale blew all day.

Night came, and they found themselves before a small
farmhouse in a hollow, and now it was forty hours since
they had rested and the British were closing in on them, and
they were so weary that they hardly cared whether the
British took them or not: there seemed, indeed, no doubt
that taken they must be.

Smuts and his two lieutenants stood before the farm-
house considering what to do. The English had ceased their
bombardment, certain that they had them trapped, waiting
merely for the morning and their surrender. Out of the
farmhouse now came a hunchback cripple.

He said he knew a way, unguarded because it led through
a bog, by which they could escape the English. They put
him on a horse and he guided them along a path so close to
the English that they could hear the soldiers talking, and the
movements of their horses. He left them, going back
through the night on his crutches. They slithered down the
precipice on their horses and found themselves on the plain
below, free for the moment of the enemy, but with the
necessity of crossing two railway lines before they could
rest. Smuts would not let them rest. They marched for
another twenty hours. It rained all day.

5
At eleven o’clock that night the rain stopped and a cold
wind blew, and now they found themselves at the first
railway line, and coming down the line they saw the lights
of a train. They considered whether they should put stones
on the line to wreck it. But Smuts thought there might be
civilians in the train, so they let it pass. Standing there in the
wind of the night, having fought and marched unceasingly
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for ten days, having eaten where Boers fed them or they
found a sheep to kill, having rested not at all now for over
fifty hours, they saw, in the dining car of the passing train,
officers smoking and drinking and happily chatting.

A few months later French told Smuts that he himself
had been on tkis train which Smuts had refused to wreck—
going towards the mountain where he still supposed Smuts
to be, to attack him. . . .

They went on, ‘Whenevcr there was a delay at a fence or
a ditch, whole rows of men’, says Deneys Reitz, ‘would fall
asleep on thei: hands and knees before their horses, like
Mohammedans at prayer, and it was necessary to go round
shaking them to their fect to prevent their bcmg left be-
hind.” But yet Smuts would not let them rest until they had
crossed the second railway line. Then, after sixty hours of
unbroken marching and fighting, they slept at last.

Next day it rained again, and again they had to fly before
pursuit. It rained unceasingly during the days that followed.
Men who had horses lefe led them, others without horses
followed carrving their saddles, on the horses still able to
bear a burden rode the wounded. On Scptember the 17th
they heard from a Boer farmer that a party of two hundred
English soldiers with mountain and machine guns and three
hindred horses and mules were waiting for them. ‘If we do
not get those horses and a supply of ammunition, we are
done for’, said Smuts, and gave the order to attack.

Firing from behind trees and rocks, they went forward.
They worked their way round the English and fired from
a hill in the rear: at a small outcrop of rocks, the height of a
man, the oppcsing forces met. A distance no greater than a
handshake, says Reitz, separated them. “As the soldiers raised
their heads to tire we brought them down, for they were no
match for us in short-range work of this kind.’

The soldiers (they belonged to the Seventeenth Lancers)
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surrendered. Smuts’ commando refitted itself with the
horses, uniforms and ammunition of the prisoners. Tents
and waggons were burnt down, guns destroyed, and the
prisoners set free.

At the end of their resources the Boers had achieved their
first real victory. They were not only refitted but revital-
ised. They had hope again in their destiny and more faith
than ever in their leader. . ..

Cape newspaper extract:

“The Commandant Smuts who cut up the Seventeenth
Lancers near Tarkastad the other day is the ex-Staats Pro-
cureur of the late Transvaal Republic, and as such was as re-
sponsible as Kruger and Reitz for the hastening of hostili-
ties. It was he who advised the attitude adopted by Kruger
at the Bloemfontein Conference, and who, incidentally,
was severely snubbed by Lord Milner. It was he who per-
sonally represented the Transvaal Government in the
lengthy negotiations with Sitr W. Conyngham Greene, re-
presenting Britain at Prctoria, and made a most shocking
mess of things by his overbearing arrogance; it was he who
wrote the insolent despatches to Britain, which in them-
selves were sufficient to have provoked war; it was he, fin-
ally, who inspired the gorgeous ultimatum of October 8th
to which Reitz and Kruger put their names. . . . This is his
first visit to the Colony since he left it as a barrister. His
appearance as a Commandant is surprising.’

7
A few notes, taken from reports, official, private and
newspaper (all British), to give some indication of Smuts’
wanderings during his first two months in the Colony:
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September 3rd: Commando of Transvaal Boers, under
Smuts, about tirree hundred strong, entered Colony east of
Aliwal North and then moved south.

September st} : Ten miles south-east of Lady Grey. Troops
disposed to meet them.

September 7t1: Local troops in cvening ambushed four
Boersat Dordrecht. Two wounded, one killed. Fourth man,
who was wour ded but got away, said to be Smuts himself.

September ota: Near Jamestown. Smuts hovering about
with following from Orange Free State and reported to be
in miserable condition.

September 107h: Colonel Monro engaged near Dordrecht.

September 12:h: Smuts driven southward.

September 15th: Smuts crossed Honing Spruit. Pursuing
columns hinde-ed by wet weather from crossing Spruit.

September 17:h: (1) Colonel Doran in touch with Smuts’
commando north-cast of Tarkastad.

(2) Colonel Gorringe engaged Smuts this morning north
of Tarkastad. Two prisoners taken, Rains. Floods.

(3) Smuts defeated Seventeenth Lancers. English sur-
rounded by four hundred or five hundred Boers. Fight
lasted two and a hulf hours. “General Smuts is said to have
personally behaved with soldierly feeling and courtesy, but
was uniable to restrain his men from many acts unworthy of
fighting men.’

(4) Sixty-seven casualties out of one hundred and twenty-
six Lancers in Commandant Smuts’ charge through cordon
hemming him in at Eland’s River Poort to the west of
Tarkastad. Enemy dressed in khaki mistaken for English.

September 19th: After dark enemy went south-south-west
over Bombas Mountains.

September 20th: Smuts seen moving south-west.

September21si: (1) Smuts’ commando checkmated south-
west of Tarkastad. Eight Boers wounded.
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(2) Smuts’ commando attempted break through at Gan-
nahoek.

September 24th: Middelburg, Cape. Latest news of Smuts’
commando. Horses exhausted. Men short of food.

September 30th: Smuts has moved rapidly south before our
columns.

October 2nd: Smuts engaged by our troops yesterday.

October 6th: (1) A party of Somerset East district troops
captured by Smuts after short fight.

(2) Smuts’ commando hard pressed by columns in close
pursuit.

October 7th: Smuts has headed north and is now near
Darlington,

October 13th: Smuts’ commando now supposed to be
somewhere in the Somerset East district. Many of the men
on foot leading their horses.

October 15th: Smuts’ commando has now been divided
into two forces, one to the north of Aberdeen and the
other south-west of Somerset. Each is closely followed by
our columns.

October 19th: Smuts engaged by Colonel Lukin and re-
tiring fast.

October 20th: Smuts driven northwards.

October 24th: Smuts pressed in Sneeuwbergen. Lukin in
contact with Smuts on Sunday.

October 26th: Smuts constantly on the move. The hunt
after Smuts’ commando. Six wecks of continual trekking
and running away. Four columns engaged in pursuit.

November 4th: Smuts pursued several days between Oudt-
shoorn, Ladysmith and Barrydale. . . .

In the course of his work in the Cape, Smuts, in fact, went
through twenty-eight districts—some as large as, say,
Wales—and his march of seven hundred miles in five wecks
was a record march for a Boer commando. ‘Day after day,
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week after week, month after month,” said French when
the British wee welcoming Smuts’ assistance in 1917, ‘our
distinguished guest, with every disadvantage in the way of
numbers, arms, transport, equipment and supply, evaded
all my attempts to bring him to-decisive action.” And he
told the story »f Marius’ reply to Sulla’s challenge: ‘If you
be a great General, come and fight me.” Marius said: ‘If you
be a great General, compel me to fight you. . .

It may be as well to remember here that it was Smuts’
primary business not merely to harass the English but to
get recruits in -he Cape and to foment a general rising.

He knew by this time that there would be no general
rising, yet—amazingly if one' considered his checkered
movements—he did get recruits. And it was because of
Smuts’ recruiting activities that Kitchener, in October, put
the Cape Colony under martial law. Smuts had by this time
fifteen hundrec. men under him, six-sevenths of whom were
British subjects.

He carried 'n his saddle-bag a Greek Testament and
Kant’s Critigue of Pure Reason that he had found in a gutted
farmhouse.



Chapter XX
‘MY DUTY’

I

hen, thirty-two years after his appearance in the

Cape as a rebel leader, Smuts went there to per-

suade the people—British and Dutch, British and
British, Dutch and Dutch—to fuse at last, if never before,
he told them from his platforms how, long ago, he had
come among them in circumstances so different. Here, he
said, he had commandeered provisions; here won clothes
and horses; here taken sheep to slaughter; here, longing for
a cup of coffee, passed a town that was English and the peo-
ple of the town had hidden themselves in ravines and be-
hind locked doors. That was net very hospitable treatment,
was it? to let a weary Boer commando ride through their
town without offering them a cup of coffee. . . .

The Boers depended, of course, on chance, conquest and
kindness for clothes and food. They carried nothing with
them. If they won no fight to give them clothes and boots,
they had merely the remnants—what the natives would call
the name of clothes and boots. If they passed no farmhouses
that gave them food out of love or compulsion, they went
hungry.

Once, coming to barren, uninhabited country, they were
so desperate for food that they ate 2 wild fruit called Hotten-
tots’ Bread which they did not know was poisonous in the
spring time. All who ate it became extremely ill and Smuts
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nearly died. He had to be held on his horse as they made
away before attack; when he was put on the ground be-
cause of shelling he could hardly be got away at all. Escap-
ing down gorges, riding in cold rain, lying in thorny hol-
lows, attacking and being attacked, he directed their path
and their fighting through his illness. . . .

One of the worst aspects of the expedition was that they
could not get fodder for their horses, and for that reason,
as well as other reasons, also no horses, and because no
horses, again, no men.

Smuts expliined this to the Boer dclegates when they
were computing their chances before making peace—why
the trouble about horses was so ruinous to his venture:
“There will be no general rising in the Cape’, he said. “We
had very good expectations, and thought that it would not
be difficult to cause a general rising there. The people are
very enthusiasic—more so than with us; but they have
peculiar difficulties. The first is with reference to horses.
The British have taken the horses that could be used and
shot the others. There is accordingly a great scarcity of
horses in the Cape Colony. Further, itis extraordinarily dif-
ficult for the colonist to rise if he has to fight on foot, with
the knowledge that if he is captured he will have to under-
go heavy punist ment. Unmounted men cannot fight in the
Cape Colony, you can operate only with mounted com-
mandos, and as ‘we have no horses we cannot accept a tenth
of those who are willing to join us. On account of this de-
ficiency of horses, we cannot expect a general rising.

‘Another great dithiculty is the absence of grass. The veld
throughout the entire Cape Colony is overgrown with
scrub. There is no grass as in the Republics. Where you
have no forage the horses cannot exist. . . .

“The question of horses and forage is thus the great
stumbling-block for our cause in the Cape.’
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2

It was partly to give the English a more complex task,
partly because of this difficulty of getting food for horses
and men-—the chances of finding none at all or of getting
not enough for so many, that Smuts, as may be seen from
the note of October 15th, again divided his force in two.
One half he himself led, the other half was under Com-
mandant van Deventer.

They had, by this time, crossed the Great Fish River and
the Zuurbergen, they had ridden through primeval for-
ests, and come so near Algoa Bay as to see in the distance
the lights of Port Elizabeth. Now they were to go west to-
wards the Atlantic seaboard, across the plains of the Karroo
(Karroo is a Hottentot word meaning ‘dry’), across the
Zwartbergen, through those districts of the western pro-
vince in which Smuts’ ancestors had lived for two hundred
years and he himself was bom. They were to go, cach party
in a separate direction, and far in the west they were to
meet.

The scheme was news to the commando. But whatever
Smuts proposed was always news to them. Then, as to-day,
he told no one about his ideas, and consulted no one. They
did not, says Deneys Reitz, ‘know what General Smuts’ in-
tentions were at any stage of the expedition, for he was a
silent man.” Yet his unexplained commands seem to have
been obeyed—a strange thing if one remembers how every
Boer thinks himself as good as the next, how impatient
Boers are of control, how unconventionally they fight, and
the way, on their treks, they habitually quarrelled with
their leaders. On the Great Trek that began in 1834, small
treks were always breaking away; and when they came to
settle, there was every now and then a new republic. . ..

They passed the inhabited parts and began to travel north-
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west in the direction of the mouth of the Orange River.
Now there were no railways and no blockhouses—also no
grass, no water and few people. And hither, towards the
mountains where Smuts lay, came various small bands of
rebels to join him, and he organised them into commandos.

3

There is a word, greatly used in the nineteenth century,
that to-dav has fallen into disrepute. Smuts uses it still. My
duty, he says. It was my duty.

It has been Smuts’ duty to do, in his time, many things
that brought trouble to himself not less than to others. Take,
for instance, the case of Jopic Foutie.

In 1914, Jopie Fourie was court-martialled and sentenced
to death for going into rebellion in his Defence Force uni-
form, for leading his men into rebellion. There was a ter-
rible outcry in the country over the death sentence. Half
the Boers in the Union thought it no more than right for a
Boer as a Boer to go into rebellion against England. They
felt that it could not be regarded as a wicked thing merely
to take this good opportunity to rise against England. It
was unbelievasle to them that Jopie Fourie could actually
be made to suffer death for it. Smuts confirmed the sen-
tence. ‘T would have shirked my duty if T had not’, he says.
‘A dozen men lost their lives through Fourie. His death did
our cause a good deal of harm. My own life was threatened.
It damaged me in the country. But from the higher point of
view there was no question of what was right. [had to con-
firm the sentence.’

As if the affair of Jopie Fourie were not enough, Smuts,
in 1922, went himself to stop the revolution on the Rand,
and he used miilitary measures against the revolutionaries.
That, politically, ruined him. ‘And I knew it would’, he
says. ‘Before I ever went into it I knew I would never re-
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cover from the effects of that action. My eyes were open.
But it was no time to think about my political career. Thete
are moments when you have to risk yourself. The whole
country was at stake. It would have gone Bolshevik. I
could not rely on the people of Johannesburg. I had to go
myself. It was my duty.’

Those people who doubted the course Smuts was likely
to take in the case of Jopie Fouric or in the Johannesburg
revolution should have remembered how Smuts, as soon
as he became State Attorney at the age of twenty-eight,
did what no other State Attorney before him had ventured
to do and dismissed the head detcctive, who never seemed
to be able to catch the really big illicit scllers of liquor. They
should have remembered what happened to Lemuel Co-
laine.

4

Early in January of 1902, Smuts decided to go north as
far as the Orange River itself. Along the banks of the
Orange River there were a number of small rebel bands,
and Smuts thought he would ¢go and organise them. He
made his arrangements, and then returned to look for van
Deventer, who was said to be fighting somewhere about
these parts, and whom he had notseen since they had separ-
ated to go west. He set out on the three-hundred-mile
desert ride with merely his staff.

He found van Deventer, and they joined their forces
again. Other Snlﬂll COInmandOS came to thcnl and in one
of these small commandos was a Dutch Colonial, a bearded
Boer of a man, called Lemucl Colaine (or more probably
Colijn). Colaine stayed with them awhile and suddenly
disappeared.

He returned at dawn one morning, leading a body of
English soldiers, who cut through the surprised camp with
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their swords, killed and wounded seventeen men, and got
clean away. A few days later, when Smuts, in turn, attacked
a British carrp and took it, they caught Colaine. They
found him hiding in a kitchen and brought him, under
guard, to Smuts. Smuts was in the house of the Jocal mem-
ber of Parliaraent, talking to his wifec and daughter. He
asked if the man could be absolutely identified and was as-
sured that he could be. “Take him out and shoot him’, said
Smuts, The man fell to his knecs. The women began to
weep. ‘Take bim out and shoot him’, repeated Smuts,

A Dutch Reformed minister asked leave to pray with
him, and in thz smithy behind the house predikant and sen-
tenced man krielt together.

Presently the firing party came to say they were ready
and Colaine shook hands with the minister and accom-
panied his guards to where his grave was being dug. On the
way he said he knew ha degéived to dic, but he had taken
English money to betray the Boers because of his desperate
nced. Heseemed calm, yet when he arrived at where Hotten-
tots were digging his grave, he cried out to sce the predi-
kant again, and also Smauts. The men around him under-
stood that he hoped even now for a reprieve, and they
understood also that a reprieve would not be granted. They
placed him beside his grave and blindfolded him. He re-
cited the Lord’s Prayer. When he was donc they fired and
he fell into his grave. . . .

Less than a formight later Smuts and his commando were
on the Olifints- —the Elephant’s—River and within twenty-
five miles of the sea, and he sent for all the Boers who had
never before scen the sea to come with him. He guided
them to the sea and they rode in on their horses. . . . They
went north again.

The talk among the men was that Smuts intended to
lure a British force to attack him here, and then he would

167



‘MY DUTY’

make his way down the west coast and take Cape Town
itself.

They rode through Namaqualand, the desert country of
the Hottentots where, in the year the Huguenots came to the
Cape, copper was found, and on again still north, towards
the Buffalo River. On the way they found at a mission
station the bodies of a number of Hottentots, killed by a
man who, in 1914, came to be a leader in the Boer rebel-
lion. The Hottentots had attacked him, and next day he
had returned and killed them all and destroyed the scttle-
ment. ‘General Smuts said nothing,” reports Deneys Reitz,
‘but I saw him walk past the boulders where the dead lay,
and on his return he was moody and curt, as was his cus-
tom when displeased. . . . We lived in an atmosphere of
rotting corpses for some days, for we had to wait here for
news that our forces had arrived within striking distance of
the copper mines.’

At the copper mines there were three villages held by
British troops and Hottentots, and these villages Smuts pro-
posed to take in turn. As ammunition was exhausted, the
Boers made bombs out of dynamite and so, following their
example, did the British.

Two of the villages were poorly defended, and the first
yielded after some resistance, and the second without firing
a shot. From these two villages Smuts got enough ammun-
ition and dynamite bombs to besicge, after their curt re-
fusal to surrender, the third and largest village. Its name
was O’okiep, and Smuts was still besieging it when news
came that peace negotiations were on foot.

The news did not surprise him. He understood that the
end of the war was coming. The siege was hardly even, in
its last stages, a serious affair. Besicged challenged besicgers
to a football match, and besicgers all but accepted the chal-
lenge.
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The Boers under Smuts were feeling very happy. Things
seerned to be going excellently for them, Smuts, starting
from the Transvaal with three hundred and sixty men,
arriving at the boundary of the Cape with two hundred and
fifty, had two thousand six hundred men under his own
command, and in other commandos there were another
seven hundred. He had stores of grain here and there and
also remount stations. It was true there were ﬁfty thousand
English and Dutch Afrikaners against them in the Cape
alone, bur they had the experience that little nimble, keen
forces in guer-illa war can long engage a large army. Smuts
could hardly bear to tell his men, as he said good-bye to
them on going off to the peace negodations, that the Boers
had not, after all, won the war. . . .

S

There were times when Smuts, musing on the past, com-
pares the exploits of Lawrence and his Arabs with what his
Boers did in the Cape.

He lmppcns indeed, to be in the position to make the
comparison since the Palestine campaign was a matter
which specially concerned him in his War Cabinet days.
In 1916 Smuts became a British general. Next year he was
offered the Palestine command. He refused the command
but interested himself in the campaign.

T considered the Palestine campaign’, he says, ‘in the
light of what I had learnt in the Boer War. For instance,
flank attacks. . . . That was, in fact, what we wanted the
Arabs for: they had to harass the flanks of the Turks and
disturb their communications. I liked the idca of Lawrence,
too, for [ myselfhad gone to the Cape to organise a revolt,
and I knew what guerrilla war could be. When there were
doubts about the two hundred thousand pounds a month
Lawrence wanted to keep the Arabs sweet (£200,000 in
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gold!) I said: “Give him a chance . ..” I believe in experi-
ment. [ believe in the unusual. . . . As it turned out, I was
wrong. We had to pay the Arabs those two hundred thou-
sand pounds in gold every month for their friendship, and
they let us down. They could have had paper from us by
the million—everybody else took paper—but they insisted
on gold (it was like giving blood) and then their expedition
failed.

‘Yes, I think one might say that cxpedition failed. There
were a few minor successes and certainly the Arabs did
very well out of the war—they got whole kingdoms for
doing extremely little. But, after all, the restoratdion of the
Arabs was not the main-object of the Palestine campaign.
Precisely what had to be done was not donc. To destroy
the Turkish communications we had to blow up the Yar-
muk bridges. That was the point of the whole affair. And
they could and should have been destroyed. But they were
not destroyed. The bridges were not blown up.

‘L don’t blame Lawrence himselfabout the bridges. T have
always admired Lawrence. I had faich in him at the time.
He looked like 2 woman, but he was a determined and ruth-
less man. After his Arabs failed, he went back and cried to
blow the bridges up himself. But, of course, it was all over
by then. There was nothing further to be done. That par-
ticular enterprise had miscarricd. We had forgotten that
one could not do with hireling Arabs, however romantic
they seemed to Lawrence (I never saw any romance in
them myself), what one could do with one’s own people.
At least, I had forgotten.

‘It is when I think of the romance which now attaches
to the Arab revolt against the Turks that my heart particu-
larly gocs out to my own people. We thought nothing of
what we did, but we went into the Cape—between two
and three hundred of us—without the support of a great
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army, withoat two hundred thousand pounds of gold a
month, without money at all, without anything except our
horses and what they carried, and we opposed, not the
Turks, but a world power. As much money as the Arabs
had to play with every two and a half months was all the
whole nation possessed to maintain a war for nearly three
years against the greatest people of the day.

“When we lost our horses and exhausted our ammuni-
tion, when cur clothes fell from our bodies, we had to
fight for mor:. We drew a large army, under a distinguish-
ed command:r, away from our harassed comrades in the
north, and nce only held our own against ic but improved
our situation. At the end ol seven-imnonths in the Cape our
numbers wer: increased tenfold, and we were besieging a
British town ind calling on it to surrender. That was the
last military event of the Boer War, the sicge of O’okiep.’



Chapter XXI
PEACE

I

n January of 1902, about the time Smuts was on his
three-hundred-mile desert ride, the Government of the
Netherlands made an appeal to the Government of
England. “The exceptional circumstances in which one of
the belligerent parties in South Africa is situated’, it said,
“prevent it from placing itself in communication with the
other party by direct means, and constitute one of the
causes of the continuance of this war, which continuously
and without interruption or termination, harasses that
country, and which is the cause of so much misery.” It
pointed out that the Boers fighting in South Africa were
isolated from the rest of the world, that their representa-
tives in Europe could not communicate with the leaders in
South Africa, and that therefore, both in South Africa and
Europe, the Boers were helpless. It offered to mediate.
The Lord Lansdowne who, in 1917, so disturbed the Allies
by his letter to the Daily Telegraph (later quoting a speech
by Smuts and urging negotiation with Germany when the
Allies were determined on a Thorough Policy) was in 1902
the British Foreign Secretary. He refused the mediation of
the Netherlands Government, but suggested instcad direct
talks between Boer and British representatives in South
Africa. In March Kitchener communicated this suggestion
to Schalk Burger, Acting President of the South African
172



PEACE

Republic that was no more, and arrangements were made
for a meetng.

The war was still going at fullest capacity on both sides
when a number of Boers were given a safe conduct through
the British lir s to come to negotiations De Wet was near
Pretoria. Stevn was in de la Rey’s camp in the Western
Transvaal. Botha was two hundred and fifty miles to the
east, Smuts six hundred miles to the west. These were the
days, not of : .Leroplanes or even motor cars, but of horses,
carts and trains. For two months during April and May,
commandos et to confer, Boer envoys rushed about with
safe conducts, everywhere the warmest British hospitality
awaited them (even the utmost delicacy), no mistakes were
made, and without abatement the war went on.

On April 6th, even while Sinuts was bombarding
O’okiep, the Boers met in pursuance of what Schalk Burger

called an “invitation from E nghud to the two Republics to
discuss the question of peace’. On the mght of April 12th,
as the British and Boers were conferring at Kitchener’s
house, Smuts made his principal assault on O’okiep.

He was summoned to Pretoria on April 26th. When the
British officers brought die dispatch he spoke to them
awhile, and tien walked away, alone, into the veld. He
had to go to Port Nolloth, a port in Namaqualand near
O’okiep, and the only west coast port before Cape Town.
At railway stations on the way British guards of honour
met him. On the ship officers and men offered him their
most respuctﬁﬂ courtesy. From Cape Town he had to go
north again by rail; and at a station in the Cape Colony
French called to see him, telling him how he had been on
that train Smuts had spared below the Stormbergen; and in
the Free Stat: Kitchener met him, riding on his black
charger, with his smart officers and his Pathans in their
Eastern dress, carrying scimitars. Strange this brilliance must
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have seemed to the Boers, accustomed to the dingy second-
hand wear of defeated and dead. Kitchener told Smuts he
had four hundred thousand troops in South Africa against
the Boers’ eightecn thousand, he said he was anxious for the
war to stop and he offered to be generous if the Boers sur-
rendered.

2

To the conference the Boers held on April 6th there
came, among others, the three Boer commandants: Botha,
the chief, de Wet and de la Rey.

They told how Kitchener’s blockhouses were ruinous to
them; how food was scarce (in certain districts no grain
and hardly a sheep; in the whole of one district, said Botha,
only twenty cattle); how without horses they could not
fight; how the men had no clothes; how the natives were
here with them, and here against them.

They agreed ‘to make certain proposals to Lord Kitchener
.. . as a basis for further negodations, with the object of
establishing the desired peace.’

On the 12th the two Republican Governments arrived by
sepatate trains, to meet Kitchener at his house in Pretoria.

Steyn, the President of the Free State, was there, stiffen-
ing the Boers, as ever, to further resistance. After the first
year or so it was in fact the Free Statcrs who insisted on
going on with the war (saying they would, if necessary,
fight alone) and not the Transvaalers, on whose behalf che
war had been begun.

Yet it was not merely a matter of courage. The Free
State had less to lose by continuing the war than the Trans-
vaal. Whatever happened, it would remain in essence a
Boer State. The Transvaal might not. While the Boers
fought, the Uitlanders sat. They had come back when
Roberts annexed the Transvaal. They were now in undis-
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puted control of the country. They formed an element that
drew Boer frem Boer. The ‘Handsuppers’, the surrender-
ing Boers, looked towards them as the real power, and also
the National Scouts, those Boers who were working on
behalf of the English. It was not inconceivable that one day
these Uitlanders—with them the deserting Boers—would
scem to be the true citizens of the country, and the warrior
Boers, wandering ragged on the veld, fighting for their
food, escaping from their enemies, mere outlaws. That
really, the fighting Boers found, would be an unbearable
ironv, such ar end to themsclves, their nation and their
dreams.

Steyn told Kitchener at once that their object in coming
was that for which they had fought untl this moment,
‘Must I understand from what you say’, asked Kitchener,
‘that you wisli to regain your independence?” “Yes,” said
Steyn, ‘the pecple must not be reduced to such a condition
as to lose their self-respect and be placed in such a position
that they will fcel themselves humiliated in the eyes of the
British.

The reply of the man whose face launched a million sol-
diers is unexpected in jits idelicate sympathy. Kitchener
answered: ‘Bu: that could not be; it is impossible for a peo-
ple that has fought as the Boers have done to lose their self-
respect; and it:s just as impossible for Englishmen to regard
them with contempt. . ..’

Milner came to the conference nexe day. He contra-
dicted the rumours that, as he heard, were going about con-
cerning his atiitude to the Boers. He was not, he said, ill
disposed to the Boers. Steyn answered him, as three years
ago Kruger had done, maddening him about independ-
ence—all the time about independence. And then, added
Steyn, the Boer representatives had constitutionally no
power to make: peace without consulting their people.
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Kitchener wondered whether the people, like Steyn him-
self, would simply go on talking about their independence,
and what the use of that would be. He communicated, how-
ever, with Chamberlain, mentioning the matter of the
plebiscite and asking on what terms the British Govern-
ment would accept surrender.

Chamberlain answered: On the terms Botha had refused
a year ago—the Middelburg terms. And these terms were
laid before the Boer people. . . .

3

A month later, at a village on the Transvaal side of the
Vaal River called Vereeniging, which means Union, three
hundred Boers met to elect thirty delegates from each Re-
public. They were thin and they had veld-sores and many
of them wore clothes made of sacks and skins. Kitchener
had tents pitched for them all, and in the middle was a large
tent which was to accommodate the sixty representatives.
Everyone made speeches, candidates were nominated, it
took a day before the delegates were duly elected. General
Hertzog was among those elected for the Orange Free
State. Smuts, representing no Transvaal or Free State com-
mandos, was not a delegate, but he was called in, by agree-
ment between Kitchener and Botha, as commandant of the
forces in the Cape Colony.

The matter the conference had first to decide was not
whether the Bocrs were prepared to make this or that kind
of peace, but whether they were prepared to make peace
at all.

4
The meetings opened and closed with prayers. The dele-
gates told how things were in the districts from which they
came. The South African Republic, said Botha, had about
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eleven thousind men—ot whom only the seven thousand
five hundrec with horses could be used. There were two
thousand five hundred families in bad condition. No food.
To maintain these was their greatest problem.

In de la Rey’s districts too food was scarce, but there was
not actual starvation. ‘If a burgher has no food he gets it
from the enemy.

In Beyers’ district, the natives were, with the exception
of one tribe, in rebellion against the Boers—largely because
the natives’ kraals were not in Kitchener’s scheme of devas-
tation and so the Boers went to the natives’ kraals for food.
One may imagine the feelings of Boers who had to find
food in native kraals, and of natives whose food was taken
from them, of necessity, without payment.

The news trom the Free State was not so bad. The Basu-
tos, said de Wet, were as well disposed as ever to the Boers,
and only four hundred out of the six thousand men were
not serviceable.

Smuts gave his impressions of the Cape. Despite the fact
that the Boers were nowhere so fortunately placed to-day
as in the Capc, his conclusions were pessimistic. The small
commandos in the Cape liad done well, he said, but to what
ultimate purpose? It had been one ofhis objects in going to
the Cape to find out if the Boer colonists as a whole would
rise. But, becaase they had no horses; because, being British
subjects, defezt to them meant the death of traitors, they
could not rise. It had been another of his objects to find out
what hopes the Republican Bocrs had of successful war in
the Cape. He doubted whether they would ever get to the
Cape. It was his final opinion that the war depended on
what could be done in the Republics.

The deputics considered what could be done. ‘Is there
still something’, asked F. W. Reitz, ‘that can be offered to
the enemy consistent with our independence? I think there
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is. Should we not offer the British the Witwatersrand and
Swaziland? We can also sacrifice our foreign policy and say:
*We desire no foreign policy, but only our internal inde-
pendence.” We can then become a protectorate of England.
What have we got in the Witwatersrand? . . . What has the
wealth of Johannesburg done for us? . . . It would be an
advantage to be rid of Johannesburg. . . . We have had more
loss than gain from Swaziland. As regards a protectorate,
what does this mean? It means that England undertakes the
obligation to defend the country against foreign attacks.
As to our foreign policy, only difficulties have originated
out of that for us.”

After days of talk the Boer offer to Milner and Kitchener
was made in these terms of Reitz’ speech.

5

The Boers are natural orators and they were even better
orators at Vereeniging than they are to-day. Why is the
speech of primitive people more like literature than the
speech of people who knoew too much? Perhaps civilisation
is bad for oratory. Perhaps the reason why the misspelt sen-
tences of a few centurics ago arc so often literaturc and the
writings of our day are so often not literature is that wich
us transport—not only of goods, but of words—is so casy,
and words and thoughts arc passed round till they are soiled
with handling and weary of their lifc. Hear the common
language of the Kaffir—how much nearer poetry it is than
the language of journalists, teachers, diplomats or business
men. In the time of the translators of the Bible the common
language of the people too was near poetry. One has but to
compare what a board of bishops would make of a transla-
tion of Hebrew and Greek poctry to-day with what a board
of bishops did in King James’ time, to know that this must
be so. What other explanation can there be? The people of
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England, as Jong as they knew no language but the language
of their ancestors—and then as long as they knew no writ-
ing but that of the Bible, nor any poctry but the thythms of
the Bible’s primitive pocts—spoke something like litera-
ture, quite possibly, all the time. So too did the Bible-
reading Bocrs who met at Vereeniging. At their last gather-
ing at Verceniging they all stood up, onc after the other, to
anpack their hearts of words. Even at this gathering that
hegan on May the fifteenth, which was not yet the climax
of their dramn, there were some whose words sprang above
the carth.

Mrs. Smuts’ brother set them down and one of the trans-
lators of the ‘irst Afrikaans Bible edited them. Here are a
few sentences from Schalk Burger’s oraton: ‘If one of
you is attached to his independence, | am too. . . . If anyone
has sacrificed everything and is prepared to sacrifice still
more, [ am prepared to do s0. Some say: “We must keep
our independ:nce or continue to fight. We can continue to
fight for another six months or nine months or a year.” But
supposing we did that, What would we gain thereby? Only
this, that the enemy would be seronger and we weaker. If T
consider everything, I must say it sccms impossible to pro-
sccute the wac any longer. . . . Have we not now arrived at
that stage wheare we should pray: “Thy will be done™? . . .
We were proud and despised the enemy, and is it not per-
haps God's will to humble us and cast down the pride in us
by allowing us to be oppressed by the British people? . . . 1
say it would be criminal of us to continue the struggle till
everything is destroyed and everyone dead if we are now
convinced it is hopeless to struggle. Our people do not de-
serve to be apnihilated.” . . .

The generil tone of the speeches was that the Orange
Free State wished to continue the war and the Transvaal

did not.
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Finally Smuts and General Hertzog with the two State
Presidents reduced the sense of the mecting to the proposal
made by F. W. Reitz: (1) to give up independence as far
as foreign relations were concerned; (2) to agree to Brit-
ish supervision over their internal self-government; (3) to
cede a portion of their territory—notably the Rand and
Swaziland; (4) to enter into a defensive alliance with Great
Britain. And Botha, de Wet, de la Rey, General Hertzog
and Smuts presented them to Milner and Kitchener. The
five emissaries did not for a moment suppose that England
would accept their offer. But they went—well, to do the
thing Milner so much hated—ro bargain, and Milner said
at once that he foresaw no hope for good results from nego-
tiations on such a basis. ‘Thave no hesitation in taking it upon
myself to reject your proposals.’

Smuts argued that the proposals did not greatly differ
from the Middelburg proposals Kitchener had offered
Botha in March 1901 and Botha had rejected.

Milner: It may be that I do not quite understand your
proposals; but they appear to me to differ from the Middel-
burg scheme here set forth not only in details but in prin-
ciple. . ..

Smuts: T had thoughe that the vital principle for your
Government was to get the independence out of the way.
And here the independence of the two Republics, as far as
foreign relations are concerned, is given away. I therefore
thought that possibly the two parties would come to an
arrangement on that basis. . . .

Milner: I did my best to get new proposals from you.
But you would not make them. You forced the British
Government to make proposals.

Botha: I am of opinion that both partics should co-
operate.

Milner: The British Government said: “We are desirous
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of peace; will you make other proposals?” You said: ‘No,
we have no authority to do so without consulting the peo-
ple.” We admitred that argument. Then you said: ‘Let the
British Government make proposals.” The British Govern-
ment did s¢ (the Middelburg terms) and are equally en-
titled to an answer. What is the position you place Lord
Kitchener and me in? You return with entirely new pro-
posals and suy nothing of ours.

Smuts: The independence is abandoned as far as foreign
relations are concerned and, with reference to the internal
governmeny, that is placed under the supervision of the
British Government. So that the effect of these two clauses
is: that the independence is abandoned and that the two
Republics cannot after that be considered as sovereign
states.

Milner: I understand very well that they would not be
sovereign states, but my mindis not clear enough to be able
to say what they would virtually be.

Kitchener: They would be a new kind of ‘International
Animal’.

Smuts: As history teaches us, it has happened before that
questions were solved by compromises. And this draft
proposal is as near as we can come to colonial govern-
ment. .

It will be secn from these few lines how characteristic of
the future were the contributions of Botha and Smuts.

Botha:Izmofopinion thacboth partiesshould co-operate.

Smuts: As history teaches us, it has happened before that
questions were solved by compromises.

Lord Shaw (now Lord Craigmyle) of Dunfermline gives
an account of the meeting which Smuts is said to have
authorised. “They discussed far into the night. Lord Milner
was obdurate—I think Smuts’ words were: ““He was impos-
sible!” When all hope seemed lost, Smuts felt himself
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gripped by the elbow, and, looking round, he saw Lord

Kitchener, who whispered to him: “Come out, come out
for a little.” The two of them left the conference and they
paced outside backwards and forwards through the dark.

‘Kitchener and Smuts were both aware of the accumulat-
ing horror of a long guerrilla warfare. They were both sin-
cerely anxious for an arrangement. And then Kitchener
said to him:

*“Look here, Smuts, therc is something on my mind chat
[ want to tell you. I can only give it you as my opinion, but
my opinion is that in two years’ time a Liberal Govern-
ment will be in power; and if a Liberal Government comes
into power, it will grant you a- constitution for South
Africa.”

‘Said Smuts: “That is a very important pronouncement.
If one could be sure of the likes of that, it would make a
great difference.”

‘“As I'say,” said Kitchener, “‘it is only my opinion, but
honestly I do believe that that will happen.”

**““That”, said General Smuts to me, “accomplished the
peace. We went back and the arrangements at the confer-
ence were definitely concluded and the war came to a
close.””’

6

‘If one could be sure of the likes of that.” Was Simutsreally
so sure (and in such words) of the likes of that—so reliant
on Kitchener’s political prescience—indeed, his prophetic
infallibility—that those few sentences of Kitchener’s as they
paced backwards and forwards through the dark ‘accom-
plished the peace’

He smiles a lictle at the thought.

‘“Well, the peace had to be accomplished, you know.’

It may be remembered that, for Botha, Campbell-
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Bannerman s three words ‘methods of barbarism’ accom-
plished the seace.

Thesc sirple Boers!

The delegrates carried back to Verceniging the British
terms. ']hq were, in effect, the Middelburg terms which
Botha had fifteen months before rejected. . .

This is how Galsworthy’s play Strife ends: The Strike is
over and masters and men are alike desolated. Finally they
make a settl:ment.

‘Tench (ro Harness): D’you know, sir—these terms,
they’re the very same we drew up together, you and I, and
put to both sides before the fight began? All this—all this—
and—and what for?

‘Harness: That’s where the fun comes in.’

7

Everyone, English and Dutch, knew that whether the
words to wlich one made tributc were the satisfying words
of Kitchener or Campbell-Bannerman, the peace had to be
accomplished according to the dictarion of Milner. Milner
said his terms were final and he wanted an answer in three
days.

The last meeting at Vereeniging was terrible and beauti-
ful. The independence of the Bocrs was dead. They knew
it and their final arguments were—~consciously—funecral
orations.

‘It is my custom’, said de la Rey, ‘to speak briefly. I do
not use threc words where one is sufficient. . . . I do not wish
to shut my cars and eyes to facts. If there is dehvcmncc for
the Afrikander people, then Lam with them, and if a grave
must be dug for that people, then 1 go into it with them.
You can talk and decide here as you choose, but I tell you
that this meeting is the end of the war.

“Yet the end may come in an honourable or in a dishon-

183



PEACE

ourable way. If we decide to continue the war without
grounds before us, the end will be a dishonourable one.

“You speak of faith. What is faith? Faith is: “Lord, thy
will be done”—not my will. . .’

Botha spoke:

“What chance have we of persevering? If in two years’
time we have been reduced from sixty thousand men to a
fourth of that number, to what number shall we have sunk
in another two years? . . . Let us use our reason and not
stand in relation to each other as two parties. Let us try to
find a common way. ...I am of opinion that it will be
better for us to accept these terms than to surrender uncon-
ditionally. Our cup is bitter, but do not let us make it more
bitter still. If we are convinced that our cause is hopeless,
it is a question whether we have the right to allow one more
burgher to be shot. Our object must be to act in the interests
of our people.’

Smuts spoke. He eased their hearts by telling them what
indeed was the truth; that, as soldiers, they were not de-
feated, but that they must not let chemselves be wiped out
as a nation. ‘Hitherto’, he said, ‘T have not taken partin the
discussion, although my views are not unknown to my
Government. . . . These are great moments for us, perhaps
the last time when we mect as a frce people and a free
Government. Let us rise to the magnitude of the oppor-
tunity and arrive at a decision for which the future Afri-
kander generations will bless and not curse us. The great
danger before this meeting is that it will come to a decision
from a purely military point of view. . .. If we consider
it only as a military matter, then I must admit we can still
go on with the struggle. We are stll an unvanquished
military force. We have still eightcen thousand men in the
field, veterans, with whom you can do almost any work. . ...

‘But we are not here as an army. We are here as a people.
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We have not only a military question, but also a national
matter to deal with. No one here represents his own com-
mando. Everyone here represents the Afrikander people,
and not only that portion which is still in the field, but also
those who are already under the sod and those who will
live after we have gone. We represent not only ourselves,
but also the thousands who are dead and have made the
last sacrifice for their people, the prisoners of war scattered
all over the world and the women and children who are
dying out by thousands in the concentration camps of the
enemy: we represent the blood and tears of an entire
nation.

“They call up on us, from the prisoner-of-war camps, from
the concentrat.on camps, from the grave, from the field
and from the womb of the future, to decide wisely and to
avoid all meanness which may lead to decadence and exter-
mination of the Afrikander people, and thus frustrate the
objects for which they made all their sacrifices. Hitherto we
have not continued to struggle aimlessly. We did not fight
merely to be shot. We commenced the struggle, and con-
tinued it to this moment, because we wished to maintain
our independence, and were prepared to sacrifice every-
thing for it. But we may not sacrifice the Afrikander peo-
ple for thar incependence. . . . What reasonable chance is
there still to retain our independence? We have now fought
for about three years without a break. Without deceiving
ourselves we can say that we have exerted all our powers
and employed =very means to further our cause. We have
given thousands of lives, we have sacrificed all our earthly
goods; our cherished country is one continuous desert; more
than twenty thousand women and children have already
dicd in the conzentration camps of the enemy. Has all ¢his
brought us nearer to our independence? . . . If no deliver-
ance comes from elsewhere, we mustcertainly succumb. ...’
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He analysed the political developments in America and
Europe during the last two years and their hopes of such de-
liverance. It was here he spoke the ironical words already
recorded: ‘For us the foreign situation is and remains that
we enjoy much sympathy, for which we are, of course,
heartily thankful. That is all we get, nor shall we receive
anything more for many years. Europe will sympathise
with us tll the Jast Boer hero lies in his last resting place,
till the last Boer woman has gone to her grave with a
broken heart, till our entire nation shall have been sacri-
ficed on the altar of history and humanity.

‘Comrades, we decided to stand to the bitter end. Let us
now, like men, admit that that end has come for us, come
in a more bitter shape than we ever thought. For each one
of us death would have been a sweeter and 2 more welcome
end than the step which we shall now have to take. But we
bow to God’s will. The future is dark, but we shall not re-
linquish our courage and our hope and our faith in God.
No one will ever convince me that the unparalleled sacri-
fices laid on the altar of Freedom by the Afrikander people
will be vain and futile. The war of freedom of South Africa
has been fought, not only for the Boers, but for the entire
people of South Africa. The result of that struggle we leave
in God’s hand. Perhaps it is his will to lead the people of
South Africa through defeat and humiliation and even the
valley of the shadow of death to a better future and a
brighter day.’

On May the 315t of 1902, two alternative resolutions
were put before the delegates at Verceniging: (1) againse
peace; (2) for peace. Peace was adopted by fifty-four votes
to six. They wept as they signed the resolution. Smuts did
not vote, nor is his name on the resolution the sixry
signed:

“This meeting is of opinion that there is no reasonable
QA
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ground to expect that by carrying on the war the People
will retain their independence, and considers that, under the
circumstances, the People are not justified in proceeding
with the war, since such can only tend to the social and
material ruir, not only of ourselves, but also of our pos-
terity.

‘Forced by the above-mentioned circumstances and mo-
tives, this Meeting instructs both Governments to accept
the proposal of His Majesty’s Government and to sign the
same on behalf of the People of both the Republics.”

The name of Smuts—since he was no delegate—is not on
the document.



Chapter XXII
‘MY SOUL IS WEARY OF MY LIFFE’

I

he war was over—the exhilaration of the struggle

that to this day scems to Smuts the happiest time of

his life. Fundamentally he had always known the
war must be lost—before its beginning, and during the carly
victories, and through the dream of blowing up the mines,
and as he called upon the Western Transvaal to stand again,
and on his ride to the Cape, and while he seemed to triumph
there, and certainly whenever he confronted Milner. He
had known it must be lost and, fighting with all his strength,
had been ready always for peace. Now peace was here and
it was an acrid taste in the mouth as of verdigris. . . . There
must have been greater sorrow on November 11th of 1918
than at any time during the war--¢ven for those who were
victorious, since on November 11th of 1918 the babbling
strength of fever was gone and one knew. . . .

In the last week of Boer independence Smuts had become
thirty-two, and for longer than he now cares to admit he
fele his life to be meaningless. He was back in Pretoria—no
more State Attorney, but again a junior at the Transvaal
Bar. His wife was back, whom he had seen once since the
middle of r900. She weighed seven stone, and spoke of her~
self henceforth as a ‘Boer woman, just 2 Boer woman like
my ancestors. . . .)

‘I went to South Africa’, said Mr. Ramsay MacDonald
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‘MY SOUL IS WEARY OF MY LIFE’

fifteen years later in the House of Commons (when Smuts
was a member of the British War Cabinet and the night be-
fore he had been honoured at a banquet in the Royal Gal-
lery of the House of Lords and the greatest in England and
his distinguished enemies of other times came to praise him),
‘and T found myself one night under a roof that had been
battered and broken and smashed by our army. I was the
guest of a man who had some very precious domestic pos-
sessions, including a very fine classical and legal library.

‘He took me by the hand when I went into his house,
and, almost hez re-broken, pointed out to me how his books
had been used during his absence, and how the leaves had
been torn out and left charred and burned, having been
used for lighting pipes and cigars by soldiers.

‘My heart was full of indignation because in those days I
was called a pro-Boer and 1 had suffered the humiliation
and indignity of having meetings broken up, and his heart
was full of indignation becausc he had been leading againse
us in the field and had been one of the most successful
generals against us and his cause scemed lost.

‘My host in 1902, concluded Mr. Ramsay MacDonald
—while the Flouse cheered and another Labour member
cried out ‘More thanks to Sir H. Campbell-Bannerman than
to you who cieer’'—'My host in 1902 was your guest of
last night within your walls.” And when, after the Great
War, Milner came with Lady Milner to South Africa and
visited the Smutses at Irene, Mrs. Smuts gave them, as she
says, ‘just our Boer food that we always cat. They were very
nice. They said they liked our Boer food.’

2

Smuts, however, knew as litele as Job in the days of his
affliction that the Lord had it in mind ultimately to give
him twice as much as he had before.”Baron Milner of St.
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James’s and Cape Town, Viscount Milner since the signing
of peace, sat now in triumph in Johannesburg—High Com-
missioner of the Cape Colony, Governor of the new Crown
Colonies—the Orange River Colony and the Transvaal.
He had brought out to assist him in the work of reconstruc-
tion that brilliant group of young Oxford men known as
Milner’s kindergarten, of whom one, Patrick Duncan, has
been for half of the last generation Smuts’ political licuten-
ant. In January 1903 Chamberlain came to inspect for him-
self England’s new territory—five years too late, says Smuts,
to see that the Boers wete not savage monsters.

The leaders of the Boers came to welcome Chamberlain
publicly and to speak-about the things that mattered to
them: their language rights, war taxation, an amnesty for
the rebels (‘their crime s ours’, said Smuts), the essential
incquality of the native. They identified themselves with
Chamberlain’s object ‘to reconcile the races and to bring
contentment and prosperity to South Africa’. They only
begged him, said Smuts, ‘to think what we have been,
that we have been a frce people, that we have been the
freest people on earth. . .> Chamberlain, granting them the
things they asked, pointing out that ‘never in the history of
the world had a conquering nation done so much for those
recently its opponents’, responded: “What are the qualities
we admire in you? Your patriotism, your courage, your
tenacity, your willingness to make sacrifices for what you
believe to be right. .. .” So really it scemed a very successful
meeting. . . .

Nevertheless, when next month Milner offered them
seats on his nominated Legislative Council, Botha, dela Rey
and Smuts refused. They said something about the time not
having yet come for popular representative institutions. It
would be better for them to wait, they said, until the coun-
try was settled. “We want peace and rest.” Later they said
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that, as the Government had all the power, it should also
have all the responsibility. Whatever they said, the fact re-
mained, as a Rand paper pointed out, that, despite all the
talk about co-operation, co-operation was refused. .

It was refused in the terms, said the paper, and according
to the characteristic personality of Mr. Smuts. “Who is Mr.
Smuts? He is one of the five men chiefly responsible for the
war, a man of intensely bitter feelings, a type of Afrikander
who . . . used every effort to keep the races apart. Why
Mr. Smuts should have been offered an honour which, in
this instance, would have been a very great honour indeed,
we are at a Joss to conceive. Happily his own excellent taste
has expelled him from within the pale of an Assembly
which, it is needless to say, would not have gained any
special honour through the connection.’

It will be noticed that Smuts is described as Mr., not
General, Smuts. It was not until years later that the English
papers in South Africa could bring themselves to call him
General Smuts.

3
Smuts, the new begmmngs of his legal work apart, sat at

home doing nothing. ‘One lives here’, he wrote to J. X.
Merriman, who had succeeded Jamcson as Prime Minister
of the Cape, ‘in an atmosphere which is entirely devoid of
culture, and is frankly materialistic in the worst sense.” After
an activity of twenty years, there he was, ripe for any work,
hisripenessunused-—soured and fermenting. It burstitscon-
fmes. The man who (as his associates of those days described
him) was so proud, aloof and silent, cried out, like Job:

‘My soul is weary of my life,

Lwil: give free course to my complaint,

Iwill speak in the bitterness of my soul.’
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The repository of his complaint and bitterness was Miss
Emily Hobhouse, a middle-aged woman who had come
out to South Africa during the war to help the women and
children in the concentration camps—to work for them in
South Africa and to tell their story in England. The Boers
venerated her and still do. Smuts shared the national feel-
ings towards her. After the war she helped Smuts settle
destitute Boer families on the land, and that was how their
correspondence arose. One could not judge from Smuts’
letters to her whether he was addressing a man or a woman,
a young or an old onc. They sound rather as though
they were written to himself. They have the character of a
diary.

In later years, in the time of the Great War, Miss Hob-
house became as pro-German as, during the Boer War, she
had been pro-Boer—she had the sort of heart that goes out
to an enemy. And she could not forgive Smuts for oppos-
ing the Germans in German West and German East Africa.
‘She was very unkind to the Ou’ Baas,” says Mrs. Smuts,
‘and I never wrote to her again, Bat the Ou’ Baas didn’t
care much. He never cares what people do to him.”

He had, indeed, the opportunity to prove this to Miss
Hobhouse herself in 1904. But, of course, she had meant
well.

4

What had happened was that Smuts, writing to Miss
Hobhouse about the Chinese labour the Government were
thinking of introducing to the Rand, writing with all a
South African’s resentment at having to face yet another
colour problem added to his already abnormal anger, one
day/abandoned himself completely to paper, and Miss Hob-
house, without consulting him, puc his letter in The Times
—naturally, with the best possible motives. ‘And there it
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was, unconsidered, unbalanced, exaggerated, for all the
world to read, resent and smile at.

“That a large proportion of the Boers are apathetic is no
doubt true; but they are people who have lost all hope and
heart; who are prepared to see this Government do any-
thing in the Transvaal; who sce that the course of the
administration is, in spite of all warnings and remonstrances,
directed towards ruin and disaster. Naturally to such peo-
ple (and I sornetimes think they arc right) the importation
of Chinese labour is but an incident.

‘But troly such apathy ought to give Lord Milner even
greater pangs than the ficrcest opposition. For beneath this
apathy there burns in the Boer mind a fierce indignation
against this sacrilege of Chinese importation—this spolia-
tion of the heritage for which the generations of the people
have sacrificed their all. Often when I think of what is hap-
pening now all over South Africa, my mind stands still—
for the folly, the criminality of ic all, is simply inconceiv-
able. The spirit of South Africa is crushed by the disappoint-
ment, the ruin, che losses of the past. And in this dire dis-
tress when as a people we oughe, 5o o say, to be in hospital,
we are turned adrift and the wild beasts (you know whom
I mean) are lzt loose on us. I sometimes ask myself whether
South Africa will ever rise again; whether English states-
men will ever dare to be liberal and generous in South
Africa. They, however, ought to know what is best for the
British Empure. An awakening will come some day; but I
am afraid it may come too late to save either South Africa
or the British Empire.

“You must not blame me too much for sitting still and
doing nothing. There is a strong desire in me and in all of
us to do something; but what? There scems to be nothing
in common between our ideals of public policy and those
of the authcerities. We think that government must be for
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the greatest good of the greatest number; they think that the
mining industry must be saved at all costs. And it cannotand
will not be saved, for the major part of itisbogusand a sham.
If all the mines which have no reasonable chance of work-
ing at a profit (that is about 80 per cent of them) were
allowed to go to the bankruptey court, the country would
once more return to a normal condition, there will be more
than sufficient labour for the 20 per cent which can be
worked at a profit; the Transvaal will cease to be the happy
hunting-ground of the fraudulent company promoter, and
all will be well. Now, however, we have a bogus gold in-
dustry, its reputation is kept going for the purpose of still
further swindling the investng public of Europe, the
general good of the country, and I may say of South Africa,
is sacrificed for this sham industry—and so we are merrily
spinning along to perdition. Well, they call me cynical and
bitter. But do yeu think it possible to keep your temper
sweet and sercne under such provocation? These people
have never loved their country or felc a passion for itin any
shape or form. South Africa they regard with unconcealed
contempt—a black man’s country, good ecnough to make
money or a name in, but not good enough to be born or to
die in. What is there in common between such people and
the Boer, the fibres of whose very soul are made of this de-
spised soil? And, if there is nothing in common, how can
you help them with advice or otherwise? Hence I prefer to
sit still, to water my orange trees, and to study Kant’s
Critical Philosophy undl in the whirligig of time new open-
ings for doing good offer themselves. . . .

‘Lord Milner’s heart will be thumping with holy joy.
For he has dreamed a dream of a British South Africa—
loyal with broken English and happy with a broken heart
—-and he sees the dream is coming true. . . .

‘I sec the day coming when British South Africa will
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appeal to the Dutch to save them from the consequences of
their insane policy of to-day. And I fear—I sometimes fear
with an agony bitterer than death—that the “Dutch” will
no more be there to save them or South Africa. For the
Dutch too are being undermined and demoralised by dis-
aster and despair and God only knows how far this process
will yet be allowed to go on.

The letter appeared in The Times of March the 15th, 1904.

5

There can scldom have been so young a letter written by
a statesman. Smuts was now thircy-four. He had arrived at
an age where good is not enhianeed, nor evil mitigated, by
immaturity. A man of thirty~four is judged by the un-
yielding standard of manhood.

He wrote like a boy of nineteen. Gone was the philo-
sophical disputant, the analyst of Walt Whicman, the frigid
State Attorney, the negodator with the British agent, the
saving guardian of state funds, the guerrilla commander,
fearing nothing, and unmoved (as he believed) by the sight
of death. Smuts wrote, at the age of thircy-four, like a
young man betrayed ac his first encounter with life. . .

There were things in Smuts’ letter scriously damaging
to him—and they damaged him. There were other things
ridiculously damaging to him—and they damaged him—
perhaps more.

He wrote himself to Miss Hobhouse: ‘A tremendous sen-
sation was created last week by the cables of my letter
which you had published. As later leteers were hostile to
Lord Milner and their publication would have meant my
enforced departure from this country, I took the precau-
tion of warning vou against further publication.

‘On the whole 1 feel sorry that the letcer was published, as
I'would have expressed myself more cautiously had Iknown
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it would be published. As it is, it appears exaggerated and
unfair. To say that the fmanciers arc swindlers and that
80 per cent of the mines are insolvent is scarcely an ex-
cusable exaggeration. I have kept quiet and said nothing,
although the papers came to me for an explanation. The
financiers are naturally furious and I am afraid our hitherto
easy relations will henceforth be very embittered. Lord
Milner is said to be very pleased, as the letter confirms his
view that I am the great Irreconcilable still at large in his
blessed satrapy.

‘Iam very much afraid that, all unwittingly, I have cross-
ed the Rubicon and that I shall have to fight for dear life
very soon. However, providencc has endowed me with a
fair share of confidence, and T hope to have better luck than
in some previous undertakings.’

A few weeks later he wrote: I did not mind the publica-
tion of my letter particularly.

‘[ may, however, tell you chat at Johannesburg it raised
a storm of execration against me the force of which is not
yetspent and that the question of expelling me was seriously
considered in high quarters. Tamalready the best-hated man
on the Boer side and I am afraid my opportunities for doing
good are being seriously limited by my evil reputation.’

The publication of the letter did him harm, indeed, not
only as a public man but as a man beginning again his pro-
fessional career and having to work for his livelihood. He
knew it did him harm. Yet worse than the harm to a sensi-
tive man—with a reputation for coldness and cynicism—
were the amused references to Smurs’ watering his orange
trees and studying Kant’s Critigue of Pure Reason. For years
these went on, and comic drawings were made of Smuts
with a watering can in one hand and a volume of Kant in
the other. “We are spinning merrily to perdition’—he never
heard the end of that. . . . “The bogus industry’, ‘the sham
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industry’ (which sooner or later ¢veryone had to admit to
be the mainstay of South Africa)—he certainly never heard
the end of that. Lord Milner’s heart must have thumped
with holy joy ror more reasons than one. Sir Owen Seaman
found still ano-her aspect in his letter to ridicule. There was
a poem in Puich not very prophetic of this one he wrote
twenty years later:

Aud now you’ve comne from oversea
Avud said the actual things you felt,
Speaking a language large and free
As are the winds that wash your veldt,

In 1904 also Smuts was saying the things he fele. The
lunguage was only too lacge and free: Thae was che trouble.
Litera scripta n.anet. . . .

Yet even here was an occasion tor Smuts to show his
character. He sore the ridicule withour comment, he made
no reply to the criticism, hie suffered the professional injury,
the public hilirity—Miss Hobhouse remained the reposi-
rory ¢ of his brc odings, and he never, by a word, reproached
her for her well-ineaning, most culpable impetuosity.

The correspondence hdud when Smuts” brooding days

passed over, but Smuts was unil her deach, and despite the
Gcrmau East disagreement, Miss Hobhouse’s friend.

6
This 1s the pocin Sir Owen Scaman wrote in Punch about
Smuts’ letter n 1904:

T
A breast with brazen corset trebly fitted
And a superb capacity of jaw
Needs mnust he have who lets himself be pitted
Against a Dutch interpreter of Law;
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But he should be one stolid mass of gristle,

Tough as Brazil’s impenetrable nuts,

Who dares to cope witl your expert epistle,
General Smuts.

2
-

You view, I sce, with undisguised aversion,

Bred oft/le _ﬁlit/l that ﬁrc’s a parriot’s blood,

Your precious country’s probable imersion

Beneath a putrid stream of Pagan thud;

You se¢ her heritage—the obvious fruit of

Your sires’ sublime contempt for worldly ease—

Wrung from its rightful ends andwade the loot of
Heathen Clinese. . . .

3

But what (inform me) was the actual juncture
At whicl your parents ceased to plough the land,
And lent their estimable thews to puncture
The hollow shafts that permeare the Rand?
Lalways thought they entertained a rooted
Distrust of dirty lucre’s devious tracks,
Aud found their exploration betrer suited

To sinful blacks.

4

Misled by some ontlandish Ananias,

I fancied you abliorred that hellish toil,

Content, by processes that passed for pious,

To pocket, indircctly, half the spoil,

While he, the godless nigger (so I gathered),

Sought to elude, inside those pits of sin,

Your Christian sjambok which would else have lathered
His sable skin.
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5
Now Lifted up with bellicose elation,
Puffed out with perquisites, and blown with beans,
He looks o labour as an occupation
Unfitted to a gentlensan of ineans;
Posed ioosely, in a careless state of coma,
Upon iis torpid back or turgid tumn,
He lie: enveloped by arich aroma
Of plug and run.,

0

Sir, or the soil that drank our tears and rreasure,
That Promised Land, a Paradise-on Lartli,
Are we to wait npon his Hr:g/zm:’.\‘s’ Pleasure—
Weait il the brute resunies fis ancient girth?
Can it be lie, I ask, aud not another,
Whose stolen lieritage your hosont stirs?
Is ity i fact, to linas maw apd brother

Your note refers?

7

Do you protest against imported labour

And mention sacrifices made in vain

Simply because you hope your Kaffir ncighbour

WL, by and by, consent to work again?

L nay not plumb these deep forensic levels,

But all my native commonsense rebuts

The bare idea that you’re that lazy Devil's
Advocate, Smuts!

The poem is quoted in full to show, not merely the de-
ristve resentiment Smuts’ letter aroused, but also a certain
English attitude prevailing in those days towards everything
South African—the Boers, the natives, the Chinamen, the
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gold, the war. The references to the godless nigger ‘posed
loosely, in a careless state of coma, Upon his torpid back or
turgid tum’, soluxuriously placedin the economicscaleasnot
to need to work, have no apparent connection with Smuts’
letter. But they have connection with the mine~owners’ ex-
planation of why Chinese had to be imported into South
Africa and also with an Open Letter signed by Botha.

In this letter are stated all the Boer grievances against the
new English régime (children being anglicised, Repara-
tion Department ‘a complete and dismal failure’, Milner’s
glowing despatches ‘nothing more than a fairy tale’), and the
native question and Chinese labour are prominent. The
reason, it says, why ‘the ery is all for cheap Chinese labour’
is that the natives, full of their war-time moneyj, sit in idle-
ness waiting for the millennium proimised them by the Eng-
lish. . . . “We are convinced’, says the letter, ‘of the utter
sclfishness of these magnates, as well as of their stupidity
and want of forcsight in all matters of politics. . . . The
Transvaal Government is almost completely dictated to by
the magnates. The whole policy of the Government is in-
spired by fear and distrust . . . the Transvaal of to-day is in
a most unhappy temper.’

The letter, as may be seen, voices the sentiments of Smuts.
It happens also to have been written by Smuts.

7

The letters Smuts wrote to Miss Hobhouse are no less full
of the Chinese question. ‘It is certain that the Chinese are
coming—more disaster for the country’ (16.12.03). “The
country seems to be verging on public bankruptey. ... You
know the cause. Well, the cure is now Chinese’ (8.2.04).
‘John Chinaman will certainly come. We are so miserably
weak, so utterly helpless. We could not even derail the first
train coming here with a batch of celestials. We can molest,

200



‘MY SOUL IS WEARY OF MY LIFE’

but what is the earthly good of that? Anyhow, I am myself
beginning to deteriorate, for, after all, I shall have to de-
scend to the ranks of the molesters. . . . Do you think it like-
ly that, if the Liberals get into power, they will stop Chinese
importation? If they don’t, God alone will help us! There
is more to te feared from the despair than from the hopes
of brave men’ (13.5.04). ‘Here arc the fettered Chinamen
with a fate awaiting them worse than that of the galley
slaves of the pirate Bey of Tunis who flourished in the
palmy days of slavery. Herc are the birds of prey voraciously
feeding on tae corpse of liberty. . . .
‘I sec no ray of light in the future’ (6.5.04).



Chapter XXIII

CELESTIAL MESSENGERS

I

¢ saw no ray of light. Yet, most appropriately, it
was destined that the Celestals themselves should
bring a ray of light. Swept together, indentured,
across the waters they came (fifteen Bocr leaders protesting
by cable to England Milner dowsing the cable with his
assent, Englmd quivering over Chincse slaves, South Africa

quivering over Chinese mounsters). .. . They came, unre-
cognised by Campbell-Bannernun or Smuts or anyone
clse for the lighe-bearess they were. . . . Fifty thousand

Chinamen came, the messengers of che Lord. .
'This is the story of Chinese labour in the Transvaal

2>

o

When Chamberlain visited South Africa in 1903 he had
to arrange for money to rcpair and run the new colonies.
He decided on two loans. The first of thirty-five million
pounds at 3 per cent was guaranteed by the Imperial
Government and it was subscribed for thirty times over.
The second of thirty million pounds, in three annual instal-
ments, at 4 per cent was the Transvaal’s war contribu-
tion, and the mining houses guaranteed the first ten million
pounds. The money was to be used for reconstruction and
Britain was to get the interest.

As it happened, the loan was never issued because things
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were going too badly in the Transvaal, and when the
Liberals came in at the end of 1905 they abandoned all war
claims. In the meantime, however, the thought of the lia-
bility increased the Transvaal’s sense of depression. For
there was onlv one way of getting money in the Transvaal
(there is sdll only one way of getting money, not only in
the Transvaal, but in the whole of South Africa) and that
was from the mines. To get money from the mines the
mines had to produce gold. To produce gold, labour was
necessary. To find labour scemed beyond hope in South
Africa, for tle labourers of South Africa were the na-
tives, and, as everyone was pointing out-—Boers no less than
mine-owners-~the natives were not coming to the mines.
The reason why they were not coming was not inevit-
ably the one stated in Bodhas {or Smucs’) Open Letter,
which Sir Ovien Scaman took up in his poem: that, en-
riched by the war, they were waiting at their case for the
English war promiises to be fultilled. How rich could they
have become-—granted they did have war work—on the
two or three cr even four pounds a month natives are paid
in South Africa? On the skins they sold after their cattle died
of the rinderpest that was still current in the Boer War?
Waiting they were, but rarcly at their case. There were na-
tives far from being ‘lifted up with bellicose elation, pufted
out with perq aisites and blown with beans’. If their stom-
achs were higly, it the stomachs of the children were swol-
len and their legs like winter twigs, it was because too often
their food was roots and berries and stinking dead animals.
Nobody suffered so much in the war as the natives. Eighty
thousand of tf em were even in concentration camps.
There was, on the other hand, the story with which the
Boers used to agitate one another during the war and could
not forget. It tan: The day the war is over an extra place is
laid at the table. For whom is this extra place? For the
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Kaffir servant. What docs it mean? It means we have now
equal rights.

The natives were not really waiting for equal rights. Yet
some sort of idea they must have got into their heads during
the war about benefits to accruc to them if England won.

Well, England won. And what happened? Before the
war the natives on the mines had got forty-five shillings a
month with their food and lodging. During the war, under
the Republic, such as still were needed got twenty shillings,
and the mines came to be looked on as a bad business, which
they gave up. Now the war was over, prices were dearer, and
the twenty shillings wasnotraised back to forty-five shillings,
it was raised to thirty shillings. So much for the millennium.

The natives were shocked and they had, moreover, got
out of the way of coming to the mines. When the wages
were desperately put back to their pre-war figure, they still
would not come. Three hundred new mining companies
had been floated since the war, and there was no labour.

Dividends disappeared, shares dropped, the war contri-
bution—so much interest to be found—loomed ahead,
Milner wanted 10 per cent from the mines and on top of
that improved mining conditions, the mine-owners were
in despair. Some genius thought of Chinesc labour. And
Chamberlain backed it.

It was not a new idea in South Africa. Van Riebeck, the
firse Dutch Governor of the Cape, had thought of it two
and a half centurics before, it had been spoken of by Cape
Progressives a few years ago, therc was Indian labour in
Natal, and Rhodesia during the war had also thought of
Chinese or Indian labour. The Transvaal itself had thought
of Indian labour. But it was not a good idea.

With hundreds of thousands of natives that had only to
be made to understand, with an urgent Indian problem not
only in Natal but carried into the Transvaal itself, with
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trouble enough even between the white races, a new race
was to be introduced.

The thought maddened not only the Boers, but all South
Africans who owned no shares, and were not of Dr. Jame-
son’s party in he Cape. Even Milner did not like it until his
reconstructior. work became endangered and it scemed as
if capital and immigrants were scared of the Transvaal. By
the end of the year there were forty-three thousand Chinese
in the Transvaal, and more coming, and it was said (1) that
they were the sweepings of gaols, spent all their spare time
in opium and gambling dens, got out of their compounds
to attack white girls and murder loncly farmers (they did
sometimes); (2} that they were so-sober and hard working
that if somchow they leaked back after their indentures
they would menace South African shopkecpers and traders.
Whichever view one took, more and more Chinese, the
clamour rose, would come, and presencly South Africa’s
best white blood would have soaked mto the earth for no
purpose but t¢ nourish an oriental nation.

In England another view was taken of the matter.

3

In England the key word was slavery. Chinamen were
taken from their homes in China into mine-compounds
undera contractse likeslavery (said Campbell-Bannerman)
as to be almost indistinguishable from slavery. For the alter-
natives of their sojourn in South Africa were just these:
Either they had to be ‘let loose over the country, in which
case there would be degradation and infection of every kind,
demoralisation, competition in trade and other things that
were objected to, and a new race would be introduced
where racial difficulties were serious cnough already’; or
else they had to be ‘shut up and segregated from the com-
munity, and it was difficult to find where the difference lay
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between that and positive slavery. The essence of the law
was that the Chinaman was a chattel.’

He described the disabilities to which the Chinese were
in fact subject: special penalties; the holding of property
forbidden, or work other than that specified; sent to gaol in
case of desertion; unable to leave compound without per-
mission; compelled to keep wife and family (if they came)
under similar conditions; shipped back on cxpiration of
contract. “These are’, said Campbell-Bannerman, “‘uncom-
monly like slave laws. “Indentured labour” no doubt
sounds better; but do not let us haggle over words; let us
see what the thing itself is.’

The Government he eriticised said that similar conditions
occurred in labour ordinances passed by Liberal Govern-
ments. Its Colonial Secretary (Mr. Lyttelton) pointed out
that the minimum of ewo shillings a day the Chinaman
would get in the Transvaal was fourtcen or fifteen times
as much as he got in his own country. A Johannesburg
clergyman remarked how much more convenient it was to
christianise Chinese in Johannesburg than in China. It
turned out, in fact, that, reprehensible as it was to introduce
into a country like Soutly Africa a new proletariat and a
new race conflict, the Chinese themselves were quite happy
in the Transvaal and greatly envied their fortunate country-
men—the excellent citizens permanently scttled there. Nor
were their living conditions worse than those of the mden-
tured Indians on the Natal sugar estates, about whom no one
in England greatly troubled, ¢ven though they were British
subjects; and they were better than those of the natives.
As for their working conditions, those would have been the
same whether they were free ornot. . ..

Yetwhat argument or consideration ever stood up against
a catchword? It got into sound British hearts that the Boer
War had been fought for liberty: the liberty of white and
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black and yellow. Now, having spent their blood and
treasure, they were confronted with the result: slavery.
Chinese slavery.

The by-clc:tions that followed the cry of Chinese
slavery went to the Liberals—Chamberlain himself blamed,
not post-war cxhaustion or taxes or tariff reform as much
as Chinese labyur on the mincs, for the Conservative losses
in England.

In Pretoria, Smuts, even though Chinese labour was
rousing and uniting Transvaal Boers no less than English
Liberals, still saw no ray of light. His gloomy letters to Miss
Hobhouse continued.

4

He wrote:

“You twit me with watering iy orange trees when I
ought to be v and doing? What is there for me to do? I
and mine l)cloug to the vanquished, and over our country
is now being written—with ink which no time will ever
let fade—the brueal vae victis policy of the conqueror. To
scream, to make 2 noise, even resolutely to agitate, is not
in my line. Scuth: Africa is on the down grade. . . . The
whole country reminds me of that gloomy line in Keats in
which he speaks of “the weariness, the fever and tlle fret,
Here where men sit and hear each other groan.” In the
events behind us, South Africa has been untrue to herself
and now she is plucking the fruit. The heroes who ought
now to man the walls lie buried under the shattered ram-
parts, and che attacking forees are pouring into the breach.
The feeble and exhausted defenders who still survive are,
in many scnses, only shadows of their former selves. For
their faith has been undermined. How many people in
South Africa to-day will believe in justice and righteous-
ness? . .. One’s only consolution in such a scene is to watch
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the trees grow, to sec how nature teems with ever new and
fresh life and absorbs the evil and dreary waste of yesterday
into the beauty of to-morrow’ (6.5.04).

Hewroteagaintwodayslater: ‘Icould spendall mydaysin
peace and quiet and would far prefer that state of existence.

‘Sometimes when [ think over the past and my own now
banished pugnacity, I wonder whether after all it would
not be best for the Afrikander people to quit the tests, re-
sign to their British opponents, and m peacefulness and
quiet to find that consolation to which they are now justly
entitled after a century of fruitless strife. . . . The delicate
flower fades in the scorching sun; the fine soul is ground
down under the Juggernaut car; the heaven-high aspira-
tions vanish like phantom shadows: is not that the true
summary of life? One becomes sick and tired of life’s toil
and endless endeavour, and begins to long for rest, as some-
body has expressed it. Ever since the war I have been in
this mood of ennui. [ wonder whether one will ever get out
ofit’ (8.5.04).

A month later again his mood was still unchanged: ‘My
longing for rest is often much keener than my desire for the
dissemination of tructh.” And inAugust, in the winter of
South Africa, he finally wintrified himself: ‘Place me in old
age among the hills and kopjes where, as a little child, I
looked after the shecp and cattle and let me lie where I was
raised from Mother Nature.’

5
It seems to Smuts unbelievable that he could ever have
felt like this—he can hardly accept the evidence of his own
letters. After the Great War—yes, then, he admits, he was
in terrible mood. The six months of peace negotiations
in Paris changed him, he says, for life. ‘I had always been
successful. My personal undertakings had always prospered.
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Even the Boer War was a fatality through which, as a man,
I came out st:engthened. There was something grand in
the struggle that clevated me. In Paris I saw my smallness
against fate, I felt how small I was, Isaw there was a crack
in life itself that also went through me.’

Well, thirty-two years is a long time, and he has for-
gotten that he fele in 1904 more exhausted even than in
1919. Unreal he may have fele in Paris, as if inconceivable
things could happen both to himself and the world;
anguished he 1ay have fele. But not so bitterly lost as his
letters to Miss Hobhouse declare him to have been in 1904.
The sorrow of middle age is not comparable to the anguish
of youth, for one knows by middle age that nothing
matters so much as one lotig ago believed. And the sorrow
of old age is a sorrow no less tired than the blood and body.
‘The Boer War was a fatality through which, as a man, I
came out strengthened.” An illusion. 1t took Smuts three
years to recover from the Boer War, to become again and
for ever after the man he had been before the war and during
the war—whese greatness of spirit, more than any indi-
vidual thing he has done, is his claim to greatness itself. Is
not greamess, like art, a way of thinking?

In all Smuts letters to Miss Hobhouse there is only one
real spurt. That is in March 1904, when he says: ‘If the
Liberals do not immediately grant sclf~government to the
Transvaal under such conditions that the Boers will know
and feel that they are again governing themselves, an agi-
tation will start in the country the consequences of which
none can foresce. I think it will be good policy to grant the
Boers everythiag but their flag. The danger is, if this is not
done, that they will agitate for their flag. But if this is done,
England will secure the loyal co-operation of all Boer
leaders in the old Republics and thus render her position
impregnable. I do not advocate generosity or magnanimity,
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but good, sound policy. An army of occupation won’t keep
the Boers down; honest and bona fide self-government will
satisfy them and make them really contented. But are the
Liberals educated up to this point? That is what I want to
know from you.’

Not long after he wrote this, in the year of Kruger’s
death, he formed, with Botha, Schalk Burger and a dozen
others, a People’s Party that called itself Het Volk and had
as its object the agitation for responsible government
(which was also the object of those South African British
who deprecated overseas control—the Responsible Govern-
ment Party). Now and then, in the year that followed, he
slightly roused himself. Speaking to the then customary
colonial toast of ‘the Land we Liveii’, he said: ‘South Africa
is to the Afrikander, not the land he lives in nor the land he
lives on, but his own land.” Again he said: “Until such time
as we are trusted, we shall accept nothing.’

He meant they would not accept the form of represen-
tative government Lyttelton was offering them, which was
hardly better, he maintained, than Crown Colony govern-
ment. But even his carly campaigning speeches on behalf
of Het Volk were lifeless. For there is one thing Smuts can-
not do, and that is make a good speech in a bad mood.

6

Smuts has a larger range of subject and vocabulary than
anyone else in Africa, but at the best of times he cannot re-
sist metaphor, and the danger, as he himself says, is that he
doesn’t know when he is making an epigram or a cliché.
Immediately after the Great War, approaching and during
those black days which he regards as having so lowered
his spirit, memorable words poured from him:

“The tents have been struck and the great caravan of
humanity is once more on the march.’
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‘Europe s being liquidated, and the League of Nations
must be heir to the great estate.’

T look upon conscription as the tap root of militarisim.
Unless that is cut all our labours will be in vain.’

‘Civilisation is one body, and we arc all members of onc
another.’

‘Russia hus walked out into the night.’

In the days, on the other hand, when he believes he was
strengthened by the Boer War, he was capable of uttering,
within thirt/-seven consccutive words, four clichés and a
hackncy«,d Foer proverb. Here are the thirty-seven words:

‘Let us bury the dead cow, and give one another our hands
and help onc another along the road of life. Let us wipe the
slate clean and extend the hand of friendship to Boer and
Briton.” And though the essence of wisdom is greater than
its expressior., and, in the last resore, one might argue that
certain words arc so linked by association as to form word
assemblics ne less permissible than single words, it is hard
not to believe: that an abandonment of individuality shows
an enfeebled spirit.

It was only when Chinese stavery drove the Conserva-
tives out of power in England and set Campbell-Banner-
man and his Liberals in their place, that Smuts came alive
again, The Chinese did it. Nor did they mercly change the
fate of a party or a person. They changed the fate of South
Africa and perhaps even of the British Empire. .

At least, if Smuts’ own view is accepted. He always says
that if England had not given the Boers responsible gov-
ernment in 1906, Boer would not have stopped Bocer from
tighting Englind and supporting Germany in 1914. And
not only would there have been a new war in South Africa,
but the Germans would have had their submarine bases in
German East and German West and the history of the war
and the world might have been different.
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SMUTS AND CAMPBELL-BANNERMAN

I

s soon as Chinese labour put the Liberals in office

at the end of 1905, Het Volk sent Smuts over to

England to see about responsible government.

Hec stayed at Horrex’s Hotel in Norfolk Street, Strand,

where Kruger too had once stayed, and told the few jour-

nalists who were interested enough to question him that his

visit had no political significance: it was private. ‘T love
England. [ was educated here.’

Nobody, of course, believed that it had no political sig-
nificance, nor did Smuts expect them to do so. A few Eng-
lish people spoke vaguely of the machinations of these Boer
emissarics. The mining people in Johannesburg said he was
so ‘animated by an intense hatred of the mining industry
and everything connected with it that he hesitated at no
slander or inaccuracy which might have the effect of alarm-
ing European investors and scaring off capital’. The Kaffir
matket (duly revived—could it be by the Chinese?) did, in
fact, drop. Britons in Johannesburg threatened to de-
monstrate. Britons in England said they had not fought a
three years’ war to hand over control of the country to
the Boers. . . .

" ‘I went’, says Smuts, ‘to see Churchill, Morley, Elgin,

Lloyd George and Campbell-Bannerman. The only one I

had met before was Churchill. T came across him when he
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was taken prisoner at Ladysmith, He asked me if  had ever
known of a conquered people being allowed to govern
themselves. I said no. But we did not want to govern our-
selves. We cculd not govern ourselves without England’s
assistance. And that was the truth: we could not. . . .

“Then I wet to sec Morley. Motley had been very pro-
Boer during the war and he was one of our strongest hopes.
I'was shocked when he said thar, if it were in his power, he
would go further than I asked, but he had his colleagues to
consider, and to study public opinion. I had not expected
Morley to mention public opinion.

“The last man I saw was Campbell-Bannerman. I ex-
plained our position to him, and said we were anxious to
co-operate with the Englisl. He asked me why, if that were
so, we had refused to join Milner’s Legislative Council. 1
answered: What would it have led to but friction? A Gov-
ernment appointed and not elected. An angry minority of
Boers with no power except that of criticism. The Lyttel-
ton Constitution now_proposed, a partly Boer Legislature
under Crown Colony administration, was hardly, I said,
better. There was only one thing that could make the
wheels run: self~government.

T went on explaining. I could sce Campbell-Bannerman
was listening sympathetically. Without being brilliant he
was the sort of sane personality—large-hearted and honest
~—on whom people depend. He reminded me of Botha.
Such men get things done. He told me there was to be a
Cabinet meetiig next day, and he said: “Smuts, you have
convinced me.”

“That talk’, sxys Smuts, ‘settled the future of South Africa.’

He heard the rest of the story from Mr. Lloyd George,
who described the Cabinet meeting next day as the most
wonderful in is experience. ‘T have made up my mind’,
Campbell-Bannerman told them, ‘thar we must scrap the
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Lyttelton constitution and start afresh and make partners of
the Bocrs.”

He spoke of the Boers’ fight for freedom, and of how,
for three years, the matter of the Chinese apart, they had
given their conquerors a clear field. Such people, said
Campbell-Banncrman, should be England’s partners. He
was full of emotion and he moved others too. They decided
in a few minutes to give the Bocrs responsible govern-
ment.

In his last diary Lord Riddell adds something to this:

‘It was all done’, Mr. Lloyd George told him, ‘in a ten-
minute speech at the Cabinet—the most dramatic, the most
important ten-minute speech ever delivered in our time.
In ten minutes he (Campbell-Bannerman) brushed aside all
the checks and safeguards devised by Asquith, Winston
and Loreburn. At the outset only two of us were with him,
John Burns and myself. But his speech convinced the
whole Cabinet. It was the utterance of a plain, kindly, sim-
ple man. The speech moved at least one member of the
Cabinet to tears. It was the most impressive thing I ever
saw.’
In the Colonial Office rested Smuts’ memorandum: ‘Let
it be clearly understood once and for all that the Boers and
their leaders do not wish to raise the question of the annexa-
tion of the new Colonics or the British flag. They accept
accomplished facts.’

“That’, says Smuts, ‘was what Botha and I had deter-
mined when we signed the Pcace of Vereeniging. We had
made up our minds that it was the end of one life and
the beginning of another. And what we signed we stood
by.’

Within a few weeks the Lyttelton constitution was re-
voked and in May a Royal Commission came to Pretoria
to settle the matter of responsible government.
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2

Smwts is a tenacious man and particularly of his feelings.
Neither towards individuals nor towards races do his feel-
ings change. The fecling for the English that swept into
him when Campbell-Bannerman so trusted the Boers in
1906 has been the stcrongest influence in Smuts’ life. He
speaks of that exhibition of trust as ‘one of the wisest political
settlements ever made in the history of the English nation’,
and of Sir Henry Campbell-Bannerman as among the great
Empire Builders. It linked him for ever, he says, in love to
England and set him so on his honour that he fought his
own countryraen who went against England in 1914. It in-
duced him to repudmtc—as lacking a similar nobility—the
Treaty of Versailles, and, in 1934, to advocate Germany’s
right to an equality of armaments. He has been so con-
vinced by his own expericnce that to treat a conquered
country gencrously is not only beauriful but profitable, that
he doesnotallow for chedifference between asmall, attacked,
helpless peopl: to whom one makes amends, and a great,
attacking, threatening people from whom one seeks safety.
Being on the other hand not wichour cynicism, he may
think it politic: to yield with grace a right that has already
been taken without question.

When, in 1606, it was decided to create King’s Counsel in
the new Britith territorics, Smuts was among the first to
accept an honour which to this day General Hertzog
regards as incompatible with a South African’s indepen-
dence.

In December 1906 the Transvaal was given responsible
government, and a few months later the Orange River
Colony. “Thev gave us back—in cverything but name—
our country. After four years. Has such a miracle of trust
and magnaniniity ever happened before? Only people like
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the English could do it. They may make mistakes, but
they’re a big people.’

The leading Johannesburg paper of the day (now dead)
called it the work of ‘that draper man from Glasgow-—one
forgets his name’ recently gazetted Prime Minister. It pur-
sued Smuts with bitterness. ‘Mr. Smuts,” it reported, ‘in an
accent which called forth numerous entreaties that he would
speak English, delivered a long anti~Chinese address which
had very little to do with the resolution he was propos-
ing. . .." ‘Speak English, speak English’ was, in fact, the
accepted way to heckle Smuts in those days, and his reply
was to agree with the hecklers: “You are right. My English
is far from flawless.”

He came to answer with greater passion two minc-
owners who, having never attempted to make themselves
understood in Dutch, despised Botha, ‘the greatest man in
South Africa’, because, not having been taught English in
his youth, he now, in middle age, struggled to learn it that
he might get into closer touch with his English fellows.

Eighteen months catlier Milner had returned to Eng-
land, and Smuts had declared his administration between
1902 and 1906 to have been ‘the darkest period in the his-
tory of the Transvaal’. It was worse, he said, than the blood-
shed during the war. During the war ‘Boers and English
were fighting for a great prize, they thought, but during
the last four years they suffered for nothing’.

Milner himself considered his work during this period
the best of his life. And with justice. For, whether he was
right or wrong, he acted with passionate sincerity; he re-
fused the Colonial Secretaryship to do what he believed
his duty in a country that hated him for ic¢; and, having
done it, he was sent by the Liberals into the political wilder-
ness to languish there for ten years.

He spoke out, in the House of Lords, his anger at the
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Liberals, and Smuts said his speech was enough to make it
plain to any reasonable man why there was a war in South
Africa.

There are, however, still dichard Englishmen in South
Africa who szy he spoke rightly.
~ The first batch of Chinese had not arrived in Johannes-
burg when he left, nor the last batch departed before the
Union of Scuth Africa was accomplished: his dream,
Rhodes’ dream, Smuts’ dream. The Chinese brought pros-
perity back to the mines—a least it came when they came.
They left no mark—unless one regards them as the source
of Liberal victory, respounsible government and all that
tollowed——no mark, either for good or ill, on the country.
There is nothing to see or feel of them.

Het Volk, its leaders gradually narrowed down to Botha
and Smuts, accelerated its pace. The English party that once
called irself the Responsible Government Party and then
the Nationalist Party, joined Het Volk.

The first election under responsible government was set
down for February 1907.

That was for the Lower House, the Assembly. The Upper
House, the Council, was nominated.




Chapter XXV
SMUTS AND BOTHA

I

t shows the largeness of both Smuts and Botha that

Smuts was never envious of Botha. Another man in

his skin mighc have becn—until those days in the Great
War when Britain began to pay him such tribute as she
seems to have offered no other statesman in the world.

But Smuts has never been an envious man. He has never
been a resentful, revengeful man. He hates to believe there
are people who may wish to injure him. He calls his
enemies ‘my opponents’. He says, whatever the appear-
ances may be, General Hertzog likes him. In the manner of
Napoleon, Lincoln and Disraeli, he would sooner promote
a uscful ‘opponent’ than a useless supporter. He is even pre-
pared to serve under an opponent.

“What do I care’, he feels with Napoleon, ‘what a man
thinks of me as long as he can do the work?” The work is
all that matters to Smuts. His indifference to hostility is only
another aspect of his passion for causes rather than persons.

At the same time he has a sense of collective opinion. He
even believes in collective prayer. He says it raises the spirit
of the world. And, if there are days when he feels popular
approbation to be inflated currency—a million marks to
the pound—and says “Woe to you if men speak well of you’,
there are also days when he says, with an obvious wistful-
ness: ‘The people don’t understand me.’
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Could ic therefore have been agrecable to him to hear,
throughout their association, that Botha was the warm,
magnetic personality and he the cold, efficient brain; Botha
the wise lcader, and he ‘slim’—tricky-—"Jannie’?

To whom should he explain the emotions behind the
haughty cyes” He sank hiinsclf in work., While Botha’s
room was crowded with the men who once had smoked
pipes on Kruger’s stoep and liked that way of being gov-
erned, Sniuts sat in his room alone, tirclessly at work. As
thev came to find in the Great War, so it was from his be-
ginnings: he was prepared without limit to work, not
superficially, but from the deprhs of his creative cnergy.
Even his enemies wondered m che carly days what would
happen to the Government of the new Union if ever Smuts
took it into his mind to have a rest. Nor did they—even his
enemies—-doubt the sineerity of his friendship wich Botha.
That fricndship, from the time they linked themselves to
co~operate “with the English until Botha died, never
wavered.

None of Botha'’s portraits suggests the wisdom, hu-
manity and powers of attraction he scems indeed to have
possessed. Pzople of all kinds and nutionalities, from the
Boers at Vereeniging to the statesmen at Versailles, say
they have not met his like.

He was eight years older than Smuts—a big, corpulent,
dark, proud-looking man, the type of .an imposing Maha-
rajah. He was not very healthy. He had strongly arched
eyebrows, full eyes, full cheeks and full lips. He wore a
small black chin-beard (Smuts and he alone of all South
African politicians wore thesc little beards). Like Smuts
(and, for that matter, General Hertzog), he had been born
a British subject—he came from Natal—and his wife was
descended from those Irish Emmets that produced the
patriot Robert. He had not the education of Smuts nor his
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intellectual interests. He was a good bridge player (and,
they say, a bad, and afterwards penitent, loser) and he pre-
ferred cards and people to lonely thoughts in a study or
lonely walks on a mountain. He and Smuts had not, in fact,
much in common except their work for South Africa, and
in 1919, in Paris, he could not bring himself to share Smuts’
transcendent passion over the fate of the world—he re-
mained seeing things in terms of South Africa. . ..

It was Botha who made an enemy to their cause of Gen-
eral Hertzog and his Free State group. But, apart from this
mistake or misfortune, he seems seldom, throughout his
career, to have done a tactless or unwise thing. Tact, indeed
—a tact founded on the warmest consideration and the
most essential good sense-—was his distinguishing quality.
He was able to make people believe what Smuts, with all
his brilliance, courtesy, charm, modcsty and even tender-
ness, could not make people believe: that they mattered to
him, each one he encountered, to a superlative degree.

Smuts speaks of Kruger as the greatest personality he has
ever met (and of Mr. Lloyd George as the most brilliant
political genius), and after Kruger he places Botha. When
Botha, having prophesied his own end a year before, died
in 1919, Smuts felt the world too much for him. The
misery of Paris was still weighing him down, he had a sense
of things ending everywhere, and it was with difficulty he
spoke, as was expected of him, at Botha’s graveside. ‘His
voice’, he said, ‘will no longer be heard eatly and late plead-
ing for co-operation. His noble and strong figure will no
longer be a living inspiration to a whole people. . . . After
an intimate friendship and unbroken co-opcration extend-
ing over twenty-one years, during which we came as close
together as it is ever given men to come, I have the right to
call him the largest, most beautiful, sweetest soul of all my
land and days. Great in his life, he was happy in his death.
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For his friend -was reserved the hard fate to bury him and to
remain with the task which even for Botha was too much.’

And now that the two great poht:ml parties of South
Africa have fused, Smuts tells himself: ‘T have done what
Botha wished. Our work is done.’

2

Their association dated from those republican days when
Botha was a member of the First Volksraad and Smuts State
Attorney. They werc not closcly associated in the Boer
War, but they found themselves in accord at the Vereenig-
ing peace, and, peace having come, they saw that, among
Boer lcadcrs, “hey had most in_common. It was, Milner
told a friend, vwhen he and Kitchener met Botha and Smuts
in Pretoria in May of 1902 to discuss the peace settlement,
and Smuts spoke of compromise and Botha of co-operation,
it was then that, for che firse time, he had some hope of
working with the Boers. To find these two men standing
for the cause o7 peace was, he told his friend, a providential
intervention boyond his dreams and ic changed his whole
conception of the Boers.

Ic was not merely the polities, but the belief, of Botha and
Smuts that, for South Africa’s sake, the white racesof South
Africa—the more white races the better—had to merge.

3

Smuts is to this day—and more than ever—an advocate of
race admixturc. He cannot say with Rhodes: ‘T have no
feelings as to where a man was born’, ‘race feelingsI cannot
have in me’, for there is no doubt that Smuts has racial pre-
dilections. The Boers remain the people of his passion and
the English the people who make him happiest. The Old
Testament put a liking for Jews into him. The German

poets and philcsophers put a'liking for Germans into him.
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He docs not sympathise with the French: he thinks their
politics too narrow and nationalistic. He does not believe in
the Russians: their accomplishment fails to impress him.
Thesc are the rcasons he finds in his heart. At the same time,
his instincts seem never to have guided him in their direc-
tion. o

But he can match Rhodes to this extent: ‘All I desire’, said
Rhodes, ‘is to know whether a mau is a good man and then
I want him.” ‘My fecling is that the best man must come to
the front whatever his racc may be.” Smuts wants good
qualities from every source to help build up a South African
nation. That is, from every European source.

‘I would like all the white races in- South Africa to mingl¢’,
he says. ‘Such mingling makes a great people. It made the
English a great people. It is making the Americans a great
people. It made the Greeks and the Jews great peoples.
There was never such nonsense as this idea the Jews have
that they arc an exclusive, pure race. They are the mostim-
pure racc on earth. I doubt if they are even Semites. Look
at their wanderings: Abyssinia, Babylon, Palestine, Egypt,
the Mediterranean, and then every country in the world,
and always blood coming inte them of scrange people. .

He is no less impatient of the Germans’ idea of themselves.
‘It is stated’, he said (not in the nineteen-thirtics, but in
1917!), ‘that, in the future, the German race must guide the
destinies of the world because it is one of the pure races.
What arrant nonsense! In South Africa . . . we want to
blend our various nationalitics and crcate a new nation—
that is, a South African nation. ...’

‘I don’t see’, he sometimes remarks, ‘how the Australians
and New Zcalanders can ever hope to be a really interesting
people. They haven’t had any new blood for generations.
There’s no doubt South Africans are more interesting.
Look at our problems. We have all the world’s problems in
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onc country. Look at the mixeture we are, Practically we
began by being mixed. I hope we mix more. The Boers
are poor metchauts, and even the Hollanders are not the
merchants they used to be. The English are the best poli-
ticians and business men in the world. No one has ever un-
derstood the art of government as they do. We need their
business and political instincts. The Jews have encrgy and
a capacity for taking chances. We need those.

‘Still the English don’t like us. They don’t like the Jews
either. The Boers and the Jews are not easy peoples. They
are small, resiitant, bitter peoples, and the English find the
manners of people like the Arabs more agrecable.”

It was accotding to these prineiples (calling for co-oper-
ation, taking, as he calls it, the long view) that he spoke in
1904, when he and Botha were forming Het Volk; in 1905,
when, repudiating the Lyttelton constitution, he yet asked
his hearers ‘to do whatever was in their power to spread
conciliation’ (zven between che ‘bitter-cnders’ and ‘hands-
uppers’ of the Boer War); and in 1906 when, responsible
government assured, they were preparing for the first
election to follow. He has spoken in these terms ever since.
Co-operation, fusion, Holism—it always has been and re-
mains the dominant principle of his life.

‘Our associadon’, he said on behalf of Het Volk in Feb-
ruary 1905, before even he had any hope of responsible
govetnment, ‘1s open to all white men, whether Boer, Jew
or Briton, whether wild or tame Boer. . . . We are pre-
pared to extend the hand of brotherhood to all white men
in the country. We do not care what their nationality is, or
their creed. We want a united Souch Africa. . .." And he
repudiated a Nationalist candidate (supporting Het Volk)
who advocated restricting Jewish immigration. “The Rus-
sian Jews who ome to this country intend to make it their
home; they always have been, and will continue to be, wel-
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comed by our organisation. No measures are ever likely to
be taken to restrict their immigration to this country.’

When such measurcs were, however, taken in 1929, and
Smuts’ party, no less than General Hertzog’s, supported
them, Smuts alone among leaders, and practically without
followers, opposed the measures. . . .

4

But the welcome Smuts extends to all white races he will
not offer to yellow or black. He has never pretended to be
otherwise than against the presence of Asiatics in South
Africa. As he opposed the Chinese in 1904, so he presently
opposed the Indians. ‘As he' distrusted the Arabs under
Colonel T. E. Lawrence, saying: ‘How could he hope to
make them a great people? They are no more the Arabs of
the past than the Greeks are the descendants of Homer and
Pericles. They are an entirely different race’—so he has
steadily warned the world against the Japanese. ‘I hope’, he
said, during the Indian troubles in 1908, ‘that when the day
comes for the issue to be decided between East and West,
the East will have no further interests in South Africa and
will leave South Africa severely alone.” ‘One thing must
be clear as the day,” he said in his first election speeches after
Union; ‘there must be no Asiatic immigration,’

His attitude towards the natives is different. They are in
South Africa and they have rights in South Africa. He
admits it. ‘Africa 1s the Negro home.” In moods of roman-
tic pessimism he even wonders whether Africa may not be
one day the Negro empire. He has an affection for the
natives he employs: his manner towards them is patri-
archal. He takes sweets to the native children on his farm:
‘Mbre, kinders'—'Good morning, children,” he says, and
pats their scurfy heads.

But under everything—despite his birth in the Cape
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Colony (which is negprophilist by profession if not by feel-
ing); despite his strong consciousness of liberal thought; de-
spite his sincese wish to be just to them; despite even his
indignation when, during his absence in England, his col-
leagues agreed to a colour bar in the United Party consti-
tution, and his voting in a minority in 1935 for the reten-
tion of the native franchise in the Cape, and his actual pro-
clamation durng an clection of equal rights—still under
cverything, ore feels, his impulse towards the natives re-
sembles that of his fellow Boers.

Power inust remain with the white races. The whitc
races must remain white. Is not every principle limited by
exception, instmct or reasons Smuts’ ideal of fusion stops
before the dan zer of lowering civilisacion.

5

When Smuts made his firse public speech—the one in
Kimberley before the Raid in support of Rhodes—Rhodes
had not yet corne to his “equal rights’ idca (or, as some say,
his need for it), and Smuts tollowed Rlodes in demanding
class legislation aguinst the native. The native, he said, de-
teriorated in contact with ‘the white; he was against the
negrophilist principle that the native should be allowed to
work out his own destiny; native education, he said, should
be physical and manual rather than intellectual. ‘Ts it safe,
is it advisable,” he asked, ‘that huge masses of vice and in-
dolence and ignorance should continue to ¢xist, to flourish,
aye, to increase at an unheard of rate at our very doors, in
the midst of a high civilisadon? Let us defy the sentimental
cranks and well-mecaning mischief~-makers.” The world, he
said, should not be hinderced in the ‘development of a grand
racial aristocracy’.

He was youny in 1895 and greatly under the influence of
Rlhiodes. Yet wat he said then he stands by to-day, and,
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since the native policy of Rhodes before the Raid was the
policy of the Dutch, Smuts had no reason, on Rhodes’ fall,
to revise his attitude towards the natives. It remained funda-
mentally the Dutch attitude (and, indeed, the general atti-
tude of the white South African). “We look upon the inter-
mixture of black and white in South Africa’, he wrote eight
months after the Raid, ‘as in every way the darkest spot of
our civilisation. . . . Let it come to be considered the grossest
violation of that social etiquette which is even more power-
ful than the law of sclf-respect, for a white man to cohabit
with a coloured woman. . . . The negrophilist ideal, which
we prefer to call the missionary ideal” (and which led logi-
cally, he said, to missionaries marrying native women)-—
‘that is dead.” In enunciating his policy during the first Un-~
ion election he said: ‘T personally am noc against the native
—1I am against the policy of oppression. T would help the
native in every legitimatc way in accordance with his
present requirements. But I cannot forget that civilisation
has been built up in this country by the white race, that we
are the guardians of liberty, justicc and all the elements of
progress in South Africa. The franchise is the last argument,
more powerful than the sword or rifle; and the day we give
away this final protection we possess we shall have to con-
sider very carefully what we are doing. We have received a
heritage of civilisation from our fathers, which I hope we
shall hand on intact and unspoiled to our children. If these
children find an opening to extend the rule of liberty and
political rights they may do so. To my mind it would be
one of the most dangerous things for the white race, con-
stituted as it is in South Africa, to take such steps to~-day.’
And although, during the Great War, he spoke in England
of the ‘bedrock of the Christian code’ as the basis for the
treatment of the native, he was yet compelled to add these
words: ‘It is useless to run black and white at the same mo-
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ment, and to subject them to the same machinery of legisla-
tion. White and black are different, not only in colour, but
also in mind; they are different in political status and their
political institutions should be different. . . . Instead of
mixing up bluck and whitc all over the country, we are
trying to keep them as far apart as possible. . .

On this a narive publicist burst out: ‘My father and grand-
father helped to tame the Free State. T am of this Province.
Are we going to allow a Dutchman from Malmesbury in
the Cape to dictate to us where we are to live and how we
shall exist?’

But even in 1929, at Oxford, when Smuts was in resi-
dence there as Rhodes Memorial Lecturer, he was still speak-
ing according to his old belief. As Smuts has not changed
in any other fundamental respect, so he has not changed in
his attitude to the natives, and so, it is safe to prophesy, he
never will. . ..

On co-operation then between all Europeans; on exclu-
sion of all Asiatics; ou the conviction that ‘if there is one
point that unit:s the white people of Souch Africa, it is the
lines on which the native population should be dealt with
.. . it would make a very bad impression, not only on the
minds of the ratives themselves, if, in any difficuldes that
may turn up in South Africa, the British Government were
to take the side of the native against the white population
generally’——on a platform, one might say, of race principles,
white, yellow und black, Smuts and Botha fought the elec-
tion of February 1907 and won it. Out of sixty-nine scats,
thirty-seven went o Het Volk, six co the affiliated Nation-
alists (calling themselves lately the Responsibles), twenty-
one to the Pregressives (the dichard Uitlanders), and to
Labour and Independents five. Het Volk took office. One
of the Johannesburg papers began to call Botha and Smuts
‘General’. There was talk of making Smuts Prime Minister.
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He had no intellectual equal in the country, he had alrcady
been a minister under Kruger, his words to Campbell-
Bannerman had clinched the matter of responsible gov-
ernment in England. He stood down for Botha. ‘I con-
sidered it would be a mistake’, he wrote to Merriman, ‘to
take precedence over Botha, who is really one of the finest
men South Africa has ever produced.” He accepted the
offices of Colonial Sccretary and Minister of Education.

Next month Botha went to a conference of Colonial
Premiers in London (there to be accorded that irresistible
welcome and masterly hospitality which tumns England’s
distinguished foes into distinguished friends) and then
Smuts acted in his place too.

Botha was back from England when A, W. Lloyd (now
of Punch) illustrated a Het Volk Cabinet meeting. The
meeting consisted of sixministers, all with the face of Smuts.
The description under the cartoon read: “The controlling
influence of General Smuts in the Cabinet is so apparent
that the Government may be said to be concentrated in
him alone.’

It had, indced, taken the whole country no more than a
few months to realise that a Government which contained
Smuts was not only dominated by Smuts—it was Smuts.
Everyone spoke of it.

He exhausted himself doing all the work, and he was
happy. The raging energy whose only outlet had been his
letters to Miss Hobhouse—a great wind whistling thinly
through a chink—now drove cverything before it. If he
was—if he is—a Liberal by convicdon, he was and remains
a dictator by disposition. All very well for Smuts to say he
likes the simple folk, the real human beings, that he rests on
the common sense of the common man. His faint reliance,
in intercourse or practice, on the common man, the things
he believes the common man believes, do not support him.
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In 1907 he could, sdll less than co-day, bear the slow
fumbhng of o:her men. He was more impatient even than
in later years, *vhen he was still capable of tearing a shirt in
two whose stiif front would not admir a stud, and of hurl-
ing out of a window smoking lamps, a disturbing gramo-
phone or sewing machine. That, when the time came, he
brought himscIf to sit patiently in opposition—to sit silent
year after vear under the taunts and lashes of his opponents
—-was a miracle of soul force even Gandhi could not have
excelled. . ..

This first seision he did cverything. He knew what he
wanted. He had no doubts what should be done, and by
whom. He had no hesitadon in doing it. He got the mine-
owners to admit they had been wrong abouc the Chinese.
“We made a mistake’, said one of them. ‘Everyone makes
mistakes. Chinese labour is finished. We accept the posi-
tion.”

He pleased them less by offering to buy for the King, as
a token of the new Boer lovalty the Cullinan diamond,
the largest dia:nond in the world, found that year in the
partly state-ow ned Premier Mine. They said the Cullinan
diamond was ‘worth hundreds of thousands, and that the
country needed the money, and there were other ways of
showing loyalty ‘to flag, Empire and throne than by gifts of
glittering baubles’. It amused Smuts to point to the mining
representatives in Parliament: “When T sec the Knighe
Commanders and D.S.0.s risc and unblushingly oppose
the motion, 1t shows me that although there may be great
financial power among them there is little political insighe.”

It amused him no less to have at other sorts of people.
Those were not yet the days when politicians in South

-rica—had at all costs to placate the far-
mers for their votes, and to the farmers who came with
complaints Smuts told the story of the old man who had
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discovered a really serious drawback about farming in the
Transvaal. “The ground is too low. You have to bend your
back to work.” When they pointed out that de la Rey, dur-
ing the war, had ‘guaranteed those under him a living’, he
replied: ‘Nonsense, what he guaranteed you was certain
death.” When they asked him if he knew what was nceded
in farming and would he help them get it, he said: “Yes,
sweat.” He would have, he said, no pauperisation of the
farmers.

In his first session in Parliament Smuts did a hundred
things, but three of prophetic significance.

He put education under government control—with
English compulsory and Ducch optional and Bible reading
—undogmatically ¢xplained—for * half-an-hour before
school. Catholics, Jews and Anglicans might stay away
from the Bible reading. Those ulera-Calvinistic Dutch who
ran private schools could not have government aid. At
least, that was the law. In effect, they got it.

This measure had resules that were greater politically
than educationally. For in the Orange River Colony
General Hertzog resented this making of English compul-
sory and Dutch optional; he said it put Boers in an inferior
position to the English, and it showed, he said, the way
Botha and Smuts were sacrificing their own people to their
recent enemies, For his part, he made both languages ab-
solutely equal in the Orange River Colony, compelled
English teachers to pass examinations in Dutch, dismissed
English inspectors, and, shortdly after Union, found himself
in the law courts about it and became suddenly the acknow-
ledged champion of every Anglophobe Boer in the country,
as against the too conciliatory Botha and Smuss. . . .

Another significant work of Smuts was to make a stand
against Labour. He offered white labourers relief employ-
ment at two shillings a day with their keep, or three shil-
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lings and sixpence without their keep, and tried to persuade
them that if ke gave morc all the unemployed in South
Africa would come to the Rand and displace them. The
uncmployed cemanded five shillings a day and not relicf
work but ‘wozk of a proper character’, and three hundred
of them marched from Johannesburg to Prctoria, where a
citcus propricror entertained them at his circus, and after-
wards they slept on the racecoursc. . . . It was the begin-
ning of winter.

On his thirty-seventh birthday Smuts called out two
English regiments to patrol the Reef, where the miners were
striking. Thete were miners who pointed out that five
years eatlier they had fought under Smuts against those
same regiments, and that Smuts had sought their support
against the mining house party.

Here began Smuts’ difference with Labour that was to
continue throughout his long years of office and finally
drive him out of'it.

His third significant work was connccted with the In-
dians.



Chapter XXVI

SMUTS AND GANDHI

I

he Indian troubles in South Africa had their origin
in the same system that had brought the Chinese
to South Africa: indentured labour.

In 1860 Indians had come to Nartal, as earlier to the West
Indies, to work on the sugar estatcs. They replaced the
Kaffirs, who (the sugar planters said) were less reliable and
competent, and always wanted to go home to their kraals.
They would just, the planters said, try them for the period
of their indentures.

At the end of their indentures, however, it was found
cheaper to give the Indians land than to pay for their return
passages to India, and it was also pleasant to have close at
hand such a good labour deposit. Thirty years later, in an
attempt to reverse that policy, an annual tax of three
pounds was imposcd on all Indians who preferred settle-
ment to repatriation.

The Indians settled on the land, made a garden colony of
Natal and propagated their specics. By the time Smuts
came to live in Johannesburg there were more Indians than
Europeans in Natal, a new Government party in Natal was
pointing out that ‘unless an arrestation is put upon the in~
troduction of immigrants from India the whole social
polity will be submerged’, and next year licensing and im-
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migration acts were passed that bitterly hurt and hindered
themn,
To their rescue came Mohandas Karamchand Gandhi.

~

-

It was not the hairless, toothless, emaciated, loin-clothed
Mahatma the world knows to-day, nor had he come to
South Africa as a crusader. The Gandhi who landed at
Durban in the early eighteen-nineties came as a barrister to
fight a case, as a British Indian gentleman of caste and cul-
ture who owrned an evening suit, a frock coat and a top hat,
refused to wear a ready-made tic; and had trained himself
in the ways of a typical Englishman by studying in London
dancing, elocution, French and fiddling. “The one book’, he
came to find in later years, ‘that brought about an instan-
tancous and practical eransformation in my life was Rus-
kin’s Unto This Last.

He had not understood what it meant to be a Bridsh
Indian gentleman in South Africa. Nor were South Afri-
cans accustomed to Indian gentlemen. They knew only the
coolie kind of Indians. They spoke of Indians as coolics—
all Indians. Even to-day therce are people in South Africa
who, whether in ignorance or malice, use the term coolie
when they mzan Indian.

On his second day in Durban Gandhi went to see the
law courts, wearing his turban of an Indian barrister.
The magistrate told him to remove his turban or leave the
court, He lefi the court. He thought then of exchanging
his turban for an English hat, but a friend suggested that in
a hat he might be taken for a waiter, so he continued to
wear the rurban.

On his way to Pretoria to fight his case, he took, as is
incumbent or: a barrister, a first~class railway ticket. But a
tellow passenger objected to travelling wich an Indian, and
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he was asked to sit in the van. He refused to go. A police-
man was accordingly sent for, who pitched him out with
his luggage, the train left without him, and he spent the
nightin thedark and cold waiting-room wondering whether
he ought not immediately to return to India.

Travelling through the Transvaal by coach, he was
advised by the conductor, in order to avoid unpleasantness
with the other passengers, to change seats with him. But
then the conductor wanted his own seat back—he wanted
to smoke—and he told Gandhi to sit on the footboard.
‘Sammy, you sit on this,” he said, spreading a piece of sack-
ing for him, and calling him by the term South Africans
have derived from ‘sami’, the frequent ending of Indian
names. When Gandhi protested, he struck him in the face.

In Johannesburg he was refused admission to an hotel.
Since he was determined, for his profession’s sake, to travel
to Pretoria first-class, he called on the station-master wearing
his frock coat and top hat and, as he adds, a necktie—that
the station-master might see for himself he was worthy of
a first-class ticket. In Precoria, falling under the ban of all
coloured peoples, he was arrested for being out after nine
o’clock without a pass. .. .

Revelations came in many forms. . . . It was vouchsafed
to Gandhi that he had a mission.

3

Before ever Gandli had arrived in South Africa there
was trouble in the Transvaal on account of the Indians, but
not in the Orange River Colony, because the Orange River
Colony had never admitted them.

Kruger admitted them—had to admit them under the
London Convention. They came in with restrictions, having
to pay aregistration fee of three pounds, being forbidden to
own land, compelled to live in locations, and having gener-
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ally no bettes rights than other coloured people. Yet come
they did. and by the time of the Boer War there were
fifeccen thousand of them.

Gandhi thought that justice was on the side of the Boers.
‘But every single subject of a state must not hope to enforce
his private osinion.” The Indians demanded the rights of
British subjects. Was not the Bocrs” ill-treatment of the In-
dians one of -he reasons given for the making of the war?
And what would be the portion of Indians after the war if
thev did nothing to help? He offcred the Natal Govern-
ment the services of the Indians.

His offer ws ar first refused: “You Indians know nothing
of the war. You couldn’t help us. 'We should simply have
to be looking after you all the time.” ‘But ordinaty servants’
work in hospitals? Would ¢hat demand great intelligence?”
‘It would demand training. . . 7

Afterwards however, the offer was accepted. Indians
were allowed to help. They entered the Transvaal with the
British forces. And when the war was over they erected on
one of the Johannesburg hills a monument whose inscrip-
tion (in English, Urdu and Hindi) reads:

SACRED T2 THE MEMORY OF BRITISH OFFICERS
WARRAMNT OFFICERS, NATIVE N.C.0.’S AND
MEN, VETERINARY ASSISTANTS, NALBANDS

AND FOLLOWERS OF THE INDIAN ARMY WHO
DIED IN SOUTH AFRICA. 1809-1902

On the other three sides of the monument were the
words:
MUSSULMAN. CHRISTIAN~ZOROASTRIAN. HINDU-SIKH.
And, blood from different veins having now flowed
down a common channel, the Transvaal having now be-
come a Britisli colony, Gandhi came to Pretoria to see
what the war had done for the Indians of the Transvaal. . . .
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The Transvaal was full of post-war troubles, problems,
enmities and needs. The Boers were destitute, the country
ravaged, crops sick, cattle sick, the mine-owners in despair.
Reparation was England’s promise, reconstruction Milner's
pride. He knew the anxiety of the Imperial Government
concerning India. He had to justify the war, he had to prove
his honour, Had he not pulled down the old Transvaal to
make a betrer Transvaal and a greater South Africa? The
clamouring mines had persuaded him that a better Trans-
vaal needed Chinese labour. Who—looking at Natal-—
could persuade him that a better Transvaal needed Indian
immigration? Hardly this decorous little Indian, with his
neat moustache and high stitf collar and striped tie. What
more could anybody sec in Gandhi in 1903? And did ever a
national champion choose a less opportune moment to de-
mand a manifestation of gracitude?

‘L hold’, said Milner, ‘thac when a coloured man possesses
a certain high grade of civilisation he ought to obtain what
I might call whitc privileges, irrespective of his colour. For
the present, however, there is no prospect whatever of cheir
prevailing—certainly as far as Asiatics are concerned. . . .
The Asiatics are strangers forcing themselves upon a coni-
munity reluctant to receive them.’

He understated the position. The Transvaalers were not
reluctant—they were wild—against recciving Indians. They
asked how the English in England would like the idea of
being swamped by the overflow of a polygamous people,
hundreds of millions strong, coming, not in the shape of
princes and philosophers, but as coolies, waiters, hawkers
and small tradesmen—to undercharge, undersell and under-
live the Europeans.

Most of the pre-war Indians had left the country; but
there were now the military servants and camp followers,
and new Indians came continually despite Milner’s Peace
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Preservation Proclamation, which forbade all entry without
government permit,

Milner’s rzply to Gandhi was to suggest that pre-war
Indians should re-register to establish their right to live in
the Transvaal under the old conditions. Gandhi himself was
the first to re-register. The Indians who now registered
gave their right thumb-prints as a means of identification.

But yet Irdians kept coming. They came saying they
were pre-war residents, they came in the name of regis-
tered Indians. There were Indians whom no one had seen
before the wer settled unidentifiably, under forged permits,
in every part of the Transvaal. The thumb-prints were
found to be 1 insufficient identification.

So now a new ordinance was drafted demanding regis-
tration for every pre-wat male Asiatic over sixteen, and the
finger-prints of all ten fingers had to be given.

The South African Indians protested to the Imperial
Government. The Indians in India protested. John Morley,
the Secretary of State for India, said Indians had a right in
every part of the Britsh Empire.

The ordinance was disallowed. But responsible govern-
ment was due, and everyone knew, and they knew in Eng-
land, that responsible government would revive the
measures now rejected. . . .

Gandhi had come to South Africa not to stay but for a
professional purposc. He had remained, while one need
after another presented itself to him, thinking always that
next year or the year after he would return to India. Now
he decided to stay in the Transvaal. He became a solicitor
to earn his liviag and, working for the Indians, he began to
perfect himselt'in that spiricual exercise he called Satyagraha
~—soul force. His chief teacher was his chicf opponent—
another belicver in soul force: Smuts.
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4

There arc certain men for whom Smuts has a great per-
sonal regard-—men like Kruger and Botha. But there are
others of whom he has a spiritual awe. One of them is
Woodrow Wilson and another is Mahatma Gandhi. “The
men I venerate’, he says, ‘are not those who can arousc a
nation’s enthusiasm, but those who can do what they think
right in the teeth of a nation’s opposition. Such a man was
Wilson, standing alone, dying, against the American people
for what he knew to be the salvation of the world. Another
is Gandhi.

‘But all Indians are not Gandhis. If Gandhi was right to
consider his people, I had to consider mine. I believed in
making South Africa a white man’s country. I opposed
Gandhi.’

At the first sitting of the new Parliament the rejected
ordinance concerning Asiatic registration was revived, it
was passed unanimously, and almost without debate, by
both Houses, and the Imperial Government ratified it.

An Immigration Act was also passed.

5

When the deputation of Indians went to London to com-
plain to the British Parliament about the registering of their
finger-prints, the Speaker himself investigated the matter
and found that finger-prints were used in India. Ex-officials
and ex-soldiers, for instance, could not get their pensions
before registering their finger-prints. When, however,
Smuts mentioned this in the Transvaal Parliament, point-
ing out that they had given their finger-prints in Milner’s
time, various Indians rcplied that no more than one finger-
print was ever used in India, and that they had only given
Milner their right thumb. They said right thumb-prints
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were taken of Mussulmans going to Mecca, because often
Mecca pilgrims returned from their holy shrine with
plague. They said left thumb-prints werc taken of habitual
criminals. They said it way against their religion to give all
their finger-prints. They offered to give their right thumb-
prints.

Smuts said thumb-prints alone had been found, in prac-
tice, insufficicnt. He demanded ten finger-prints. One
hundred thousand Indians in Natal, he said, had given their
ten finger-prints without demur, and so had the sixty
thousand mndentured Chinese. Finger-prints, he said, were
the only safegiard against the forged, fraudulent certificates
that could be bought by an Indian in Durban, Johannes-
burg or Bombay. Withoutr finger-prints the certificates
meant simply nothing at all.

The Act gave the Indians until November 3oth to re-
gister.

The Indians refused to register. They picketed the regis-
tration offices to prevent backsliding attempts to register.
Gandhi came to plead with Smuts, and Smuts replied
through his secretary that he would ‘carry out in full the
provisions of the Asiatic Law Amendment Act, and if the
resistance of the Indians residing in this country led to results
which they did not seriously face at present they would
have only the:nselves and their leaders to blame’.

Out of the t2n thousand Indians liable to registration, five
hundred registered, mostly men, said the Indian Associa-
tion, who had no right to be in the Transvaal. The others
faced the rigcurs of the Act: deprivation of their trading
licences, imprisonment, deportation. That was the work of
Gandhi. Ganchi had begun his long war against Smuts.
On November 3oth their opportunity to register departed.

What was Smuts to do. Ten thousand Indians were liable
to imprisonment or deportation. Was he to put ten thou-
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sand Indians over the border? Who would reccive them?
Was he to send them to gaols? Where was he to find the
gaols for them? He extended the registration period by a
month. The end of December arrived. Still the Indians had
not registered and would not register. They preferred to go
to gaol. They went to gaol. Gandhi went with them.

6

The gaols of the Transvaal are not built for Indian pas-
sive resisters. They are built for European and native
criminals. The Indians had to go to the native quarters of
the gaols. The cells were verminous. In one small yard in a
Johannesburg gaol a hundred and fifty Indians occupied
the space meant for forty-five.

The food natives get m gaol is mealie-meal mixed with
animal fat. The Indians’ religion forbade animal fat. In
Johannesburg butter was given instead of fat and rice in-
stead of mealic-meal. But in Pretoria the system of pap and
fat was firmly maintained, undl pap alone was given.

It was January, which ought to be a beautiful month in
Johannesburg, with wild thunderstorms and quick, healing
sun and the air fresh and lively. But it can be hotin January.
It was hot that January. Sometimes Indians fainted. The
prison officials (who also were not designed for Indian
passive resisters) made protests against the Indians, and the
Indians made protests against the officials. There were pro-
tests in England. Smuts held constant Cabiner meetings.

From prison Gandhi suggested that if he could see Smuts
he might be able to remove some misunderstandings.
Smuts said he ‘was not conscious of any misunderstandings’,
and he had nothing further to say. ‘No useful purpose would
therefore be scrved at this stage by the proposed interview.’

But then he changed his mind. He agreed to negotiate.
Hehad a meeting wich Gandhi, and they came to an arrange-
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ment that i7 the Indians, who had lost their opportunity of
registering . cgally owing to the expiration of the time limit
—if the Indians in a body now came forward and regis-
tered voluniarily, Smuts would ‘lay the whole matter be-
fore Parliament’, and they would be given three months to
register, and during these threc months no one would be
prosecuted under the Act, and the leaders would be allowed
to sign instead of giving their fimger-prints, and they, for
their part—:he leaders—would induce their compatriots to
register and even assist the Government against offenders.

Letters passed between Smuts and Gandhi (with two
others), setting forth the terms of the agreement: “We re-
cognise’, said Gandhi, ‘that it is not possible during the
Parliamentary recess to repeal the Act, and we have noted
your repeated public declarations that there is no likelihood
of the Act being repealed.’

What did he mean by this? That che Indians expected the
Act to be repealed after the Parliamentary recess, but yet
understood from Smuts’ public declarations that it could
not be repealed? That if the Indians gave him the mere
symbol of their voluntary tegistration, he would succumb
to their spiritual blackmail, .condone their resistance of his
law, yield their demands, forgo further measures, show all
the world how to beat him in future—that, seriously, he
would climb down? Could anyonc believe it of Smuts?
There were those who, when he proceeded to release the
Indians, did believe it. He himself (a red light of danger)
admitted it. ‘The position I take up in all my public life is
that the man who cannot climb down is a small and con-
temptible man. . . . And if one has made a mistake the
sooner one climbs down the better. I do not mind climb-
ing down. I am accused of being too prone to climbing
down. . .. I secure my object at the same time. The Indians
said they would never submit to finger-print registration.
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They have submitted. 1 have told them that the law will
not be repealed so long as therc is an Asiatic in the country
who has not registered. . . . Until every Indian in the
country has registered the law will not be repealed.’

In the House of Commons Asquith explained that ‘the
just cause of grievance on the part of the Indians has been
removed without sacrificing the policy on which the white
population in the Transvaal is uniced’.

In his Recollections Morley noted that after a long talk
with Botha in London Botha assured him he ‘would do his
very best to mitigate the sharpness of the anti-Asiatic ordi-
nance, and in truth chat is an unwritten condition of a cer-
tain favour that the Government have agreed to do for him
in a financial dircction’.

The ‘certain favour’ was a loan of five million pounds.
People in the Transvaal said that Smuts had climbed down
to the Indians for this five million pounds.

7

So now the Indians registered. They registered, in terms
of the Gandhi-Smuts compromise, voluntarily. Even the
overflowing leaders gave their finger-prints. They waited
to see what Smuts would do.

They might have expected that, whatever he did do, he
would not be altogether defeated by Gandhi’s soul force,
nor yield his anti-Asiatic principles.

He drafted in one measure an amendment of the Immi-
gration Act and a repeal of the Asiatic Act. Henceforth no
Asiatics at all, whatever their attainments or standing, were
to enter the Transvaal. The certificates of those who had
voluntarily registered were validated. He held that this pro-
posed measure ratified his promise to the Indians.

Gandhi held it did not. He held that the repeal of the Act,
linked as it was with complete and specific refusal of all
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further Asiatic immigration, was worse than the Act itself
—a morc terrible humiliation even than finger-print regis-
tration. No Indians at all--no Indians however good or
great! He asked Smuts if he would not let even six Indians
a year enter--Indians of the most cultured class, submitting
to the most stringent tests—that there might only not stand
against then. this ugliness of a total prohibition. ‘Do not
dishonour us’, he pleaded (and Smuts himself—a softer
Smuts—came to repeat these words on the Indians’ behalf
seventeen years later): ‘Do not dishonour us. We recognise
that there must be distinctions, but do not cast a stigma
upon us in t1e laws of your country.’

The iron Smuts of 1908 refused. He offcred Gandhi the
draft bill or nothing.

Gandhi said he preferced nothing. Indians burned their
certificates. Smuts withdrew the draft bill and substituted
a new one that had no rcladion to the terms of their com-
promise. Still another Act was passed which put them in a
worse positon than they had been under Kruger—hence-
forth they could not live in any proclaimed gold-mining
area.

An Act was also, however, passed which Smuts said was
a fulfilment of his promise to the Indians to validate the
voluntary r2gistration,

8

Gandhi said it was not a fulfilment of his promise to the
Indians. He said it was not the repeal of the Asiatic Regis-
tration Act

Smuts said he had not promised to repeal, without quali-
fication at all, the Asiatic Registration Act. He referred
Gandhi to various of his public speeches. Gandhi countered
with the climb-down specch. Smuts pointed out the words
of Gandhi’s own letter to him: “We recognise that it is not
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possible during the Parliamentary recess to repeal the Act,
and we have noted your repeated public declarations that
there is no likelihood of the Act being repealed.” Gandhi
said it was not on Smuts’ formal promises alone he rested.
He had a personal promise from Smurs.

Smuts denied a personal promise. There had been no
more between them, he said, than a general discussion.

The facetious rumour went about that Gandhi and Smuts
had been talking philosophy and so had become hazy about
everything else. Gandhi and Smuts, however, never got to
the philosophy stage until they met in London many years
later.

The immediate question was setcled when, in July 1908,
an Indian called Aswat brought a casc before the Transvaal
Supreme Court. Aswat declared he had sent in his pre-war
permits in order to get a form for voluntary registration.
The conditions under which he had applied for this form—
namely, the repeal of the Act—had not been fulfilled by
the other side. He therefore demanded both his permits and
his application.

The Court held it was extremely unlikely the Colonial
Secretary (Smuts) would have agreed to repeal the Act.
It said the words of Gandhi’s own letter were evidence that
the Indians had not expected the Act to be repealed. As to
the verbal promise, the Registrar of Asiatics, who had been
present at the interview, supported the Colonial Secretary.

The Court decided that the Colonial Secretary had under-
taken ‘to accept registration in a form similar to that pre-
scribed by the Act, and then to lay the matter before the
Parliament at its next session’, but not to repeal the Act. It
decided that the voluntary registration form was in the
position of a letter which became the property of the per-
son to whom it was written, and could not therefore be re-
claimed, but that the permits had to be retumned because
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they had becn sent in merely for temporary purposes of
registration. [t awarded costs against the applicant.

The law, i1 short, supported Smuts and not Gandhi.

So passive resistance was resumed. Indians came into
the Transvazl, were deported and came again; were im-
prisoned, released, deported and came again. Gandhi prac-
tised his vows of chastity—Brahmacharya.

The years passed. Union came. Old laws were repealed.
New laws replaced them that still forbade the Indians to
enter South Africa or move from province to province.
There was just one concession made which greatly pleased
the British Giovernment: the word Asiatics was not used.
A new Act excluded ‘any person or class of person deemed
by the Minister (of the Interior) on economic grounds or
on account of standards or habits of life to be unsuited to
the requirements of the Union or any particular province
thereof’. And Smuts forthwith issued an order (which was
years later tested in the Appellate Division of the Supreme
Court and upheld) ‘deeming’ all Asiatics unsuited, on the
grounds mentioned, to the requirements of the Union.
Gandhi subdued his passions furcher by giving up salt and
peas, but acquicsced in the new Act, since it did not formally
in terms differentiate against Asiatics, and had the approval
of the Britisk Government.

Yet even now the end was not come. Now, on threats
of a new passive resistance movement, Gandhi demanded
the repeal of the three pounds tax imposed on the Indians
permanently scttled in Natal, on the ground that it con-
stituted 2 racial differentiation against Indians. Smuts re-
fused to be coerced, and so, for the last time, the Indians
defied the law and offered their bodies for punishment.
Two thousar.d of them, led by Gandhi, crossed from Natal
into the Transvaal and invited arrest.

They were arrested. Gandhi himself was sent to the
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Bloemfontein gaol. ("The prospect of uninterrupted study
for a year filled me with joy.”) Other Indians were sent to
other gaols. Those who could not be accommodated in
gaols were sent to work in the mines. The Indians in India
made trouble for the Ilns_gh:.h The Viceroy intervened.
‘General Smuts’, says Gandhi, ‘was in the predicament of a
snake that has made a mouchful ofa rat which it can neicher
gulp nor cast out.” Gandhi’s holiday in gaol was abruptly
ended. A Commission of Enquiry was arranged, and
Gandhi went to Smuts to express his dissatisfaction with
some of its members. ‘I saw that General Smuts did not
ride the same high horse as before, when the great march
began. At that time the General would not so much as talk
to me. . . . But now he was ready to confer.’

He gave Gandhi his victory. What was Gandhi’s victory?
For what had he striven through five years? For a few
things, such as voluntary registration, the remission of the
three pounds tax in Natal, and the legitimisation of poly-
gamous wives, which were now granted in an Indian Relief
Act, but chicfly for the deletion from the laws of the word
Asiatic, Not the spirit. Not the fact. Merely the word.

So now there was a triumphal fare well banquet at which
Gandhi and his wife, small and slight as children, with gar-
lands over their shoulders, drank each a cup of water, and
two days after the Great War began Gandhi landed in Eng-
land, and from England he weut to India, there to practise
what he had learnt in Africa. . . .

And there came a time during the war when Smuts said
of the Indians who had served under him: ‘I wish here
publicly . . . to repeat that I have had no more loyal, de-
voted and brave troops under me than those troops from
the Indian Empire, and I think the voung South Africans
who went with me, who fought side by side with those
heroes from Asia, to-day have more kindly feelings than
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they had before towards the Indian population of South
Africa. ...

But yet, in the end, he could not go back on his funda-
mental prin iples about Asiatics: “We Fnuud a formula,” he
told the Imperial War Cabinet in 1921, ‘a general form of
words which did not mention Indians or Asiatics in par~
ticular, but which had the effect of placing it in our power
to stop turther immigration on any appreciable scale.

“Whatever may be the position in the British Empire as a
whole, in Scuth Africa we are not based on a system of poli-
tical equality. The whole basis of our particular system in
South Afric rests on incquality and on recognising funda-
mental diffc-ences which existin the scructure of our popu-
lation. We started asa small white colony in a black con-
tinent. In the Union the vase majority of our citizens are
black, probzbly the majority of diem arc in a semi-barbar-
ous state still, and we have never in our laws recognised any
system of equality. . .. Itis the bedrock of our constitution.

. Thar is the fundamental position from which we start.
That is the colour question.

“The Indian question with us is an entirely subordinate
question. . . . But you cannot deal with the Indians apart
from the wl ole position in South Africa; you cannot give
political rights to the Indians which you dcny to the rest of
the coloured citizens in South Africa. If you touch the
Indian position you must go the whole length. ...

Some of the other delegates were shocked by this, but
Mr. Winston Churchill said it would be affectation and
humbug to pretend there would be no great changes in the
laws of the land if hundreds of thousands of Indians—or
perhaps millions—were to enter England and seriously
compete with her working and clerical classes. He under-
stood South Africa’s position.
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9

So Smuts, it seems, defeated Gandhi in South Africa. To
whatend? . ..

There is that happening in our world which has not hap-
pened before in history. The great players have taught the
litle players their game and now everyone knows. The
secret is gone, power is gone, aristocracy is gone, both
among men and nations, and gone for ever. Can it be other-
wise than that Europeans have a few more years in India
and so many times a few more years in Africa? Till the eyes
close, however, and nerves and thoughts lie still, men cling
to what they have—dream and desire, power and posses-
sion—not more willing to abandon such increase of them-
selves than of the very eyes and nerves and thoughts of their
naked birth. Till the Indians or Africans dispossess them, the
Europeans will hold what they have, and what they were
they will leave behind them. On that system men live and
on that system nations, which are men too, act.



Chaptcr XXVII

A UNION OF BROTHERS

I

t had been understood, when Smuts came from Eng-

land with responsible government, that now the way

was clear fer that to happen of which many had drecamt
—a union of South African states. Half a century before,
Grey, the Cape Governor, had thought of it, and, after him,
Carnarvon, the Colonial Secretary—scnding Anthony
Froude to Souh Africa to spy out hopes. Two Transvaal
Presidents had thoughe of it-—cach in his own way—Bur-
gers and Kruger. Hofmeyr had thought of it. Within the
last ten years Rhodes had wanted to make it with gold
(‘If only one had a Johannesburg! . . . Then you would
have a great commonwealth. Then you would have a
union of states’), and Milner with war. Smuts, inheriting
Rhodes’ idea (‘Rhodes was a seminal mind. His thoughts
bore fruit’), inheriting also-Miluer’s painful achievement,
crystallised union with words.

2

Responsible government, the first resule of his words,
had been promised but not yet granted the Transvaal and
Orange River Colony, when there appeared in a Cape
Town Dutch newspaper called Ons Land a series of articles,
saying the time was now come for union. In the month
that saw the proclamation of responsible government for
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the Transvaal—in December 1906—Lord Selborne, the
High Commissioner, was asked by Dr. Jameson, the Prime
Minister of the Cape, to review the scheme proposed by
Ons Land, and he advocated it in a reasoned dispatch. In
June 1907 the matter was before the Parliaments of the four
states concerned, and they all carried resolutions in favour
of national union. Presently closer union societies were
formed in every important town in every colony. In May
1908 an intercolonial conference met in Pretoria, nomin-
ally to discuss fiscal arrangements, but actually to voice a
declaration that ‘the best interests and the permanent pros-
perity of South Africa can only be secured by an carly
Union, under the Crown of Grear Britain, of the several
self-governing Colonies’. Their resolution was endorsed by
their four Parliaments. A convention sat in Durban and
Cape Town, and on February oth, 1909, the draft constitu-
tion of a united South Africa was published simultaneously
throughout South Africa. A few months later, at Bloem-
fontein, amendments were considered, alterations signed,
and the convention dissolved. Ninetcen South African
statesmen carried the amended draft Act to England, where
it was recast in the shape of an Imperial Bill, and submitted
to Parliament and the Royal Assent. What it had taken the
homogeneous states of Australia—from first conference to
final achievement—over a decade to do, was done by the
warring states of South Africa in exactly two years: On
May 31st, 1910, the Union of South Africa came into
formal existence.

3
“You have probably heard it stated’, said Smuts, when
the draft constitution was published, ‘that a small number
of men, having their own ends to serve, rushed this matter
forward in the face of public apathy and public opposition.
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- The constitution is not a man’s work. It bears the impress
ot a Higher Hand. . .

It is difficulr, however, to avoid the conclusion that
Smuts was the Higher Hand's instrument.

Wherever one looks at the work that preceded union,
there one sees Smuts. He laid the foundation with respon-
sible government. He propagated the idea by letter, talk,
print and public speech. He made the detailed plan. His
energy and enterprise carricd it through.

It was perhaps not strange that he was impatient with his
Indians. While they were passively resisting, to everyone’s
active discomfore, he was preparing—what was he prepar-
ing?—-nothing less than-a pln for South African union,
Before him he 1ad the world's previous unions—its federa-
tions, incorporations, amalgamations. England and Ircland,
Belgium and Holland, Norway and Sweden had been
failures. England and Scocland, the Scates of America and
Germany had oeen successes. I Australia was a success, it
was not because of the expeusive, awkward divergencies
of its seven fedzrated governments.

He studied in pardcular the American Constitution.
Wale Whirman had made it intimace to him, and he had
always thought Alexander Hamilton a greater man than
Washingten. He decided, however, that the American
Constitution was too rigid, gave the federal states too much
power and the central authority too lictle. “We have no
right to atcemot to hamper and bind ourselves down by
any cast-iron system of consticution which only a revolu-
tion can amend.” He envied England indeed, that had no
written constit.ition at all, no document limiting the power
of Parliament. More than ever to-day he sces in this funda-
mental freedor England’s essental serengch.

South Africa could not be like that. Its union had to be
formally made. Yet its constitution, he decided, should be
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as flexible as was possible. And it should be more than a
unjon: a unity. And quite absolute. The four provincial
systems should be completely subsidiary to it.

As soon as his plans were ready he wrote to Merriman,
who had replaced Jameson as Prime Minister of the Cape,
that the time was now come for union. Jameson had said,
concerning his defeat, ‘Federation must wait.” Smuts be-
lieved that it precisely could not wait. The Liberals were
losing ground in England. The Afrikanders were making
ground in South Africa. Would greater Englanders be as
rcady as their opponents to trust South Africa to the ene-
mies of six years ago? From Europe, Steyn, the ex-President
of the Orange Free State, had returned saying that a war
was coming between England and Germany, and what
would happen then ?

Merriman felt with Smuts that union was urgent. ‘Let us
immediately agree upon principles’, he said. ‘Let us imme-
diately agrec upon procedure’, retorted Smuts. Was it their
mission, he asked, to solve in this urgency matters of prin-
ciple? ‘Give us a national Parliament, a national executive,
and trust to them for a solution of those questions that have
troubled us in the past.’

He spoke these words at their first conference at Pretoria
in May 1908. To that confercnce he brought six resolutions,
all relating to the procedure of getting immediate union.
The Parliaments of the four states had hardly endorsed the
first resolution—that the best interests and permanent
prosperity of South Africa were attainable only through
early union—when there he was with his detailed scheme
of union. (So, in 1918, pushing past the vagueness of other
men, he came to have ready for presentation to Woodrow
Wilson his detailed scheme for a League of Nations.)

He wrote to de Villiers, Chief Justice of the Cape, con-
cerning his union scheme: “The paper represents merely my
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personal opinions, If the main ideas are approved, I propose
to prepare a drafc constitution which might largely ex-
pedite the work of the convention: and time is of enor-
mous importance in this macter.’

To the convention itself he broughe along a staff of nine-
teen advisers wnd secretarics—a larger staff than che staffs
of all the other colonies together. He had his brief prepared
to the last detuil, he had it prepared to the extent of being
able and read to modify the last detail; he had his facts,
precedents and arguments; he met objectors with compro-
mises and doubts with that fertile optimism which to this
day hypnotises people into helpless acceptance.

Here were thirty-three mien gathered together, ‘men’,
as Curzon said (he was in Cape Town at the time), ‘whose
names a few vears ago were anathema to each other; men
who not only would have put each other to death, but were
within an ace of doing s0; rien who had never before been
in the same room.” Now they were ‘associated not only in
amicable con:lave at the council board but at the dinner
table. ... And there was nor one of them who, while loyal
to his colony or his race or his following, was not more
loyal to the wider cause of South African union within the
sheltering embrace of the British Empire.”

Was it as simple as all that? The subsequent history of
South Africa docs not suggest it. How often, indeed, had
Smuts not at the convention to use the final South African
argumenc: ‘Alles sal reg kom’—everything will come right.
Did Natal fear Dutch predominance? Let Natal have a re-
ferendum. Did the Cape say the capital had to be in Cape
Town and did the Transvaal say the capital had to be in
Pretoria? Let there be two capitals. Two capitals? an im-
poss1b1hty “Without it’, said Smuts, ‘there will be no un-
ion.” Did the Transvaal and Free State insist on rejecting
the native franchise? Did the Cape insist on retaining it?
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(And A. W. Lloyd draws a cartoon showing Merriman as
Botha’s bride, and a litdle native, with Native Vote written
across his trousers, crying eagerly towards the bride:
‘Mother! and the bridegroom saving, “This, my dear, is
more than I bargained for’.) Let each state do as it chose
about native franchise. Did everyone wonder what was to
happen to natives as a whole? Why, that was the very rea-
son they had to have union—it required ‘a strong, central,
unified Government’ to solve the native problem. Let
there only be union. Alles sal reg kom.

The people of the country were told nothing of what
was going on except, to test their feeling, that there was
argument about a capital, but Smuts persuaded them
equally.

‘The Boer’, he said to them, his fought for his inde-
pendence, the Englishman has fought for his Empire, all
have fought for what they considered highest. Now the
highest is union. . . . We do not know what lies ahead of
us. To-day we are standing under the majesty and in the
safety of the British flag, but we do not know what will be
the case a hundred years hence, and there is only one thing
the people of South Africa can do—-become a united peo-
ple. Let us have a union, not of top-dog and under-dog,
but of brothers.”

‘We in South Africa have been the spectators and actors
in great events in the history of the world, they have
stitred the passions and imaginations of the whole world,
but we are now in for a bigger work than ever before. Let
us see it through.’

‘Let us make one big South Africa and do our best as
wise and prudent sons of South Africa to start a union here
and to rule the country from Table Bay to the Congo and

even beyond that. Let us be the inventors of a great South
Africa’
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And when the nineteen delegates took the draft Act to
England, and Ealfour described it as ‘the most wonderful
issue out of all ¢ 10s¢ divisions, controversies, battles, blood-
shed, devastaticn and horrors of war, and of the dificulties
of peace’, and it passed through the Commons with only
an alteration concerning Asiatics, and went then to the
Lords—when, n the House of Lords, irs fate was assured,
and peers depasted from benches and delegates from gal-
leries, one only of the men who had made and brought the
Act remained-—that one whose thoughts were its funda-
ment: Smuts. Above him, his head on the rails, strained
and passionate, sat the native Tengo Jabavu, hearing, for his
black brothers what the Epglish Parliament had to say
concerning their hope and fate under the Union of South
Africa.



Chapter XXVIII
THAT THREE HUNDRED POUNDS

I

heltering embrace of the British Empire’—‘most won-

derful issue out of all those horrors of war and difficul-

ties of peace’—"Alles sal reg kom’—now to business!
There was, of course, immediate trouble. Botha was
chosen to be the first Prime Minister of the Union, and it
hurt Merriman and his Cape Province to the last degree.
Merriman was twenty-otie years older than Botha; he had
twenty times Botha's paramentary experience and twenty
times his education; he was Primec Minister of the classic
European state in South Africa; he belonged to the con-
quering race—even if he had supported the Boers in the
Boer War; he represented England i this deal between the
English and Dutch. It was too terrible a chivalry that the
first Prime Minister of the Union should be a Boer, however
great. Mcrriman could not but feel himself betrayed and
sacrificed. Botha became to him the symbol of a wrong.
‘He is going to humbug us, for sure,” he said, and included
Smuts in his grand distrust. Smuts told Parliament this a
few years later: ‘Mr. Merriman admitted to me that he had
doubted General Botha and myself. He used to think that,
in the hour of trial, we should not stand by the policy we
preached.” To his constituents Merriman painfully wrote:
‘I'shall give my support to the present Administration, bear-
ing in mind thosc noble words of the great Nelson: “How-
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ever his services may be received it is not right for an officer
to slacken in s zeal for his country....”” But he could not
raise his heart o the level of his words. He could not bring
himself to serve under Botha. He remained in the House, a
private member, a long, thin, stooping, fading, shadowy
old man.

2

A thing with which Botha and Smuts were concerned
just before the first Union Parliament met did not help Mer-
riman to great faith in them. Pardy out of that exuberance
which had irduced them to_present the King with the
Cullinan diamond as a thankoffering for responsible gov-
crnment, par:ly out of what they considered a moral, if
not a legal, obligation—just to make everyone happy—
they encouraged the last Transvaal Parliament to vote each
of its members three hundred pounds instead of the forty-
two pounds to which, for the period they had sat, they
were actually entitled.

Ir must be realised that not every Transvaaler was as
eager as Smuts for union. To begin with, there was the
underlying Eocer fear of linking up with the older English
colonies and so perhaps losing the new-won Boer inde-
pendence. Then there was the fact that of all the colonies
the Transvaal was the only one that had wealch, and really
terrific wealth. ‘Here in the interior of South Africa’, Smuts
told Parliamant, ‘you have one of the richest mineral parts
of the world —it'not the richest known in history. . . . And
the whole economic system of the world is to a large ex-
tent dependent on the Transvaal and will be in the furure.’

He gave this as an argument for union. But there were
many who saw in it an argument against union. Why use
all this weal:h to no better purpose ‘than the rehabilitation
of three other colonies-—all in financial trouble—two of
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them English, and the third a friend in need, but, if one
faced the truth, in a constant state of bankruptcy? Why
undertake in perpetuity the burden of carrying the whole
of South Africa, instead of doing—what could one not do
for onesclf with sixty—eighty—miles of gold mines, a
mile—two miles—deep?

Compared with such considerations, the business of
members’ salarics was insignificant. But it was personal.
There was talk of members facing the abrupt ending of
their public careers, and, in conjunction with that, an ab-
rupt termination, to some of them, of their private means.
Were they not entitled to have their immediate needs safe-
guarded? Were they not entitled to the compensation, in
lieu of notice, that any private concern would have given
its employees on the eve of a grand amalgamation? They
made themsclves indignant about it, and Smuts, to this day,
says they were right.

The old Transvaal Audit Act contained special provi-
sions for the issue by Government of sums classed as “un-
authorised expenditure’. These sums might only be paid
on a warrant signed by the Governor, and never while
Parliament was sitting. The Lower House (the elected As-
sembly) passed unanimously a resolution that cach member
should get three hundred pounds instead of this forey-two
pounds which was his legal due. As there seemed danger
of opposition in the Upper House (the nominated Council),
Smuts decided not to bring it before the Upper House at
all. The Deputy Governor, on the authority of one House
alone, and against the provisions of the Audit Act, was
asked to issue a warrant for the moncy. . ..

There were members of the ignored Council who ap-
plied to the Supreme Court, as Transvaal tax-payers, for
an interdict restraining the Government from making these
payments. The Supreme Court declared the payments il-
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legal, but, as uo one had suffered any particular damage, re-
luctantly could find no remedy for the tax-payers except
in the hands of the Crown. The Deputy Governor con-
sulted the Celonial Office, who said it was his duty to do
as his ministers requested. He signed the warrant, and over
twenty thousand pounds was distributed among the dear
old members of the last Transvaal Parliament. That was the
spirit. The councillors who had gone to law refused in~
dignantly to take their share. In the House of Commons
thg Conscrvasives proposed ‘the severest condemnation on

the Colonial Office for having authorised the Deputy Gov-
crnor, the representative of the King, to become a partner
in a definitely declarcd breach of the law.’

Sir Rufus Isaacs, at the time Solicitor-General, and
Colonel Secly, the Under-Secretary for Colonies, defended
the Imperial Government.

‘Do I understand,” asked Balfour, ‘do I understand the
Right Honourable gentleman to lay down the proposition
chat, within a few days of the highest court in the land say-
ing that a course is illegal, chat course is to be taken by the
Governor, if his ministers think it right for him to do it?’

Colonel Seely: Yes.

Balfour: I must say that, in the whole history of consti-
tutional govcrnment, so far as [ know it, a more singular
transaction has never taken place, or a more interesting
example of financial management by a single chamber,
or one whicl. throws a more curious light upon the view
which His Majesty’s Government take of the dutes they
propose to throw upon the Colonial Governors they send
out to these great Dominious. . . .

Not merely the dear old members but the dear old Trans-
vaal itself got a farewell present through Smuts: the Trans-
vaal was about to undertake the burden of the whole Un-
ion. Let at least the money it had on hand not be thrown
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immediately into the pool with the debts of all the pro-
vinces, and, in his words, ‘frittered away’ on their various
necessities that union was inheriting. Once they legislated
in a union, yes, Everything then for everybody. (“The pool-
ing of assets, the pooling of beliefs and the pooling of
patriotism.”) Now with the last of its own money, Smuts
proposed that the Transvaal should celebrate union as was
fitting and glorious. He put at Sir Herbert Baker’s dis-
posal the Transvaal’s own money for the Union Buildings
at Pretoria—not a mere twenty thousand, but nearly all
they cost, which was a million and a half.

He has not since regretted, nor has the Union, that care-
free deed, but he was criticised for it at the time.



Chapter XXIX
MERELY JAN CHRISTIAN SMUTS

I

t may be almitted that Smuts has, on several occasions

during his forty years of public life, taken the law into

his own hends—simply told himself that the particular
circumstances made law or convention impossible, and he
would do what he personally felt the instance demanded,
and people m:ght object but he would pacify them after-
wards, and, whether he pacified them or not, he knew he
was right, anc. that was all the justification he needed. A
perilous doctrine. Such doctrines destroy the sanctity of
law and the liberty of nations. A doctrine, at the same time,
that, like the breaking of the laws of grammar and com-
position, geniases, for a certain effect, dare permic them-
selves.

It sometimes charms Smuts to call himself a shady poli-
tician. ‘Yus, yes,” he says, Puck pushing Prospero from his
face, ‘Tam one of those shady politicians you hear about.’

Butit is the erect man, and not the hunchback,who men-
tions his stocp. Whatever has been said of Smuts—and
much has been said, for he is an inexplicable man to South
Africans: their history does not give precedents for men
like him—no one, in all his years, has ventured to suggest,
has thought to suggest, that Smuts would ever use his public
power for private gain.

The idea tiat money, or the things money can buy,
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might influence Smuts in the least degree is as absurd as that
they might influence Gandhi himsclf. “What do T want with
money?” he asks. “What could I do with it? Rhodes needed
money for his work. But I don’t. Moncy would be a nuis-
ance to me. Nothing but a nuisance. I should always have
to be wasting my time thinking how to use or invest it
My children would be tempted to become loafers. Have I
not burdens enough? Why should I burden myself with
money?
‘Besides, I don’t find money interesting.’

2

‘Besides’ is, however, the wrong word.

The essential, not the additional, reason why a man fails
to concern himself with a thing is that it does not interest
him. Money, apart from the tedium of carning or spending,
is a game. Smuts avoids playing the money game as he
avoids playing any game that bores him.

For this reason, indeed—because he had no interest in
moncy—he was not, in the first Union Parliament, con-
sidered a first-race Minister of Finance. He understood the
technique of figures (had headed mathematical lists at
examinations as he headed lists in any subject anywherc)
and his budget speech itself was satisfactory. But his op-
ponents called him an indifferent and casual administrator,
and, despite one or two significant inspirations he has had
(such as following England off gold in 1931, which he cried
up fifteen months before any other political leader did
much besides jeer at him), it is not thought in South Africa
that Smuts is a genius about money.

He does not act, in his private life, like a genius about
money. The financiers with whom he has public contact do
not influence his puritan outlook. He never makes the large,
exciting transactions he might with all the information he
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gets about n-ines and shares, and as many South Africans
do on the most casual gossip. For nothing but the needs of
his children or farms has he ever taken an overdraft. He
would not dream of buying shares on margin, or mort-
gaging a farin to make what he knows will be a successful
deal on the 3tock Exchange. “Why didn’t you buy gold
shares when we went off gold and you, of all people, knew
shares must boom?” ‘I hadn’t the money.” “You could have
borrowed it.” ‘T don’t borrow money to buy shares. The
few shares Thave I bought with cash and they have all gone
down. I don't understand shares. [ don’t like to ask people
about them. I understand land, and I put my savings into
land.’

The economic attitude in the Smuts household is: Can
we afford to send the children to Cambridge? Will the old
car last another vear? Can we afford to import a new bull?
Would it pa>r us to breed pigs? What shall we do about our
milk? Is this cheaper than that? Are we managing to save
money?

For, indifferent as Smuts is to the money game, absolutely
as he has pu: his public before his private life, despite that
sort of temperament people have agreed to call artistc
though it has nothing to do with art, Smuts provides, in the
simple way of his ancestors, for his family. He believes in
farms.

3

He first came to the idea of farming when union was
under way. 'The dual capital business had to do with it.
For here it the difficulty men in the north have in mak-
ing; policics their career. As anywhere in the world, a
Cabinet Mirister can live on his salary but a private mem-
ber can not, and the possibility of defeat at elections has to
be considercd. A member must accordingly have means in
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addition to his Parliamentary salary, or the background of a
business or profession. Practically no South Africans have
independent means. Cape Town, the legislative capital, is
a thousand miles from Johannesburg or Pretoria. How is 2
young man in the north to conduct simultaneously his
private and his public life? In fact, he cannot: and this is the
reason why, in South Africa, the affairs of Parliament are
not inevitably in the best hands.

Smuts, when it became clear that Cape Town was to get
the legislative capital, had to make arrangements for his
future and family. There were, by 1909, a son and three
daughters (another son and daughter followed). What in-
evitably enters the mind of any South African when he
wants to make himself secure, well though he knows that
nothing in South Africa is less secure? He buys himself a
farm,

Smuts bought himself a farm.

The farm he bought lies outside a village called Irene.
It is ten miles from Pretoria and twenty-seven from Johan-
nesburg and its name is Doornkloof. As he had not much
moncy, he decided first to build himself a cheap temporary
home, and latcr, when the farm paid and so on, to change
it for something better. He bought, accordingly, for three
hundred pounds, a corrugated iron building that during
the Boer War had houscd British officers, and this he car-
ried in sheets to Doornkloof to make a house of it. It grew
into an unexpectedly big house, but, unexpectedly also,
it took a year to erect, and that ercction cost a thousand
pounds. . . . The family moved in, Mrs. Smuts made a little
garden in front of the house, she had thousands of trees
planted, farming began.

What Smuts says about the farm at Irene is that any-
thing he has put into it is there and he has, from childhood,
he says, been considered the best farmer in his family. But
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what Mrs. S:nuts says is that, with Smuts’ aristocratic ideas
of keeping cows costing a hundred pounds, so superior that
they simply ‘will not bother to live, he improves the brecd
of South Afvican cattle gencrally, but he does not make
money. The farm is accordingly a model farm in South
Africa—imported cattle, engines, refrlgcrators, water
drawn by elcctricicy—but the old corrugated iron house
has never been replaced, though one or two odd buildings
have been crected besides.

This is the wayv the housc looks:

It is a squars, single~storcyed house of no particular style,
painted green with a narrow wooden verandah all the way
round. It does not look a big house from the outside, but it
has several enormous living rooms and eleven bedrooms.
The inside of the house is lined with wood, blue or green (a
fire would have a grand opportunity), and practically every
single thing that, durmg the last quarter century, has en-
tered the hous: scems still to be there. At chis lietle decrepit
table children sat when they firse arrived at Doornkloof,
and now grandchildren sit there. This drawing—room furni-
ture was bought from relations twcnty years ago: ‘It did
not’, says Mis. Smuts ‘Took well m their house. But it is all
r1ght for curs.” Here are groups of bearded Republicans.
Here are signad photographs of royalties and generals.
Here are elephant tusks on a stand—" presented’. Here arc
pictures—artist’s offering. Here ate ornaments—we have
always had them. Here are just things—they are South
African things. South African things arc a passion.

The only articles that arc gone of the accumulations of
half a lifetime are those given to married children—the
best. But twelve chairs remain that Smuts’ grandfather
made. and a great old cupboard that has always been in the
familv. For the rest, nobody troubles about quality or
beauty except that Smuts troubles about his books. And
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nobody troubles what anybody does anywhere in the house
as long as nobody troubles Smuts among his books. His
library isinviolate. Grandchildren may struggle under tables
and over chairs, and shout up and down passages, and make
noises in trees, but there is no grandchild so young (nor any
being so intimatc) that he does not know the library is,
normally speaking, forbidden him.

Smuts’ library has quality. It is tall and big and green-
walled. Near the ceiling hang the flags he captured in Ger-
man East and West; the rifle and bandolier he used in the
Boer War; a Bushman bow with poisoned arrows from
German West; a native shield and spears; a German I~
perial shicld. There are four original Punch cartoons. The
desk (‘presented’) fits a statcsman. There is not a book that
has no meaning.

Here he comes to sit by himself. The house may be full
of people: relations, connections, sick friends, children, the
friends of children, grandehildren—the people Mrs. Smuts
invites in her large heart and out of old Boer tradition . . .
Smuts sits in his library by himself. He asks into it people
who come on necessary business—the family does not ob-
trude.

The family never obtrudes on Smuts’ individual life, not
even Mrs. Smuts. He goes where he wants and does what
be chooses—the family makes no demands. ‘T am frce’, he
says, ‘as an angel.”

Occasionally, when he fecls he would like to talk, he has
into his library a few young people who awesomely ask
him deep, consciously important questions: “What sort of
immormlity do you believe in?’ ‘Do you belicve in psycho-
analysis?” ‘Do you believe in telepathy?’ ‘Do you believe
that war will come from the East, that Africa will go to the
native, that America will link up with England? . . ’
Generally he evades the questions, but sometimes he is
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lured, and he will then deliver himself with originality, but
speaking wide:ly rather than particularly, on the most sur-
prising dwversity of subjects—scientific, literary, philo-
sophical, poli-ical-—anything from Shakespeare to eschat-
ology.

Three or four times a day he walks to his manager’s
house—principally for the reason thae his manager is mar-
ried to his eldest daughter and there are grandchildren.
With these he plays. The feeling Smuts has for children—
anybody’s children, but the younger the better—is a sort of
bewitchment. He carries them in his arms, they clamber
over and under him, they play with his ribbons and orders
and the golden keys with which he has opened this or that
in different peres of the world. He sees in children, because
they are children, extraordinary virtues. He does not ask
whether mankind perhaps really misinterprets Nature in
thinking she wants these cndless couplings that beget chil-
dren to beget children for no purpose but the begetting of
children; nor consider (seeing that oH‘springJ grow rarer as
creation grows higher) whether Nature’s real goal may,
after all, be, not the child=be: aring couple, but the individual
whose destiny it is to fulfil himself with himselfand by him-
sclf and so end his line. The thought that life is going on,
just going on in a broad and broadening strcam to who
knows what, terribly moves him. But he does not really
attempt to exolain why he loves children, nor pretend that
he loves the individual rather than the class. He loves
children and that is all.

4

He docs not love dogs, he does not love gardens, he says
he despises domesticated things. In this access of romanti-
cism he one day decided that he did not want the little gar-
den Mrs. Smuts had planted and the veld must come right
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up to the door. A poetic idea if the veld would indeed
come up to the door. But it doesn’t. The remains of a hedge
still enclose the remains of a garden and then there is a road
and then there are planted ficlds and then there are trees.
The fields and trees about Doornkloof are beautiful. The
air is sweet. There is a screnity that not even the birds and
frogs can destroy. ‘The trees are full of birds. Fruit is stuck
on bare twigs to attract more birds. In the middle of a meal
Smuts and Mrs. Smuts hurry to the door to investigate the
twittering of unidentified, perhaps happily, cven strange
birds. The birds make all sorts of sounds from the flute
notes to the creaking of rusty axles, they awake the sleeper
at dawn, but Smuts finds every bird-noise equally enchant-
ing.

He loves birds, he loves wild plants, he is a notable
botanist. His happiness is to take a car into the veld and look
for new grasses. He is a specialist on grasses. At one time his
library was obstructed by cupboards full of grasses. That
sort of life, life alone on the veld or the mountains, is his
rest. ‘I was so tired’, he said recently, ‘T hadn’t the strength
to do more than climb the mountains.’

He meant the mountains of the Cape, the climbing of
which nearly undid him in February of 1935.



Chaptcr XXX

THE DISSATISFACTION OF GENERAL
HERTZOG

I8

xcept for the few days he wrenches out of time to go

somewlere, except that he sleeps well, Smuts has not

rested for thirty years. Perhaps it is not in him to rest.
Even when he sits still he does not look as if he is resting,
Often he cannot sit stll. He moves about in his chair. He
listens with an cflore. He docs not seem to listen. He rises
suddenly with. a cup in his hand. He walks up and down a
room. . ..

He has never hesitated ro do the work of three or four
men.

In the first Union Parliament he held the offices of In-
terior, Mines and Defence. Presently he substituted for
Mines and Interior that of Finance. The nine other ministers
began with one portfoliocach: ..

There had been some talk before Botha's party took
office of a coalition Governient. How better could union
be exemplified than by a coalition Government? But there
was a limit to -he Boers’ passion for union. What? Jameson
of the Raid? Theyv refused.

An election accordingly took place in which Botha, the
destined Pritne Minister, was defcated at Pretoria—on
account, it was said, of General Hertzog's educadon policy.
But the Boers camec in; Botha got, of course, another seat;
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and, in one form or another, sometimes with the English
and sometimes without, mostly with Smuts but sometimes
without, now in this combination and now in that, under
various names, under recurring names, under different
styles and systemns that remain nevertheless the same, they
have stayed in for a quarter of a century. In the beginning
they complained that they were not sufficiently considered.
It happens, however, that, from the time of union, the
dircceion of Parliament has been in the hands of Boers. To-
day the talk is that all white people are equally South
African. And who knows? Perhaps they are.

2

It has just been said that the Boers complained in the be-
ginning that they were not sufficiently considered. From
the time Smuts had made English compulsory in the Trans-
vaal Education Act and Dutch optional, Boers like General
Hertzog had felt there was discrimination against the Boers,
and, worst of all, by those too conciliatory Boers them-
selves—Botha and Smuts.

As soon as Botha began to form his Cabinet—before even
the results of the polls were announced—he had trouble
about General Hertzog. General Hertzog, being the real,
if not the titular, leader of the Free State’s scventeen repre-
sentatives (it was called the Free State again since union),
had clearly the right to a seat in the Cabinet. Natal, on the
other hand, the most purely British part of South Africa,
distrusted his Anglophobe passion. It seemed impossible that
Natal and the Free State could be happyin the same Cabinet.
He was asked, neverthcless, to come to Cape Town with the
other prospective ministers while Cabinet-making went on.

Cabinet-making went on and he waited. The days passed.
Was he to be invited or not? Patience is not General Hert-
zog's most striking quality. He waited.
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One day Stnuts took breakfast with him. Herc is an ex-
tract from General Hertzog's diary:

‘May 10: Breakfast with Smuts. Smuts suggests I. . . go
to Court of Aspeal. . .. Replied: I could not do so without
playing false to my people. Smuts’ reason for going to
Court of Appeal. ... Thave my doubts re reasons assigned.”

The next thing he heard was that a temporary ministry
would be formed, consisting of only seven members, and
that the remaining three scats would be filled after polling
day.

So this was how they were putting him off! He noted in
his diary Botha's ‘weakness-and lack of principle which
finds such pertect expression in his manner of carrying out
his so-called policy of conciliation.’

It was only a week before the Union Cabinet had to be
announced thet for the first time General Hertzog was in-
vited to meet Botha at his hotel. At the hotel he saw, not
Botha, but Smuts, was taken to Smuts’ room, and Smuts
told him he wes to have the Ministry of Justice. Afterwards
he met Botha, ‘who did not speak a single word to me per-
sonally on the subject, but took up the atttude of having
already finally discussed everything with e, and my in-
clusion in the Ministry and the Department which I was to
control were simply mentioned as a matter which had been
decided. It was known to all.

“There was no mistaking the reluctance with which the
Prime Minister accepted me as a colleague.”

Nor was there any mistaking the resentiment with which
General Hertzog, from that day to the day of Botha's
death and afterwards, regarded this reluctance.

3
No one cxpected the Cabinet to sit out its full term with-
out an explosicon, and it did not. Throughout the next two
271



THE DISSATISFACTION OF GENERAL HERTZOG

years General Hertzog was complaining about Botha’s
treatment of the Boer language, the Boer people, and, more
than anything, himself, their cssential representatlve. Every
now and then he threatencd to resign. ‘T told General Botha
that unless that same morning a resolution was taken to my
satisfaction to put an end to the fecbleness of the Govern-
ment’s conduct, I should that very day put my resignation
in his hands. . . ." ‘I had constantly to struggle with the
Prime Minister, What the result of this was bound to be as
regards General Botha’s attitude to me must be evident to
all who bear in mind how I was included in the Ministry
against his wish. His confidencc was withheld from me and
his attitude became increasingly hostile.” ‘(I told him) I was
not prepared to work with him any longer unless I en-
joyed his confidence, and he showed a more friendly atti-
tude towards me. . .. ‘He could not say a single word in
reply to my charge that he had treated me with want of
confidence.’

It was not that General Hertzog wanted this trouble for
which he was looking. He was looking for it (so these
things are) precisely beeause he did not want it. He saw
himself now the champion of his pcople. He was anxious,
for that reason, to remain in the Cabinet. He made, indeed,
one or two attempts to avoid trouble. Early in 1912 he said
in a public speech: “There is nothing on earth that [ honour
and respect more than the great British Empire, and the
great men and the great deeds by which it was established.
If the day comes—which I hope will never arrive—that the
British Empire has need of men to help her, then I and
those who are of my opinion will be at our posts, and others
possibly not.’

A little while after he seconded a motion for the deletion
of the word ‘National’ from the party constitution: ‘The
word National is too narrow. It refers too much to the
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Dutch-speaking section of the South African people. Our
wish is to form a party which will embrace all white peo-
ple in South Africa. ...

Botha’s party ceased, accordingly, to be the South
African National Party and became the South African
Party. When, however, General Herezog finally quarrelled
with him he called his own party the National Party and
whcn twenty years later, Smuts united the South African

Party with General Hertzog’s National Party the combina-
tion was called the United South African National Party, and
so everything ‘was again as it had been i the beginning.

Before that final quarrel came Botha too tried to be ami-
able. The Minister of Finance had found himself unable to
bear the Minisezr of Railwaysand had resigned. Smuts took
Finance, other rearrangements were made and General
Hertzog was gracefully offered, in addition to Justice,
Native Affuirs.

But how long could ¢his pretence of friendliness go on?
It is in the Dutch character, and particularly in General
Hertzog’s, to bte excessively influenced by personal feel-
ings. The history of South Africa is based on personal feel~
ings. Botha distrusted him and he discrusted Botha. Behind
everything was the conviction that Botha was becoming
intolerably British: attending a conference of Prime Min-
wsters in London which no longer called iwself a Colonial,
but an Imperial. Conference; taking orders from London;
wearing knee-beeches and silk stockings at a King’s levée.
For nothing in his life was Botha so much condemned by
every irreconcil:ble Boer as for those significant silk stock-
ings. They were as the fine clothes of the fallen daughter to
the puritan hous:hold. A Boer of the veld in England’s silk
stockings! Could there be an apter symbol of a national
prosticution? A pair of silk stockings! The very words
sounded an abandonment

M.S,
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Botha came back from the confercence speaking of Euro-
pean immigration to South Africa. He thought South
Africa should make a contribution to the British Navy. He
became an honorary general in the British Army. He be-
came a Privy Councillor. He offered amiabilities about
Rhodes at the unveiling of his memorial at Groote Schuur
—that home Rhodes had bequeathed to the Prime Minis-
ters of South Africa, where Botha was now living, and
where only Dutch Prime Ministers have ever lived.

Well indeed might he wear that pair of silk stock-
ings. ...

It was towards the end of the year that General Hertzog
finally quarrelled with Botha. Or that Botha finally quar-
relled with him. Or that everybody, as was inevitable in a
union so speedy and not entirely composed of Smutses,
finally quarrelled with everybody else.

One day in October 1912 General Hertzog abandoned
himself suddenly to his passion. South Africa would no
longer, he asscreed, consent to be governed by aliens. . . .
They were now making common cause against the forcign
adventurers, chiefly English-speaking, who came to South
Africa. ...

When members of the Opposition in those days met
members of the Government, they barely spoke to one an-
other, Early in December, at a place called de Wilde, Gen-
eral Hertzog declared himsclf once and for all: ‘South
Africa must be governed by pure Afrikanders. . . . The
main object is to kecp Dutch and English scparated. . . .’

‘Tam not one of those who always have their mouths full
of conciliation and loyalty, for these are vain words that
deccive no one. . . . I have always said that I do not know
what conciliation means. . . .’

‘T believe in Imperialism only so far as it benefits South
Africa. Wherever it is at variance with the interests of South

274



THE DISSATISFACTION OF GENERAL HERTZOG

Africa Iam strongly opposed to it. I am ready to stake my
future as a politician on this doctrinc. . . .’

A Govemnraent candidate in a by-clection was defeated
because Botha's party, it was said, spoke with two voices.
A Colonel Leuchars, a Natal minister, proclaimcd that he
would no longer bear General Hertvog s attacks on the
English, bis a:titude of being ready ‘to use the Empire till
he had finished with it and then throw it aside like a sucked
orange’, and he handed in his resignation.

A fellow Free Stater brought General Hertzog a leteer to
sign which offered apology and promised reformation.
But he discovered that Smuts had written the letter and re-
fused to sign. "The man-in whose head it could have come
to write such a thing must either have taken me for a
lunatic, or the place where he belongs is the lunatic asylum.”

Hc refused also to follow the Natal minister out of the
Cabinet.

Next day Botha's private secretary told him that Botha
himself had resigned.

Botha formed a new mmistry. The aggrieved Natal
minister was not in it, not was General Hertzog.

General Hertzog issued a long manifesto: ‘It is our duty
to see that we develop a higher natdonal life. . . . When we
have developed such a 11at10nal fecling, the man of Dutch
speec h and the man of English specch will say, each to cach:

“Your language, vour great men, your historic deeds, your
noble characters are also my language, my great men, my
historic deeds, my noble characters, because we are both
South African ™’

What sentiment could be more admirable?

He ended: ‘T continued to labour loyally at General
Botha’s side, in the firm confidence that his wanderings
were to be atrributed to nothing worse than temporary
aberration in the path of our national welfare. Till the crisis

275



THE DISSATISFACTION OF GENERAL HERTZOG

came I resisted the conviction that there was calculated pur-
pose in his conduct. . . . General Botha’s path is not mine.

. General Botha, the unconcerned surrenderer of the
Dutch people’s rights, I, their champion. . ..

In a House of a hundred and twenty-one members eight
were with him. For another year he remained on the sur-
face a member of Botha’s party. Then he formed a party of
his own which proposed a vote of no confidence in Botha.
In the Free State, Steyn, the ex-President, and de Wet, the
guerrilla ﬁghter (refusing, as he said, to conciliate his neigh-
bour by giving him his shirt), joined him. In the Cape, Dr.
Malan, once a schoolmaster, then a predikant, then the
editor of a paper called Die Burger, joined him. In the Trans-
vaal, Ticlman Roos, a rising barrister, who had already an-
nounced that he would rather ‘stand witch his own people
on a dung-hcap than upon the most glittering platform
with strangers’—he joined him. F. W. Reitz, who had been
Smuts’ associate under Kruger, joined him. The back-
velders joined him.

Here began a fight that, for tweney years, was conducted
first against Botha (with him Smuts), and, on Botha’s
death, against Smuts alone. .. that, after General Hert-
zog’s reconciliation with Smuts, was inherited by Dr. Malan
. .. that disrupted and all but ruined South Africa . . . that,
without question, stimulated the pride, fostered the strength,
preserved the nationality of the Dutch—the Boers—they
called themsclves henceforth the Afrikander people of
South Africa.



Chaptcr XX X1
SMUTS VERSUS STRIKERS

1

Union ... of Brothers. ... The quarrel between

the Ministers of Railways and Finance had been a

quartel between the Cape and Transvaal. The

Hertzog-Botha-Leuchars quarrel had involved the Free
State, Transvaal and Nartal,

Merriman had wanted to be Primie Minister and was not.
Jameson had wanted a coalition Government—there was
not. Beyers, Boer War colleague of Botha and Smuts, ex-
Speaker of the Transvaal Assembly, had wanted to be Union
Speaker—he was not. Botha, exhausted by all these want-
ings, wanted himself to tesign. The Indians were passively
resisting. The farmers were complaining about encroach-
ing natives. The workers weee complaining about the na-
tives. The railwayvmen were threatening to strike. The
miners were threatening to strike. South Africa feared, no
less than Englind, that trouble was coming out of Ger-
many. . ..

From the Colonial—the Imperial—Conference in Lon-
don, Botha and Smuts had brought back ideas concerning
the necessity o defence. And so Smuts, as soon as Parlia-
ment was in it stride, had introduced a schemc for a De-
fence Force. He had already, within a few months after un-
ion, brought forward bills concerning immigration, indus~
erial legislation. census enwmeration, Parliamentary regis-
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tration, public holidays, public service, and (with the pro-
fundity of a practised physician and expert chemist—so
they said) miners’ phthisis. He now spoke for two and a
half hours on the subject of defence—without looking at a
note, without hesitation, and summarising, finally, his
specch in Dutch. . . .

How necessary in the union of brothers was a Defence
Force! Beyers was put at its head. . . .

2

Johannesburg is a thousand miles from Cape Town and
thirty-five miles from Prctoria, It has a growing popula-
tion now of half a million, black and white; the air of a
metropolis; imaginative homes and gardens; and a funda-
mental poverty of city-design that not all its tall buildings
can redeem from a lively ugliness. The mines are part of
Johannesburg. Their dumps, like pyramids of tarnished
silver, may be seen from certain ridges—cven as many as
eighteen or twenty dumps at once-—and at the ends of the
streets. The mines are all round Johannesburg. They run in
a line, which to-day is cighty miles long—wall to wall be-
low the earth, a mile or a mile and a half deep, falling rock
causing the city sometimes to shake—from east to west
through Johannesburg.

The city pursues the mines from east to west. There is
the shopping centre, then come the tall office-buildings,
then the wholesale shops, then the big warehouses and
garages. The shops dwindle from wholesale to retail; Orien-
tal names appear on sign boards; Indian tailor shops appear
—Chinese clubs, native cating houses, the crazy sheds of
corrugated iron in whose yards swarm together black,
brown, yellow and white. Here live the poor whites and
backvelders and down-and-outs, the aspiring Orientals, the
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kraal-escaping; natives—all come to Johannesburg for what
its gold may breed.

The other seople of Johannesburg arc the men in the
c1ty the white-collar men, the overall men; the white
miners undcrground—ne.tr their homes; the natives all
compounded.

The mines ind railways are the only great coherent in-
dustries in Sonuth Africa.

Johannesburg stands six thousand feet above sea-level
and its air is cxciting.

Because of taestrange unmixed population, because of the
maddening industry that carrics all South Africa, because
of the strong high air, cverything searts in Johannesburg.

3

It will be remembered that Smuts, by using force to stop
a miners’ strike in 1907, had antagonised Labour. The
miners in 1913 were no longer what they had been in the
old Transvaal days. The original Cornishmen were dead,
or they were coughing out their stony lungs on phr111s1s
pensions, or they had rcturned to England. And now, in
better, wiser conditions, South Afrlcans had replaced them—
mostly illiterare backvelders to whom a miner’s money had
scemed great wealth—until men had arrived from heaven
knows where to persuade them that things with South
African workers were not as they should be.

General Hertzog began to sec in labouring men support
for his own views. His followers and Labour often voted
together against the Government.

And about the middle of 1013 there broke out the first of
a connected scrics of strikes which continued for nine years,
which were stimulated not merely by class, but by racial
antipathies, and which brought the country to the edge of
destruction.
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The distinguishable starting point was this: a manager on
one of the lesser Rand mines changed the Saturday work-
ing hours of five underground mechanics without what
they regarded as adequate justice or compensation, and all
the workers on that mine went on strike.

They were asked, two days later, to return, and thirty-
one did return. But afterwards, when peace was proposed
between masters and men as a whole, the men insisted on
the dismissal of the thirty-one strike-breakers, and the mas-
ters refused to dismiss them. No onc showed the slightest
tact.

The strike continued. The strikers went from mine to
mine ‘pulling out’, by talk or foree, other miners. The few
police were helpless. Of the thirty thousand imperial troops
left in the country after the 1902 peace, onlyseventcen thou-
sand now rcmained. The old Volunteer Force was dis-
banded and Smuts’ new Defence Force was still in process
of formation. Was the strike timed for this? Many people
wondered.

The strike spread. It spread to the city of Johannesburg
—~that Mecca, as Smuts bitterly called it—of hooliganism.
It involved other industries.

Hooligan mobs—poor whites and out-of-works—joined
the strikers; firearm shops were looted; the houses of strike-
breakers burnt down; casual, innocent men and women
killed. Independent people offered to mediate, but the
working hours of the five underground mechanics, the
original strikers, the original strike-breakers werc affairs
now in the dim and different—the inconsequent—past. In-
tervention was refused by both men and masters, and by
July Smuts was asking Lord Gladstone, the first Union
Governor-General and High Commissioner, for the help
of the imperial troops.

The Colonial Office cabled from England that, as far as
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possible, local troops were ro be used rather than imperial
troops—they preferred the Union of Brothers to settle their
own troubles. Three thousand policermen and a number of
special constables were therefore assembled, and these, with
three thousand imperial troops, opposed the strikers along
the whole Ref, with the necessity also of watching the
quarter-million natives in the mine compounds. They came,
however, as Gladstone himself said, too late—things had
gone too far.

On July 4th rioting broke out in the centre of Johannes-
burg, the railway station and the premises of the Star news-
paper were atzacked and partly burnt down, and the offices
of the minc-cwners were threatened. Nexe day there took
place outside the Rand Club, rendezvous of the mine-
owners, a pitched batcle which Mr. H. G. Wells (on infor-
mation given him by his brother, who lived in Johannes-
burg) has almost accurately described in The Research
Magnificent. The battle was between the police, the im-~
perial troops and the strikers. The Government forces
naturally had the best of it. There was a warning—totally
ignored. . .. ‘Shoot! cried a man called Labuschagne, open-
ing out his arzas and offeri tig his chese, and they did shoot.

Twenty-one people were kdl(,d and forty-seven
woundcd, and some of them were not strikers at all.

4

The battle was merely interrupted when Botha and
Smuts motored up from Pretoria.

They drove through the wild crowds of Johannesburg
city to the Carlton Hotel (which is not, as Mr. Wells thinks,
in sight of the Rand Club). There they met four delegates
representing the Federation of Trade Unions, whose joint
cominittec nuinbered forty-six.

The main entrance of the hotel was guarded by armed
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police. Except for Botha and Smuts, all negotiators carried
revolvers.

While the discussions went on, the strikers raged outside.
There were thousands of strikers and hooligans. The police
and imperial troops watched them.

The strikers’” representatives complained that the police
and soldiery—parading the streets, dispersing the crowds—
were not observing the agreed truce. And if; said someone
in the crowd, if the troops fired, then they, in turn—the
strikers—would shoot Botha and Smuts. “The soldiers’, de-
clared a strike leader afterwards, ‘had their rifles at the
“present”, and I heard one of the men say to the Generals
words to the effect that did the troops open fire, the Gen-
erals would be shot. I don’t know who said it, but it was
said. Both General Smuts and Botha were covered by two
of our men with revolvers, and if the troops had shot down
anyonc at the moment I was satisfied that the two Generals
would have lost their lives. I can assure General Smuts that
he and General Botha were covered.’

Smuts says he has no-doubt people carried firearms and
offered threats, but ncither did he and Botha know they
were covered, nor were they physically compelled. “We
made peace because the police and imperial forcesinformed
us that the mob was beyond their control, and that if quict
was not immediately restored, anvthing could happen in
Johannesburg that night: the town might be sacked, the
mines permancntly ruined. We were not in a position to
think of our own feelings. We could not afford to wait un-
til Johannesburg and the mines were blown up. We had to
regain control and prepare for an even worse situation
which might come—which did come. . ..

A peace was made that Smuts told Parliament it humil-
jated him to sign. ‘One of the hardest things [ have ever had
to do’, he called it. ‘But I have learnt in this life that humil-
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iation and d:sgrace are sometimes nccessary in order to
cffect a great public service.” Civil war, he said, threatened,
and so they vielded to the strikers. They made a settle-
ment with the syndicalists (as Smuts called them) which the
syndicalists themselves, he said, hoped would never be
made, since peace was not what they wanted. They yielded
the strikers’ de mands entirely: strikers were to be reinstated.
Scabswere to be dismissed and compensated by the Govern-
ment. Trade unions were to be recognised. Grievances were
to be investigated.

After the settlement the strikers’ representatives went to
their committee for its ratification and Botha and Smuts
drove to another hotel through the threatening crowds.

‘Shoot’, Botha shouted to them. ‘You can shoot, We are
unarmed. But you know this: that we are here to make
peace for you people, and if we are shot, that is all
finished.’

Smuts said nothing. He sat silent in his fury and humilia-
tion. This was not the end, he thought, and if the end held
further humiliaxtion, it would not, he vowed, be the humil-
iation of himself or his Government.

o

)

In Smuts” own constituency of Pretoria West lived and
voted most of the men employed on the station and in the
locomotive werks and running sheds of the railways. In-
censed by rumours of impending retrenchment, they de-
manded the resignation of Botha, they demanded Smuts’
support, as their representative, of that demand. . . . On his
refusal to satisfy them, they howled him down.

Of this dissarisfaction the syndicalist leaders now pro-
posed to take advantage. They were elated at their last vie-
tory over the Government. They presented an ultimatum
to the Government requiring (as Smuts said) ‘an answer of
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. : :

yes” or “no” to a long list of concessions, some calculated
to turn topsy-turvy the whole economy of the Union’.
Failing such concessions, a general strike was to begin
with the stopping of the coal supply, the consequent par-
alysing of the entire railway system, the isoladion of Johan-
nesburg. In a Johannesburg distracted by the thought of
the quarter-million of natives underground (some of whom
were already out of hand) the white miners would take
control. ‘I cannot conceive’, Smuts later told Parliament,
‘anything more diabolical that could have been done by a
hostile invading force than these peaccable citizens pro-
posed to do: To terrorise and starve the community into
abject surrender.’

6

In January 1914 the General Strike Committee issued the
following letter to trades unions:

“The General Strike Committec herewith request your
society to organise all your members into commandos for
the greater efficiency of the Federadon forces.” One strike
leader was appointed Controller of Pickets, and another
Controller of Military Equipment. . . .

Smuts, for his part, called out his citizen force and bur-
ghers and proclaimed martial law along the Reef. Among
the burghers was DeneysReitz with aFree State commando,
and he found, as he rode with them towards the Vaal River
on the way to Johannesburg, that their resentment was not
against the strikers but against Botha, and what they really
wanted to do was to take this excellent opportunity of
attacking Botha. They held meetings and made mutinous
speeches, and it was with difficulty they were persuaded to
fulfil cheir due mission.

At a mining town eight miles from Johannesburg they
were ordered to stop, and there Commandant-General
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Beyers, head of the Union’s defences, came to inspect his
forces.

7

He wore, says Colonel Reitz, full uniform—feathered
helmet, sword and all-—and he addressed them. ‘His speech
was a scarcely veiled attack on the Government and on
Botha and Smuts. He ended by saying that these English
townspeople had forgotten what a Boer commando looked
like, and it wa; time we refreshed their memories. He then
ordered us to follow him through the streets. . . .

‘Our men said openly that Beyers should utilise the com-
mandos on the Recf to overthrow. Botha’s Government,
and I'heard talk of his intending to proclaim a republic. In-
deed, Red Daniel Opperman, by whose side I had fought
at the Battle of Spion Kop . . . told me that Beyers had
asked him the day before whether the burghers would sup-
port him in case he arrested Botha and Smuts. . .

Red Dunie: Opperman--Colonel Opperman—after-
wards told Smuts the same story. And there were many
who came to think it was a visit Beyers had paid to Germany
a while before ‘which influenced his conduct in 1914. In Ger-
many Beyers had been overwhelined by the Germans’
military manocuvres and the Kaiser’s particular notice, and
for the recollection of those glorious moments he presently
lost his life. . . .

Now Smuts telegraphed to the oficer commanding the
Rand Light Infantry: “Exercise greatest severity. Keep all
strikers off railway line or railway premises. Don’t hesitate
to shoot if any attempt to enter after warning, or if on ap-
parently malicious intent’; and de la Rcy, who was in
charge in Johannesburg, threatened to blow up the Trades
Hall unless the strikers surrendered.

The strike leaders surrendered. There were nine of them,
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not one born in the country. Smuts had them sent, first, to
gaol. At midnight they were removed from gaol, putona
train and rushed to Durban.

Next day application was made to the Supreme Court
for a writ of Habeas Corpus to produce the men in court.
The court then heard, and the country heard for the first
time, that the nine strike leaders were well away on the
high scas—deported from Durban on a stcamer that was
not to stop at any port before reaching London. Another
vessel, hired by Labour men, followed them for some dis-
tance in vain.

And now it was South Africa, Smuts told Parliament,
that was on trial in the eyes of the world for the extra-
ordinary measures it had thought fit to take against the
syndicalist rising.

He said South Africa, but he meant, of course, himsclf.

8

He said it when he came to ask Parliament to indemnify
Government for its declaration of martial law and the
actions that followed. Everyone else was excited, but not
Stnuts.

Generally Smuts speaks from a few bare notes on a
small sheet. Now he spoke for three and a half hours one
day and for two hours the next day from a mass of material
like a barrister’s great brief—without rhetoric, gravely and
sternly. No one nterrupted all the time he spoke—not
even the Labour members.

He did not attempt to minimise the cnormity of deport-
ing men without trial, or the effect in a free country of a
Government'’s illegal action.

The difhculty, he said, was that by no legal means could
these men be put out of the way. Their crime was not high
treason according to the definition of treason inherited by
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law from the Middle Ages. Syndicalisim was anew develop-
ment for which no legal provision had ever been made in
South African law. The strike leaders, men not born in the
country, ‘men who, without a doubt, were here for no
other purpose than to keep alive a propagation of revolu-
tionary indusirialisim’, had been arrested, but they could
not be convicted of any specific crime. ‘Under South Afri-
can law there is 1o serious crime for which the deported
leaders could even have been tried. T would have had to
create a special crime and devise a special punishment.” A
special Act of Parliament would have been needed, and it
would have been ex post facto legisladon. They would
meanwhile have had to be released on bail; influences of
class, humanitarianisn1 and electioncering would have
thrust into the background the real meaning of past cvents;
Government ‘would never have been granted the requisite
powers to deil with the case; the syndicalists, who had
already in six months made three attempts at industrial re-
volution, would have temained frec to try to force the
Government to its knees by terrorism. ‘Te was with no
gaiety of hear: that we resolved on these deportations, but
only after the most serious, prolonged and anxious deliber-
ation. . . . A sraashing blow had to be struck at syndicalism,
not for the pleasure of delivering a smashing blow, but asa
wholesome ar d absolutely indispensable deterrent.’

He added that the original list of men to be deported had
been very much larger. ‘Belicve me, there are a great number
of consummare scoundrels sill remaining in the country.’

Well, the Government had becn a popular Government
(said Smuts). It could have chosen to remain a popular
Government—-to go so far and no farther and keep in wich
cverybody. “That is the point where weak men fail.” The
question, he said at the third reading of the Indemnity
Bill, was ‘whether in January last the country was face to
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face with a revolution. That, too, was the question in July.’
And what was the Government’s alternative to the deport-
ations? “That ultimate, detestable, useless weapon of Gov-
ernments—a fusillade against the uncontrollable violence of
excited mobs.” He did not say the position was so awkward
that his own Commandant General thought of arresting
him and the Prime Minister.

9

“We have educated our men on a scientific method’, one
of the deported strike leaders said in London. ‘None of your
six months’ strike and go hungry. We don’t believe in that
in South Africa. We believe in a fight between organised
labour and the ruling class, and the fight has to be short,
sharp and to the point.’

“We believe’, said another, ‘in scientific striking over
there in South Africa—in calling a strike when it is least
expected. Our decision paralyses business and demoralises
industry, and all the time how do the workers fare? Instead
of drawing strike pay, they are paid by the boss in full.’

Smuts” Indemmity Bill was carricd by ninety-five votes
to eleven. But Labour had tasted blood. In the Transvaal
Provincial Council there was straightaway a Labour major-
ity. The name of Labour received, for the first time, a vital
mceaning and power in Parliament itsclf. General Hertzog
sought and found a new body of adherents. Strikes, war,
revolution followed. ‘In the end’, says Smuts to~day, ‘T was
the person who suffered, and I knew at the time I would
suffer. But I did what I thought was right for the country,
andlamglad I didit,and Iwould doit again. It wasmy duty.”

10

He says it with a certain defiance, but none the less with
truth. There is perhaps only one action in his life (it hap-
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pened five yzars later) which Smuts truly regrets . . . not
because lie admits it was wrong but because he cannot say
it involved any spiritual conviction on his part. Most of the
other actions in his life are so characteristic of his spirit, so
consistently in keeping with his instincts, that it is difficult
to get Smuts seriously to admit he has ever made a mistake.
If he believes in himself, he must believe in actions founded
on himself. He will say in his own airy fashion: ‘Mistakes?
go from one to another. My life is a carpet of mistakes.’
Bue ask him for a particular instance, and it goes like this:

‘My opponents would call the 1914 deportations a mis-
take. I have “riends in England who can’t look me in the
face over that business. No, they can’t talk about it, they
think it is sc terrible—piracy, something of that nature.
Certainly, it was a political misfortune—a misfortune, not
a mistake—of the first water. But was it morally wrong?
No, I would never say that. What was I to do with those
men if [ had no legal machinery to keep them in gaol? Re-
lease them like a box of germs on the community? Any
other Goverr.ment would have shot them. You can take it
from me, they deserved to be shot. Well, I got rid of them
in my own way, and they had every reason to be thankful.
They became heroes in England. They ultimately returned
to South Africa. Some of them cven came to work for my
own party. I took them on. My whole life was haunted by
the deportation affair, but for them it was finished. So why
not? I took t1em on. One of them, who became a South
African Partv sccretary, used to tell a story in England the
point of which was that once, when the Devil was on sick-
leave, 1 took his place and made such a success of the job
that the Lord would not take the old Devil back again, but
kept me instead. I don’t know if it was a new story. Some-
times it seems to me that the whole business of the 1914 de-
portations is r:0 more than a good story, and I have to smile
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at it to myself, as also over the Jameson Raid. If only people
would laugh a little more in this country! . . . There the
Court was sitting, innocently waiting for the men to ap-
pear, and where were they? On the high seas. Out of South
Africa. Spirited away. You know, it was really a smart
piece of work-—a smart piece of work, even if it did, in a
way, ruin my career.’

They all said in South Africa that the deportations had
ruined Smuts’ career. Irretrievably. Yet there was that com-
ing—not only to South Africa, bucto all the world—which
gave him a carcer such as has never fallen to any other
South African.

“The scene of operations’, he said to his own created De-
fence Force on September sth, 1914, ‘is far from our shores,
and we seem to be entirely outside the disputes which have
led to the state of war prevailing in the world to-day. But,
officers and men, I need not tell you that, though apparently
we stand outside and at some distance from the actual con-
flict, yet, at any moment—perhaps on the most unexpected
occasion—we may be drawn into the vortex.”

And, indeed, even as he spoke, he knew that South Africa
was well in it—of all countries out of Europe and the near
East, deepest in the vortex of the Great War.



Chaprer XXXII

GERMAN ADMINISTRATION IN AFRICA

1
he whole of Africa, except Abyssinia and the Span-
ish protectorates, was involved in the Great War.
This is the way the map of Africa was arranged
in 1914: At the narrow southernmost end lay the Union
of South Africa, There were three native territories—
Basutoland, Swaziland and Bechuanaland, and provision
had been made that if the Union wanted them, and it secmed
good to England (the first has happened, butnot thesecond),
England would not stand in the way of their entering the
Union. Of these tertitorics, Basutoland, quite small, was
jammed into the middle of the Union; Swaziland, still
smaller, lay between the Transvaal and Portuguese East
Africa; Bechuanaland sprawled--almost as large as the
Union itself~—:cross the middle of South Africa and led to
the various native lands Rhodes made his own which are
now called the Rhodesias. After the Rhodesias and Portu-
guese East Africa came Germian East Africa and then British
East Africa.

On the west the Orange River divided the Union from
the territory called German South-West Africa. Near this
border Smuts had made his last stand in the Boer War,
besieging and tuking, as the final event in the war, the
copper-mining village of O’ckiep. The Union had the only
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harbour in German South~West Africa suitable for a naval
base—Walfisch Bay.

Above German South-West Africa, and opposite Ger-
man East Africa, came Portuguese West Africa. Above Por-
tuguese West Africa, in an equatorial row with Belgian
Congo and British East Africa, came French Congo.
Where Africa begins to swell big in the west towards the
Gold and Ivory Coasts lay the Camcroons, and then, after
Nigeria, Togoland.

The colonies Germany had in Africa were thus German
West, between the Union and Portuguese West; German
East, between Portuguese East and British East; the Came-
roons and Togoland, mixed up with French, British and
Negroes. It had nothing in the middle.

The policy of German colonisation in Africa had begun
in 1884.

2

In the year 1884 Bismarck, who had never before wanted
colonies, decided suddenly to spread Frederick the Great’s
policy beyond the confines of Europe. ‘If Prussia’, Freder-
ick the Great had said, ‘is to count for something in the
councils of Europe, she must be made a Great Power.’

Now, in the early eighteen-cighties, the explorer Stan-
ley had, by his lectures, awakened Germany to the idca of
Africa; German missionarics had asked for protection along
the west coast; Karl Peters was selling concessions he had
picked up—for something, for nothing—on the east
coast; German merchants demanded markets; Germany
and England were becoming steadily more antagonistic to
one another,

The first of all men to realise the position fully was
Rhodes. Germany was on the way to Africa; Germany was
going to block England’s path from the Cape to Cairo;
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Germans wore already on the west coast when Rhodes
hurried forth to stop their further progress by taking
Bechuanalard. They were coming, led by Karl Peters, to
the east coast. . . .

What had been the charter of Raleigh, the first English
coloniser? He might ‘take any remote barbarians and
heathen lands not possessed by any Christian prince or peo-
ple’. Who could stop the first comer to a land from taking
it? Certainly not the laws of nations.

The Germans had as much right to take Africa as any-
body clse. Anybody who could had as much right to take
Africa as anybody clse. The Japanese, once they were re-
cognised to be the equals of a Christian people, had as much
right (and they wanted it) as anybody else. It did not de-
pend on the nadves of the land. In international law the
natives had no right. It depended on who (except the
natives) came first, on questions of expediency, on the
strength to take and hold.

It remains like that. Have the forces of civilisation to ac-
company the national forces that take and hold?

That also international law does not say.

3

The Herero (native) populadon that lived in what be-
came German South-West Africa was in 1877 (a British
commission reported) cighty-five thousand. Two years
after the Ge mans incorporated it in German South-West
Africa, the German Governor Lautwein estimated it at
cighty thousand. After the Herero rebellion in 1911, a
census showed the numbers to be fifteen thousand, one
hundred anc thirty.

The cause of the Hereros” rebellion, according to the re-
port, was syitematic ill-treatment, flogging, appropriation
of cattle, deauching of women, interference with native
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customs, denial of justice. The chief measure used to sup-
press the rebellion, says the report, was extermination.
‘Kill every one of them and take no prisoners’, said Gover-
nor von Trotha as the rebellion was ending. . . . ‘T wished to
ensure that never again would there be another Herero re-
bellion’, he said.

When Germany took German South-West in 1892 the
Hercros had a hundred and fifty thousand head of cattle.
Ten years later they had forty-six thousand. By the end of
1905 they had no cattle. In 1907 the German Government,
by ordinance, would not let them own cattle.

On May 31st, 1912, Governor Seitz issued the following
circular to the magistrates of German South-West Africa:

‘Windhoek.

‘Secret and Personal.

“Within recent weeks I have received information from
various quarters to the effect that a desperate feeling is be-
coming prevalent of late amongst the natives in certain
areas of the country.

“The rcason which is unanimously given for this fact is
that brutal excesses of Europeans against natives are alarm-
ingly on the increase. It is much to be regretted in this con-
nection that cven police officials have become guilty of
such offences in a few cases—and that such offences do not
find the punishment before the courts of law which they
ought to receive according to the sense of justice of the
natives.

‘In consequence thercof the natves are supposed to de-
spair of the impartiality of our jurisdiction and to be driven
into blind hatred of everything that is white. And, as a final
resort, would resort to self-help—that is, another rising.

‘It is quite evident that such feelings of hatred among the
natives, if such ameclioration of their lot is not energetically
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provided fo-, must lecad within a short space of time to a
renewed and desperate native rising, and consequently the
economic ruin of the country.

‘It is thercfore in the intercsts of the whole Euaropcan
population that persons who rage in mad irritability against
the natives, :nd who consider their white skins a charter of
indemnity from punishment for the most brutal crimes, be
rendered innocuous by all possible mcans. . ..

He did not see that they would be rendered innocuous
in little over twce years by the Union of South Africa. Cet-
tainly Germzn East Africa, up near the equator, never ex-
pected retrib ition from i Uhion of South Africa,

4

Was retribution, humanly speaking, deserved?

In 1897 Dr. Karl Peters, the taker of German East Africa,
was tried for his administrarion of that territory. Evidence
was given of terrorism, plunder, burning of villages, flog-
ging and chaining of women and children, forced con-
cubinage and murder. He was found guilty on all counts.
Herr von Puttkamer, Gavernor of the Cameroons, was
charged with similar offences, fined a thousand marks and
reprimanded.

On March 24th, 1906, Herr Bebel, leader of the Social-
Democrat Party in the Reichstag, said:

‘The German Government hassimply abolished theexist-
ing ctvil laws of the natives inn the German colonies. . . . The
legal position of the blacks is miserable in the extreme. The
honour of the German name suffers under this absolutely
arbitrary system. We have lost the sympathy of the black
race.’

In 1907, Herr Deinburg, the German Secretary of State,
visited the German colonics and on February 18th, 1908,
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he said to the Budget Committee of the Reichstag: “The
planters are at war with everybody—with myself, with the
Government, with the local officials, and, finally, with the
natives.

‘It makes a very unfavourable impression on one to sec
s0 many white men go about with negro whips. . . .
Labourers are obtained under circumstances which could
not be distinguished from slave-hunts. . . . It has even hap-
pened that settlers have scated chemselves at the wells with
revolvers and have prevented the natives from watering
their cattle, in order to compel them to leave the latter be-
hind.’

A year before the Great War, E. Alexander Powell, late
of the American Consular Service in Egypt, reported, in
his book The Last Frontier, the result of his special investi-
gations into colonial administration in Africa.

‘There is not a town in German East Africa’, he wrote,
‘where you cannotsee boys of from eight to fourteen years,
shackled by chains running from iron collar to iron collar,
and guarded by soldiers with loaded rifles, doing the work
of men under a deadly sun. Natives with bleeding backs
are constantly making their way into British and Belgian
territory with tales of maltreatment by German planters,
while stories of German tyranny, brutality and corruption
—of some instances of which I was myself a withess—were
staple topics of conversation on every club verandah and
steamer’s deck along these coasts.”



Chapter XXXIII

GERMAN AMBITION IN AFRICA

I

ermany’s colonial empire before the Grear War

consisted of these African colonies—of New

Guinea, some islands in the Pacific, the Carolines,
Samoa, Heligoland and Kmo-chau. That was all, coming
so late to the scranmible, she had been able to get. And every-
thing was detiched and scattered, even in the same con-
tinent of Afriza. It had to be remedied. It could be re-
medied only in Africa. The Germans had a great scheme of
a Mittel-Afrika Empire,

The gencral idea was thar, starting from German East
Africa, the German Miteel-A frika Empire must traverse the
continent trom the Indian to the Adantic Ocean.

Governor Paul Lautwein thought that, for the sake of
territorial continuicy, Mittcl-Afrika should link up the
Cameroons, German East Africa and the northern half of
South-West Africa, which Germany already had, with
Belgian Congo, strips of territory from the British, French
and Portuguese possessions, and British South Africa.

Emil Zimmerman suggested the Cameroons, German
East Africa, Belgian Congo, British East Africa, Uganda,
French Equatorial Africa and large parts of Portuguese
West Africa.

Hans Delbriick mentioned the Belgianand French Congo,
Nigeria, Lagos, Uganda, Zanzibar, Madeira, the Azores and
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the Cape Verde Isles. “Will the English ever concede us such
a colonial empire? I hope they will be compelled to do so.’

Oscar Karsstedt spoke s1mply of the French, English,
Belgian and Portuguese possessions in Central Africa; and
Kuhlmann sentimentally of ‘the boundaries drawn for us by
history and oversea possessions corresponding with our
greatness .

An anonymous book called Welt-Politik und Kein Krieg,
whose origin was understood to be the German Embassy
in London, declared mildly for the economic penetration
of Belgian and Portuguese territories.

Other writers linked Mittel-Afrika by alliance—west,
with South America, and north, by way of friendly Arab
states, with Mittel-Europa and Turkcy.

Mittel-Afrika itsclf was considered essential to Germany
as field of supply for tropical materials, a market for indus-
trial products, an outlet for the German nation, a basis for
German world power. It would, above everything, be un-
assailable—for a million black soldiers (Zimmerman—but
why only a million?) could be trained to defend it, and it
would have its own naval bases, U-boats, harbours, coal-
ing stations, munition depots, repairing docks. It would,
morcover, command the vital lines of British communica-
tion with India and Australia.

Dr. Solf, German Colonial Secretary, said during the
war: ‘Africais no longer the dark continent, but has become
the foreland of Europe with a great part to play as the pro-
ducer of tropical raw materials for European industries.

“The existing position of Africa among the European
colonising states is recent, haphazard and accidental. .
Weak and ineffective powers are in possession of gigantic
areas which they cannot develop, while Germany, in spite
of her position and power, finds herselfleftin the cold with
considerably smaller and far-scattered territories.
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‘In the Tre:ty of Peace there can only be the question of a
Jresh partition. Germany must receive a continuous domain,
large in extert, because the war in Africa has shown that
defensive power is in direct proportion to the size of the
continuous area; with frontiers on both oceans and for-
tificd naval bases, the importance of which has been de-
monstrated in this war.

‘For our present unfavourable position in the Far East,
England—-apart from Japan—is chiefly responsible. The
principal opponent of our expansion is Australia. But we
shall never be able to exercise pressure on Australia from a
base in the South Seas: we might very well do so from East
Africa. . ..

‘If we have 1 position of strength in Mittel-Afrika, with
which India and Australia must reckon, then we can com-
pel both of them to respect our wishes in the South Seas
and in Eastern Asia, thereby driving the first wedge into the
compact front of our opponents in Fastern Asia. . ..

Some of the facts oceur in a memorandum compiled by
Smuts in July 1918.

If one comes to think of it, practically all of Africa that
did not belong' to Germany before 1914 belonged to her
opponents. If Gerinany won the war why should she not
take the whole of Africa? What a drcam-—what an empire
~what a stake! No wonder Germany armed before 1914.
No wonder she arms in the ninetcen-thirties.

It will be noticed that none of these Germans particularly
wanted the all but desert country of German South-West
Africa, the mardate over which 1s all that came to the Un-
ion out of the Great War.

2
Smuts likes t> say sometimes: “We simple fellows from
South Africa’, * we wild men from the veld’—it amuses
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him to say such things. But there were, even in the Union
of South Africa, some who knew of Germany’s African
plans when, on August 4th, 1914, Germany entered Bel-
gium, and, at midnight, Britain, pledged to maintain Bel-
gian security, declared war on Germany.

It was actually the South African War that had puc it in
Germany’s mind to build a flect. (‘Our future lics on the
water.” “The trident must be in our hand.” ‘Germany must
re-enter into her heritage of maritime dominion once un-
challenged in the hands of the Hanse.”) It was the building
of this fleet that led directly, as Smuts says, to the Great
War—or at least to England’s participation in it, since the
German fleet constituted the real challenge to her sea
power.

There was England, he says, thoroughly entangled in
South Africa, and Germany could take no advantage of it
because she hadn’t a fleet. And England, because she had
the finest fleet in the world, could travel thousands of miles
across the sea to make war in South Africa—troops, equip-
ment and commerce as safe as if the sea were her own ex-
clusive territory.

Then there was England’s influence in the East, which,
without a fleet, Germany absolutely could not rival. Then
there was England’s commerce. Then there was the ques-
tion, peculiarly interesting to South Africa, of Germany’s
growing population.

That population was bounding up at the rate of a mil-
lion a year; Germany could not hold the increase; millions
upon millions of Germans were being lost to the Father-
land because Germany had no colonies and superfluous
Germans accordingly went to America and other countrices,
and what really mattered about it all was not that Germany
wanted expansion for the sake of her sons, but that she
wanted her sons for the sake of expansion.
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So Germany needed an empire. And where could she
get this empire? There was only Africa. . . .

She had alrcady—talk of a Mittel-Afrika apart—made
several attempts at dominion in South Africa. There was
that plan Rhodes had intcrcepted of a German South-West
Africa and a German East Africa linked up with Rhodesia
and Northern Bechuanaland. There was a little business
about St. Lucia Bay. There was the prodding of Dutch
against English in the Transvaal. There was the desire to
lease Walfisch Bay, concerning which Botha wrote in
1908: ‘It is our opinion here that Germany s influence in
South Africa should not be allowed to increase’, and Smuts:

‘From the point of view of South Africa’s future, the Ger-
man Empire is no desirable neighbour.’

Germany had begun to build her fleet after the Boer War
with the strorg notion that a fleet might lead to African
dominion. Who would stop her if England did not, if one
day, for some reason, England could not? The weak divided
states of Southern Africa?

In 1909, when union was under way, there was a
monthly journal started in South Africa whose chief object
was union propaganda. It called itself The State and was
cdited by one of Milner’s Kindergarten, and fear of Ger-
many was a rcason it gave for the necessity of union.

‘Is it impossible’, it asked, ‘that towards the end of a suc-
cessful European war, a forcign power, anxious for a tem-
perate country to which to direct the stream of its emi-
grant citizens, should conquer South Africa? Suppose the
British Navy had lost command of the sea . . . what should
we be able to do? We should be half starving in a few
weeks, if our imports of food stopped. Our industrics
would cease, and there would be armies of famished out-of-
works. Possibly native rcbellion would add to the horrors
of the situatior.. The invading army would have practically

301



GERMAN AMBITION IN AFRICA

nothing to do. It would not even have to defeat us. We
have no army and no armament. . . . It would simply have
to wait until we were prepared to come to terms. What
would those terms be?’

The State described what those terms would be, what
German conquest would mean to South Africa. It pointed
to the large force Germany maintained in German South-
West and the supply there of guns, rifles and ammunition.
To what purpose? . . .

If there was a man in the country who, from the begin-
ning, understood the position, it was Smuts. He had, for
this reason, no sooner arrived at union, than he had his
defence plans made. And his Defence Force was just
getting ready when there came the Great War.

3

It was twelve years since the Boer War. Men who had
fought in the Boer War (and there were some who had
begun fighting at the age of fifteen) were still young men.
The Boers are a people tenacious of memory and tenacious
of grievance. To-day, more than thirty years after the Boer
War, the opposition party in the Union House is a party
based on dislike of England. After the specches that ended
the Boer War (“Thy will be done’); after the speeches that
ended the union conferences (“We are brothers’); before
even the first Union Parliament had met, General Hertzog
was angry because Botha was too pleasant with the Eng-
lish and not pleasant enough with him; there were Boers
like de Wet who, having touched union, had flung it away
as if the touch of union bumt them; there were men—a
number of them Dutch—who, only recently, had partici-
pated in three great strikes and been put down by armed
forces. The very head of those armed forces had wanted to
use his power to show the English ‘what a Boer commando
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looked like’. What was to be expected from South Africa
when war broke out in August 1914?

It was a question the Germans, no less than the English,
asked themselves.

4
In January 1907 Sir Eyre Crowe submitted to the British
Foreign Office an analysis of Germany’s foreign policy,
with his reasons for believing that she meant to make war.
He described in it Germauny’s methods of propaganda. “The
occult influence’ (of the Chancellor’s office at Berlin), he
says, ‘is nnot limiced to the confines of the German Empire.
That influen:e 15 perceived ac work in New York, at St.
Petersburg, at Vienna, ar Madrid, Lisbon, Rome and
Cairo, and even in London, where the German Embassy
entertains confidential and largely unsuspected relations
with a number of respectable and widely read papers. . . .
It is known that the tradition of giving expression to the
views of the German Government for the benefit of the
British public, and even of the British Cabinet, by using
other and less direct methods than the prescribed channel
of open communication with the Secretary of State for
Forcign Affairs, survives at Carlton House Terrace.”

The influences which Sir Eyre Crowe perceived at work
in the great capitals of the world were also, for most essen-
tial purposes, <t work in South Africa. Germany not only,
wrote Lord Buxton, Union Governor-General during the
war, spent much money to develop German South-West
Africa as a basz against British dominions in case of war,
accumulating war munitions far in excess of any defensive
requirement against the unarmed natives, and designing
its railway lines for strategic purposes against the Union—
therc were preparations even more sinister. ‘It is a curious
and significant fact that, for some years before the war, the
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personnel and activities of the German Consul-General in
Cape Town were out of all proportion to those of the other
consulates, or to Germany’s actual interests in the Union;
and there can be little doubt now that the Germans had,
before the war, been carrying on an assiduous anti-British
propaganda in the Union, and had been engaged in acquir-
ing information military and political.’

Smuts himself said in the House, soon after war began
in Europe: ‘All this German talk, all this rumour of Ger-
man sympathies, has been spread by German commercial
agents and German dealers, and I hope the people will
realise that these Germans are placing a dagger into the
heart of South Africa which they are eager to press home.
. . . The Government of this country is in possession of in-
formation which clearly shows that the German Govern-
ment has had its eyes on South Africa for many days. . . .
South Africa is a jewel, and a good many wars in the past
have been waged over its possession. . . .” “We have secr,
he said again, ‘German South-West Africa being used as a
base for intrigue against this part of the Empire—for the
undermining of our liberties and the seducing of our
citizens. . . . We arc all the more determined because we
see how dangerous it is to have next door to us a neighbour
such as the German Empire. . ..’

He spoke of this German talk, this rumour of German
sympathies, because there were those in South Africa who,
if anything, wanted to enter the war on the side of the Ger-
mans, who, indecd, saw in the war the longed-for oppor-
tunity of revenge against England.

S
The moment Germany entered Belgium, some hours
before even England declared war on Germany, Botha sent
a cable to the Imperial Government saying the Union re-
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cognised its obligations to the Empire and was prepared, in
the event of war, to defend its own territory. To this end
he offered to release, for necessary service elsewhere, six out
of the seven thousand~odd imperial troops at the moment in
South Africa. England expanded Botha’s offer to its fullest
sense, and not only accepted the offer of the released troops,
but also asked the Union, as a ‘great and urgent imperial
service’, to occupy as much of German South-West as
would control the two ports of Swakopmund and Luderitz-
bucht, togeth.er with the wireless stations.

Botha had senrt his cable meaning just what he said: that,
in case of hcstilites, South Africa would defend itself. It
had not entered his mind that South Africa, twelve years
after the Boer War, full of mternal troubles, full even of
German sympathies, mighe be asked by England to take
the offensive against Germany. He pointed out the diffi-
culties. A cable answered him that the wireless station at
Windhock was in constant touch with Germany and Ger-
man warships and that to take it was absolutely necessary.

Parliament was not sitting. A decision had to be made at
once. It was made. Even while a congress of General Hert-
zog's party unanimously condemned the Union’s participa-
tion in war, one member saying frankly that, if anything,
this was an cpportunity to fight against, rather than for,
England, the Union Government agreed to go against
German South-West Africa.

There remained now the necessity of confronting with
the accomplished fact a Union that was becoming daily
less united, and a Parliament that might indignanty resent
never having been consulted.

The Defence Force comrmandants were convened and
told that the departure of the imperial troops rendered it
necessary to call out the Defence Force. They were told
about German South-West Africa. Beyers, the Com-
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mandant-General, knew that the Defence Force was to go
to German South-West Africa, and it was with his approval
(as Smuts came to point out) that the imperial forces were
sent away.

In Pretoria Beyers saw much of de la Rey, Smuts’ asso-
ciate in the Boer War, and now a senator. In Pretoria too
was one Maritz, who had gone to German South-West
Africa in 1902 and helped the Germans against the Hereros.
Now he held a commission in the Union Defence Force
and was in command of six hundred men on the German
South-West border and had news from the Germans.

Finally there was, as ever, the prophet van Rensburg.
De la Rey had, within the last few vears, sunk himself
more and more deeply in religion, and more and more too
he relied on the prophecies of van Rensburg. Many relied
on the prophecies of van Rensburg.

Van Rensburg had seen the grey bull, Germany, emerg-
ing victorious from among all the fighting bulls. He had
seen forty thousand Germans marching through the streets
of London. Botha, he prophesied, would remain with his
people, but Smuts would disappear. On a dark cloud, from
which blood poured, stood the number fifteen; and de la
Rey came home bareheaded and there was a carriage with
flowers—high dignity, thought van Rensburg, for de la
Rey.

When de la Rey heard that the Defence Force was being
called out to assist England he bitterly disapproved. All one
night, at Botha’s house, Botha, Schalk Burger and Smuts
argued with him. De la Rey saw in the crisis God’s will that
the Boers should go against, rather than with, England.

Botha asked him if he thought it could really be God’s
will that the Boers should get back their liberty along a
road of dishoniour and treason. De la Rey wondered if it
might not be the greater dishonour and treason for the
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Boers to reject this God-given chance of restoring their old
Republics.

He was prevailed upon, in the end, to wait still a little
longer before hastening into war against England, and mean-
while to persuade the burghers who were due to meet on
August the fitteenth to go home.

He faithfully did so. The burghers went home. It scemed
that, after all, nothing was to come of van Rensburg’s pro-
phecy of great events connected with the number fifteen.

Yet no sooner were the burghers dispersed than doubts
rcturned to cc la Rey.

He abandened himself once more to communion with
van Rensburg and God.

6

The Hous: met on September 4th and sat for a week.
Before it me: the Germans had crossed the border of Ger-
man South-West Africa into the Union. They said the
offence was accidental—who could really tell where the
border was in that deserte They apologised. But it was with
a consciousness of lessened responsibility that Botha moved
an address to the King expressing the Union’s ‘whole-~
hearted determination to take all measures necessary for de-
fending the :nterests of the Union and co-operating with
His Majesty’s Imperial Government to maintain the security
and integrity of the Empire.’

General Hertzog stood up to say that, for all he knew,
Germany was right. It was, morcover, folly, he said, to
antagonise a powerful nation like the Germans. Would it
not be better to await the resule in Europe? If Germany lost,
South-West Africa would ‘fall into our laps like a ripe
apple’. If Germany won, South Africa would pay dearly.

It fell to Smuts to support Botha's resolution, to justify
the Governrienr and answer its critics:
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‘Our mother countries’, he said, ‘have been attacked.
Many of us descend from the people of Belgium; a good
deal of French blood flows in our veins, and, further, Eng-
land, our mother country, has been forced into war. . ..

“When we made peacc at Vereeniging, and when we had
to sign a treaty, I said that South Africa had fought for its
liberty. You will find my words recorded. I said that our
liberty was a certainty, and here we are to-day as a free
people, able to develop as we please, and able to do as we
want; and opposed to us there is a military compulsion and
autocracy which is threatening to suppress and isolate the
smaller nations. The question which has to be decided is
whether we are going to do our duty, not only to our-
selves, but to the whole world; whether we are to maintain
our rights which we fought for. ... We have shed many
tears to secure what we have now. Are we going to keep
what we have, or are we going to say: “Let them take it”?

‘General Hertzog has said this is not our war. He has said
the Government asks the House to agree to wage war on
our peaceful neighbours. Whose war is it then if it is not
our war? . . . Who was the aggressor? . . . What has hap-
pened? It is not long since the borders of the Union were
crossed by a German force, which has entrenched itself on
South African territory. . . . Do the honourable members
know that there are German vessels in Union waters? Do
they know that, but for the protection afforded by the Brit-
ish fleet, it would not be safe to send goods from here?
What are these German cruisers doing in South African
waters? I will tell you that the German cruisers are, by
means of the wireless stations in German South-West Africa,
in continual communication with Germany, and that the
South African trade and other trade is being continually
threatened. But the time has come now to do our duty.
When the war broke out the Union Government said to
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the Imperial (Government: “We do not require your troops
here, you may be able to use them better; we are in a posi-
tion to look after ourselves.” The offer was accepted at
once. Bur the British Government said there were certain
parts in German South-West which, in the present state of
affairs, were a danger to the British Empire. There were Ger-
man men-of-war in South African waters which, through
the wireless stations, were in touch with Germany, and a
serious threar to South African and Britsh trade, so the
British Government said: “There is work for you to
do....””’

He now asked Parliament to give Government the right
to do that work. By ninety-two votes to twelve, Parlia-
ment agreed. The followers of General Hertzog voted un-
animously apainst the Government.



Chapter XXXIV
NUMBER. FIFTEEN ON A DARK CLOUD

I

hen the Germans, whether accidentally or not,
crossed the borders of German South-West
Africa into the Union, they had hardly the im-

possible idea of conquering, unassisted, with nine thousand
men, a country twice as large as that part of it which, for
two and a half years, had engaged the wealth and strength
of the greatest power of the day. They had other expecta-
tions.

There was that large consulate at Cape Town. There
were men going about the backveld speaking of a Boer
Republic, protected by Germany. There had long been
many thousands of Mausers and inany machine guns in
German South~-West Africa ready to put into the hands of
the Boers. There was that Colonel Maritz with his six
hundred men on the German South-West African border.
Even before January 1913 he had come to an understanding
with the Germans and a hundred thousand marks had been
placed at his disposal for his work, and also he might draw,
Governor Seitz suggested, on the five thousand pounds the
German Government had in a bank in Cape Town.

The Kaiser himself was in it. While the Union forces
were on their way to Luderitzbucht he cabled to Governor
Seitz: ‘Guarantee Boers existence Boer Republics if they
attack immediately.’
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“We expected’, said Der Tag in April 1915, ‘that British
India wouid rise. We expected trouble in Ireland. We ex-
pected a tnumphal rebellion in South Africa.’

A rebellion indeed there was in South Africa. And in
fact, the war once having begun, the Germans had as
much right to foment a rising of the Boers against the
British, as the British had to foment a rising of the Arabs
against the Turks. The cvidence, however, is that the Ger-
mans fomer ted a rising before the war began.

2

It was on the day (September 15th) the Union forces left
for Luderitzbucht-—the day too on-which Governor Seitz,
at Beycrs’s rcquest, expected to meet Beyers on the German
border and waited for him in wvain, that two historical
things happened in the Union. One was that Beyers re-
sighed his commmand of the Union forces. And another was
that, on his way with de la Rey from Pretoria to Johannes-
burg, de la Rey, in the most dramatic, fantastic fashion, was

killed.

3
Johannesburg was really, in those years of 1913 and 1914,
what far-away, romantic people have always believed it to
be. Miners walked about with revolvers and dynamite.
Syndicalists h:d control. Houscholders laid in a stock of
candles and filled their baths for fear strikers might stop
their light and water. Frightened workmen were pulled
out of their jobs and pushed in again. Scabs replaced
strikers and strkers threatencd scabs. Shops were looted,
offices burnt down, houses blown up. Soldiers and strikers
fired at one another in the screets, men and women were
killed; Prime Minister and Minister of Defence, parleying
with representatives of trades unions, were covered (the
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representatives boasted) with revolvers. Now, on top of
everything, the members of a gang of robbers and mur-
derers were running about the town, who (on this same
day of September 15th) had killed a detective; they had
escaped in a car, and the police were after them. Every main
road leading from and to Johannesburg was picketed by
armed police, who had instructions to hold up all passing cars
~—and particularly cars containing three men—and among
those roads was the road from Pretoria to Johannesburg.

It was night. An unfortunate doctor, hurrying home,
failed to stop when challenged, and was shot. The accident
was not yet reported when Beyers and de la Rey, travelling
on serious and secret business, werc also challenged. A
constable stepped into the middle of the road, held up his
hand and shouted ‘Halt!’ ‘Do we stop?” Beyers asked de la
Rey. ‘No’, answered de la Rey. “We go on.’

They went on through the townships of Johannesburg.
There were the two of them in the car and a chauffeur. They
drove past a series of challenging policemen. It was half an
hour from the time the first policeman had called ‘Halte!”
that a policeman, firing at a tyre of the hastening car to stop
it, struck the road with his bullet and the bullet ricochetted
and killed de la Rey. . ..

Well, Prophet van Rensburg had seen the number fifteen
on a dark cloud, and de la Rey bareheaded and a carriage
with flowers. . ..

Van Rensburg’s prophecies were not infallibly right, but
certainly the day was the fifteenth, and de la Rey was car-
ried barcheaded to a room at an hotel numbered fifteen,
and then there was a carriage with flowers.

4
The business on which Beyers and de la Rey were
travelling when de la Rey was killed had to do very power-
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fully with Beyers’s resignation. Beyers, in fact, had given
his chauffeur :nstructions to prepare the car for a ‘long
journey’, and they were on their way to a training camp of
fifteen hundred young men who were due to rise in rebel-
lion at 4 a.m. the next morning. From this camp they
were to march on Pretoria, hoist the old Transvaal flag, re-
lease the Germans who were interned, and proclaim Beyers
President and e la Rey Commandant-General of the Re-
publican forces. They expected, said Beyers, no bloodshed.
The Government, he prophesied, would resign rather than
fire on its own people. The Government, indeed, was
sccretly behind its own people.

De la Rey had left the Scuate ac Cape Town a few days
before in order ro retum to Pretoria. On the road an
emissary from Colonel Mariez had boarded the train to tell
him that all was ready with regard to German South-West
Africa; Beyers had had the same message; and now, on
September 15:h, his letter of resignation was in the papers
and it was also on its way to Smuts. The world knew of it
as soon as Smyats.

He protestcd, he said in his letter (which was really a
public manifesto), against Parliament’s decision to attack
German South~West without provocation. The majority
of Boers protested against it. Cabinet Ministers in England
had resigned becanse England had gone to war with Ger-
many.

‘Tt is said trat Great Britain has taken part in this war
for the sake cf right and justice, in order to protect the
independence of smaller nations and to comply with
treaties. . . .

‘History teaches us, after all, that whenever it suits her
interest, Great Britain is always ready to protect smaller
nations; but unhappily history also relates instances in
which the sacred rights of independence of smaller nations
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have been violated, and treaties disregarded, by the same
Empire. . ..

‘Tt is said that war is being waged against the “barbarity”
of the Germans. We have forgiven, but not forgotten, all
the barbarities perpetrated in our own country during the
South African War. . ..

‘If the Union is attacked, Boer and Briton will defend
this country side by side, and in such case I will deem it a
great honour and privilege to take up my place at the head
of our forces in defence of our facherland. . . .’

Beyers had, several days before resigning, sent for Maritz.
On the same day he had, ‘as one soldier to another’, wished
success to the general in-command of the forces going to
German South-West Africa.

Smuts replied to his letter of resignation: ‘Your bitter
attack on Great Britain is not only entirely baseless, but it is
the more unjustifiable coming as it does in the midst of a
great war from the Commandant-General of one of the
British Dominions. Your reference to barbarous acts during
the South African War cannot justify the criminal devasta-
tion of Belgium and can only be calculated to sow hatred
and division among the people of South Africa. You forget
to mention that since the South African War the British
people gave South Africa her entire freedom under a con-
stitution which makes it possible for us to realise our na-
tional ideals along our own lines, and which, incidentally,
allows you to write with impunity a letter for which you
would, without doubt, be liable in the German Empire to
the supreme penalty. . . .

‘You speak of duty and honour; my conviction is that
the people of South Africa will, in these dark days when the
Government as well as the people of South Africa are put
to the supreme test, have a clearer conception of duty and
honour than is to be deduced from your letter and action.
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For the Dutch~speaking section in particular I cannot con-
ceive anythins more fatal and humiliating than a policy of
lip-loyalty in fine weather and a policy of neutrality and
pro-German sentiment in days of storm and stress. It may
be that our peculiar internal circumstances and our back-
ward conditicn after the Great War will place a limit on
whart we can do; but nevertheless I am convinced that the
people will suppcrt the Government in carrying out the
mandate of Parliament and, in this manner, which is the
only legitimate one, fulfil their destiny to South Africa and
to the Empire, and maintain their dearly won honour un-
blemished for the future.

“Your resigration is heccby accepted.’

It may be remembered ¢hat it was Beyers who, in the
Boer War, relzased cwo Brirish prisoners, and sent them,
fully equipped as a Christruas present to French. And that
it was Smuts who, when French told him of this graceful
act, coldly denied Beyers’s right to be charming with his
country’s property.

Botha and Smurs hurried from Cape Town to Pretoria
to take control of a situation which at any moment might
become desperate. They understood the significance of
Beyers’s leteer.

5

They met Beyers at de la Rey’s funeral. There was a pas-
sionate, angry crowd who believed that Botha and Smuts
had arranged dz la Rey’s murder. At the graveside Botha
and Smuts protested in vain and Beyers swore by the dead
man’s spirit thar he was not disloyal. He met his fellow con-
spirators that night.

All over the country now the story spread that de la Rey
had been deliberately murdered, and with it a fire of rebel-
lion. Botha and Smuts begged Steyn, the ex-President of
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the Free State, to quieten the raging people, but he could
not bring himself to speak. In one village after another—
and particularly in the Free State—the Boers rose. There
were men who waited until they were fully equipped (to
go to German South-West Africa) before joining the
rebels. De Wet, himself an ex-Cabinet Minister, led the
rebels. He believed that de Ja Rey had been done to death.

‘Our purpose he presently wrote, ‘is to get to Maritz, and
after arriving there to return nnmudmtely with Maritz to
Pretoria. There in the capital of South Africa we shall, if
God (in whom all our trust is) so wills, haul down the flag
and proclaim our independence.’

On October 3rd Smuts was still ostensibly enquiring
whether there was ‘any fear of treachery in connection with
Maritz’ movement’. But he knew the truth. While Maritz
relied upon his ignorance he was collecting his forces to
deal with him,

Within a week Maritz declared himself. He assecmbled
his men on the German border. German troops flying the
German flag joined him. He assured his men that he had not
put on his uniform to serve England; contemned Smuts and
Botha; invoked God; mentioned that his honour was more
to him than his much loved wife and children; divested
himself of the insignia of his British rank to become again,
as he said, a common burgher (but called himselfhenceforth
a general) and gave his men one minute to join the Ger-
mans or—with sinister possibilities—to be arrested and sent
over the border. . . .

The troops under Maritz were about six hundred boys
aged from seventcen to twenty-one. They all, except ten,
followed Maritz. The ten who stood out were, for a time,
kept prisoner by Maritz, and then sent to the Germans.
They were released when the Union forces took German
South-West Africa.
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Three days atter Maritz took his men over to the Ger-
mans Smuts issted a proclamation which is almost a history
of the causes of the rebellion:

“. . . Whercus the Government of the Protectorate of
German South- West Africa has through widespread secret
propaganda persistently endeavoured to seduce the citizens
of the Defence Forces of the Union from their allegiance,
and to cause rebellion and civil war within the Union;

‘And where:s these efforts have so far succceded that
Licutenant-Colonel Solomon Gerhardus Maritz, together
with a number of his officers and a portion of the forces
placed under his command, has shamefully and traitorously
gone over to the enemy, and is-now in open rebellion
against the Government and people of the Union, and is in
conjunction with the forces of the enemy invading the
Northern portions of the Province of the Cape of Good
Hope;

‘And whereas there is grave reason to think that the
Government cf the Protectorate of German South-West
Africa has throagh its numerous spies and agents communi-
cated with anc. corrupted also other citizens of the Union
under the false and treacherous pretext of favouring the
establishment of a republic in South Africa; . . .

‘Now, therefore . . . all Magisterial Districts in the Union
of South Africa are, until further notice, placed under
Martial Law. ...

There was open rebellion within a fortmight. Generals
de Wet and Bayers signed a protest on their followers’ be-
half saying their only object was ‘the honour of God and
the welfare of people and country’. Another general as-
surcd them that their independence was guaranteed by
the German Kaiser: General Beyers had the treaty in his
pocket.

On October 27th the Government advised the rebels
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that if they went home quietly no measures would be taken
against them.

On November sth it included in the invitation to go
home quietly also their leaders.

On November 12th it gave them until November 21st
to go home quietly.

On November 21st it extended the period during which
they might go home quietly.

Eleven and a half thousand Boers were by this time in
rebellion.

It came to be called—Smuts called it—the Five Shilling
Recbellion, because de Wet, being asked what grievance he
had against the Government, replied in a speech that he
had been fined five shillings by a magistrate, ‘one of the
pestilential English’, for assaulting a native servant.



Chapter XXXV

THE FIVE SHILLING REBELLION

I

here are people in South Africa who say of Smuts

that it s a misfortune he so often follows Kruger’s

principle of waiting for the torcoise to put its head
out.

General Hertzog came to make that very accusation
against him in Parliament. How was it, he asked, that
Smuts’ policy of ‘letting things develop” so often ended in
bloodshedr Did not Snuts deliberately “sit behind the tor-
toise waiting to stick his fork into its head when it should
put that head out?’

The criticism is both just and unjust. Smuts does wait: it
is curious how he combines with his extraordinary encrgy
the capacity—tae inclination—to wait, and how often the
end (whether due to his waiting policy or not) has been
unhappy. Yet he does not wait because be wants things to
develop, because he wants the tortoise to stick out its head
so that he may put his fork into it. On the contrary. It is
because he wants things not to develop, not to be stimu-
lated by irritation, buc to dic down, that he waits.

Itis a system he has found very satisfactory in his personal
life. He has ignored threat and vilification, and no one has
yet killed him, ind now, twenty-odd years from the days
when so many ofhis people began to regard him as a mon-
ster, a sort of idea is beginning to get about that perhaps he
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is not altogether evil, and he thinks this a great triumph for
his system, and so why cannot whole nations wait? Alles
sal reg kom.

There is in Smuts this strain of sentimentality or relig-
iousness or mysticism or fatalism or particular philosophy
that causes him, against all reason for hope, to be hopeful.
Bencath the cynical surface lies what, in older times, they
called this ‘innocency’, whose most striking manifestation
has been his attitude to the Germans since the Great War.
He cannot—cannot—Dbelieve that the Germans are different
from himself and Botha. He chooses to forget that a large
part of his own nation took the first opportunity of making
war again.

Yet how could General Hertzog then go on to attribute
to Smuts’ policy of waiting the fraternal bloodshed of 1914?

To begin with, the conspiracy was ripe before he more
than suspected it. He was still, on October 3rd, delaying
action until Maritz should show his treachery, and collect-
ing meanwhile his own forces. As soon as Maritz openly
revolted he proclaimed martial law. Hardly had he pro-
claimed martial law when the rebellion was in full flood.

What was he now to do? Pacify the rebels, or put them
down? He tried to pacify them by being reasonable, by
begging them not to be deluded by foreign agents andto go
home quietly. But the rebels would not go home quietly,
they could only be pacified by the throwing over of Eng-
land and the declaration of a republic. Should Smuts, after
England had so trusted the Bocrs, in this terrible hour be-
tray her? . . . The alternative remained to put the rebels
down—to go against men beside whom he had fought so
passionately only twelve years before, whom from his
heart (as he says) he loved and loves.

He tried also to avoid that. . . . And then it was unavoid-
able.
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He might, of course, have deported a few people. Imag-
ine it—after the outcry over the January deportations. He
might, as he himself pointed out, have arrested the ring-
leaders and then been charged wich having begun the rebel-
lion.

What Smuts answered when General Hertzog put on
him the respcnsibility of the 1914 rebellion was this: “The
intention of rhe 1914 rebellion’, he said, ‘was an attempt
to supplant the Government by a rebel administration. . . ./
And, if it w:s not entirely that, there can be no doubt
politics stimu’ated the rebellion. The commissioners who
inquired into the rebellion found one of the contributory
causes to be “+he political erisis in consequence of which
General Hertzog was excluded from the Cabinet in 1912,

It is true the commission was boycotted by the National-
ists, so that complete cviderce was not obtainable. The fact,
however, remains that, wichout exception, all the rebels
were Nationalsts, and all their opponents South African
Party men. De la Rey himsclf said, when the Nationalist
Party was formed: ‘Of course, the Hertzog business is going
to be serious. Now that we have no longer to fight Kafhirs
or English we : re bound to/quarrel among ourselves—it is
the way of the Boer.” And he used to tell how his father
and uticle, living on adjacent farms, quarrelled about politics,
arranged together for their wives’ security, shared food and
equipment, and rode off side by side to fight in opposing
commandos.

In 1914 no Nationalist leader tried to quicten the friendly,
courageous, Ged-fearing, deluded people; the painful
anxiety of Botha and Smuts was read as weakness; it was
a question of submitting to German protection or keeping
faith with England—in the end Botha himself went against
his people. He thought it better to go himself—to let the
fight be between brothers rather than between nations. He
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preferred to have as few English as possible under him.
Over two-thirds of his thirty thousand troops were loyalist
Dutch. They came, as Smuts said, ‘from one end of the
country to another. . . . Regiment after regiment arose as at
a wizard’s wand. The response was almost embarrassing to
the Government. . . . The Dutch people of South Africa
feel that their honour is touched and they are determined
to do their duty and wipe out this disgrace. . . . From the
late war the Dutch people brought back little except their
good name. That is what they value as their great asset in
the world.” Yet, in his heart, he could never be sure to
which they would be moreloyal—to their passion or to their
bond.

The 1914 rebellion is the most tragic and dramatic epi-
sode in Boer history. There was the dcath of de la Rey. De
Wet lost his young son. He himself, escaping on horseback
into the Kalahari Desert, was pursued by motor cars and
ignominiously captured. Beyers, on his way to the Ger-
mans, was cornered with twenty-two other men; he at-
tempted to swim the Vaal River on horseback; it was sum-
mer again (as when Smuts, i the Boer War, had to hasten
across the Orange beforc it rose) and the Vaal was in heavy
flood; his horse was shot under him; when he tried to free
himselfhis bootlaces became entangled so that he could not
swim; and he was drowned.

Shortly after there was the episode of Jopie Fourie, who
led his men into rebellion while on active scrvice, com-
mitted acts of terrorism, caused the death of a large number
of loyalists, and was court-martialled and executed for high
treason—ithe only death sentence confirmed in the rebel-
lion. Smuts confirmed the sentence and came almost to lose
his life for doing so.

January of 1915 and the rebellion was nearly over when
Maritz said his ideal was ‘too high and noble’ to allow his
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enterprise to degenerate into mere marauding, and surren-
dered his men but himsclf fled to Portuguesc territory,
where (it is f a picce with the whole ironic drama) he alone
among the rebels escaped the consequences of his actions.

The offical recorder of the rebellion was with Smuts
when ncws came of Beyers’ death. He says Smuts looked
stunned. Then he sat down to write to Mrs. Beyers. ‘I can-
not let her hzar this officially. A friend must tell her.’

His companion says Smuts sat writing with his left hand
curved over his eyes.

It is not the sort of thing one hears about Smuts (among
his romantic fancies there is nonc for ‘a strong man’s tears’);
but if indeed he had tcars to bide, they were not for Beyers
alone, they vrere for all the foes who had once been com-
rades and for the lovely dream of union that has not yet
become realiry.

The leaders of the rebellion might well have said, with
King David: ‘Lo, I have sinacd and I have done wickedly:
but these sheep, what have they done? let thy hand, 1 pray
thee, be against me and against my father’s house.” Never-
theless, the killed and wounded on both sides were over a
thousand. Three hundred rebelleaders were prosecuted by
the Attorneys-General of the various provinces. The rank
and file were kept in gaol and out of mischief, until after

the German South-West African campaign. A few had
‘gone home quietly’.

The rebellion was not yet ended when the South Afri-
can Government informed the Imperial Government that
it could now send an expedition to Walfisch Bay, and as
soon as the rebellion was over Botha went himself to
German South-West Africa and a few months later Smuts,
having finished his work in Parliament and been indemni-
fied by Parliament, for the second time in a year, for pro-
claiming martial law, followed him.
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Chapter XXXVI

THE FIRST ALLIED SUCCESS: GERMAN
SOUTH-WEST AFRICA

I

¢ says much for Smuts’ resilience that, within a few

months, he was exultantly declaring the story of South

Africa to be ‘one continuous epic. The success of the
German South-West campaign is not only a notable
achievement—it ranks, in a manner which history will re-
cord for all time, the first achievement of a united South
African nation.’

A united South African nation.

At least, the German South-West campaign had gone
like clockwork.

And if, indeed, it should have done since the Union forces
were forty-four thousand against the Germans’ nine thou-
sand—the country, on the other hand, was more or less
descrt and as large as France; the Germans could play that
guerrilla game against the Union forces which the Boers
had played against the British; merely to traverse the coun-
try was something. The treks the Union forces made, said
Smuts, were hardly conceivable. ‘If you go through the
history of wars you will perhaps only find in the Boer War
records like these. . . . If you tell them of the march from
Nonidas to Karabib they will not believe you; if you tell
them how little water you drank and how few biscuits you
ate, they will not believe you.” He laughed as he addressed
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these words ~o his troops. He was so exhilarated—he could
laugh at last. Here was a fight not fought in one’s own
country or against brothers. For the first time South Afri-
cans had travelled by sea to take another land. He loved the
emptiness of that land. He wanted no better garden than a
desert. For cight years, night and day, as Botha said, his
intellect, judgment, encrgy and courage had been tirelessly
at a public desk. Here, for a few weeks, they had ease and
space.

Luderirzbucht had been occupied since September of
1914. Towards the middle of February Botha arrived, and,
towards the raiddle of April, Smuts.

Botha commanded the norchern forces and Smuts the
southern, cer.tral and eastern forces. The German com-
mander-in-chief said the Boer soldiers reminded him, in
their lack of discipline, not of a war but of a hippodrome.
Stll, by Mav sth Smuts had taken Keetmanshoop and
Gibeon in the south, and a week later Windhoek and its
important wireless stagion in the north had fallen to Botha.

Of the Umon soldiers Smuts said justly: “Their behav-
iour has been that of gentlemen.” The Germans left in their
charge their women and childrén. When the time came for
the Germans to ask for terms Botha said to Smuts that it
was not the surrender of the German forces he wanted but
the surrender of their territory. “We should not unduly hurt
their pride; you will remember how keenly we ourselves
felt such matters.’

He spoke to this effect in 1919 at Versailles, He now
issued an order to his forces:

‘Peace having been arranged in German South-West
Africa, all ranks of the Union forces in that territory are
reminded that self-restraint, courtesy and consideration of
the feclings of others on the part of the troops, whose good
fortune it is to be the victors, are cssential.’
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2

It was after Smurs ook Keetmanshoop and before Botha
took Windhoek that Seitz, the Governor-General of Ger-
man South-West, first suggested an armistice with a view
to peace.

He cxplained, between the surrender of Keetmanshoop
and Windhock, that the news from Germany pointed to a
long war in Europe, that Germany had taken valuable pos-
sessions in France and Belgium to which her colonies were
not comparable, and that Germany’s economic position
was very good. What purposc, therefore, he asked, was
there in fighting in South-West Africa? ‘South Africa is
not so rich in men and capiral as to be able to afford to
throw both usclessly away in order ro attain military glory.
Also for the future of South Africa in the world it is not
quite a matter of indifference whether South Africa draws
on itsclf the bitter enmity of a mighty people of seventy
millions.’

Botha (having consulted Smuts) professed himself un-
disturbed by Scitz’ information, but duly met Seitz and re-
jected those terms which be had known beforchand Seitz
would offer: each side to keep the territory it now occupied
until peace was made in Europe, a neutral zone to be
created, an equal number of prisoners exchanged. He de-
manded surrender of the entire country. Fighting was re-
sumed. Smuts returncd to his work at Pretoria. Seitz, two
months later, came to say that both his own troops and
Germany’s were now in a position of unusual strength.
Botha remained undisturbed by Seitz’ news and again de-
manded the whole of German South~West Africa.

Next day (July 4th) Seitz surrendered. A few days later
peace was declared. The Union losses were five hundred
and thirty killed and wounded; the taking of German
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South-West Africa was the first successful issuc to the
Allies in the war; and Smuts said to the people who wel-
comed him at the Union Buildings in Pretoria: ‘Here we
are gathered, English, Dutch and other nationalities who
compose our white race—even our coloured people, In-
dians and natives—all gathered together in a feeling of
gratitude for the great achievement which lies behind us.
May I express the hope, the prayer, that from this great
gathering to-Jay and the spirit which pervades you to-day,
a spirit of umon may go forth over the whole of our be-
loved land?’

Two weeks later, in the middle of August, he said:
“There is now the prospect of the Union becoming almost
double its present area. If we continue on the road to union,
our northern boundaries will not be where they now are,
and we shall lzave to our children a huge country, in which
to develop a type for themselves, and to form a people who
will be a true civilising agency in this dark continent. That
is the large view.’

Where had one heard these words before?

A Nationalist paper remembered: “The large view! It
makes one think of the World’s View where Rhodes is
buried. What has Rhodes’s Imperialism not cost South
Africa! What Smuts’ Imperialism has cost South Africa we
also know! Crur nation is torn asunder. The blood of bro-
thers has beer: shed. There arc thousands of broken hearts.
What it will 5till cost us in the future we do not know.’



Chapter XXXVII

‘THIS HELL INTO WHICH I HAVE
WANDERED’

I

now it was time for another election.

How sweetly, despite Botha’s personal defeat, that
first election had gone! Every Boer had come in under
Botha. Jameson would have been only too thankful to
bring his party of thirty-nine into a coalition under Botha.
There were eleven Independents from Natal and four
Labour men, and Botha, with his majority of thirteen over
all other parties, could do anything he liked.

Then, in 1912, General Hertzog, with a few followers,
had broken away. Then there had been the labour troubles
of 1913. Then there had been the deportations of 1914. Then
there had been the rebellion of 1914. Then there had been
the German South-West African campaign of 1915, which
many of the Boers had greatly resented because, as they said,
they were more akin to Germany than to England—a third
or a half of them claimed German blood—and, indecd, the
names of some of their most conspicuous men were Ger-
man. . ..

So what a contrast between the clection of 1910 and the
election of 1915. One talked of blood now in a different
sense. Merriman warned Smuts of dangers about him—of
his negligent indifference to them. . . .
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Towards the end of September, 2 month before the elec-
tion, a hall it a working-class quarter of Johannesburg was
‘tastefully decorated’ with flags and flowers, and a large
shicld said “Welcome to General Smuts’, and at eight o’clock
Smuts was to speak from a platform outside and afrerwards
therc was to he a ‘social’.

Before eight o’clock a mob of between eight hundred
and a thousard surrounded the platform—ncarly all Dutch
—singing over and over again the old Transvaal Volkslied,
and showing photographs of Beyers and Jopie Fourie, and
shouting: “Who drowned Beyers? Who murdered Jopie
Fourie? What have they done with the body of Jopic
Fouric? Who shot us down in the streets?’

They met $muts and his companions with these words,
with rotten eggs, with stones and bricks, and gravel and
dust gathered from the road. Smuts and his followers
pushed their way through the crowd and mounted the plat-
form, and one of his followers (Ewald Esselen, an ex-
judge of the Republic, in 1915 leader of the Transvaal Bar)
tried to shield Smuts’ face with bis hat, but Smuts waved
the hat aside, and sat staring immovwably at the crowd.

Then a leading woman socialist helped a man on to the
platform. The man had a baby in his arms: “That is Labus-
chagne’s baby,” the woman shouted, ‘the child of the man
you shot. . . .

Smuts himse!f describes the scene:

‘We had an ugly time. It was not a political matter; it
was an organiscd serious business. I realised that when we
arrived. An unkempt, desperate-looking man was addressing
the audience frem the platform. . . . He boasted of carrying
dynamite in his pocket for General Botha and myself. . .
We had to fight our way to the platform. There was a blg
placard: “The Martyrs of the 4th of July!” One man had a
sort of poster with photographs of Fourie and Beyers, and
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beneath it the Nationalist motto: “Suid Afrika Eerste”—-
(“South Africa First”). Another carried a baby. I'said to him
in Dutch, “Do take the child away; it may get killed.” He
refused. . ..

‘Heavy stones were flung. . . . The situation was becom-
ing so scrious that I decided to abandon the meeting, and
we started fighting our way through the crowd back to the
motor car. That was the dangerous moment. That was the
opportunity for the crowd to murder someone without the
actual man who did the deed being seen. They had me
down once, but I got up again and we pushed towards the
car. My chauffeur had started the engine. But they turned
his switch off, and he had a desperate fight to crank it up
again—he was twice beaten down. Just as he got the engine
running we entered the car and a man about two yards be-
hind me fired at me point blank. . . . But those poor fools
can’t shoot. . . . A miserable mob, I fele sorry for them.’

Ewald Esselen gives a better description. He says he told
Smuts before they ever went to the meeting that there
would be trouble, although he did not actually think the
trouble would be anything but vocal. ‘Smuts laughed.
“We'll go and have a Jook at chem; we'll face them.”

‘Tsaid: “‘Jannie, you'll get killed.”

‘He answered (smiling): “We’re going to face them.”

“The stones came, the rotten eggs came. When the affair
was at its hottest Stnuts said: “Esselen, this is too much. Tt
will only lead to very serious things, we had better not try
any furcher to hold a meeting.” The next moment four or
ftve men rushed at him, and he shouted: “Will you? Now
we'll wait.”’

Smuts was suddenly in a wild passion, says Essclen. He
himself began to shout to the mob: “You will kill General
Smuts if you are not careful.” The mob sent back, he says,
‘bloodthirsty bowls’ and, even while he was warning them,
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he had also to hold down Smuts, who was struggling from
his grasp and shouting: ‘I'll show them. Let me get at the
devils. Let me get at them.”

At the car three shots were fired ac Smuts. A miner, who
was crushed between Smuts and some rioters, received a
blow meant for Smuts from an iron-loaded pick-handle,
and was knocked unconscious. A number of other people
were injured. Smuts came away unhurt. He was calm
again. “You call this a social?” he said.

The platform was smashed and the hall wrecked. Bricks,
stones, eggs, oranges, lumps of wood, bludgeons, bottles,
scissors, sticks and a revolver were found by the police.

The Labour Party denicd any connection with the out-
rage. But a Labour man offered to withdraw his candida-
ture against Smurs for a written guarantee that the Govern-
ment would go to the country a year after the declaration
of peace in Europc ‘If I survive the present election as a
Minister of the Union,” Smuts answered, ‘and survive also
the tactics of my opponents and other accidents of fate,
there may be a situation to face after the war which will as
lictle allow of my deserting my post as the situation of the
last twelve months.”

2

Outrages, ifnot in act then in spirit and word, continued
—they continued, indeed, for another twenty years. In time
Smuts became used to them. He developed the habit of
sitting motionless and wordless, with his eyes staring into
some unknown region, while accusations spattered about
him. In 1915 he was as yet unused to them. He knew he was
not popular—-could not explain himself, could not get at
people. It was not pleasant to be disliked, but a philosopher
might learn to bear it. To be treated, however, as a monster
—with that idealism in one’s heart, after all one had done:

33T



‘THIS HELL INTO WHICH I HAVE WANDERED'

the old Transvaal days, the Boer War, responsible govern-
ment, union—remembering all one dreamt still to do—
that was unjust. ‘Tam the best-hated man in South Africa’,
he said, not smiling then over the words as he would to-
day. ‘Thousands’, he said again, ‘envy me my place and
power. Yet what are they? My own people curse me; my
name is a byword.’

There were meetings at which he could not hide his de-
spondency. There were hardly meetings at which questions
were not shouted to him about the bodies of de la Rey and
Fourie. The widows of de la Rey and Fourie were brought
into it.

Because of the threats of the Nationalists, and the belief
that they might usc, not merely Fouric’s widow, but even
his grave and body, for election purposes, the Government
had thought it wiser not to disclose his burial place. They
were perhaps wrong. For now the rumours got about that
the body of Fourie, so far from being, as the Government
said, decently buried in a grave, had been thrown into a pit
at the back of the Pretoria gaol, and there covered with un-
slaked lime—so that both body and the evidence of what
had been done to it might be destroyed. Smuts threatened
to sue one man for libel who shouted aloud the inevitable
story. Fourie’s widow testified that she had three times
approached Botha and Smuts for information about her
husband’s body, and never been given that information.
She now nominated a time and date by which she was to be
told when his grave would be opened and his body given
her. If her demand was refused, the whole Boer nation, she
vowed, would back it

Smuts told her she could see her husband’s body after
the election. His grave was, in fact, opened six months later.

Now, in the name of de la Rey’s widow, a manifesto was
published (in Dutch—chis is the sense of it): ‘You know
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what I have lost and in how terrible a fashion. You know
the cause of the great and bitter war in Europe. We heard
of the shoot:ng of the Prince and Princess of Servia. I
thought what a dreadful world it was that allowed such
deeds. . . . We ourselves had peace. How sweet were the
days of pcace when I did not know what so soon was to
happen to me!’

And then Botha and others (she went on) had come to
tell de la Rey that the Union must go to fight beyond its
borders. And de la Rey had vowed he would rather die
than agree to it. ‘I pray God to take me away, for God can
do more than T’ he had said.

And he had indeed (she said) been taken away, and noble
men had lost their lives and liberty, and all that remained
for his widow was to hear always how great Smuts and
Botha were, and was there never to be an end to it? ‘T would
do anything to bring about that end, I am an Afrikaner
woman with a national heart. If I can give the Afrikaner
Volk a word of comfort it is this: Stand shoulder to shoul-
der, and heart to heart to work with stern spirit for right
and justice and love and peace.”

This seems to be the characteristic peroration of public
speeches. The letter, indeed, was that sort of thing. And so
far, actually, was Mrs. de la Rey from having written it
herself, that, as it happened, she and her daughters were
staying at Smuts’ farm when it was published. . . .

The passion against Smuts grew—cries of brothers’
blood, Fourie's body, the peace there would be in South
Africa if only he and Botha could be got away.

He told his audience how profoundly he wished that too.
‘I would like rothing better than to be out of this hell into
which I have wandered, and in which I have lived for the
last two years. . . . But the Government cannot leave you.
. . . The spirit of the devil is being disseminated among
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our people, a spirit of blackmail and lies. We have to ex-
terminate this spirit of rebellion and unrest. Briton and
Boer must combine to make a great nation. You can take
my assurance that I shall work with my last breath for the
good of South Africa.’

The date of the election was October zoth. A Nation-
alist cartoon showed Botha and Smuts with a sword marked
‘Martial Law.’

Botha: And what shall we do with the sword?

Smuts: Steady, Louis. Wait till the twentieth, and if
we 're still at the helm, we’ll have another chance to use that
weapo.

In the election of 1910 ¢very scat but one in the Free
State had gone to Botha. In the election of 1915 every scat
but one in the Free State went to General Hertzog. The
South African Party, indeed, headed the election results;
yet, with fifty-four scats, it no longer had a majority over
all other parties, and it relied now on the promised support,
during the war period, of Jameson’s original party (which
called itself now the Unionist Party) and the Independents.
General Hertzog’s Nationalist Party, beginning threc years
ago as a group of five, had grown to twenty-seven.

The Government continued to recruit men for Europe,
and it also recruited men now for German FEast Africa.
Smuts himself was the principal maker of recruiting
speeches. He said England, that was doing more than seemed
humanly possible, had appealed to the Union for help.
Was she not justified? Could the Union refuse her?
Was South Africa not, after all, a happy and prosperous
country?

He called South Africa 2 happy country. He meant it.
As he has a romantic contempt for ease of living and yearns
(no less romantically) to suffer in the cause of duty, so he
finds also a happiness in unhappiness—he likes the little
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thin needle that drills an emphasis through the heart of joy.
How dull, he always says, arc the dominions of Australia
and New Zea'and! How inspiring, by contrast, the active
humanity-—even the active inhumanity—of South Africa!
It gives him a poignant joy to be a South African.



Chapter XXXVIII
LIEUTENANT-GENER AL SMUTS

1
f : muts had not dreamt, when he was making those re-

cruiting spceches, that he himself would have to take

the Union forces to German East Africa. He had, in
fact, already been offered the command and (for the poh—
tical reasons one may well imagine) refused it. But the Brit-
ish general who was due to command had fallen ill, Smuts
had again been called upon, and suddenly he was Lieuten-
ant-General J. C. Smuts, commander-in—chief of the im-
perial forces in German East Africa, and the second young-
est general in the British army.

Now England discovered Smuts. It was a romance of the
most astonishing kind, a British romance, the greatest pos-
sible tribute to Britain, that the cnemy leader of fourteen
years ago was to-day a British leader, a general in the British
army, leading his own men and Britain’s together. It made
the British feel (in those days when people asked them-
selyes what they had done for God thus to hate them) that
they could not be a bad and undeserving nation since they
had it in them so to win over an honest enemy.

If they had not, by 1916, that personal experience of
Smuts’ individuality which later overwhelmed them, if
they still contrasted his human qualities unfavourably with
those of Botha, there yet remained more than enough in
him to make them proud of his adherence, not only to their
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cause, but to themselves. The British saw in Smuts a reas-
surance of their virtues which they crucially needed. They
spoke of his intellect, his industry, his “‘uncanny insighe into
the essentizls of a problem’, his demonstrated adaprabilicy
to every test, the endless varied successes of his extraordin-
ary carcer. That the British had once misunderstood him
was no more than a tribute to a character ‘too spacious and
complex to be read offhand.” . . . He was ‘a remarkable
combination of talents not usually found in the same per-
son, unless, indeed, that person belongs to the small and
select cluss of which the Caesars, the Cromwells and the
Napoleouns zre the outstanding types’. He was ‘the most
conspicuous figure in Greater Britain’—‘the general in
whom the whole Empire has most confidence. . . .

They said in South Africa (the Nationalists) chat if the
English were so delighted with Smuts, they might have
him. ‘He is nothing to us.' “We don’t care whether he goes
or not.” ‘He has left for German East to escape his difficul-
tics here.” Now that he had abandoned his post to enter the
service of a foreign Government, did he expect to take pay-
ment both frem that Government and his own? (But he
took nothing from England.) They opposed in Parliament
a vote of thanks to him and Botha for the success of their
campaign in German South-West Africa.

It could, after all, not have failed to be some relief to him
to escape for a little while from that hell into which, as he
said, he had wandered and lived for two years.

He left for German East Africa from Durban on Febru-
ary 12th, 1916. 1t was nearly a year before he saw his family
again, and he was hardly back when he had to go away for
another two and a half years. He calculates, now and then,
the time he has spent at home and the time he has spent
away from home and says it is not strange he and his chil-
dren feel embarrassed with one another. ‘T cannot approach
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them and they do not approach me. I am what the news-
papers would call a distinguished stranger to them. They
X 1] . . o . . D I h :
say,  Who is this foreigner in the house?” They go to their
mother.”

2

German East Africa lies on the Indian Ocean, south of
the Equator, between the first and eleventh parallels; it is
bounded by British East Africa, the Belgian Congo, Portu-
guese East Africa and Rhodesia; with an area of three hun-
dred and sixty-four thousand square miles, it is twice the
size of Germany. Chapter XXXII will have given some
idea of its valuc to Gerinany. From German East Africa as
a starting point was to arise the great German empire of
Mittel-Afrika, which should not only supply Germany with
tropical raw materials and take her goods and surplus popu-
lation, and not only link up, through friendly Arab states,
with Mittel-Europa and Turkey, but also menace India
and Australia and British interests generally in the East.
German East Africa was, even at this moment, menacing
Eastern waters and plans in the Bast.

Smuts says he knows no more beautiful country than
German East Africa. Lakes Tanganyika, Nyasa and Kivu
are in it, and part of Victoria Nyanza. At Lake Nyasa there
are peaks rising to ten thousand feet. Then comes the
castern ‘rift valley’, with its volcanoes. And then, suddenly,
from a low plin, Kilimanjaro, over nincteen thousand
seven hundred feet high, the highest mountain in Africa—
an extinct volcano. Its base is in the tropics and its head is
capped in ice. Glaciers fill its ravines. The waters of the
glaciers flow by many rivers into the great Pangani. Below
the glaciers a forest belt encircles the mountain. . . .

Some rivers flow into the Indian Ocean and others into
the lakes. There arc rivers and waterfalls everywhere, and
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jungles beside the rivers, and primeval forests on the
mountain slopes and grass ten feet high. There are swamps
and plains and steppes and deserts. There arc thousands of
square mules of bush so thick that armics may pass one an-
other without knowing it, and where, as Smuts says, ‘it is
impossible to enclose an enemy determined to escape.’
There are palms and ferns and thorns; and trees—sycamore,
baobab, tamarisk and mimosa. There are hippopotami and
crocodile, land-turtle and watcr-turtle, ostrich and chim-
panzee, lion and leopard, clephant, rhinoceros, buffalo,
zcbra, antclope and giraffe. The poles of Smuts’ army field
telegraph had to be twenty-two feet high because the
giraffes used ro scratch their necks against wires of normal
height and pull them down. It was like fighting (said Col-
onel Josiah Wedgwood) in a zoo. Lions and other beasts of
prey disputed water-holes with sentries. . . .

And not only beasts of prey, but birds of prey. Yet not
only birds of prey, but beautiful small birds and beautiful
strange insects. . . .

“The tall grasses’, writes Mr. Francis Brett Young in
Marching On Tanga, ‘bent and rippled in the wind like a
moving meadow athome. The lower air was full of dragon-
flies. We could hear the britcle note of cheir stretched wings
above the soft tremor of grasses swaying slowly as if they
were in love with the laziness of their own soft motion.,
Clinging to the heads of the grasses, and swaying as they
swayed, were many beetles-—Dbrilliant creatures with wing-
cases blue~b]ack and varied with the crimson of the cinna-
bar moth. .. ’ ‘Never in my life’, he writes of the dragon-
flies again, Tad I scen such a show of bright ephemeral
beauty.’

But then other insects than dragon-flies and beetles blue-
black and crimmson: insects not so benignly beautiful: tsetse
fly and locusts, sandfleas and mosquitoes. With the rain
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come malaria and other fevers, and the sicknesses of animals;
and men cannot march.

It was in February, the eve of the rainy season, that Smuts
reached German Fast Africa. “The word had gone forth
from Berlin’, he says, ‘that East Africa, the jewel of the
German Colonial Empire, was to be held at all costs.’

3

That was the most the Germans thought of doing or
could do—hold on. The German troops that fought the
Allies in German East Africa were twenty thousand—most
of them black. The highest number of Allied troops in the
field at any one time was fifty-five thousand. But alto-
gether there were a hundred and fourteen thousand—also
largely black or coloured; and then besides there were
British sailors, Portuguese and Belgian natives. And the
campaign before, during and after Smuts’ time cost
seventy-two million pounds.

On the other hand, the principal enemy was the country
itself. It was the country, rather than the Germans, that had
to be conquered. 1t was the country that was the deadlier
opponent. There were units reduced to less than a third
through malaria. For every South African that went down
in battle four went down in sickness. . . .

Sometimes there was that terrible exhausting heat which
precedes African storms. Often, on their long marches, the
men had no tents. The storms made sponges of earth and
groundsheet. The luxuriance of growth that results from
such warmth and rain bred parasites fatal to new blood. ...

If there was not this wild luxuriance of growth, therc
was desert. Clouds of sand, white, impenetrable and
gritty, preceded, enveloped, followed everything. . . .

And there was the desolation. Often Smuts’ men camped
where no living thing—nort a bird, nor an insect—had been
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before. They moved across country ‘pathless and trackless’
(says Smuts) but for the spoor of an elephant or the nar-
row footpath of a native.” He had to cut bush and moun-
tains, he had to build bridges and railways. When he
advanced, taking a railway through swamps and virgin for-
ests, high grass had to be laid under sleepers that the sleepers
might not sink into the marshy ground. Thousands of men
were used in the building of these railways. Smuts himself
reported, in an official despatch, that his advance was made
into a terrain ‘enormous in cxtent, with no known vital
point anywhere, containing no important entries or cen-
tres, with practically no roads’.

The rains swept away in an hour bridges laboriously buile
and reduced his communications, as he says, to ‘two hun-
dred miles of quagmire’. The troops had to work ‘under
tropical conditions which not only produce bodily weari-
ness and unfitmess, but which create mental languor and de-
pression and finally appal the stoutest hearts. To march day
by day, and -week by week, through the African jungle or
high grass, in which vision is limited to a few yards, in
which danger always lurks but seldom becomes visible,
even when cxpericnced, supplics a test to human nature
often in the long run beyond the limits of human endur-
ance. The eflores of all have been beyond praise.

4
He said the efforts of his men had been beyond praise.
Other officers tell that the only troops really able to with~
stand, cven remperamentally, the East African conditions
were the coloured troops. Smuts, indeed, had not been in
East Africa three months before he advised the Imperial
Government that it was impossible to keep white troops
there for any length of tine, and began to train malaria~
immunc natives to replace them. In the middle of October
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he sent home between twelve and fifteen thousand South
African troops, and replaced them by Nigerians and other
blacks.

As for the South Africans, a miasma descended on their
spirits no less than on their bodies. They struggled, indeed,
as Smuts declared; they tried to behave, as again he said,
like gentlemen; they tried to combat that miasma. They
could not. South Africans are accustomed to emptiness and
a clear sky. The swamps, the thick, damp warmth, the
bush growth, the close impenetrability, the mystery of
German Fast Africa, appalled them. “You would not have
known them’, one of their officers says, ‘for the boys of
German South-West Africa.’

The other white troops were much the same. An active
campaign, under English command, had been going on in
German East Africa since 1014, and it had failed. The Eng-
lish had not, to begin with, appreciated the difficulties. A
battalion of North Lancashires, a small force of Punjabis
and some East African troops had been judged sufficient
to take and hold this country twice as large as Germany and
as difficult as existed in the world. An early offer of help
from the Union had been tefused. The Germans, by the
time Smuts came, were in a position, with their growing
native army, to attack the Belgian Congo and the various
British territories that surrounded them. They had food
enough: since, in preparation for an cxhibition at Dar-es-
Salaam to celebrate the opening of its new railway, they
had ordered large stocks from Europe, and also the year
had been agriculturally successful. They had armaments:
for, though the English blockade had driven shipping from
the lakes, it had not been able to stop the arrival of muni-
tions at the coastal ports. An English attempt to attack from
the sca at the port of Tanga had just been repelled with
heavy loss.
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The Germans were entrenched in British territory, and
threatening to blow up the only British railway line be-
tween the sea and the lake sources of the Nile, when Smuts
arrived and decided, as in German South-West Africa, to
attack at once and from all points of the compass.

The triumphant conclusion of such a scheme depends on
accurate timing, and the success of every part of it—in
shore, on absolute self~confidence. Smuts had absolute self-
confidence. He had also that habit of secrecy which is pet-
manent with him. No one, according to both Mr. Brett
Young and Zolonel Wedgwood, ever knew what he pro-
posed to do umtil the last swift moment. What he proposed
to do now, at once, before the rains interfered, was to drive
the Germans from the Kilimanjaro ranges into the fever-
stricken swamps of the Pangani.

There was, as he explains, only onc practicable gap, four
or five miles wide, in this natural rampart. Here the enemy
had been entrenching and fortifying for eighteen months.
But it was the gateway to German East Africa, and it had
to be taken at any cost.

Smuts decided to ‘manacuvre’ the enemy out of it—to
make, not a frontal actack, but onc of those flank attacks
he has loved all his life, and that arc indeed a part of his
Boer heritage. It is the Boer way, he himself told Buxton,
the Union Governor-General, ‘to go round a difficulty
rather than fice it; to make a flank rather than a frontal
attack.” But, with regard to the application of this principle
in war, it was from Chaka, the Zulu, the Boers learnt the
value of a flanking movement. Chaka described it as mak-
ing the shape of a bull’s horns to enclose an enemy before
driving the centre home.

During the night of March 7th, then, Smuts advanced
the greater pact of his force against the Germans’ left flank.
Farly next morning, fichting on mountain slopes through
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clefts and primeval forests, he took the foothills of Kili-
manjaro—by surprise, as he says, and without effort. Be-
fore another day was gone the Germans had cvacuated
‘their practically impregnable position’, and the result of
the campaign was settled. Twelve days from the taking of
Kilimanjaro (but at a greater cost in lives than of the whole
German South-West campaign) Smuts was in complete
possession of the Moschi-Aruscha area, the richest in Ger-
man East,

There were some who thought that Smuts should now
land a force at Dar-es-Salaam under cover of naval guns
and advance along the new central railway. He decided
against them (speaking officially) because of the coming
monsoon and the coastal malaria. But he also decided
against them (speaking unofficially) because he wanted
‘none of that amphibious nonscnse’. He chosc instead to
advance direct inland from Kilimanjaro, while another
section of his army, led by the same van Deventer with
whom he had worked in the Cape during the Boer War,
made west, and, in a wide enveloping movement, cut the
Germans off from supplics and rcinforcements. It had been
arranged at the beginning that the Belgians should advance
eastward from Lake Tanganyika, and the British strike
from Nyasaland in the south~west.

The forces Smuts had under him during the German
East-African campaign were South Africans, East Africans,
Rhodesians, Englishmen, a few Canadians and Australians,
Portuguese, Belgians, Indians, West Indians, South and
East African natives, Cape coloured men, Nigerians and
Gold Coast negroes—the most polyglot army of the war.

It was the first time white South Africans had ever fought
together with dark-skinned men, and, to their embarrass-
ment, they could not help respecting them.
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Chapter XXXIX

THE CONQUEST OF GERMAN EAST
AFRICA

I

ut now came the rainy scason; now, by tums, it

blazed and it poured and a humidity arose as of a

Turkizh bath. The men had to travel in light march-
ing order with no more for their protection and comfort
than groundsheet and blanket. "They had often to abandon
their tents, Behind them die mechanical transport was held
up beforc mountain passes and bridges suddenly washed
away, or stuck, bogged, m marshes; and for weeks they
were cut off from their supply bases, had not enough food,
had ‘none of the small comforts’ (in Smuts’ words) ‘which
in this climate are real necessities’.

The cxpedirion during these weeks in April was “pro-
bably’, says Smuts, ‘without parallcl in the history of the
wat’, He had made every possible enquiry about the con-
ditions likely t» mect him. No information, guess or warn-
ing presaged e ‘unbelievable conditions’ he did, in fact,
encounter. In his ewn guerrilla days in the Cape there had
been unprecedented rains. They were nothing to these Ger-
man East rains that flooded cvery river, and washed away
all his bridges and passes, and made swamps where swamps
had not been before, and sudden new lakes.

He had to stop his advance until nearly the end of May.
He then, in a n onth, covered two hundred and fifty miles
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——on half-rations, with half his white men down through
malaria, and often lacking, of all things, water.

The mules and horses died of their own pests. They died
in their tens of thousands. Mr. Brett Young (a medical
officer at the time) speaks of ‘the wretched animals—these
gaunt skeletal mules and wasted bullocks’, of the hollows
in the quarters of the mules, and ‘their scrangely hungry
faces. Some of them were also puffed beneath their bellies.’
He describes the sick men: ‘A little company of grey spec-
tres, men of the regiment dragged slowly to the ambulance
on their way back. They staggered along in their overcoats
as though the weight of them was almost too much to be
borne, and behind them walked. the African stretcher-
bearers trailing their kits and rifles. . . " “The Germans’, he
says, ‘never left any possible source of food behind them.’
For days ‘our supply of rations failed us altogether. For our-
selves we had small rescrves of bully beef and biscuits, but
the African followers had nothing. . . .’

On top of their own troublcs, ‘the enemy never hesitated
to abandon their sick to our care when they found it dif-
ficult to feed them. . . . In asingle day our ambulance ad-
mitted over seven per cent. of the whole force. . . . A long
shed, in which lay two hundred Africans, left by the Ger-
mans to die, was ominously labelled “Typhus”.’

On every side, says Mr. Brett Young, following the
brilliant beginning, the campaign scemed to stagnate. Only
one thing, he says, sustained them, and that was Smuts him-
self. They believed not merely in his strategy and courage,
but in his luck. They had only to see ‘the big Vauxhall in
which Smuts daily risked his life’ to be revived. . . . “The
more I think ofit, the more I realisc how the personality of
that one man dominated the whole conduct of the war in
Fast Africa. And | sometimes wonder what would have
happened if fortune had not carried him safely through the
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risks he faced daily, for though his divisional generals or
brigadicrs might well have carried out in detail the broad
strategic movements with which he quartered the whole
country, we should have lucked the enormous psychical
asset which his masterful courage gave us, and I think that
we should have endured our dcpnvauons and our sickness
with a less happy confidence. . ..

‘He always’, onc of his soldiers wrote, ‘comes out early
in the morning and gives the men on guard at his quarters
a cup of coffee from his own hands. The fellows dote on
him. We might have marched twenty miles, and if he hap-
pens to pass along the line the fellows stop and cheer him
like the deuce. He layshimself open to the hardships of the
men. We once saw him jump off his horse and put on a
poor fellow who had dropped out on account of the fever,
while he walked beside him and chatted to him the whole
way. ...

‘He is the idol of his army’, others endorsed. “The men
will do anything for him and endure anything. They ad-
mire him as a military leader and respect him as a man ready
to bear what they bear. ..’

There were, at the same time, those who said that Smuts
might have avoided the sickness and troubles that befell his
troops if he had not followed his own particular plan of
campaign, and if he had not driven them so hard through
the rainy season. Their complaint came before the War
Office. A Court of Inquiry sat. The Army Council derived
from the court’s conclusions the following:

Smuts was :aced at the end of March 1916 with three
courses:

(1) To abandon further offensive action during the rainy
season after a conspicuously successful opening campaign.

(2) To undertake partial and necessarily indecisive local
operations.
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(3) To adopt the course which he did adopt.

The council decided that, though Smuts’ decision to ad-
vance into the heart of the enemy’s country nccessarily in-
volved certain risks owing to the imminence of the rainy
season and the attendant transport difficulties, the losses due
to sickness would have been as great as those caused by the
hardships endured in the course of the advance, while the
material results gained would not have been secured and
the campaign would have been prolonged. It held that
many of the hardships were due to the inexperience of the
administrative staffs and officers, the transport difficulties,
the hastily raised troops, the novel conditions. Its conclu-
sion was that Smuts’ course shortenicd the campaign and up-
set the plans of the German command, and that the conduct
of the troops, considering the exceptional difficultics, was
admirable.

Nearly a year before the Defence Headquarters had com-
municated to the Press the same criticism and also Smuts’
reply to it:

“That hardships have been involved is general knowledge
and appears from official reports, but they were not borne
either unnecessarily or in vain. ... That the sufferings werc
even in part avoidable and due to mismanagement or neg-
lect is not true.

‘I have constantly lived with my troops. From first to
last T have accompanied in the field the main division of my
forces in their long and arduous advance, and I have person-~
ally witnessed their efforts and their hardships, but I know
that everything animal or mechanical power could accom-
plish was done to supply them with what was necessary.’

He came later, in one of those moods whenhis conscience
holds its own inquiry, to question whether indeed he had
not expected too much of his men, imposed too hard a task
under awful conditions. His conscience (as not infrequently)
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acquitted him: It said he could not have done otherwise.
A timid strategy, a hesitation in taking risks, would have
been fatal. . . .

Smuts does, :n truth, feel thae, at the crucial moment, no-
thing—no risk. no suffering—darc be considered: only the
object. Routine commanders, he thinks, sometimes fail
here.

They are prepared, he says, to lose a certain number of
men and make their plans accordingly. But when the
incvitable check comes, they hesitate to commit them-
sclves further znd the initial victory is not followed up.

“Tired! Thirsty‘ There is no such thing when the success
of a big operation trembles i the balance.”

There is no such thing for himself, and he goes by that.
It is long since Smuts discovered that the ferment in his
mind seems ircommunicable to other minds, and he has
lcarnt therefore (the boy who, at sixteen, wrote so con-
fidendy to a stranger must have had to learn it) to keep his
thoughts to himsclf; to give the mcre surface of them to
some who, indeed, deserve better; to be, as many report,
secretive and arrogantly selfereliant. But he has not learnt
to be equally doubtful of 'men’s physical capacities. He
went, in German Fast Africa, where his troops went and
lived as they lived. He had malaria, to which he refused to
submit, in Ge:man East Africa, which he still has, and to
which he still refuses to submit. There are constant reports
of him as looking, in the German East days, ‘thin and ill’,
of wanting some arsenic and iron pills and going back to
the front again; of arriving in Cape Town at the end of the
campaign too sick to go to welcoming banquets. Every
now and then, even in these times, the old fever returns, his
dulled face and manner show it; but he does not declare
himself ill or forgo a duty, he walks about with his fever
and tiredness, accepting them as a part of that life which is
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dedicated to things other than his personal sensations. . . .
So, if fear and privation and the pains of the body are no-
thing to him, why should they trouble other men? . . .

The time arrived, nevertheless, when, with the second
rainy season of the year approaching, he called upon von
Lettow-Vorbeck, the German commander, to surrender,
and von Lettow presumed that ‘as far as force was con-
cerned Smuts had reached the end of his resources’ and re-
fused to surrender.

In the end what, precisely, Smurs conquered was his chicf
enemy, the land. What he actually never beat was his lesser
enemy, the men themselves. Those evaded him. ‘As a mat-
ter of strict historical securacy’; says the writer of With
Botha and Smuts in Africa (W. Whittall, late Lieutenant-
Commander, R.N., of the Atmoured Car Division), ‘Smuts
did not at any time succeed in compelling the Germans to
fight a decisive action. By means of rapidly carried-out en-
veloping movements the Germans were evicted from all
the best and most fertile arcas of the Colony, but the fact
remains that they were always able to clude the final decis-
ive stroke that would have destroyed cheir army.”

What, in short, Smuts himselfhad done to the British in
the Boer War, the Germans now did to him. A few Ger-
mans were still holding out in the mountains, playing
Smuts’ own guerrilla game of other days, when peace was
made in Europe.

3

P~

Yet the same officer, who admits that the Germans them-
selves were never entirely beaten in German East Africa,
points out how within a fortnight, ‘by the genius of a great
soldier the position (of the previous eighteen months) was
completely reversed’, and how ‘by a series of operations as
brilliantly conceived and carried out as any in the annals of
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tropical war’, the Germans, so far from holding their own
and part of Brit sh territory, had lost the very best of their
land. And wher. Smuts described his plan of campaign to
Lord French ‘his story’ (said French), ‘though told in the
simplest and plainest language, revealed to me unmistak-
ably the mind of a great stratcgist and tactician.”

German East Africa was, in effect, won, but Smuts’ own
work remained, as he felt, uncompleted when, in the
middle of January 1917, he was called upon to leave it for a
greater work still. An Imperial Conference was meeting in
London, which the Premiers of the different Dominions
were to attend. Botha conld not go because of the unrest in
South Africa. It was suggested therctore that Smuts should
go in his stead.



Chapter XL
THE BRITISH WAR CABINET

I

e came back to South Africa to tell the people that

‘not only have we, in co-operation with the other

Imperial forces there, conquered German East
Africa, but we have secured far more. Through our own
efforts and our own sacrifices we have secured a voice in
the ultimate disposal of this sub-continent. . . . Whatever
happens to German Bast Africa . . . this at least we know,
that our advice will be considered when the time comes to
settle matters. . . . And we have done our duty, and nobody
will be able to say we have been petty or small, or have
been concerned with our own petty affairs and not done
our great duty in the great world, We have followed in the
footsteps of the Voortrekkers and Pioncers, and I trust that
future pioneers will continue in these steps, and that South
Africa, instead of being a small, cramped, puny country,
gnawing at its own entrails, will have a larger freedom and
a better life, and will become the great country which is its
destiny. ...

He spoke like that. He had been away from the Union
for a year and he had forgotten—in his innocence, senti-
mental about being home again, thinking that he had not
shamed his country in East Africa, thinking there was work
he might do for it in England, he had forgotten that he
might not speak like that among his own people. What!
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Smuts dared to compare himsclf with the Voortrekkers!
The counterpart of Rhodes, the equal betrayer of South
Africa, the satne sort of megalomaniac with the Table Bay-
to-Mediterranican talk—no less prepared to sacrifice to his
annexation spirit holy justice, folk-feelings, Church and
brother’s blood—-he, Smuts, had the impudence to com-
pare his work with the work of the Voortrekkers!

They used the term ‘impudence’. They said exactly those
things. What, they declaimed, had it not already cost South
Africa that Botha had once gone to England to become a
Privy Councillor and borrow five million pounds? A war
loan of thirty millions and untold harm to South Africa!
No less. What might it-not niow cost South Africa that
Smuts too was to go to England and get a Privy Councillor-
ship? ‘Heaven help South Africal’

There was only one comfort. It could not, at least, be
said that he wes going to England (‘Home!” they exploded)
to represent the Boers. He was going, let it be understood,
simply as a private lmperialist, and, as was apparent to
everyone, beci.use South Africa was now too small for him.

To the criticism that Seuth Africa was now too small
for him, Smuts replied: ‘T have heard it stated’, he said, ‘that
South Africa 1s now too small for me. I do not want to
speak personally: it is not a time now to speak personally.
But let me say' this, that South Africa is not too small for
me, and that every drop of blood and cvery bit of courage
and determination I have mme will go to the service of my
country. Whether it is here in the Union, whether it is away
in East Africa, or whether it is at the Council Chamber of
the Empire, I pray that I may have strength to do my duty
with courage and determination, and 1 trust that nothing I
shall ever do will injure the position of South Africa.”

In the English House of Commons, Bonar Law quoted
Carlyle: ‘Intellect is not, as some men think, a tool. It is a
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hand which can handle any tool. General Smuts is a proof
of the truth of that saying.’

In the Union Parliament Merriman opposed the Nation-
alists’ condemmation of Smuts. He recalled to them Smuts’
services to their Republics: “That is what he did for you,
his own people, and for that we remember him; for, thank
God, we English are men enough to acknowledge the gal-
lant deeds of our enemies.’

He arrived in England in March of 1917. While he pro-
tested that he was ‘only a simple Bocr unused to the ways of
fashionable society’, London hailed in him, with an enthus-
iasm that was a measure of suffering, the first conqueror of
the war. America had not yet come in. Russia was going
out. The war was at its bitterest. Merely to know that he
had come, the old enemy, saying: “The cause I fought for
fifteen years ago is the cause for which I am fighting to-day.
I fought for liberty and freedom then and I am fighting for
them to-day’—merely to have his adherence was a justi-
fication before the Lord in those times when, like an animal
corrected by the whip, one fele that pain perhaps meant one’s
own wickedness. He had but to show himself—fresh, dif-
ferent, unbeaten, with his ‘alles=sal-reg-kom’ spirit, for
hearts to be lifted and hope and resolution to be renewed.
‘He represents the ideal that the world is seeking to estab-
lish, and the larger vision in all ¢his tangle of circumstances.’

On the twentieth of March, Mr. Lloyd George, presid-
ing, introduced him to the Imperial War Cabinet as ‘one of
the most brilliant generals in this war’. The Imperial War
Cabinet was an association of the Dominion Premiers who
were attending the Imperial € »nference, with the British
War Cabinet. And Smuts had barely taken his seat when
there shone forth from the ‘simple Boer’ a genius for affairs
so notable that England, for England’s sake, determined not
to lose it.
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From cvery quarter came suggestions how Smuts could
be used. He was asked to preside over the Irish National
Convention. The Palestine command was offered him.
Mr. Winstor. Churchill wrote an article which all but de-
clared that, if Smuts were not kept in England, England de-
served to go under. ‘At this moment’, he wrote, ‘there
arrives in England from the outer marches of the Empire a
new and altcgether extraordinary man. He is a politician.
Hec is a lawyer—politician. He has been a Minister of the
Crown. He ‘was once an Attorney-General. He is now a
Lieutenant-General. The stormy and hazardous roads he
has travelled »y would fill all the acts and scenes of a drama.
He has warred against us=—well we know it. He has quelled
rebellion aga nst our own Hag with unswerving loyalty and
unfailing shrewdness. He has led raids at desperate odds and
conquered provinces by scientific strategy. . . . His aston-
ishing career and his versatile achicvements are only the
index of a profound sagacity and a cool, far-reaching com-
prehension. ...

Admiral F:sher wrote 16 a friend that he believed Bonar
Law had ‘splendidly pressed for Botha to be made a Field
Marshal’, and that he himself chought Botha should be
made Seccretery for War and Smuts employed in France.
“Wouldn’t it be lovely? Smuts in France, and Botha at War
Office! ...

Mr. Lloyd George invited him to join his War Cabinet.
Among the f>ur original members of the War Cabinet was
Milner. It was eighteen years since he and Smuts had first
met in conference—in Bloemfontein—as encemies. Since
his Transvaal days he had lain, thrust aside, in what Smuts
called the political wilderness. Now England needed him.
Now, with Fim, she needed Smuts.






CHRONOLOGICAL TABLE

1870
Smuts is born at Malmesbury in the Cape Colony. In
1870 Lobengula, the last of the great Zulus, succeeds his
father in Matabeleland; Rhodes lands in Natal; and Eng-
land claims possession of the diamond fields.

1882

He learns to read and write in the village of Ricbeek
West.

1886

Having made personal cnquirics about matriculating at
the Victoria College, Stellenboscly; he sells some cattle to
help pay for his education there. At Stellenbosch he learns
his Greek grammar by heart in a weck, becomes interested
in philosophy and English and German poetry, heads all his
examinations, and mects Sibella Margaretha Krige.

1888
He replies :mperially to a specch of Rhodes at Stellen-
bosch.
1801

Having won the Ebden Scholarship, he goes to read law
at Cambridge. He supplenients his scholarship by pledging
his life policy.

1893
He wins the George Long Prize at Cambridge.
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1894
While pursuing ‘an unprecedented career” at Cambridge,
which ends with his heading simultancously both parts of
the Law Tripos, he writes a book called Walt Whitman, a
Study in the Evolution of Personality, that anticipates psycho-
analysis and his own philosophy of Holism. Not published.

1895
Having read in chambers in London, he returns to South
Africa, is admitted to the Cape Bar, settles in Cape Town,
supports Rhodes in Kimberley, is disillusioned by the
Jameson Raid.

1896
Partly out of this disillusionment, partly for the greater
opportunities, Smuts settles inn a Johannesburg that grows
daily more vehement ovet the Boer-Uitlander position.

1897
He marries Sibella Margaretha Krige.

1808
While still a sccond-class burgher he becomes State
Attorney (Attorney-General) and takes control of the de-
tective department to stop corruption.

1899
He goes with Kruger to Bloemfontein to meet Milner
and negotiates personally with the British agent in the
Transvaal for peace. He writes A Century of Wrong.

1900
He is left in charge of Pretoria and removes the Boers’
state funds from Pretoria under shell fire. These state
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funds, which the Boers use to conduct their war, are the
origin of the Kruger-millions legend. He goes on com-
mando.

1001
He becomes a Commandane-General and leads a guer-

rilla band in vhe Cape Colony. In his saddle-bag he carries
Kant’s Critigue of Pure Reason.

1902
The last act in the Boer War is Smuts’ sicge of O’okiep,
on the border of Namaqualand;and from O’okiep he travels
to Vereeniging to assist in the peacc negotiations.

1904
The Transvaal becomes a Crown Colony administered
by Milner., Smuts refuses to join Milner’s Legislative Coun-

cil.

1905
Chinese arc indentured to work on the Rand mines. The
Liberals in England win an clection on a cry of Chinese
slavery. Smuts goes to England to get from them. respon-
sible goverrment for the Transvaal and Orange River
Colony.

1907
Het Volk Party of Botha and Smuts win the first clection
under Responsible Government and take office. Smuts
helds three »ortfolios.

1910
Union.
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1912

General Hertzog is dissatisfied and presently forms his
own party.

1913
Strikes in Johannesburg.

1914
Smuts deports nine strike leaders. There are Boers who
see in the Great War their chance to rebel against England.
Botha and Smuts put down the rebellion.

1915
Botha and Smuts go personally against German South-
West Africa. Strikes, rebellion and war against Germany
leave a residue of bitterness throughout the Union. Smuts’s
life is attempted in Johannesburg during an election cam-

paign.
1916
Smuts is gazetted a general in the British Army and con-
quers German East Africa.

1917
Smuts, taking Botha's place at the Imperial Conference,
is invited by Mr. Lloyd George to join his War Cabinet.



PUBLISHED SOURCES

Amery, L. S., Gencral Editor of “The Times' History of the
War in South Africa, 1899-1902.

Brett Young, Francis E., Marching on Tanga.

Bryce, James, Intpressions of South Africa.

Buchan, John, The African Colony.

Butler, Will:am, Autobiography.

Buxton (Earl), General Botha.

Crowe, Eyre, Memorandum, 1907. Origins of the War, Vol-
nme 3.

Crowe, J. H. V., General Smuts's Campaign in East Africa.
(With a1 introduction by Gen. Smuts.)

Doke, . J., M. K. Gandhi, git Inidian Patriot in South Africa.

Encyclopaedia Britannica,

Engeclenburg (F. V.), Life of Botha.

Fitzpatrick, ] P., Soutl African Meniories.

Fitzpatrick, J. P., The Transvaal From Within.

Gandhi, M. K., His Own Story.

Gardiner, A. G., The Life of Sir William Harcourt.

Garrett, F. E., Story of an African Crisis.

Garvin, ]. L., The Life of Joseph Chamberlain.

Graves, Robert, Lawrence and. the Arabs.

Gretton, R. ., A Modern History of the English People.

Headlam, Cecil, The Milner Papers.

Hobson, J. A., The War in South Africa.

Hofmeyr, J. H., The Life of Jan Hendrik Hofmeyr.

Kestell, J. D. and Van Velden, D., Peace Negotiations be-
tween Boer and Briton.

Kruger, J. S. P., Memoirs.

361



PUBLISHED SOURCES

Lawrence, T. E., Revolt in the Desert.

Levi, Nathan, Jan Smuts.

Millin, Sarah Gertrude, Rhodes.

Morley, John, Recollections.

Neame, L. E., General Hertzog.

Powell, E. Alexander, The Last Frontier.

Reitz, Deneys, Commando.

Reitz, Deneys, Trekking On.

Repington, C. A. C., War Diaries.

Riddell (Lord), Diarics.

Schreiner, S. C. Cronwright, The Life of Olive Schreiner.

Seitz (Governor), Von Aufstieg und Niederbruch Deutscher
Kolonialmacht.

Seaman, Owen, Two Pocnis in Punch.

Shaw of Dunfermline (Lord), Letfers to Isobel.

Smuts (J. C.) and Others, A Century of Wrong.

Spender, H., General Botha.

Spender, J. A., The Life of the Right Hon. Sir Henry Camp-
bell-Bannerman.

Walker, Eric A., A History of South Africa.

Walker, Eric A., Lord De Villiers and His Times.

Wells, H. G., The Research Magnificent.

Whittall, W., With Botha and Smuts in Africa.

Williams, Basil, Cecil Rhodes.

The leading English newspapers and periodicals and
several American and Continental newspapers, dating from
1899. The leading South African newspapers (English and
Dutch) dating from 1895. The State (Leading Articles, and
Articles by the Hon. Patrick Duncan, Messrs. Bissctt Berry
and H. S. L. Polak).



PUBLISHED SOURCES

GOVERNMENT PAPERS CONCERNING BOERS

The Boer War: Green Book, No. 10, 1899; Blue Books,
C. 0345, 9349, 9404, 9415, 9507, 9518, 9521, 9530, all
of 1899

Responsiblc Government to the Transvaal: Cd. 250 of 1906.

Union: Cd. 4525, 4729, of 1900.

Rebellion: U.G. 48 of 1914; U.G. 10 of 1915; U.G. 46 of
1916; Cd. 7265.

German South-West Africa: Cd. 7873 of 19135,

CGIOVERNMENT PAPERS CONCERNING INDIANS

U.G. 12 of 1914; U.G. 16 of 1914; C. 7911 of 1896;
Cd. 1683, 1684, of 19043 Cd. 3308 of 1907; 3887, 3892,
4327, of 1908; 4584, of 1900; 5363 of 1910; 6087 of
1912.

Act 2, 1907,

Law Report: Transvaal Provindal Division, Aswat o,
Registrar of Asiatics, 1908,

GOVERNMENT PAreERS CONCERNING CIINESE

Cd. 1603 of 1903; Cd. 1805, 1896, 1897, 1898, 1890, 1041,
1945, 1056, 1086, 2025, 2026, 2028, 2183, of 1904.

(GOVERNMENT PPAPERS CONCERNING THE RAND TROUBLES

Cd. 41, 42 of 1913; Cd. 7112 of 1913; Cd. 7348 of 1914;
U.G. 55, 56, of 1913.



REFERENCES

The references are given according to chapter, section,
page and paragraph (§). The Paragraphs are numbered, not
according to section, but according to page. The pages of
the references are not given that there may be no confusion
with the pages of this book, but most of the works cited
have indexes.

Except where particular references are given, the refer-
ences for the Boer War, Chinese and Indian affairs are the
Government reports mentioned under Published Sources.

PersONAL means derived directly from General Smuts.

PrivaTE SOURCE means derived from materials (not pub-
licly accessible) written or collected by him.

PrivaTe INFORMATION means derived from talk with his
family or other reliable people.

The dates of speeches as reported by newspapers are given
as their References.

There is a particular obligation, gratefully acknowl-
edged, to Colonel Deneys Reitz’s book Commando, and
to Sir Owen Seamnan.

CHAPTER -1
Section I, P. 1,§§ 1, 2, 3, Headlam. P. 1, § 3, Personal.
Section 11, P. 2, § 2, Personal. P. 2, § 3, Private Source.
P. 2, § 4, Personal.
Section 111, P. s, § 10, von Imhoff 1716.

CHAPTER, Ii
Personal.

304



REFERENCES

CHAPTER III
Personal,

CHAPTER 1V

Section 1, Personal.

Section 11, F. 28, § 2, Personal. P. 29, §§ 2, 3, Private
Source. P. 29, § 4, Personal. P. 30, § 1, Millin’s Rhodes.
P. 30, § 2, Pertonal. P. 31, § 1, Burger (3.12.15 and 3.2.17).
P. 31, §§ 2, 3, Millin’s Rhodes. P. 32, § 1, Millin’s Rhodes.

CHAPTER V

Section 1, Personal.

Section 1L, P. 36, § 2, Private Source. P. 36, § 3, Personal.
P.37,§3, Fortnightly Review (August 1909). P. 37,§ 4, Private
Source. P. 38, Private Source. P. 39, § 1, Private Source.
P. 30, § 2, Personal.

CHAPTER VI
Personal and Private Source.

CHAPTER Vil

Section I, Personal.

Section 11, Personal.

Section 11T, P. 54, §§ 1, 2, 4, Millin’s Rhodes. P. 54, § 3,
Personal. P. 5¢, § 1, Millin's Rhodes. P. 55, §§ 2, 3, 4, Per-
sonal. P. <5, § 4, Private Source. P. 56, § 1, Cronwright
Schreiner and Private Source. P. 57, § 1, Hofmeyr. P. 57,
§2, Personal. P. 57, § 4, Private Source. P. 58, §§ 1,2, Private
Source.

Section 1V, P. 58,§ 5, Personal.

CHAPTER VIl
Section 1, P. 60, § 2, Private Source. P. 61, § 5, Private
Source. P. 63,5 5, Private Information. P. 64, § 1, Personal.
365



REFERENCES

Section 11, P. 64, § 3, Kruger'sMemoirs. P. 65, § 1, Kru-
ger’s Memoirs. P. 65, § 2, Personal. P. 66, § 1, Headlam.

Section 111, P. 68, § 3, Butler, Bryce.

Section IV, P. 69, §§ 3, 4, Personal. P. 70, §§ 1, 2, Per-
sonal.

Section V, P. 6o, § 5, Hobson, Bryce. P. 71, § 1, Fitzpat-
rick’s Transvaal. P. 71, §§ 1, 2, 3, Personal. P. 71, § 3,
Bryce, Kestell. P. 72, §§ 1, 2, Bryce. P. 72, § 2, Fitzpatrick,
Hobson. P. 73, § 1, Hobson. P. 73, § 2, Bryce. P. 74, § 1,
various newspapers.

CHAPTER IX

Section I, Personal and Private Information.

Section 1L, P. 76, § 3, Personal. P. 78, § 2, Hobson. P. 78,
§ 3, Standard and Diggers’ News (8.11.98). P. 78, § 6, Fitz-
patrick’s Memoirs. P. 79, § 2, Cape Times (November 1898).
P. 79, §§ 4, 5, Butler. P. 80, § 2, Headlam. P. 8o, § 3,
Butler.

CHAPTER X

Section 1, P. 81, §§ 1, 2, Fitzpatrick’s Transvaal. P. 82, { 1,
Headlam. P. 82, § 2, Kruger’s Memoirs.

Section II, Headlan.

Section 111, Headlam.

CHAPTER X1

Section 1, P. 85, §§ 1, 2, Garvin. P. 85, § 2, Headlam.
P. 86, § 3, Personal. P. 87, § 2, Garvin, Headlam. P. 88, § 3,
Headlam. P. 88, § 4, Garvin, Headlam. P. 89, § 1, Personal,
Headlam.

Section I, P. 9o, § 1, Hofmeyr. P. 90, §§ 3, 4, Headlam.
P.o1, § 1, Headlam.

Section 11, P. o1, §§ 2, 4, Personal. P. 91, § 3, Hofmeyr.
P.9g1,§ 5, Headlam, Hofmeyr.

366



REFERENCES

CHAPTER XII

Section ], P. 93, §§ 1, 3, Headlam. P. 94, § 2, Butler. P. 94,
8§ 3. 5, Headlam. P. o4, § 4, Kruger. P. 95, §§ 1, 2, Head-
lam. P. 95, § 3, Personal, Hofmeyr. P. 95, § 4, Personal.
P. 96, § 1, Personal. P. 96, § 3, Spender. P. 96, § 4, Kruger.
P.96,§ s, Garvin.

Section L, P. 97,§§ 2, 3, Butler. P. 98, § 1, Personal. P. 98,
§§ 2, 3, 4, Headlam. P. 99, § 2, Garvin.

Section TII, P. 99, § 4, Headlam, Reitz’s Commando.
P. 100, § 1, Reitz’'s Commando.

CHAPTER XIII

Section 1, P. 101, § ¥, Reitz’s Commando, Levi. P. 101,
§§ 2, 3, Personal.

Section 11, . 101, § 4, Headlam, Green Book (No. 10,
1899). P. 102, §§ 1, 3, Green Book. P. 102, §§ 1, 2 3, Per-
sonal. P. 103, § 1, Headlam. P. 103, § 2, C 9521, 9530 (Blue
Books C 1899'.

Section U1, P. 104, § 1, Green Book, Personal. P. 104, § 2,
Walker’s Souih Africa, C 9521, Garvin. P. 103, § 1, Blue and
Green Books, Personal. Povos, § 2, Green Book. P. 105, §§ 3,
4, Blue and Green Books. Piio6, §§ 1, 2, Blue and Green
Books.

Section [V, P. 107, §§ 1, 3, Personal. P. 107, § 2, Blue and
Green Books. P. 108, § 1, Blue and Green Books. P. 108,
§§ 2, 3, Personal.

Section V, P. 109, C 9530 (Blue Books C. 1899). P. 109,
§2, Kruger. P. 110, §§ 1, 2, C 9530. P. 110, § 3, Garvin, Hot-
meyr. P. 110, § 4, Hofmeyr. P. 110, §§ 3, 8, Headlam.
P. 110, § 6, Walker’s De Villiers. P. 110, § 7, Millin’s Rhodes.
P. 110, § 9, Garvin. P. 111, § 1, Blue Books. P. 111, § 2,
various newspapers, P. 111, §§ 3, 5, C 9s530. P. 111, § 4,
Woalker’s De Villiers. P. 112, § 4, Reitz’s Commando. P. 112,
§ 5, Garvin.

367



REFERENCES

CHAPTER XIV
Private Source and Personal,

CHAPTER XV

Section 11, P. 119, § 1, Private Source. P. 119, § 5, Per-
sonal. P. 120, §§ 1, 2, Personal. P. 121, § 3, South African
newspapers (7.7.00). P. 122, § 1, Personal. P. 122, § 2, Pri-
vate Information.

CHAPTER XVI

Section I, Personal and Private Source.

Section 11, Personal and Private Source.

Section 111, P. 127, §§ 2, 3,4, 5, Private Source. P. 127,
§ 5, Kruger. P. 128, (§ 1, 2, 3, 4, Kruger.

Section IV, Personal and Private Source.

CHAPTER XVII

Section 1, Private Source.

Section 11, Private Source.

Section 111, P. 137, § 2, J. A. Spender. P. 137, § 3, Encyclo-
paedia Britannica. P. 138, §§ 1, 2, Spender.

Section IV, Private Information.

CHAPTER XVIII

Section 1, P. 140, § 1, Times’ History. P. 140, § 2, Personal
and Private Source. P. 141, § 1, Kestell. P. 141, § 2, Times’
History. P. 141, § 3, Kestell. P. 143, § 1, Personal. P. 143,
§ 2, Personal, Reitz's Commando. P. 144, § 1, Reitz’s Com-
mando. P. 144, § 2, Personal.

Section 11, P. 144, § 5, Stead’s Review (25.12.10), Trans-
vaal Leader (24.2.08). P. 145, § 1, various English news-
papers (26.5.19). P. 146, § 1, Kestell. P. 146, §§ 2, 3, 4, Per-
sonal.

368



REFERENCES
CHAPTER XIX

Section [, Personal.

Section {1, Reitz’s Commando.

Section 11, P. 152, § 3, Reitz’s Commando, Times History.
P. 152, § 5, Reitz's Commando, Times History. P. 153, § 1,
Natal Witiess (3.9.01).

Section [V, Reitz’'s Commando, Personal, Private Infor-
mation.

Section V, Reitz’s Commando, Personal, Private Infor-
mation.

Section VII, Various South African newspapers, and Offi-
cial Repors.

CHAPTER XX

Section 1, P. 162, § 1, various South African newspapers.
P. 162, § 2, Personal. P. 162, § 3, Reitz’s Commando and
Personal. P. 163, § 1, Personal, P. 163, §§ 2, 3, 4, Kestell.

Section 11, Reitz's Commando, Personal.

Section 11}, Personal.

Section IV, P. 166, § 2, Reitz's Commando. P. 167, Reitz’s
Commando. P. 168, § 1, Reitz's Gommando. P. 168, §§ 2, 3,
4, Times’ History. P. 169, § 1, Kestell, Times' History.

Section V, Personal.

CHAPTER XXI

Section I, P. 172, §§ 1, 2, Kestell. P. 173, § 1, Times" His-
tory. P. 173, Y 2, Kestell. I". 173, § 3, Reitz’s Commando.

Section 11, Kestell.

Section 111, Kestell and Reitz's Commando.

Section 1V, Kestell.

Section V, Pp. 179, 180, 181, Kestell. P. 182, Shaw.

Section VI Kestell.

M.S. 369 2 A



REFERENCES
CHAPTER XXII

Section 1, Private Information. P. 189, various English
newspapers (17.5.17).

Section 11, P. 190, § 1, Rand Daily Mail (13.1.03). P. 191,
Rand Daily Mail (14.2.03).

Section 111, Private Source.

Section V, Private Source and Seaman.

Section VI, Seaman.

Section VII, Private Source.

CHAPTER XXIII

See Blue Books under Chiriese Sources.

Section 11, P. 204, § 5, Buchan. P. 205, § 1, Times’ History.

Section 1L, P. 205, § 3, J. A. Spender. P. 206, § 2, J. A.
Spender, Private Information.

Section 1V, Private Source.

Section V, Personal and Private Source.

Section V1, Personal and various spccches.

CHAPTER XXIV

Section 1, P. 212, § 1, Saturday Review (27.1.06). P. 212,
§ 2, Saturday Review (27.1.06), Rand Daily Mail (5.1.06).
P. 212, § 3, Personal. P. 213, Personal. P. 214, §§ 1, 4, Per-
sonal, P. 214, § 2, Riddell.

Section 11, P. 215, § 1, various Englishnewspapers (2.4.17).
P. 215, § 3, Personal. P. 216, § 1, Transvaal Leader,
(18.12.06). P. 216, § 2, Rand Daily Muil (July 1g10. P. 216,
§ 3, Rand Daily Mail (4.7.06).

CHAPTER XXV

Section 1, P. 220, § 2, speech, South African newspapers
(28.8.19), Personal.
Section 11, P. 221, § 2, Private Information.

370



REFERENCES

Section TIL, P. 222, Personal. P. 222, § 3, speech, English
newspapers (17.5.17). P. 223, § 1, Personal. P. 223, § 3,
speech, South African newspapers.

Section 1V, Personal.

Section V, P. 225, § 2, Private Source. P. 225, § 3, South
African Telegraph (2.7.96), speech, English newspapers
(17.5.17). P. 227, § 1, Star (Johannesburg, 21.6.17). P. 227,
§ 3, Rand Daily Mail (18.8.06), Private Source. Pp. 229,
230, 231, speech, South African newspapers.

CHAPTER XXVI

Section I, Sce Blue Books under Indian Sources.

Section U1, Candhi.

Section 1L, 1. 235, § 1, Gandhi. P. 235, § 2, Doke. P. 237,
§§ 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, Blue Books, State (Feb., June, 19009). P. 237,
§ 6, Gandhi.

Section IV, Personal.

Section V, 2. 238, § s, Indiat Opinion, State (Feb., June,
1909). P. 230, § 1, State (Feb., Junc 1909). P. 239, Star,
Johannesburg: (6.2.08).

Section V1, P. 240, § 1, Transvaal Leader (31.1.08). P. 240,
§§ 2, 3, Doke. P. 240, § 4, Levi: P. 240, § 5, T.P.D. 1908
(Aswat v. Registrar of Asiatics). P. 247, § 2, Star, Johannes-
burg (6.2.08).

Section VII, P. 242, § 7, Private Source. P. 243, § 2, Pri-
vate Information.,

Section VIII, T.P.D. 1908. P. 244, T.P.D. 1908. P. 245,
§ 2, various South African newspapers (1.3.11). P. 245, §§
3, 4, Gandhi. P. 246, § 3, various South African newspapers
(12.2.17). P. 247, Personal and Private Sources.

CHAPTER XXVII

Section I, Bissett Berry, State 1909.
Section 111, P. 250, § 1, various South African newspapers.
3N



REFERENCES

P. 251, §§ 3, 4, 5, Personal. P. 252, § 1, Engelenburg,
Walker’s South Africa. P. 252, § 2, State 1909, Cape Times,
(20.6.08). P. 252, § 4, Walker’s de Villiers. P. 253, § 1,
Neame. P. 253, § 2, Times (20.3.09). P. 254, § 2, vatious
South African newspapers. P. 255, § 1, State, October 1909,
September 1909.

CHAPTER XXVIII

Section 1, P. 256, § 1, Engelenburg, State, July 1910.
Section 11, Private Information and State, June 1910.

CHAPTER XXIX
Section 1, Personal.
SectionI1, P. 262, § 4, Levi. P. 262, § 3, Personal.
Section 111, Personal.
Section IV, Personal.

CHAPTER XXX
Section 11, Neame.
Section 111, P, 272, Neame. P. 273, §§ 1, 2, Neame. P. 273,

§ 3, Engelenburg. Pp. 274, 275, Neame. P. 276, § 1, Private
Information.

CHAPTER XXXI

Section 111, Sec Blue Books under Sources Rand Troubles.

Section IV, P. 282, § 2, Tom Matthews. P. 282, § 3, Per-
sonal. P. 282, § 3, Personal. P. 282, § 4, specch, South
African newspapers (3.2.14). P. 283, §§ 1, 2, Engelenburg.

Section V, P. 283, § 5, speech, South African newspapers
(3.2.14). )

Section V1, P. 284, § 2, speech, South African newspapers
(3.2.14).

Section V1L, P. 285, §§ 1, 2, 3, Reitz, Trekking On. P. 285,
§ 4, C.D. 7304.

Section VIII, speech, South African newspapers (11.4.14).

372



REFERENCES

Section [X, P. 288, § 1, Mason. P. 288, § 2, Crawford.
Section X, P, 289, Personal. P. 290, speech, South African
newspapers (£.9.14).

CHAPTER XXXII

Section 1T, Millin’s Rhodes.
Section 111, Private Source.
Section IV, Private Source.

CHAPTER XXXIII

Section ], Private Source.

Section 11, P. 299, § 6, Personal. P. 300, Personal. P. 301,
State.

Section 1V, 1. 303, § 2, Eyre Crowe. P. 303, § 3, Buxton.
P. 304, § 1, speech, South African newspapers (7.11.14).

Section V, P. 304, § 4, Engelenburg. P. 305, § 1, Engelen-
burg. P. 303, §§ 2, 3, Persomal. P. 305, § 4, U.G. 10-15.
P.306, §§ 1, 2,3, U.G. 10-15. P. 306, § 4, Buxton, Personal.
P. 306, § 5, Engelenburg, Personal. P. 307, §§ 1, 2, 3, Per-
sonal.

Section VI, 2. 307, § 4, U.G. 46-16. P. 307, § s, speech,
South African newspapers: (11.9:14). P. 308, speech, South
African newspapers (11.9.14).

CHAPTER XXXIV

Section 1, P. 310, § 2, U.G. 46-16, U.G. 10-15. P. 310, § 3,
U.G. 46-16.P. 311, § 1, Buxton.

Section 1L, P. 311, § 3, Seitz.

Section 111, U.G. 10-15.

Section IV, U.G. 10-15.

Section V, P. 315, § 4, U.G. 10-15. P. 315, § 5, Reitz’s
Trekking On, U.G. 10-15. P. 316, § 1, Personal. P. 316, § 2,
Private Information. P. 317, U.G. 10-15. P. 318, §§ 1, 2, 3,
4, U.G. 10-15.P. 318, § 5, Neame,

373



REFERENCES
CHAPTER XXXV

Section I, P. 319, § 2, Hertzog’s speech, South African
newspapers (4.4.22). P. 321, §§ 1, 2, speech, South African
newspapers (3.3.15). P. 321, § 3, U.G. 10-15, Reitz’s Trek-
king On, Fitzpatrick, Times (s.1.21). P. 322, § 1, Private
Information. P. 322, § 4, U.G. 10-15. P. 323, §§ 1, 2, Pri-
vate Information.

CHAPTER XXXVI

Section 1, P. 324, § 1, speech, South African newspapers
(14.6.25). P. 324, § 4, Buxton, speech, South African news-
papers (11.6.15). P. 325, § 1, Engelenburg. P. 325, § 3,
speech, South African newspapers (16.4.15). P. 325, § s,
Official.

Section 11, P. 326, Private Source. P. 326, § 4, speech,
South African newspapers (30.7.15). P. 327, § 1, speech,
South African newspapers (16.8.15). P. 327, § 3, Burger
(3.12.15).

CHAPTER XXXVII

Section 1, P. 329, § 6, Pretoria News (24.9.15). P. 330, Pre-
toria News (24.9.15). P. 331,§ 3, Pretoria News (2.10.15).

Section 11, P. 331, § 4, Levi. P. 332, § 1, Levi. P. 332, § 2,
Volkstem (27.9.15). P. 333, § 3, Personal. P. 333, § 5, speech,
South African newspapers (5.10.15). P. 334, § 5, speech,
South African newspapers (13.11.15).

CHAPTER XXXVIII

Section1, § 3, Times (11.2.16), A. G. Gardner, Daily News
(22.2.16); Nation (9.2.16); Standard (11.2.16). P. 337, § 1,
South African Nationalist newspapers (12.2.16). P. 337,
§§ 2, 3, Personal.

Section II, P. 338, § 1, Personal. P. 338, § 3, Weekly Dis-
patch (23.7.16). P. 339, § 2, Brett Young.

374



REFERENCES

Section I P. 340, § 2, Encyclopaedia Britannica. P. 340,
§§ 4. 5, 6, Smuts’ Introduction to Crowe. P. 341, § 1, Smuts’
Introduction to Crowe.

Section IV. P. 342, §§ 1, 2, Private Information. P. 342,
§ 2, Manchesier Guardian (10.9.16), Buxton. P. 343, §§ 2, 3,
Smuts’ Introduction to Crowe. P. 344, § 1, Brett Young,
Encyclopaedia Britannica.

CHAPTER XXXIX

Section I, P. 345, § 2, Smwits” Introduction to Crowe. P. 345,
§ 3, Encyclopacdia Britannica. P. 347, § 2, Rand Daily Mail
(26.1.17). P. 347, §§ 3, 4. 5, Private Source. P. 348, § 2,
Private Source. P. 348, § 4, South African newspapers
(20.11.16). P. 348, § 5, Smuts’ Introdiction to Crowe. P. 349,
§ 2, Personal. P. 349, § 3, Levi. P. 340, § 4, Reitz’s Trekking
On. P. 350, § 1, Encyclopaedia Britanica.

CHAPTER XL
Section I, P. 352, § 2, Burger (13.2.17). P. 353, § 1, Vader-
land (6.3.17). P. 353, §§ 1, 2, Burger. P. 353, § 3, speech,
South African newspapers (12.2.17). P. 354, § 2, A. G.
Gardner, Daily News (2.8:17). . 355, § 2, Private Source.






INDEX

A Century of Wrong, cited, 113, 114;
description of), 115,

Aberdeen {S. Arica), 160.

Abyssinia, 222, 291.

Adler, Alfred, letter from quoted,
36; mentione ], 48.

Afrikander Bond, The, 54, 56.

Afrikanders, The, detachment of,
18; in arms, :69; De le Rey and,
183; Smuts s an, 191; views of
mentioned, 1105 success of, 252;
Hertzog and, 274; alluded to, 276.

Algoa Bay, 164,

Aliwal North, 150.

Americans, The, Beer comparisons
with, 124; greatness of, 222; 1en-
tioned, 354.
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Asquith, Mr., 214, 242.

Aswat case, The. 244.

Adantic Seaboard, The, 164.

Australians, The, attack by, 149; al-
luded to, 222, 209, country men-
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ticipation in war, 174; future of
foreseen, 1755 Smuts and che hopes
of, 177; natural oratory of, 178;
Vereeniging and, 183; Miss Hob-
house and, 192; apathy of, 103;
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300; alluded to, 302, 303.
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